SPECIAL PUBLICATION SJ2010-SP6

LAKE APOPKA NORTH SHORE RESTORATION AREA FEASIBILITY STUDY ORANGE AND LAKE COUNTIES, FLORIDA



Lake Apopka North Shore Restoration Area Feasibility Study Orange and Lake Counties, Florida

Prepared for: St. Johns River Water Management District Highway 100 West Palatka, Florida 32178

Prepared by:

MACTEC 404 SW 140th Terrace Newberry, FL 32669

MACTEC Project No.: 609604004

Maria Jones

Senior Engineer

atell Oh. D

Ann B. Shortelle, Ph.D. Chief Scientist

January 2005

Executive Summary

MACTEC Engineering and Consulting, Inc. (MACTEC) was contracted by the St. Johns River Water Management District (the District) to complete a Feasibility Study (FS) for a portion of the Lake Apopka North Shore Restoration Area (NSRA) located on the northern shores of Lake Apopka in Orange and Lake Counties, Florida. The restoration work at Lake Apopka came as a result of the Lake Apopka Restoration Act of 1985 and Florida's Surface Water Improvement and Management Act of 1987. In 1996, the Legislature enacted the Lake Apopka Restoration Act, Section 373.461, Florida Statutes, to provide that the District accelerate the restoration of the Lake Apopka basin by acquiring certain agricultural lands impacting Lake Apopka, along with their related facilities. These agricultural properties were formerly wetlands fringing the lake. The District purchased the 3,000 acre Duda Property in 1997 and purchased essentially all parcels in the 6,000 acre Zellwood Drainage and Water Control District (ZDWCD) Unit 2 area in 1998. Acquisition continued with the purchase of Unit 1, and currently the District owns approximately 20,000 acres. These lands are now known collectively as the NSRA; this FS addresses ZDWCD Unit 1 and Unit 2.

The purpose of this FS is to summarize the nature and extent of contamination and risks posed by organochlorine pesticides (OCPs) in soil within Units 1 and 2 of the NSRA, and evaluate remedial alternatives under a range of potential remediation target levels that would permit planned restoration of wetlands that had been drained for agricultural use between 1941 and 1985. The planned wetlands restoration is an important component of the restoration of Lake Apopka. The FS was performed using procedures adapted from US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) guidance for performing FSs for contaminated sites under the Superfund program (USEPA, 1988). The NSRA is not a superfund site and thus, the FS process prescribed by USEPA is not directly applicable to the current project. However, the Superfund FS process provides a useful framework that is relevant to the problem at hand. Specific modifications were made to the USEPA FS process, as will be described at various points in this document.

The OCPs of greatest potential concern at the site are toxaphene; DDE; the sum of DDD, DDE, and DDT, known as DDTx; dieldrin, and total chlordane (sum of alpha- and gamma-chlordane and heptachlor epoxide). These OCPs were historically applied to the fields during agricultural operations, and are present in surficial soils due to their environmental persistence. These chemicals were identified as chemicals of potential concern (COPCs) based on their frequency of occurrence in NSRA soils, their toxicity, and levels of these constituents that were observed in carcasses of birds that died in the vicinity of the NSRA during winter 1998-1999. Extensive soil sampling and analyses have occurred in the NSRA. These investigations have been summarized by Marzolf *et al.* (2003) and Marzolf (2004).

Based on the investigation's findings, it was determined that surface soil samples (the upper 1 ft) from the farm fields and field ends represent a sufficiently conservative data set for evaluation of remedial alternatives; and that this data set should be examined and evaluated after grouping by farm field. Farm fields are also believed to represent an appropriate exposure area for estimating exposure of piscivorous birds. Where food is plentiful the birds will feed over a relatively small area, as represented conceptually by the farm field, rather than foraging over the entirety of the NSRA. The resulting field soil characterization data set for ZDWCD Units 1 and 2 consists of 629 samples, grouped into 70 farm field units, covering approximately 9,000 acres.

For each of the 70 fields in the NSRA Units 1 and 2, a best estimate and a conservative estimate of the carbon-normalized concentrations of each of the COPCs was calculated. A set of Remedial Action Objectives (RAO) were provided by the District. These RAOs were derived by back calculation from fish tissue risk trigger levels. Following a review of these RAOs, and other data, a best estimate target level (BETL) and a conservative target level (CTL) was established for each of the COPCs. Values between these two limits are considered a reasonable range of potential remedial action objectives that may result from ongoing fish tissue samples or discussions with stakeholders. A comparison of the best estimate soil concentrations to the BETLs showed that 17 fields containing 2,200 acres of the 9,900 acres exceeded the BETLs with 787 acres requiring at least 50% reduction. Approximately 1,420 acres exceed the BETLs by less than 20%. Alternately for the worst case scenario; it is possible that 6,900 acres in 46 fields exceeded the CTLs, with 3,774 acres requiring at least 50% reduction to reach CTLs.

A list of 23 potential technologies or alternatives were developed and reviewed and was eventually reduced to 12 remedial alternatives to best reduce or remove exposure to the OCPs. These remaining remedial action alternatives (RAO) were then screened against CERCLA based criteria and reviewed in detail and cost estimates were developed. For several soil manipulation and bioremediation alternatives, testing programs are likely to reduce performance uncertainties, leading to a clearer identification of cost-effective alternatives.

These alternatives were applied against the remediation target levels (BETL and CTL) on a field by field basis and expected flood levels were overlayed. By doing this an apparent sequence emerged that would allow the District to proceed with wetland re-establishment with a known set of remediation approaches, costs and expectations. Although there remains some uncertainty about over-all cost, primarily because of target level uncertainty, an estimated low cost to meet current RAOs for Units 1 and 2 of the NSRA is approximately \$6,700,000. The upper bound cost could be as high as \$62,000,000. However, by using a phased approach, and accomplishing some remedial actions a large percent of the existing lands could be re-flooded relatively soon.

Table of Contents

1.0 Intro	duction	
1.1	Site Ba	ckground and Conditions1-1
1.2	Identifi	ication of Contaminants of Potential Concern (COPCs) 1-1
1.3	Nature	and Extent of Contamination1-1
1.4	Concep	ptual Site Model1-1
2.0 Feasi	bility St	tudy Methodology2-1
2.1	The FS	Process
2.2	Remed	ial Considerations
3.0 Reme	edial Ac	tion Objectives
3.1	Regula	tory Requirements
	3.1.1	Chemical-Specific Regulatory Requirements
	3.1.2	Location-Specific Regulatory Requirements
	3.1.3	Action-Specific Regulatory Requirements
3.2	Identifi	ication of RAOs
3.3	Action	and Target Levels
3.4	Method	d of Summarizing the Available Data in Context of the RAOs and Remedial
	Alterna	atives
4.0 Remo	edial Ac	tion Alternatives
4.1	Identifi	ication of Screening and Remedial Technologies
	4.1.1	No Action Alternative
	4.1.2	Limited Action Alternative
	4.1.3	Containment-Isolation Options
	4.1.4	Reduction/Treatment/Disposal Options
	4.1.5	Innovative Technologies
4.2	Screen	ing of Remedial Technologies and Processes
	4.2.1	Island/Peninsula On-Site Containment 4-1
	4.2.2	Clay Capping
	4.2.3	Soil Cover Option
	4.2.4	Berm Only Containment of Non-Flooded Areas 4-1
	4.2.5	Soil Layer Inversion
	4.2.6	Vertical Blending
	4.2.7	Horizontal Blending
	4.2.8	Landfarming
	4.2.9	In Situ Bioremediation
	4.2.10	<i>Ex Situ</i> Chemical Treatment
	4.2.11	Low Temperature Thermal Desorption
	4.2.12	Incineration
	4.2.13	Excavation and Off-site Landfill Disposal
	4.2.14	Summary of Technology Screening

	4.3	Develo	pment of Remedial Alternatives	4-1
		4.3.1	No Action and Institutional Controls Alternative	4-1
		4.3.2	Active Remediation Application Considerations	4-1
		4.3.3	Remedial Alternatives for the Minimum Percent Reduction to Meet the	
			BETL	4-1
		4.3.4	Remedial Alternatives for the Maximum Percent Reduction to Meet the	
			CTL	4-1
5.0	Detai	led Ana	llysis of Remedial Alternatives	5-1
	5.1	Screen	ing Criteria	5-1
	5.2	Detaile	d Analysis of Remedial Alternatives	5-1
		5.2.1	No Action	5-1
		5.2.2	Limited Action	5-1
		5.2.3	Isolation/Containment	5-1
		5.2.4	Berm Containment of Non-Flooded Areas	5-1
		5.2.5	Soil Cover	5-1
		5.2.6	Soil Layer Inversion	5-1
		5.2.7	Vertical Blending	5-1
		5.2.8	Technical Criteria Analysis	5-1
		5.2.9	In Situ Treatment	5-1
		5.2.10	Bioremediation	5-1
		5.2.11	Ex Situ Treatment	5-1
		5.2.12	Soilsavers AOP Ex Situ Chemical Treatment	5-1
6.0	Com	parative	e Analysis of Remedial Alternatives	6-1
	6.1	Overal	Approach to Comparative Analysis	6-1
		6.1.1	Threshold Criteria	6-1
		6.1.2	Primary Balancing Criteria	6-1
	6.2	Compa	rative Analysis	6-1
		6.2.1	Comparative Analysis for Soil Remediation Alternatives at the NSRA	6-1
7.0	Conc	lusions	and Recommendations	7-1
	7.1	Conclu	isions	7-1
	7.2	Recom	mendations	7-1
8.0	Refei	ences /	Bibliography	8-1
				_
Арр	pendi	x A S	Soil Data Used in Feasibility Study and Supporting Documentation	

List of Tables

Table 1-1.	Summary of the Frequency of Detection of OCPs in Surficial Field Soils in
	ZDWCD Units 1 and 2
Table 3-1. Table 3-2.	Biological Tissue Trigger Levels Potential Soil Target Action Levels
Table 4-1.	Screening for Remedial Technologies for the Lake Apopka NSRA
Table 4-2.	FPM Pesticide Bench Results (mg/kg)
Table 4-3.	Remedial Alternatives for the Minimum Percent Reduction to Meet the BETL
Table 4-4.	Remedial Alternatives for the Maximum Percent Reduction to Meet the CTL
Table 5-1.	Criteria for Evaluation of Remedial Alternatives
Table 5-2. Table 5-3.	Summary of Detailed Analysis of Remedial Activities Influence of Standard DARAMEND, THAN Superfund Site,
	Montgomery, Alabama.
Table 5-4.	Influence of Standard and Generation III DARAMEND Bioremediation on DDE,
	DDD, DDT, and Toxaphene.
Table 5-5.	Bench Scale Performance Data
Table 5-6.	FPM Pesticide Bench Results (mg/kg)
Table 6-1. Table 6-2. Table 6-3.	Alternatives Relative Comparison Summary NSRA Soil Restoration Overall Alternatives Cost Summary Lake Apopka NSRA Units 1 and 2 Soil Remediation –Earthmoving/Construction
	and Treatment Composite Unit Costs Summary

List of Figures

Figure 1-1.	Lake Apopka North Shore Restoration Area	
Figure 1-2.	Typical Distribution of DDTx Versus Depth in the Soil Profile	
Figure 1-3.	Typical Distribution of Toxaphene Versus Depth in the Soil Profile	
Figure 1-4.	Toxaphene Field Concentration Surface Soil	
Figure 1-5.	DDTX Field Concentration Surface Soil	
Figure 3-1.	Concentration of Chlordane as the Ratio of Carbon Normalized Chlordane	
	Concentration to the BTEL	
Figure 3-2.	Concentration of DDE as the Ratio of Carbon Normalized DDE Concentration to the BTEL	
Figure 3-3.	Concentration of DDTx as the Ratio of Carbon Normalized DDTx Concentration to the BTEL	
Figure 3-4.	Concentration of Dieldrin as the Ratio of Carbon Normalized Dieldrin	
	Concentration to the BTEL	
Figure 3-5.	Concentration of Toxaphene as the Ratio of Carbon Normalized Toxaphene	
	Concentration to the BTEL	
Figure 3-6.	Concentration of Chlordane as the Ratio of Carbon Normalized Chlordane	
	Concentration to the CTL	
Figure 3-7.	Concentration of DDE as the Ratio of Carbon Normalized DDE Concentration to	
	the CTL	
Figure 3-8.	Concentration of DDTx as the Ratio of Carbon Normalized DDTx Concentration to the CTL	
Figure 3-9.	Concentration of Dieldrin as the Ratio of Carbon Normalized Dieldrin	
	Concentration to the CTL	
Figure 3-10.	Concentration of Toxaphene as the Ratio of Carbon Normalized Toxaphene	
	Concentration to the CTL	
Figure 4-1.	Field Identification Numbers, Lake Apopka NSRA	
Figure 4-2.	Minimum Treatment to Meet BETL	
Figure 4-3.	Maximum Treatment to Meet CTL	
Figure 4-4.	Fields Proposed for the Different Remedial Alternatives for the Minimum	
	Percent Reduction to Meet the BETL	
Figure 4-5.	Fields Proposed for the Different Remedial Alternatives for the Maximum	
	Percent Reduction to Meet the CTL	
Figure 5-1.	Influence of Generation III DARAMEND Bioremediation on Chlorinated	
	Pesticides in Soil - Industrial Site, New Orleans, LA (Source: Adventus, 2004.)	
Figure 5-2.	Ex Situ Chemical Treatment Process Schematic	
Figure 6-1.	Lowest Cost Applicable Technologies to Meet the BETL	
Figure 6-2.	Lowest Cost Applicable Technologies to Meet the CTL	
Figure 7-1.	Recommended Remediation Actions	

List of Acronyms and Abbreviations

AOP	advanced oxidation process
ARAR	Applicable or Relevant and Appropriate Requirements
ATSDR	Agency for Toxic Substances to Disease Registry
BETL	best estimate target level
BGEPA	Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act
CERCLA	Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act
CFR	Code of Federal Regulations
CSM	conceptual site model
CTL	conservative target level
COPC	Contaminants of Potential Concern
CWA	Clean Water Act
DDD	dichlorodiphenyldichloroethane
DDE	dichlorodiphenyldichloroethene
DDT	dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane
DDTx	sum of DDD, DDE, and DDT
District	St. Johns River Water Management District
ESA	Environmental Site Assessments
FAC	Florida Administrative Code
FB	Flooding Block
FDEP	Florida Department of Environmental Protection
FS	Feasibility Study
ft	foot
ISCO	In Situ Chemical Oxidation
kg	kilogram
K _{oc}	organic carbon adsorption coefficient
L	Liter
mg	milligrams
MACTEC	MACTEC Engineering and Consulting, Inc.
MBTA	migratory bird Treaty Act
MITU	Mobile Injection Treatment Unit
MNA	monitored natural attenuation
MOU	Memorandum of Understanding

List of Acronyms and Abbreviations (continued)

NCP	National Oil and Hazardous Substances Pollution Contingency Plan
NSRA	North Shore Restoration Area
OCP	organochlorine pesticides
POP	persistent organic pollutant
RA	risk assessment
RAO	Remedial Action Objectives
RI/FS	Remedial Investigation / Feasibility Study
SCTL	Soil Cleanup Target Level
SDWA	Safe Drinking Water Act
SWIM	Surface Water Improvement and Management Act
THAN	T.H. Agricultural & Nutrition Company
TOC	Total Organic Carbon
TSD	Waste Treatment, Storage, or Disposal Facility
UCL95	95% upper confidence limit of the mean
USEPA	US Environmental Protection Agency
USFWS	US Fish & Wildlife Service
WRS	Westinghouse Remediation Services
ZDWCD	Zellwood Drainage and Water Control District

1.0 Introduction

MACTEC has been contracted by the District to complete a FS for the remediation of lands planned to be restored to wetland habitat in the Lake Apopka North Shore Restoration Area (NSRA). The NSRA in Figure 1-1 encompasses approximately 20,000 acres (31 square miles) to the north of Lake Apopka in Orange and Lake Counties, Florida. Figure 1-1 also highlights several major sub-portions of the NSRA that have differing land use/ management issues: Duda Farms, Sand Farm, and Units 1 and 2 of the former Zellwood Drainage and Water Control District (ZDWCD), and includes the Marsh Flow-Way (not part of the NSRA). These sub-areas are discussed further in Section 1.1.

The purpose of this FS is to summarize the nature and extent of contamination and risks posed by organochlorine pesticides (OCPs) in soil within Units 1 and 2 of the NSRA, and evaluate remedial alternatives under a range of potential remediation criteria that would permit planned restoration of wetlands that had been drained for agricultural use between 1941 and 1985. The planned wetlands restoration is an important component of the restoration of Lake Apopka. The FS was performed using procedures adapted from US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) guidance for performing FSs for contaminated sites under the Superfund program (USEPA, 1988). The NSRA is not a superfund site and thus, the FS process prescribed by USEPA is not directly applicable to the current project. However, the Superfund FS process provides a useful framework that is relevant to the problem at hand. Specific modifications were made to the USEPA FS process, as will be described at various points in this document.

1.1 Site Background and Conditions

Historically, Lake Apopka was the second largest lake in the state. In the 1940s, however, the northern third (mostly sawgrass marsh with rich peat soil), now called the NSRA, was isolated from the remainder of the water body by levees and drained for rowcrop, or "muck" farming (Figure 1-1). Drawing water from the surface water of Lake Apopka for irrigation, the farms pumped excess water consisting of field and irrigation run off and rainfall back to the lake as wastewater. This wastewater contained high levels of phosphorus from fertilizers, and when combined with other point and non-point sources of nutrients, it caused a dramatic change in the ecology of the lake. In March of 1947, the first algal bloom was observed and a continuous bloom has persisted to date, eliminating larger macrophytes (aquatic vegetation) in the lake by shading and degrading benthic habitat through high rates of sedimentation. By 1950, much of the rooted aquatic vegetation in the lake had disappeared. These changes led to the demise of the previously healthy sport fishery Lake.



In the ensuing decades, the muck farms worked over 18,000 acres for agricultural production of multiple crops per year. Pesticides were used extensively both through aerial and ground application during the period of agricultural production. Wastewater contaminated by agricultural compounds was discharged from the farms at an estimated 20 billion gallons annually (approximately one third of the lake's total volume). Consequently, by the mid-1960s Lake Apopka was known as Florida's most polluted lake due to excess nutrients.

The biota of both Lake Apopka itself and the NSRA reflected the stressed environment. In the lake, blue-green algae dominated the water column throughout the year. Benthic invertebrate populations in the lake acre were low in diversity and density, and were composed of pollution-tolerant taxa that can endure high levels of organic enrichment. Gizzard shad, blue tilapia, and sunfish dominate the fish community. In the NSRA, the canals in between fields support some aquatic vegetation and fish populations that include brown bullhead, blue tilapia, and mosquito fish. During late summer and early fall some farmers flooded their fields to minimize soil subsidence and erosion and to control nematodes; these shallow-water habitats attracted large numbers of shorebirds, wading birds and other aquatic species (Pranty and Basili 1998).

Several Florida statutes, consistent with Federal law such as the Clean Water Act (CWA), have mandated restoration activities in the Lake Apopka watershed. The District is responsible for planning and implementing these restoration projects. Wetland restoration in the NSRA has been identified as a critical element for the overall restoration of Lake Apopka. The 1996 Lake Apopka Improvement and Management Act (Section 373.461, Florida Statutes 1996) determined it was in the public interest to pursue a buy-out of all the farms on the north shore of Lake Apopka and eliminate the major source of phosphorus pollution to the Lake. The Florida Legislature appointed the District as the agency responsible for implementing the buy-out program. The plan for restoration after the buy-out focused on re-flooding the farm fields and elimination or breaching of the levees that separated the fields from the main body of the lake after a period of 8-10 years, allowing Lake Apopka to return to its historic size.

This course of action was determined following several years of research into the causes and alternatives for reversing adverse water quality trends in Lake Apopka. Therefore, the public benefits of the planned restoration are well established, and the District intends to restore as much of the NSRA to wetland habitat as is feasible and consistent with other environmental goals and requirements. The District understands, however, that years of agricultural use of the NSRA has resulted in high levels of pesticide residuals in the soils, and that these pesticide residuals caused or contributed to significant bird mortality. Consequently, wetland restoration can only proceed if the ecological risks posed by these COPCs can be mitigated and/or eliminated. Alternative actions are evaluated in this FS primarily by consideration of their effectiveness in minimizing exposure of piscivorous birds to COPCs, balanced against their implementation cost.

The District's objective is to restore as much of the NSRA to wetland habitat as is feasible, balancing the cost of remediation against the benefit of wetland restoration. This process of balancing costs and benefits could result in restoring most, but not all, of the NSRA to wetland habitat, if it is determined that cost of restoring all the habitat is unreasonable. This FS is intended to provide the District with information that can support the evaluation and balancing of costs and benefits of alternative actions. The FS retains actions that isolate excessively contaminated soils from the food chain of piscivorous birds, including alternatives that would prevent some portions of the NSRA from reverting to wetland habitat (e.g., onsite landfill).

The Marsh Flow-Way is located just west of the Apopka-Beauclair Canal and the NSRA (Figure 1-1). This area has been designated as a wetland treatment area. Water is pumped out of Lake Apopka to the western boundary of the Marsh Flow-Way, where it is released and flows toward the east. During migration across the wetland treatment area, phosphorus is deposited and treated in the Flow-Way, prior to return to the lake by the Apopka-Beauclair Canal. This process has contributed to the improvement of Lake Apopka. The major improvement to the water quality of Lake Apopka can be attributed to the reduction in external phosphorus loading from the watershed and harvesting of gizzard shad. External phosphorus loading was reduced through regulatory action during the period of farming, and through District management of the NSRA after purchase of the farms.

The Marsh Flow-Way (MFW) has and has been in partial operation since November 2003. The MFW includes cells b1, b2, c1 and c2, and only cells b1, b2, c1, and c2 have been tested for OCPs in this area. Since no sampling has been done in the adjacent properties; therefore, it is difficult to determine what the overall OCP levels are for all of these properties, and therefore is not being addressed by this FS. The MFW project has reportedly not been responsible for the major improvements in Lake Apopka to date. Reduction in external P loading from the watershed and harvesting of gizzard shad are the main projects believed responsible for improved water quality. External loading of P was reduced through regulatory action (during the period of farming) and through District management of the NSRA after purchase of the farms.

Likewise, neither the Duda Farms parcel immediately east of the Flow-Way and north of Lake Apopka, nor the Sand Farm area north of the Duda Farms are addressed by this FS. The Duda Farm parcels were flooded in late 2002 and early 2003, because it was determined that the parcels had relatively low levels of OCPs in soils. The Sand Farm area, immediately north of the Duda Farms also has relatively low levels of OCPs in soils, and is planned to be restored to wetlands in the near future. Monitoring conducted subsequent to re-flooding the Duda Farms substantiates the conclusion that the lands could be safely restored (Coveney, 2004a).

The ZDWCD Units 1 and 2, comprising approximately 9,000 acres of the NSRA are addressed by this FS. These areas typically have higher concentrations of OCPs in soil than the Marsh Flow-Way, Duda Farms, and Sand Farms areas, and some portions of Units 1 and 2 may require special management or remediation prior to re-flooding. This FS develops information that will be used to identify appropriate and cost-effective approaches for restoration of these former wetlands to allow prioritized and accelerated re-flooding.

In preparation for purchase and re-flooding the farm fields of Duda Farms, Sand Farm, and ZDWCD Units 1 and 2, during the mid-1990s, the District completed Environmental Site Assessments (ESAs) to identify areas of concern where historical land use might have resulted in contamination (Bartol, 2004). These ESAs addressed both point and non-point sources of contamination. Point sources investigated included pump stations; petroleum storage tanks; pesticide storage, dispensing, mixing, loading, and rinsing areas; vehicle maintenance areas; landfills and other waste disposal sites. Non-point sources were farm fields where pesticides were applied. The ESAs designated 178 Areas of Concern which were investigated. These assessments led to removal of 24,000 tons of contaminated soil and 20,000 tons of solid waste. Results of an environmental risk assessment (RA) completed in 1997-98 (Atra, 1997; Atra, 1998) indicated that the soil pesticide residues in farm fields resulting from pesticide applications did not present an acute toxicity risk to wetland fish or wildlife. Elevated hazard quotients of dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT) and its metabolites indicated a concern for chronic reproductive effects on piscivorous birds, but did not indicate a potential for acute lethality.

After the final crop harvest in the summer of 1998, a large portion of the NSRA was flooded as had been the standard practice at the end of the year's growing season. The fields were to be drained during the winter and alum residual was to be added as an amendment to prevent phosphorus release when restoration flooding began. The District began draining the fields in order to begin spreading the soil amendment , but the fields that remained flooded into early winter attracted large bird populations. Between November 1998 and March 1999 bird mortalities were reported on and near the NSRA, and 676 birds were eventually reported to have died in the vicinity during the winter of 1998-1999. In response, the District accelerated and completed the drainage of the NSRA to reduce the attractiveness of the area for wading birds. The fields have been kept dry since, and have become vegetated with opportunistic grasses, herb, and shrubs.

Extensive sampling and analysis of the soils and analysis of bird and fish tissues of Lake Apopka NSRA was completed by the District in response to the bird mortality episode. Upon review of the data collected, the US Fish & Wildlife Service (USFWS, 2003) concluded that OCP toxicosis caused or contributed to the deaths of many of the birds. The primary agents of toxicosis were toxaphene and dieldrin, and the primary route of exposure was from soil to fish to birds.

In response, the District together with the Natural Resource Conservation Service (NRCS), has sponsored a variety of research studies in an effort to address and solve the problems posed by the presence of OCPs for the restoration of the Lake Apopka NSRA. These activities include resolving analytical issues on the quantitation methods for toxaphene (Richter and Schell, 2003); a tilling demonstration project (Bartol, 2004); biodegradation studies (Ogram and Chang, 2004; Clark and Chen, 2003); micro- and meso-cosm studies to better define exposure pathways and rates for piscivorous birds (Coveney *et al.*, 2003; Gross *et al.*, 2003; Marzolf *et al.*, 2003); and this FS. These studies have led to a better understanding of the distribution of OCPs in the soils of the NSRA, the cause of the bird mortality event, and improved estimates of levels of OCPs that may contribute to adverse effects on piscivorous birds if soils were to be re-flooded. At this time, however, acceptable levels of OCPs in soils of lands planned to be re-flooded have not been precisely defined, nor accepted by all stakeholders.

1.2 Identification of Contaminants of Potential Concern (COPCs)

The USFWS (2003) identified OCPs as the COPCs at the site. The extensive sampling effort has revealed that toxaphene and dichlorodiphenyldichloroethene (DDE) are the most prevalent COPCs followed by dichlorodiphenyldichloroethane (DDD), dieldrin, DDT, chlordane compounds, and endosulfan II. Table 1-1 presents a summary the frequency of detection for all OCPs in ZDWCD Units 1 and 2, where 629 field surface soil samples were collected in a 9,000 acre area, i.e., at a density of approximately 1 sample per 15 acres. The percentage presented is the ratio of the number of detections to the total number of samples (629) considered.

Contaminant	# of Samples	% detected
4,4'-DDD	629	82%
4,4'-DDE	629	99%
4,4'-DDT	629	66%
aldrin	629	0%
alpha BHC	629	0%
alpha chlordane	629	60%
beta BHC	629	0%
delta BHC	629	0%
dieldrin	629	67%
endosulfan I	629	0%
endosulfan II	629	37%

Table 1-1.	Summary of the Frequency of Detection of OCPs in Surficial Field Soils in ZDWCD
	Units 1 and 2

Contaminant	# of Samples	s % detected
endosulfan sulfate	629	1%
endrin	629	0%
endrin aldehyde	629	3%
endrin ketone	629	0%
gamma BHC (lindane)	629	0%
gamma chlordane	629	46%
heptachlor	629	0%
heptachlor epoxide	629	9%
methoxychlor	629	0%
toxaphene	621	93%
Prepared	by/Date: M	LJ 7/15/04
Checked	by/Date: W	AT 7/15/04

Source: SJRWMD, 2004.

Of the detected OCPs, endosulfan II has the lowest bioaccumulation potential as indicated by its octanol/water partition coefficient (Jones, *et al.*, 1997). Endosulfan II also has a limited ecotoxicity data base (Jones, *et al.*, 1997). Therefore it has not been identified as a critical COPC.

Conrow *et al.* (2003), Lowe *et al.* (2003), Gross *et al.* (2003), Mackay and Gard (2003), Mackay (2003), indicate that toxaphene, DDT and its metabolites, and dieldrin are the chemicals most likely to have contributed to the bird mortality event.

District and USFWS are currently evaluating impacts in the Duda Farms parcel, which was reflooded in 2002, by comparing biological tissue concentrations of DDE, DDTx, total chlordane, dieldrin, and toxaphene to toxicologically relevant benchmarks, and this selected list of OCPs are evaluated further as COPCs in this FS. This subset of OCPs represent the greatest risk at the site due to their frequency of detection and toxicity. Whereas most remedial actions evaluated in this FS will have similar, if not identical, effect on all the OCPs, evaluation of actions that mitigate the risk of an adverse effect caused by this subset of OCPs is likely to similarly mitigate risks associated with all the COPCs. The validity of this assumption must be tested later in the process of implementation of remedies, for example during restoration design, implementation, confirmation sampling, and follow up monitoring actions.

1.3 Nature and Extent of Contamination

In response to the bird mortality event, the District, in coordination with USFWS, initiated an extensive soil sampling effort to determine the nature and extent of contamination in the NSRA. The primary sampling strategy to determine the distribution of contaminants in the areas where pesticides were applied was stratified random sampling. This procedure achieves an approximately uniform spatial density of samples, while avoiding the potential to systematically sample recurring features, such as canals, canal banks, field ends, or certain soil types. Sampling methods were described by Marzolf *et al.* (2003).

OCP concentration distribution with depth was also investigated by a lesser number of soil borings, referred to as soil profile investigations. Several hypotheses regarding the potential factors affecting contaminant distribution were investigated by special targeted sampling programs. In addition, interlaboratory comparisons were performed on a split soil sample when it was observed that different laboratories were returning substantially different results for OCPs in bird tissue split samples. These interlaboratory differences were most pronounced for toxaphene. Results of these various investigations are summarized here (see also Marzolf *et al.* 2003, and Marzolf, 2004).

Marzolf *et al.* (2003) reported that OCP concentrations in the NSRA were significantly correlated with total organic carbon (TOC) content of the soil. This is important because organic carbon tends to bind the OCPs to the soil and limit migration potential and bioavailability. The organic carbon content of the former muck farms soils are very high, averaging 36% in Units 1 and 2.

Rouhani and Wild (2000) determined, using geostatistical techniques, that there was little evidence of spatial patterns in the data. There was no evidence of a gradual or predictable

gradient in concentration "radiating" from common source areas, or varying with latitude, longitude, or topography. On the other hand, distinct fields with common prior ownership exhibited relatively homogeneous OCP concentrations, but the concentrations within a field could be distinctly different from that of an adjacent field previously owned by a different farmer.

The District investigated hypotheses that canals or canal banks may have higher concentrations than the "ambient" farm fields, but found this was not the case. In addition to the stratified random samples of the farm fields, additional samples were intentionally sited in canals and along canal banks – approximately 1 canal sample and 1 bank sample for every 10 ambient field samples. These data show that canal sediments, and canal bank sediments tended to have slightly lower concentrations of OCPs than the adjacent farm fields (Marzolf, 2004).

It had also been hypothesized that the ends of fields, where tractors would have to turn, might receive a greater load of pesticide than the center of the field. This hypothesis was investigated by targeting a number of samples (approximately 1 "field end" sample for each 13 "ambient field" samples) near the boundaries of fields where farm vehicles would turn. This "field end" subset of samples did not have significantly different concentrations of OCPs when contrasted with the ambient field samples. Therefore, for subsequent evaluation of farm fields, the "field end" samples have been combined with "ambient field" samples.

In addition, a series of depth profiles were collected to determine the distribution of OCPs with depth in the soil profile. Figures 1-2 and 1-3 illustrate typical depth profiles for DDTx and toxaphene, respectively for site ZNS0116. Typically, the 1 to 2 ft interval has approximately 0.1 the concentration observed in the upper foot (0-1 ft interval) of the profile, with the 2 to 3 ft interval containing only approximately 3% of the upper 1 ft. Approximately 90% of the OCP mass is in the 0-1 ft interval of the soil profile.

Applying the findings of Marzolf *et al.* (2003) and Marzolf (2004) it is concluded that the FS evaluation should be based on the OCP concentrations in fields and field ends from the upper 1 ft of the soil profile. Justifiably, these data conservatively represent most of the area of the NSRA. Further it is concluded that each field as identified by previous owner, represents a relatively homogeneous area that may be distinct from adjacent areas. Due to the potential for concentrated feeding by piscivorous birds, fields also represent reasonable exposure units or exposure areas. Within a field the concentration of each OCP can be reliably estimated from available data, and this represents a reasonable estimate of the concentration of OCPs that receptors may be exposed to during an acute or subchronic exposure period.

Figures 1-4 and 1-5 illustrate the distribution of toxaphene and DDTx the most prevalent COPCs by fields. Concentrations were carbon normalized prior to averaging (units are μ g/kg TOC) DDTx. These figures illustrate the heterogeneous nature of OCP contamination in ZDWCD Units 1 and 2.

1.4 Conceptual Site Model

The conceptual site model (CSM) provides a framework within which the source and release mechanism, transport of contaminants, and environmental pathways of concern are identified. At this site surface soils are intended to be flooded as part of a wetland restoration. Upon flooding, OCPs in the soil may be released in the overlying water bioaccumulated by benthic macroinvertebrates that could colonize the sediments/wetland soils. Fish and shellfish may accumulate contaminants, either through contact with the overlying water or through their diet, which will include benthic organisms in close contact with the soils/sediments. Birds that eat the fish may then further accumulate and/or magnify the COPCs in their tissues, which may then cause adverse toxic effects to these piscivorous birds.







The primary source of COPCs at the site are the soils within 1 ft of the land surface. The planned restoration of the site would result in re-flooding these soils during part or most of the year, as a more natural hydroperiod is established for these former wetlands. When the fields are flooded, those soils will then have the features of wetland soils and/or freshwater sediments.

The contaminated soils have very high organic carbon content, averaging 36%. The OCPs are not very soluble in water, are highly lipophilic (fat-loving), and strongly adsorb to soil organic carbon. Upon flooding, the soils may be presumed to be saturated, or nearly saturated during most of the year. When sampled, primarily under a non-flooded condition, these soils exhibited an average moisture content of 52% (SJRWMD, 2004). One kilogram (kg) of soil, then, would contain 0.52 kg of water, 0.17 kg of organic carbon (0.36 kg/kg x 0.48 kg of soil) and approximately 0.31 kg of essentially inert mineral soil. For dieldrin, with an organic carbon adsorption coefficient (K_{oc}) of 2 x 10⁴ L/kg (USEPA, 1996), then, 99.992% of the dieldrin in the soil is adsorbed to the organic carbon, and only 0.008% of the dieldrin mass is in the aqueous phase at equilibrium. dieldrin is the most soluble, and least lipophilic of any of the COPCs, so all the other OCPs are even more strongly bound with organic matter. This explains the immobility of these contaminants in soil, and why the contaminants are retained only in the upper 1 ft of the soil profile, the zone that has been repeatedly tilled.

These factors indicate that the chemicals of potential concern (COPCs) do not migrate effectively into the aqueous phase. Most of the uptake and accumulation by higher trophic level organisms, such as piscivorous birds, is through the food chain, which is based, in part, on benthic macroinvertebrates, filter feeders, and other organisms in intimate contact with the sediments.

Agricultural uses of some COPCs were banned prior to 1983. Specifically, use of dieldrin on food crops was banned in 1970, DDT in 1972, and chlordane in 1983 (ATSDR, 1993, 1994, 1994a, 1996). Limited uses, for example on cotton or as termiticides was permitted into the 1980s, and toxaphene use on certain crops, including corn in Florida, was allowed up until 1990, but eventually all uses of these pesticides were banned in the US. Thus their continued occurrence in soils of the NSRA is evidence of their immobility and persistence in soils. They are not readily biodegraded, although they may be biodegraded slowly under ideal conditions.

Toxaphene is reported to be quite persistent in aerobic surface soils, with reported half lives of up to 11 years. Estimates of the half life for DDT biodegradation in soil range from 2 to more than 15 years (ATSDR, 1994a). The bulk of the literature indicates that chlordane persists in soils for over 20 years in some cases (ATSDR, 1994). ATSDR (1993) provides information indicating the half life of dieldrin in soils is between 2.5 and 6 years.

All of the COPCs are semivolatile organic compounds, indicating a slight tendency to volatilize and be released to the atmosphere. Toxaphene is a complex mixture of compounds, and the fresh chemical contains some relatively volatile components. It is reasonable to assume, however, that the more volatile constituents of toxaphene have already volatized from NSRA soils to the atmosphere, and the remaining persistent components of the toxaphene mixture have low volatility. Each of the other COPCs have low degrees of volatility with Henry's Law Constants of less than 5 x 10^{-4} atm m³/mol (ATSDR, 1993, 1994, 1994a, 1996), indicating limited potential to be released to the atmosphere from NSRA soils.

In summary, all the COPCs are tightly bound to soil organic carbon, with limited potential to dissolve in water or volatilize to the atmosphere. When the soils are flooded, very limited release to soil/sediment pore water, and the overlying surface water in a dissolved form is expected to occur, although the resultant low levels of contamination in surface water are likely to be undetectable. Thus, overlying water is not considered to require remediation to mitigate risk in or around the NSRA. This is why water has been excluded from this FS. For the most part aquatic biota, including benthic invertebrates, and fish are exposed via ingestion, including filter feeding, of bottom sediments or suspended sediments to which the COPCs are adsorbed and/or ingestion of contaminated prey.

Upon entry into aquatic biota, the chemicals equilibrate with the lipid (fat) reservoirs of the living organisms. Just as the COPCs tend to be strongly bound to soil/sediment organic carbon, they are also lipophilic and will accumulate in the fatty tissues of plants and animals. The COPCs then accumulate through the aquatic food chain. Some may biomagnify insofar as higher trophic level organisms may have higher concentrations of some COPCs than observed at lower trophic levels. Consequently, it is possible that the highest predators in the aquatic food web, which include piscivorous birds, may have the highest observed concentrations of these chemicals in their tissues. This bioaccumulation pathway apparently resulted in toxic exposures of piscivorous birds, including wood storks and white pelicans when the NSRA lands were flooded in 1998.

2.0 Feasibility Study Methodology

2.1 The FS Process

The development of remedial alternatives consists of developing Remedial Action Objectives (RAOs) and then identifying applicable technologies and developing those technologies into remedial alternatives to meet the RAOs. The District requires that a range of alternatives be presented in the FS and evaluated objectively.

The first step in the FS process is to develop RAOs, which are media-specific goals established to protect, in this case, the bird populations at Lake Apopka NSRA. The RAOs specify the COPCs, media of interest, and exposure pathways, and are established such that a range of alternatives can be developed to achieve the objectives. RAOs for Lake Apopka NSRA are developed considering the site investigation information provided by the District.

Once RAOs are identified, general response actions for each medium of interest are developed. General response action typically fall into the following categories:

- no action,
- containment,
- excavation,
- treatment,
- disposal, or other actions (e.g. water regime management) that, singularly or in combination, may be taken to satisfy the RAOs established for the site.

The next step in the FS process is to identify and screen applicable technologies for each general response action. This step eliminates those technologies that cannot be implemented technically. Those technologies that pass the screening phase are then assembled into remedial alternatives. It should be noted that the purpose of the FS report for Lake Apopka NSRA is not to present all the possible variations and combination of remedial actions that could be taken at Lake Apopka NSRA, but to present distinctly different alternatives representing a range of opportunities for meeting the RAOs. It is expected that these different alternatives may be adjusted during the proposed plan and decision process as additional data are accumulated, and to lesser extent during detailed design to accomplish RAOs in a manner similar to the initially proposed alternative. This FS report does not present information on alternatives that fail to meet the RAOs, except for a no action alternative, which provides a baseline for comparison of all alternatives in accordance with typical Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA) and the National Oil and Hazardous Substances Pollution Contingency Plan (NCP) FS Process.

Once remedial alternatives are identified they are uniformly compared to consistent criteria. As discussed in Section 1.0, this FS generally follows USEPA guidance. One of the important deviations from the NCP FS approach is the evaluation criteria that have been used to evaluate alternatives. The following paragraphs explain the evaluation criteria used in this FS and why these differ from those required by the USEPA at Superfund Sites.

The nine criteria stipulated by the NCP are the following:

- Overall protection of human health and the environment;
- Compliance with the Applicable or Relevant and Appropriate Requirements (ARARs);
- Long-term effectiveness and permanence;
- Reduction of toxicity, mobility, and volume of contaminants through treatment;
- Short-term effectiveness;
- Implementability;
- Cost;
- State acceptance; and
- Community acceptance.

Compliance with ARARs is CERCLA specific. Since the NSRA is not regulated by CERCLA, this criterion is modified as discussed below, to specifically address the regulatory requirements affecting the Lake Apopka NSRA. Protection of human health is not considered a criterion under this FS because the event triggering this remediation effort was not derived from human exposure to contaminated soils or water, but by the avian mortality event. Ecological risks pose the most formidable challenges under the re-flooding/wetland restoration scenario. Human exposure potential is limited under the planned land-use scenario. The District recognizes its responsibility to protect human health from Distrcit actions associated with the restoration program but plans to address these issues by a separate risk management process. Therefore the remainder of the document addresses actions that would permit Lake Apopka restoration to proceed while mitigating risks to ecological receptors, specifically piscivorous birds. Thus the protection of the avian populations at the NSRA has replaced this criterion. The reduction of toxicity, mobility, or volume of contaminants is not a criterion used in this FS when analyzing alternatives for two reasons. First, this criterion is a requirement under CERCLA that does not apply to this FS. The second reason is that MACTEC has determined that the effectiveness of treatment can be evaluated at this site within the retained criterion of long-term effectiveness and permanence. Stakeholders' acceptance has taken the place of the State and community acceptance criteria to better reflect the involvement of the USFWS in the decision making process. Thus, the nine criteria USEPA are reduced to seven, and are modified as follows:

- Protection to the avian populations that are expected to utilize the restored Lake Apopka NSRA habitat;
- Compliance with regulatory requirements;
- Long-term effectiveness and permanence;
- Short-term effectiveness;

- Implementability;
- Cost; and
- Stakeholder's acceptance.

2.2 Remedial Considerations

Prior to establishing RAOs for Lake Apopka NSRA, several issues concerning the NSRA should be considered including regulatory requirements, and current and future land use.

Current Land Use – As a result of the bird mortality event, the north shore farming area was drained. Water is pumped from Unit 1 and 2 fields as needed, and as a result, the fields have become vegetated with upland grasses, herbs, and shrubs. The land surrounding Lake Apopka NSRA is made up of residential areas, ornamental plant farms, with sod and row crop farms across Jones Road. DISTRICT currently owns numerous parcels of land that are contiguous with the Lake Apopka NSRA.

Planned Future Land Use – Several Florida statutes, consistent with Federal law such as the CWA, have mandated restoration activities in the Lake Apopka watershed. The District is responsible for planning and implementing these restoration projects. Wetland restoration in the NSRA has been identified as a critical element for the overall restoration of Lake Apopka. The 1996 Lake Apopka Improvement and Management Act (Section 373.461, Florida Statutes 1996) determined it was in the public interest to pursue a buy-out of all the farms on the north shore of Lake Apopka and eliminate the major source of phosphorus pollution to the Lake. The Florida Legislature appointed the District as the agency responsible for implementing the buy-out program. The plan for restoration after the buy-out focused on re-flooding the farm fields and eventual elimination or breaching of the levees that separated the fields from the main body of the lake, allowing Lake Apopka to return to its historic size.

This course of action was determined following several years of research into the causes and alternatives for reversing adverse water quality trends in Lake Apopka. Therefore, the public benefits of the planned restoration are well established, and the District intends to restore as much of the NSRA to wetland habitat as is feasible and consistent with other environmental goals and requirements. The District understands, however, that years of agricultural use of the NSRA has resulted in high levels of pesticide residuals in the soils, and that these pesticide residuals caused or contributed to significant bird mortality. Consequently, wetland restoration can only proceed if the ecological risks posed by these COPCs can be mitigated and/or eliminated. Alternative actions are evaluated in this FS primarily by consideration of their effectiveness in minimizing exposure of piscivorous birds to COPCs, balanced against their implementation cost.

The District's objective is to restore as much of the NSRA to wetland habitat as is feasible, balancing the cost of remediation against the benefit of wetland restoration. This process of

balancing costs and benefits could result in restoring most, but not all, of the NSRA to wetland habitat, if it is determined that cost of restoring all the habitat is unreasonable. This FS is intended to provide the District with information that can support the evaluation and balancing of costs and benefits of alternative actions. The FS retains actions that isolate excessively contaminated soils from the food chain of piscivorous birds, including alternatives that would prevent some portions of the NSRA from reverting to wetland habitat (e.g., onsite landfill). Re-flooding of portions of Units 1 and 2 is likely to occur in phases covering defined Flooding Blocks containing varying size and number of fields. Initial maximum field water depth information was provided to MACTEC by the District. Those depths reflect the District's estimate of how much water the individual flooding blocks can hold without overtopping their containment levees into neighboring fields. These depths characterize maximum flooding with the current infrastructure (roads, levees). This shallow flooding certainly would be done during an interim phase in the restoration but does not necessarily characterize the final restoration. Flooding to lake level for one or both of Unit 1 or Unit 2 is a possibility. In that case water would be much deeper than the initial flooding unit depths. Even during interim, shallow flooding, there is no absolute protection from a breach in the outer levee during high-water periods. Indeed, many of the options are dependent upon the outer levee being maintained for an extended period of time.

Where excavation of soil is discussed, it is recognized that there will be an impact on the interim and final depth of reflooding of the borrow areas. Lowering of the ground elevation is not specifically a benefit for final restoration, because flooding of excavated areas to lake levels that would create more deep-marsh habitat (4-5 feet depth) is generally considered less desireable, for example, than building up land contours beneficial to the goal of re-creating shallow marsh (2-3 foot depth).

The planned future land use places some restriction on the types of remedial alternatives that can be implemented. One important factor is the need to maintain the soil's physical structure and level of organic matter. The muck soils were formed in a wetland or lake sediment environment and their physical characteristics and levels of organic matter are conducive to re-establishing a health wetland habitat. Aggressive treatment techniques, particularly chemical oxidation technologies, may adversely affect the fertility of the soils and their ability to support their intended use. It is also likely that chemical oxidation could reduce the soil's bulk volume, since the soils contain so much organic matter, and that oxidizing this material would result in further settling of the land, which would also make it more difficult to establish a health wetland habitat.

3.0 Remedial Action Objectives

This section presents the goals and objectives for remedial action at Lake Apopka NSRA that provide the basis for selecting appropriate RAOs, and subsequently, identifying remedial technologies and developing alternatives to address contamination at the site. To establish these objectives, regulatory requirements are first identified. Next, RAOs are defined based primarily on consideration of the regulatory requirements and the CSM.

3.1 Regulatory Requirements

Regulatory requirements are used to define the appropriate extent of site remediation, identify sensitive land areas or land uses, develop remedial alternatives, and direct site remediation.

3.1.1 Chemical-Specific Regulatory Requirements

These are standards that limit the concentration of a chemical found in, or discharged to the environment, and determine the extent of site remediation by providing either actual remediation levels or the basis for calculating such levels. Chemical-specific requirements for a site may also be used to indicate acceptable levels of discharge in determining treatment and disposal requirements, and to assess the effectiveness of remedial alternatives.

The Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA) does not apply since no groundwater or surface water, used for potable supply has been adversely affected.

FDEP soil cleanup target levels (SCTL) are not applicable to the site due to exemptions for agricultural use of pesticides, and because they are not relevant under the planned future land use, which is neither residential nor commercial/industry.

The Endangered Species Act, the Migratory Bird Treaty Act (MBTA), and/or the Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act (BGEPA) apply, given that the remediation of Lake Apopka NSRA was triggered by the bird mortality event.

The Endangered Species Act (Section 9, 16 U.S.C. § 1538) prohibits harming, wounding, killing any endangered species of fish or wildlife within the US or the territorial sea of the US. Harm is defined [50 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) § 17.3] as: "an act which actually kills or injures wildlife. Such act may include significant habitat modification or degradation where it actually kills or injures wildlife by significantly impairing essential behavioral patterns, including breeding, feeding, or sheltering." Such actions may be permitted for projects in the public interest, but only after consultation with USFWS which may result in a permit.

The MBTA contains similar language, but extends protection to a larger number of species, including all birds that died during the bird mortality event. The MBTA does not include comparable language preventing "harm", and incorporates different standards of liability and penalties.

The USFWS determined that both these laws had been violated by the District, but agreed not to pursue criminal or civil penalties when the District entered into an agreement [Memorandum of Understanding (MOU)] with USFWS to provide compensation for the adverse effects and agree to a process of consultation for future restoration projects.

The consultation provisions of the MOU have led to establishment of criteria for fish tissue and bird egg tissue concentrations of COPCs that have been accepted by the District as a trigger for consultation with USFWS for the Duda Farms re-flooding component of the NSRA restoration (USFWS, 2002). These levels represent tissue concentrations that may be associated with adverse toxicological effects in piscivorous birds, and are presented in Table 3-1.

Contaminant	Fish Tissue (mg/kg, wet weight)	Bird eggs (mg/kg, wet weight)
total chlordane	0.29	1.5
DDTx	3.6	3.0
dieldrin	0.69	3.0
toxaphene	4.3	

Table 3-1. Diviogical fissue fingger Level	Table 3-1.	Biological	Tissue	Trigger	Levels
--	------------	------------	--------	---------	--------

Source: USFWS 2002.

3.1.2 Location-Specific Regulatory Requirements

The District must balance potentially conflicting regulatory requirements affecting the site. Several Florida statutes, including laws intended to implement provisions of the federal CWA, have mandated restoration activities in the Lake Apopka watershed, and specifically in the NSRA. The District is responsible for planning and implementing these restoration projects. The Lake Apopka Improvement and Management Act (Section 373.461, Florida Statutes 1996) determined it was in the public interest to buy the farms in the NSRA to eliminate the major source of phosphorus pollution to the Lake. This course of action was determined based on extensive research into the causes and alternatives for reversing adverse water quality trends in Lake Apopka. Therefore the public benefits of the planned restoration are well established, and the District has been directed by the State of Florida to restore as much of the NSRA to wetland habitat as is feasible and consistent with other environmental goals and requirements.

The District understands, however, that years of agricultural use of the NSRA has resulted in pesticide residuals in the soils, and that the pesticide residuals contributed to mortality of birds, including birds protected by the Endangered Species Act and the MBTA. Consequently wetland

restoration can only proceed if the risks posed by these pesticides can be mitigated and/or eliminated.

These requirements govern site features (e.g., wetland, floodplains, wilderness areas, and endangered species) and man-made features (e.g., places of historical or archeological significance). These requirements place restrictions on concentration of hazardous substances or the conduct of activities based solely on the site's particular characteristics or location.

There are no identified historical or archeological sites of significance at Lake Apopka NSRA. However there are migratory birds and endangered species that have used this area (when flooded) as roosting and feeding grounds. Thus the Endangered Species Act, the MBTA and the BGEPA do apply. Dredge and fill permitting requirements of Section 404 of the CWA are location-specific requirements that may apply to some of the remedial alternatives. Their requirements are coordinated with Florida DEP requirements by use of a single permitting package, the Environmental Resource Permit administered by Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) and the USACE.

The Disrtict also has a Thrity-Year Lease Easement Deed (Bott, 1996) with the Natural Resources Conservation Service (NCRS). It is assumed that implementation of remedial alternatives and post-treatment land use will be required to comply with the provisions of this document as to access and use.

3.1.3 Action-Specific Regulatory Requirements

These requirements are technology or activity based regulations that control activities for remedial actions. Action-specific regulatory requirements generally set performance or design standards, control, or restriction on particular types of activities. To develop technically feasible alternatives, applicable performance or design standards will be considered during the detailed analysis of remedial alternatives. Action-specific requirements for the potential actions include performance standards for water control structures, administered by the District. Dredge and fill permitting requirements, previously introduced in Section 3.1.2, are not only location-specific, but also action-specific.

3.2 Identification of RAOs

RAOs are media-specific goals that are established to the bird populations that have, or will adopt Lake Apopka NSRA as their habitat. Alternatives will be evaluated primarily by their ability to achieve the water quality and wetland restoration objectives of the Lake Apopka restoration program while preventing exposure of migratory and/or threatened and endangered bird species to concentrations of COPCs that will result in adverse toxicological effects. The remedial actions must be evaluated not only in the context of preventing adverse toxicological effects to birds, but also their effectiveness in supporting the Lake Apopka restoration program.

The overriding RAO is to prevent exposure by migratory and/or threatened and endangered bird species to levels of COPCs that can produce adverse toxic effects. Based on the CSM (COPCs from soil/sediments to fish to birds), it is possible to disrupt the exposure pathway in several ways as expressed by the RAOs:

- Minimize contact of surface water with soils containing COPCs exceeding the soil remediation target levels provided in Table 3-1, Section 3.3;
- Prevent/minimize establishment of fish populations in surface waters in contact with soil/sediments exceeding the soil remediation target levels provided in Table 3-1, Section 3.3;
- Prevent/minimize birds from foraging in areas where sediments exceed the soil remediation target levels provided in Table 3-1, Section 3.3.

Virtually all of the remedial action alternatives evaluated are directed to achieve the first of these three objectives, with the third alternatives addressed indirectly. It may be possible, however, to interdict the exposure route in other ways, so the alternative RAOs are articulated here. Second and in particular, manipulation of water level depths and/or duration and timing may be useful in achieving either of the latter two RAOs.

The soil quality assessment revealed that approximately 90% of the contamination is limited to the 0 to 1 ft interval. Soils more than 1 ft below ground surface present limited exposure potential to piscivorous birds. Consequently, no RAO will be established for subsurface soil, and the aforementioned objectives apply to surface soil, defined as the upper foot of the soil/sediment profile.

3.3 Action and Target Levels

Action levels, or the concentration of contaminants above which remedial action would be necessary, are defined in this sub-section. The information presented in this section will be used to identify appropriate remedial technologies for the NSRA in Section 4.0, and an evaluation of those alternatives is presented in Section 5.0.

Action levels are the concentration of contaminants in media (in this case soil) above which remedial action or control would be necessary to meet the RAO. Action levels are identified here for soil because the RAO established for the NSRA relate only to this medium. The soil/sediment action levels are based on the CSM, and the biological tissue trigger levels presented in Table 3-1.

The District has conducted, and continues to conduct scientific research on the relationship between soil/sediment concentrations of COPCs and the concentration of the COPCs in fish and bird tissues. The District has applied the best information available at this time to estimate soil/sediment concentrations expected to be associated with the fish and bird tissue trigger concentrations that are in use to monitor the Duda Farms restoration (see Table 3-1). The estimated soil/sediment concentrations represent the District's best estimate of concentrations of COPCs in soil/sediments of the NSRA that are likely to be acceptable to USFWS and, if achieved in NSRA soils, would permit re-flooding of parcels in the NSRA without significant risk to piscivorous birds, or other potential receptors. These concentration targets are preliminary and subject to change. This set of target ranges in soil was developed by the District in order to guide the evaluation of this FS for possible remediation technologies for OCPs. The best estimate target level (BETL) were calculated from trigger values in fish tissue provided to the District by USFWS in their consultation on the former Duda farm (Coveney, 2004b). The conservative target levels (CTL) are one half of the BETLs and incorporate potential uncertainties that may be resolved by ongoing research. These remediation target levels are expressed as TOC normalized concentrations, and are presented in Table 3-2.

COPC	Soil/Sediment (mg/kg TOC)		
core	Conservative Target Level	Best Estimate Target Level	
total chlordane	2.0	4.0	
DDE	6.7	13.4	
DDTx	11.3	22.5	
dieldrin	2.5	4.9	
toxaphene	31.6	63.2	

Table 3-2. Potential Soil Target Action Levels

Source: Coveney, 2004b.

The selection of criteria was established being aware of potential uncertainties in effects levels and bioaccumulation potential of the COPCs, which is the reason that a range has been presented. It is possible that the final target level will only be defined by re-flooding specific parcels and monitoring the accumulated concentrations in biological tissue, and by this process fine-tuning the contaminant levels that may be present in re-flooded lands without adverse ecotoxicological effects. This experimental approach has been initiated by monitoring conducted on the Duda Farms property that was re-flooded in 2002. On that parcel, concentrations of toxaphene in fish tissue have consistently been less than the target level of 4.3 milligram per kilogram (mg/kg), wet weight. Specifically, the maximum concentration that has been observed in fish tissue samples since 2002 has been 1.0 mg/kg, while the average concentration has been approximately 0.40 mg/kg. Thus, average concentrations of toxaphene in fish tissue have been approximately 10% of the toxaphene trigger level for fish. Likewise, the carbon normalized surface soil concentration of toxaphene in the re-flooded area averaged approximately 11 mg/kg TOC prior to re-flooding, which is about 17% of the BETL from Table 3-2, which in turn is based on the District's best estimate bioaccumulation factors relating fish tissue to soil/sediment. These results suggest that the District bioaccumulation factors are consistent with full scale re-flooding results, and thus that the BETLs are more accurate than the CTLs, which are one half of the District's best estimate. Figures 3-1 through 3-10 contain maps of concentrations of each of the COPC

concentration as the ratio of the carbon normalized OCP concentration to the potential remediation target levels. Figures 3-1 and 3-2 illustrate the ratio of the concentration of carbon normalized concentrations of chlordane to the BETL and CTL, respectively. Each succeeding pair of figures provides a comparison by COPC versus BETL and CTL goals. Where the field concentration is shown as either light or dark green, no remedial action is required. Comparing each pair of COPC maps shows the difference in acreage requiring remediation is very sensitive to the target levels determined to be protective.COP concentration to the CTL.






pleegi2004/projects/sywmd apopka Is/report/ligures/new flood zone maps.ppl 09 04 CH







3.4 Method of Summarizing the Available Data in Context of the RAOs and Remedial Alternatives

A procedure was developed to allow a robust evaluation of alternatives consistent with the nature and extent of contamination, biogeochemical characteristics of the COPCs, the exposure mechanisms as represented by the CSM, uncertainty regarding the distribution of contaminants, uncertainty regarding the final remediation criteria, and features/effectiveness of one or more of the retained technologies. This procedure is unique to the problem at hand.

It has been determined that although concentrations of OCPs may vary substantially from field to field, concentrations within a field (as described by owner and alum block) are relatively homogeneous, and therefore may be reliably estimated with a small number of samples. It was also determined (Marzolf, 2004) that ambient and field end samples characterize most of the area within the NSRA conservatively (canal sediments and canal bank sediments may have somewhat lower concentrations, but canals make up a small part of the total area). In addition more than 90% of the contaminant mass is found within the upper foot of the soil profile, and the COPCs are not mobile due to their chemical properties and the high organic content of the soils. Procedures for summarizing exposure concentrations also consider that exposure may be affected, to some extent, by the tendency for piscivorous birds to concentrate their seasonal feeding in relatively small areas if food is plentiful. Therefore it would be inappropriate to estimate exposure averaged ("diluted") over the entire NSRA. Consequently the field is an appropriate exposure area. Therefore, surface soil samples grouped within fields are an appropriate unit for estimating exposure and evaluating actions in the context of the Remedial Action Objectives for Units 1 and 2 of the NSRA.

It has also been shown that the COPCs are strongly associated with soil organic carbon, such that exposure by piscivorous birds is expected to be directly related to the soil concentration after normalization by soil organic carbon content (i.e., the concentration of contaminant per mass of soil organic carbon). This quantity is expected to be directly related to exposure and bioaccumulation potential of the COPCs.

Further, because it has been shown that concentrations of OCPs are correlated with soil organic carbon content, the carbon normalized concentration is expected to exhibit less relative variance than the dry weight concentrations, and therefore can be estimated with greater precision from monitoring data.

Carbon normalization and grouping data by fields substantially reduces the uncertainty in estimating exposure. However, uncertainty remains, not only in the exposure concentrations (for example, some fields are characterized by only one sample, many by less than 10), but also in understanding the allowable exposure concentration. These potential uncertainties are accounted

for by the following procedure developed to support the detailed evaluation of alternatives for this FS, and these uncertainties may be reduced by subsequent investigations.

To accommodate the various aspects of this restoration project, the following procedure was developed to summarize, sort, and characterize site data:

- 1. Concentrations of OCPs were normalized to the organic carbon content of the soil prior to any further manipulation. When calculating the average and the UCL95, OCP concentratrions coded with "U" (compound analyzed but not detected), were included in the calculations at one half of the detection limit reported.
- By field, both a best estimate exposure concentration (average) and a reasonable maximum exposure concentration [e.g., 95% upper confidence limit of the mean (UCL95)] were calculated from the carbon normalized data.
- 3. All ambient and field end data from the upper 1 ft depth interval were used to calculate these estimated exposure concentrations.

When calculating both the average and the reasonable maximum exposure concentration, it was assumed that the carbon normalized OCP concentrations by field were normally distributed. This was subsequently spot-checked, and found to be a reliable assumption for most of the data sets. The standard student's t method, appropriate for normally distributed data, was used to estimate the UCL95. The reasonable maximum exposure concentration was taken as the lesser of the UCL95 or the maximum concentration, by field.

Whereas there is still remaining uncertainty in the concentrations that can be left in place without significant adverse effects on piscivorous birds, a range of possible concentration reductions were considered. At the least, the average concentration must be less than the BETL (Table 3-2). At the worst case, the reasonable maximum concentration may need to be reduced to the CTL. This latter case would represent the most extensive and costly level of remediation that may be required. The true level of remedial activity, per field, may be within the range bracketed by these extreme assumptions.

The best estimate and reasonable maximum exposure concentrations estimated for each contaminant of concern, by field, are provided in Appendix A, which also provides the percent reductions required to achieve the alternate criteria.

4.0 Remedial Action Alternatives

The approach and rationale leading to the development of remedial alternatives are presented in this section. The development of remedial alternatives consists of identifying applicable technologies, screening the identified technologies, and using the selected technologies to develop remedial alternatives that accomplish the identified RAOs. For the NSRA, remedial alternatives will be developed for surface soil because this is the only medium identified previously as posing a risk to the avian populations.

The primary goal of alternative development for the NSRA is to provide alternatives that will significantly reduce the risk of another episode of avian mortality when the NSRA is restored to flooded wetland use.

The remaining subsections identify types of technologies that contribute to achieving the RAOs, evaluate the select representative technologies for each technology type, and develop remedial alternatives using the selected technologies. A detailed evaluation of the remedial alternatives is presented in Section 5.0.

General response actions describe potential medium-specific measures that may be employed to address the RAOs. Potential response actions for the NSRA are developed for soil and are discussed in more detail in Section 4.2. These response actions include no action, limited action, containment, or isolation, *in situ* treatment, and *ex situ* treatment.

4.1 Identification of Screening and Remedial Technologies

In this section, traditional and innovative technologies have been researched and categorized according to their basic operating principle. The remedial technologies described in this section are evaluated using general criteria recommended by USEPA FS guidance which are effectiveness, implementability, and cost. Based on the results of this screening, a recommendation is made to either eliminate or retain the technology for the development of remedial alternatives.

For the remedial alternatives retained for subsequent analysis in Section 5.0 and 6.0, one representative technology was then selected from each technology type for costing purposes. For example, Anaerobic-Aerobic Bioremediation may be selected from a group of six bioremediation technologies as the representative *in situ* technology. However, it is realized that emerging technologies are often continually and rapidly introduced and commercialized; sometimes due to needs demonstrated by large sites such as the NSRA. If a new technology arises that uses the same operating principles and achieves the same or better objectives at lower cost compared to the currently favored technology, it could be considered for implementation during the remedial design.

The following list of remedial technologies and process options were identified as potentially applicable to the overall site. These remedial alternatives include scenarios that can be categorized as more or less aggressive. However, less aggressive, more passive options are not necessarily less protective.

- 1. No Action Alternative
- 2. Limited Action [e.g., institutional controls, monitored natural attenuation (MNA)]
- 3. Island/peninsula construction (on-site landfilling above flooding levels)
- 4. Clay Capping
- 5. Soil Cover
- 6. Berms alone to preclude flooding
- 7. Soil layer inversion (1-3 ft deep plowing, assumed to achieve 30% reduction)
- 8. Vertical Blending (45% reduction maximum)
- 9. Horizontal Blending [within a flooding block (FB)] of contiguous fields
- 10. Soils removed and used for roads or berms
- 11. Soils placed in existing canals and covered
- 12. Composting- (e.g. Xenorem) Anaerobic-Aerobic Bioremediation
- 13. Soil reactor *ex situ* chemical oxidation treatment (ex: Soilsavers)
- 14. Low temperature Thermal Desorption treatment
- 15. Incineration
- 16. Mobile solvent extraction
- 17. Soil Washing with surfactants
- 18. Supercritical Fluids Treatment (carbon dioxide)
- 19. Landfarming –shallow tilling with bio and/or chemical treatment amendments (liquid fertilizers, ISCO, etc.)
- 20. Bioremediation –Anaerobic-aerobic dechlorination (for example DARAMEND[®] or SAMNA; also considered water level cycling with or without sulfate addition per Ogram and Cheng, 2004)
- 21. Nano-particles iron treatment
- 22. Phytoremediation (with native species only)
- 23. Excavation and off-site disposal

These identified technology options and alternative actions were initially screened then evaluated further using the criteria of implementability, effectiveness, and cost. A summary of the results of this evaluation in included in Table 4-1, and a discussion of each alternative is included below. For those alternatives that involve long-term management of the contaminated soil on-site, the alternatives were evaluated considering both flooded and non-flooded endpoint land use until monitoring (with natural attenuation, e.g., MNA) indicates future flooding is possible.

				Screened
Representative Technology	Effectiveness	eness Implementability		Result
No action	Not effective in meeting Lake Apopka restoration goals	Requires continuous pumping in order to maintain drained fields. Includes maintenance of access roads, levees.	bumping in order to ls. Includes Moderate s roads, levees.	
Limited Action – Institutional Controls	Not effective in meeting Lake Apopka restoration goals	Requires continuous pumping in order to maintain drained fields. Includes maintenance of access roads, levees. Chemical monitoring in Soils.	Moderate	Retain
Containment				
Island/peninsula construction (above flooding levels)	Effective in preventing contaminated soil from becoming in contact with surface water.	Relatively easy to implement utilizing standard remedial construction technologies. Applicable to up-slope highest concentration areas	Low-Moderate	Retain
Clay Capping	Effective in preventing contaminated soil from becoming in contact with surface water.	Relatively easy to implement utilizing standard remedial construction technologies. Under flooded conditions inspection and repair work may be necessary. Under non- flooded conditions, erosion control technologies may need to be implemented.	Moderate-High	Eliminate
Soil Cover Capping (flooded or non- flooded)	Effective in preventing contaminated soil from becoming in contact with surface water if appropriate cover soil is used.	Moderately difficult to implement on the type of soil present at the NSRA	Low	Retain
Berm only containment of non-flooded areas	Effective in preventing contaminated soil from becoming in contact with surface water.	Difficult to implement except for areas at a higher elevation.	High	Eliminate
Deep Plowing Soil layer inversion (1-3 ft deep)	Demonstration project 32% reduction	Deeper plowing possible	Low	Retain
Vertical blending	Disc tilling demonstrated 21% reduction	Assume 45% reduction with better mixing of 0-2 ft depth	Low-Moderate	Retain
Horizontal blending (within FB) of contiguous fields	Varies with concentration s and mixing	Source materials must be adjacent fields	Low-Moderate	Retain
Soils removed and used for roads and berms	Only possible for some soils and few areas, limited structural use	Not applicable for high TOC soils	Low	Eliminate

 Table 4-1.
 Screening for Remedial Technologies for the Lake Apopka NSRA

 Table 4-1.
 Screening for Remedial Technologies for the Lake Apopka NSRA

Poprocontative Technology	Effortivonoss	Implementability	Cost	Screened		
Representative Technology	Effectiveness	Implementability	Cost	Kesuit		
Soils placed in existing ditches or canals and covered	Isolates soils	Limited volume, potential groundwater impact	Low	Eliminate		
Reduction/Treatment/Disposal Options	Reduction/Treatment/Disposal Options					
In situ treatment						
Land farming – shallow tilling with bio and/or chemical treatment amendments (liquid fertilizers, ISCO, etc.)	Augmented tilling for chemical-bio reduction dependent on dosing, Water level cycling –sulfate addition requires testing.	Full-scale implementation requires site specific testing	Low-Moderate	Retain		
Bioremediation – Anaerobic-aerobic dechlorination (i.e., DARAMEND [®] or SAMNA [®])	Documented full-scale pesticide reduction	Bench-demonstration optimization vs partial reduction needed for costing. Commercially available	Low-Moderate	Retain		
Nano-particle iron treatment	Undocumented beyond bench scale	Undocumented	Unknown	Eliminate		
Phytoremediation with native species only	Not effective	Requires non-flooding, harvesting; polishing only for lower concentrations	Low	Eliminate		
Ex situ treatment						
Composting – Xenorem – anaerobic- aerobic bioremediation	Demonstrated 60-70% reduction in 1-2 years	Adds up to 50% amendment volume Requires Extensive transport & soil handling	Moderate-High	Eliminate		
Soil reactor <i>ex situ</i> chemical (Soilsavers advanced oxidation process (AOP) treatment	Can destroy high concentrations of toxaphene over limited portions of the site	No setup, portable Bench-demonstration needed vs TOC content	Moderate-High	Retain		
Low temperature thermal desorption treatment	Demonstrated destruction	Requires extensive mob, permitting and testing, soil preparation	High	Eliminate		
Incineration	Demonstrated destruction	Requires large fixed base operation	Very high	Eliminate		
Mobile Solvent Extraction	Undocumented Bench scale data only	Requires solvent recovery and reuse	Very high	Eliminate		
Soil washing with surfactants	Not effective on high organic content soils	Undocumented	Very High	Eliminate		
Supercritical fluid treatment (carbon dioxide)	Undocumented beyond bench scale	Not commercialized	Very high	Eliminate		
Excavation/Off-site landfill disposal	Proven full scale	Only limited by landfill capacity	Very high	Retain		

Source: MACTEC, 2004.

4.1.1 No Action Alternative

A no action alternative is typically included in the FS process to provide a baseline comparison to other remedial alternatives evaluated in the detailed analysis. The no action alternative is defined as conducting no response and no long-term monitoring of the extent of the OCP contamination of the soil. The no action alternative in the present case involves preserving the land that constitutes the NSRA in dry condition, for which the District will be required to maintain their current drainage program in place. The no action alternative will not be discussed under the identification and screening discussion, but will be evaluated as part of the remedial alternatives in Section 5.0.

4.1.2 Limited Action Alternative

The limited action alternative consists of long-term monitoring activities, physical barriers, and administrative actions to reduce the potential for exposure to the contaminated media. Limited action could also include public information programs, providing a database of information about the site, and evaluating changes in site conditions over time.

The limited action alternative as applicable to the NSRA, would include maintaining the NSRA dry by continuing the drainage program that the District has now in place, and including monitoring programs including soil sampling could be implemented in conjunction with the remedial actions. Monitoring does not actively prevent exposure to contaminants. However, monitoring could be used in combination with other actions as a means to evaluate the short-term impacts and long-term effectiveness and permanence of these actions.

The institutional controls, such as deed restrictions and installation of a fence or berm around a field or FB, were eliminated because these did not achieve the RAOs. Institutional controls do not prevent wildlife from coming into direct contact with the contaminated soil and they do not minimize the potential for surface water contact with the contaminated soil.

4.1.3 Containment-Isolation Options

This action involves containment of the contaminated soil on-site with little or no treatment, and protecting human health and the environment by preventing potential exposure and/or reducing the mobility of contaminants. Natural attenuation is assumed to continue following containment as isolation and may be accelerated by the containment action, but no such benefit is applied to estimate achievement of target remediation levels. Even shallow tilling alone has achieved approximately 20 percent reduction after six months (SJRWMD, 2004). Several potential methods screened for implementation include:

- 1. Island/peninsula construction (on-site landfilling above flooding levels),
- 2. Clay Capping,
- 3. Soil Cover (flooded or non-flooded),
- 4. Surface solidification sealing/compaction,

- 5. Berms alone to preclude flooding,
- Soil layer inversion (1-3 ft deep plowing, assumed to achieve 30% reduction), (Bartol, 2004)
- 7. Vertical Blending (45% reduction maximum) assuming 0-2 ft mixing and \leq 10% of 0-12" OCPs in 12-24 inch interval,
- 8. Horizontal Blending (within an FB) of contiguous fields,
- 9. Soils removed and used for roads or berms,
- 10. Soils placed in existing ditches or canals and covered.

For containment, the technologies include *in situ* capping, on-site containment and offsite containment. Off-site options were eliminated for practical reasons due to the size of the NSRA. Solidification is a process in which contaminated soil is mixed with cohesive materials such as cement or fly ash to immobilize the contaminant. This technology is most effective on liquid waste and sludge with metal contaminants (Anderson, 2004; Batelle, 2003; *In Situ* Fixation, Inc. 2004; and Nicholson, July 2004). Solidification processes have not been demonstrated to be effective with OCP contaminated soils, and would be very difficult to implement with the high organic content of the muck.

Following evaluation of the site conditions and areas requiring action, placement of soils as fill in ditches and canals without liners was eliminated because of the volumes of soils involved and the possibility of adverse impact on groundwater. Use of soils in on-site road or berm construction is also difficult to implement because of the soil's physical properties and was eliminated and not evaluated further because this technology does not have the capacity to treat more than a small fraction of the contaminated soils.

4.1.4 Reduction/Treatment/Disposal Options

The remedial action involves some form of surface soil movement or excavation and on-site disposal of the contaminated material. Off-site disposal is considered impractical due to the size of the site. This action may also require some degree of treatment of the material prior to disposal if the waste exceeds target levels. None of the resulting soils are assumed to be classified as hazardous. The process options involving the disposal of soil as hazardous waste were eliminated because the toxicity characteristics leaching procedures performed on the soil have demonstrated that the material is not a characteristic hazardous waste in accordance with 40 CFR 261.24. Field level treatment may be performed *ex situ* or *in situ*.

4.1.4.1 *In situ* Treatment Processes

In situ treatment encompasses various innovative technologies to effect a reduction of contaminant concentrations in the soil without removing the soil. Biological and physical treatment technologies were considered. These may be performed separately or in conjunction with potential alum or other chemical amendment treatments.

- 1. Landfarming –shallow tilling with bio and/or chemical treatment amendments (liquid fertilizers, ISCO, etc.)
- Bioremediation Anaerobic-aerobic dechlorination (for example DARAMEND[®] or SAMNA[®]; or water level cycling with or without sulfate addition per Ogram and Cheng, 2004)
- 3. Nano-particles iron treatment
- 4. Phytoremediation (with native species only)
- 5. Mobile solvent extraction

For *in situ* treatment, the technologies include biological treatments and physical-chemical treatments. Nano-particle treatment was eliminated because this technology is not sufficiently developed and the materials needed are not available in adequate supply (Zhan, 2004; Roco, 2003; and Wilcoxon, 2004). Phytoremediation (a biological treatment technology) was also eliminated during the initial screening process (Burken, 1996; Shrimp, 1993; and Planteco, 2004). Phytoremediation involves either hyperaccumulation of contaminants by plants or rhizosphere-enhanced biodegradation. Neither of these phytoremediation processes has been demonstrated to be effective on high concentrations of toxaphene. Solvent extraction was eliminated because of the lack of demonstrated treatment of high TOC soils. Further, the process is not economically available unless solvents can be recovered and reused (ITRC, 2003; Dennis, 1992; Engle, 1995; Criffiths, 1995; Meckes, 1996; Sahle-Demessie, 1996; and Semer, 1996).

4.1.4.2 Ex situ Treatment Process Options

The *ex situ* treatment general response options include a number of chemical, biological and physical treatment technologies. In most instances, only partial treatment is required for a field to reach the desired Target Levels. Chemical treatment involving oxidation and reduction technologies that can destruct the high concentrations of toxaphene over limited portions of the site were retained, and could be applied on reduced quantities where the treated soils were used for subsequent blending to achieve target levels. The process of chemical oxidation is most effective on highly reactive compounds, and has been demonstrated to work on chlorinated compounds and pesticide contaminated media.

Treatment technologies being developed, used, or considered world-wide for pesticide and other Persistent Organic Pollutant (POP) remedial action and destruction of outdated pesticide stockpiles were considered for screening.

Regardless of the treatment process step selected, *ex situ* treatment involves excavating the soil and providing on-site treatment of the contaminants, hence the process step is necessarily coupled with other containment option process steps. Therefore, for reduction, treatment, and disposal, the primary technology is still some form of physical isolation from the biosphere involving soil movement or mixing types of excavation to avoid unnecessary effort.

Potential *ex situ* treatment technologies considered include:

- 1. Composting- Xenorem Anaerobic-Aerobic Bioremediation
- 2. Soil reactor *ex situ* Chemical treatment (ex: Soilsavers)
- 3. Low temperature Thermal desorption treatment
- 4. Incineration
- 5. Soil Washing with surfactants
- 6. Supercritical Fluids Treatment (Carbon dioxide)

Ex situ composting was eliminated because full-scale use on pesticides at a landfill TSD facility for over two years failed to reach satisfactory endpoints (Adventus, 2004). The *ex situ* treatment general response actions include a number of chemical, biological and physical treatment technologies. Chemical treatment involving oxidation and reduction technologies was considered because of the high concentration of toxaphene over some limited areas, and the ability to provide high degrees of destruction in some soils. Aggressive oxidative treatment is not recommended because it would reduce soil organic carbon content and adversely affect the potential of the soil matrix to support the intended land use. Soil washing alone was eliminated because the process has not been adequately demonstrated for pesticides and high organic content soils. Surfactant amendment as part of ISCO treatment, or even as part of *in situ* bio-treatment to improve bioavailability is considered worthwhile for further investigation. *Ex situ* treatment using supercritical fluids is eliminated because it has not been adequately developed beyond bench and small pilot scale applications. Soil washing was also eliminated because it is not sufficiently effective on high organic content soil.

4.1.5 Innovative Technologies

A number of the processes evaluated can currently be categorized as Innovative Technology, where this is defined as "a newly introduced, yet technically feasible, process or application that is not well established by widespread use under a variety of site-specific conditions or for which performance or cost information may be incomplete. This includes processes, and manufacturing, monitoring, measurement, source reduction, pollution prevention, waste reduction and remediation technologies" (USEPA, 2004).

MACTEC performed extensive literature searches to locate the most current data on soil remediation of pesticides. Where such data exists, it typically is reported for pilot or full-scale treatment of "hot spot" source soils at pesticide production, formulation, or spill sites. Treatment goals for these CERCLA sites tend to be low (μ g/kg) and the costs reflect high, 90 percent or greater reduction. Therefore, actual cost data for broad acreage applications, and productivity and performance data for lesser reduction "partial" biological or chemical treatment options was found to be nearly non-existent. Unit costs per ton or per acre for such processes (for example, DARAMEND and Soilsavers FX) had to be estimated with a greater degree of uncertainty based on discussions and correspondence with the commercial providers and making assumptions considered reasonable given the Apopka site conditions.

4.2 Screening of Remedial Technologies and Processes

The general response actions were further defined to specify remedial technology types and process options for the site. There are two steps involved in the screening process. The initial screening as described above in Section 4.1 was performed to eliminate process options based on technical implementability and site-specific conditions. Technologies not sufficiently developed or robust enough to treat broad acreage sites were eliminated in this step. Several technologies were retained despite the need for further development or demonstration on broad acreage sites such as the NSRA.

The second screening step was performed to evaluate the remaining process options based on institutional implementability, probable effectiveness, and cost. The results of this two-step screening process are intended to provide a basis for selection, if possible, of several options for the target level ranges applied to each of the 70 fields in Units 1 and 2 that meet the needs of the range of general response action objectives.

The retained technologies or unit process physical actions serve as a toolbox of options that can be applied on a field basis. This approach is advantageous because it provides a flexible but rational development of the alternatives for further analysis of the overall actions possible for this large and complex site.

4.2.1 Island/Peninsula On-Site Containment

This option consists of constructing a limited number of on-site elevated landfill-like vaults most probably at or near the upgradient flooded shore or where existing roads and dikes afford access for construction of a stable waste pile or cell. Assuming the muck soils do not have proper physical characteristics, these vaults may be constructed using a high density geo-synthetic material. The contaminated soil will be excavated and placed in the vault. A geomembrane cap may then be installed on top of the material to provide a barrier between the material and the environment, and the surface covered with clean soil for re-vegetation. The long-term effectiveness, implementability and cost are discussed below.

4.2.1.1 Effectiveness

This alternative is effective in terrestrial applications and will achieve the RAOs by preventing fish and bird contact with the contaminated soil. Long-term effectiveness of the islands must be monitored in perpetuity. Under surrounding flooded conditions, the effectiveness of this alternative is dependent on the outer edge barrier cover. The islands would be re-vegetated.

4.2.1.2 Implementability

Island construction higher than flooded lands can be performed using standard construction technologies. This option must include adequate erosion controls and maintenance. This option requires CWA Act Section 404 (dredge and fill) permitting, but it is assumed the action is permittable because the overall restoration program is in the public interest.

4.2.1.3 Cost

The stabilized soil island represents a significantly lower cost alternative than a soil or clay cap cover. The permitting, long-term maintenance and monitoring will increase the overall cost of this alternative. The construction cost of this alternative is estimated to require at least \$9,400 per acre (Appendix B), and would require long-term maintenance of the sloped edges in contact with adjacent flooded lands. This cost is based on building the waste materials into piles up to eight feet high. Soil scraping and movement costs are based on minimum movement distance of no more than 400 feet.

4.2.2 Clay Capping

Clay caps can be used to contain the contaminated soil in place. The cap would consist of a properly designed and installed 6 inch minimum thickness material with appropriate edge toe slopes adequate to provide isolation and resist erosion under relatively traffic free conditions. Size would depend on the field size, but this option is only judged applicable to the smallest fields with highest concentrations requiring the highest degree of treatment. The long-term effectiveness, implementability and cost will vary based on future land use.

4.2.2.1 Effectiveness

The clay cover will achieve the RAOs by preventing fish and bird contact with the contaminated soil. Long-term effectiveness of the cap must be monitored over a 30 year period. If the site is flooded, human and animal contact with the cap will be minimal. There is a negligible potential, however, for the COPCs to leach through the cap in flooded subaqueous conditions since the COPCs are tightly bound to the NSRA soil. Under nonflooded conditions, the cap will be susceptible to weathering and damage by burrowing wildlife. However, the actual performance of the cap should be more reliable under non-flooded conditions. This alternative would not result in an ideal substrate for flooded wetland restoration vegetation, unless further covered with soil or dredged material.

4.2.2.2 Implementability

This alternative is relatively easy to implement, utilizing standard remedial construction technologies. The approach to long-term maintenance of this alternative is different for flooded and non-flooded conditions. Under flooded conditions, inspections and any necessary repair work on the cap will be difficult to implement in sub-aqueous conditions. Recreational use in the immediate vicinity of the flooded cap must be prohibited because boat-motor propellers and

anchors can damage the cap. Under non-flooded conditions mowing on a regular basis will be required to control vegetative growth (large roots will damage the cap). Maintenance and repair work on the cap will be easier to implement under non-flooded conditions which is not consistent with restoration objectives.

4.2.2.3 Cost

The clay cap cover represents a relatively high cost alternative, and long-term maintenance and monitoring will only increase the overall cost. Under flooded conditions, long-term maintenance is problematic and might involve items such as bathymetric surveys and underwater camera profiles to determine the integrity of the cap over time. If repairs are necessary, specialized equipment will be required to install additional portions of the clay cover. Long-term monitoring of sediments, surface water and aquatic life will be necessary. Under non-flooded conditions, site maintenance items such as fencing and mowing will be required and long-term groundwater monitoring will be necessary. The cost of this alternative ranges from \$98 to \$108 per ton (\$158,000 to \$174,000 per acre)

For capping process options, both clay and solidified stabilization covers were considered and retained. Clay capping and other solidified covers were were initially considered for elimination from further evaluation because the do not provide meaningful reduction in risk when compared with a simple soil cover, yet they are relatively more costly, and because such a cap is a poor substrate for shallow marsh vegetation. However, these problems can be at least partially overcome by covering the cap in some areas with a one foot layer of soil or dredged material, and because there is the possibility that the NurRF project (LCWA) on Cell H (property north of current phase 1 MFW) will result in a large amount of available clay material that could be used for capping. Therefore this alternative was retained for future consideration.

4.2.3 Soil Cover Option

As an alternative to other types of caps, a surface applied and stabilized layer of at least 6 inches of clean soil from on-site or dredged material from the lake could be constructed on areas of collected contaminated soil for isolation and containment *in situ*. The soils would be scraped into a prepared area, leveled and compacted, then covered with deeper clean soils or dredged material from on-site. The covered area would be smaller than the original field, thus the cover area would depend on the size of the non-flooded area in a field. The cover material would be compacted over the contaminated muck soil before re-flooding the surrounding area. Banks and surfaces would be stabilized for erosion control. A vertical berm section would be constructed around the perimeter of the area, to a depth of approximately 2 feet below land surface. The long-term effectiveness, implementability and cost are evaluated below.

4.2.3.1 Effectiveness

The effectiveness of this alternative is dependent upon the condition of the soil cover. If the surface is not properly constructed and maintained, then there will be a potential for erosion and fish and bird contact with the contaminated soil. There is a neglibible potential for contaminants to leach through the cover and into surface water after the surrounding area is flooded since the COPCs are tightly bound to the NSRA soil. This alternative is only considered applicable for a small amount of acreage in up-slope areas with high concentrations. This option would actually involve more soil excavation and transport than island construction, but would not allow flooding of as much acreage, because the height of the islands are greater than the simply covered soils.

4.2.3.2 Implementability

This alternative would be moderately difficult to implement on muck soils with high organic content. The low-density muck soils may not support optimum compaction of the cover. After the surrounding area is flooded, the soils may swell and shift over time with attendant soil cover cracking. The contaminated muck and deeper soils can be collected and layered with available earthmoving equipment.

The use of dredge material made available by the dredging of surficial lake sediments as a capping material is considered viable, although the chemical absence of OCPs, available quantities, transport distances, location of staging areas, and availability timewise versus soil restoration is currently unknown. These issues would require resolution and further cost evaluation during design. Areas in the lake or the Apopka-Beauclair Canal in the vicinity of the NSRA may be dredged for navigation reasons. Further, use of dredge material for such capping would be beneficial because it would avoid the problem of deepening borrow areas in the NSRA.

4.2.3.3 Cost

The soil cover alternative represents a lower cost alternative than the clay cap cover but higher cost than the island construction because of the initial construction costs and long-term maintenance costs. The labor and materials involved in the initial construction of the cover are also less costly and assumed available on-site, either from deeper soils in some areas, or from the existing levees.

4.2.4 Berm Only Containment of Non-Flooded Areas

This option essentially consists of constructing a limited number of on-site berms at or near the currently defined limits of the up-slope re-flooded shoreline or where roads and dikes afford construction of an enclosure. The option is similar to the island or soil cover construction except that no additional material would be placed in the interior on top of contaminated soils. The contaminated soil surface would require re-vegetation to prevent exposure, and the enclosed interior could not be subject to flooding or standing water. The long-term effectiveness, implementability and cost are discussed below.

4.2.4.1 Effectiveness

This alternative is effective in terrestrial applications and will achieve the RAOs by preventing fish and bird with the contaminated soil. Long-term effectiveness of the berms must be monitored over a 30 year period. Under flooded conditions, the effectiveness of this alternative is less certain and dependent on the outer edge barrier to prevent surface water contact with contaminated soils. It is possible that infrequent, periodic events such as hurricanes could add water to the contaminated soil area requiring temporary pumping controls and attendant handling of contaminated water.

4.2.4.2 Implementability

The construction of the berms may be more difficult to implement than the placement of caps or covers using on-site materials due to the need for adequate grade construction materials. Higher berms with adequate design freeboard would be required to barrier areas with deeper surrounding flooding depths. This would restrict use to only the up-gradient shoreline where flooding depths of less than 1 ft are projected. Two to four ft height berms around future off-shore deeper areas would be difficult to construct to guarantee the interior would not flood by infiltration from surrounding flooded areas. Therefore, this alternative was retained but should be considered only in FBs with less than 1 ft flooding depth along the far North edge of the NSRA. Use of this alternative is highly limited, and may be better considered in conjunction with a dredged material soil cover.

4.2.4.3 Cost

The berm represents a lower cost alternative than the capping, cover, or island options. The permitting, long-term inspection, maintenance, and monitoring will increase the overall cost of this alternative. The capital cost of this alternative is estimated to be approximately \$7,294 per acre based on a 2 ft berm dike and 834 linear ft per acre.

4.2.5 Soil Layer Inversion

Deep plowing is a physical treatment alternative that involves inverting entire layers of soils by use of special mechanical means using offset plows and moldboard plows (Allen, 2004). This technology would permanently seal the contaminated 0-1 ft layer beneath one ft or more of adequately clean material. In addition, soil tilling of the materials during preparation for flipping will provide an oxygen source for the indigenous microbes and may increase the rate of natural decomposition after burial, but this is incidental to the technology. This option has been attempted in a limited testing program at Apopka on the 0-2 ft depth soils under wet site conditions site.

4.2.5.1 Effectiveness

This alternative has shown 32 percent reduction in the contaminant concentrations, during the District's demo in 2003 in the fields, versus a 45 percent theoretical reduction calculated assuming the 1-2 ft layer contains no more than ten percent of the 0-1 ft concentration (Bartol, 2004). J. Allen of Allen Machine and Equipment Co., Roscoe, Texas has completed two 2003 soil inversion pilot studies in Florida, one at the Apopka NSRA and one in an orange grove at Fort Pierce. According to Mr. Allen, neither demonstration test has completely met expectations, because Allen Machine and Equipment Co. allowed someone else to furnish the equipment and do the critical site preparation for these pilot studies. The Fort Pierce pilot study reportedly turned out much better than the one at Apopka, but was hampered by citrus roots. As previously reported to the District, the old adage, "too wet to plow", definitely applied to the Apopka site, but the test was completed anyway to gain initial data since the equipment had been mobilized from Texas. Plowing when it is wet is not believed to be a problem if the site is prepared properly. Soil, whether it is muck, peat, sandy, sandy loam, clay, etc., has the tendency to stick together when it is wet, making it slab out instead of turning (flipping) at the desired depth. In Mr. Allen's opinion, this can be overcome with the addition of custom designed soil deflectors with a precise curvature which are placed on each mold plow bottom.

The 2003 Apopka NSRA pilot test did not have the proper equipment on-site for the test. The site had extremely wet conditions, excessive roots, and poor preparations prior to the deep- plowing phase, hence the Baker moldboard type plow did not achieve the level of success desired. Because of the slippage and spinning of tractor tires due to lack of horsepower for the conditions, the test was not done at a consistent speed critical to controlling the depth of the turn or "flip".

Further demonstration with larger equipment capable of layer inversion of a larger layer is desirable.

4.2.5.2 Implementability

This alternative is easily implementable under existing conditions at the site but needs additional testing. Soil inversion is a permanent solution that if properly done provides sealed burial of contaminated soils away from possible fish and bird exposure, and would leave the treated areas ready for re-flooding with no loss of acreage. Surface water contact with OCPs would be limited to the extent that the lower depth soils brought to the surface are much less contaminated. If additional profiling shows an area contains deeper contamination, the inversion depth would need adjustment, or the soils blended and inverted to achieve the final result. Inversion is easily coupled with other alternatives if necessary.

Based on consultation with the experienced plow builder and operator, J. Allen, MACTEC has defined the following preliminary definition of the soil inversion process believed to be adequate for NSRA restoration:

4.2.5.3 Recommended Soil Inversion Procedure

The procedures required to achieve the ultimate performance in the conditions at the District at the Apopka site are critical and varied according to the site conditions encountered and the equipment utilized. After evaluating both initial pilot studies, Allen recommends that the following procedure is necessary to achieve the advertised 95-98 percent inversion that would provide far greater reduction than the 32 percent limit currently proven by the limited 2003 demonstration test.

Phase 1- Shred, mow, or chop any vegetation to a height of 3 to 4 inches. This step is necessary to eliminate impediments to plowing such as vines that can turn the plow into a large rake.

Phase 2 - Plow with a large offset or tandem disc plow to a depth of 10" to 12". This must be done as many times as necessary until all roots, vines, etc., are cut into small pieces and the soil. (muck or peat) is pliable, similar to potting soil. Once this is accomplished, plow this same plot one more time, pulling a set of plow packers at the same time to firm up the soil and keep the soil level for the deep-plowing phase.

Phase 3 - Using a Baker Plow with 32" to 38" disk blades or square bottoms (bi-directional moldboard) fitted with special soil deflectors, plow 24 inches to 36 inches deep. This is designed to provide a 95% to 98% turn on the soil, wet or dry, turning the soil a full 180 degrees. Also pull a plow packer at the same time to break up all the clods and firm the soil up for the next phase.

Phase 4 – Using a pressure washer, wash the large offset or tandem plow, the plow packers and tractor, so as not to contaminate the new soil; plow and pack the top 10 inches of this plot, returning it back to a flat and packed state ready for re-vegetation and/or re-flooding.

Phase 5 – Take confirmatory OCP soil samples to confirm the surface soils are acceptable for re-flooding.

In spite of the very limited on-site data the District has gathered to date on tilling (vertical blending) and inversion, the potential reduction in surficial concentration so far appears greater for inversion than blending the top 2 feet. However, the blending technique used was not nearly as robust as the trenching type equipment currently in use in New Jersey and Pennsylvania (NJDEP, 2004 and CBA, 2004). Both these techniques could be tested further in the NSRA to develop the knowledge and skills to optimize these options.

The soil inversion technique, in particular, needs field demonstration of methods to physically verify inversion depth and consistency. Use of buried tapes and markers within test trenches in inversion test stripe is one such suggested method. In addition, there are established rapid immunoassay field analytical methods for the toxaphene and DDT_x OCPs that could be calibrated

against the selected fixed laboratory method to enhance performance monitoring and reduce cost. These critical measurement tools should be included in subsequent pilot demonstration tests.

4.2.5.4 Cost

The costs associated with this alternative are low, and would also require the cost of a robust demonstration study, and longer term monitoring to document effectiveness. Basic minimum costs for the deep plowing soil inversion step are typically \$350 per acre but based on the previous limited testing are expected to be higher, and may be highly dependent on total acreage and extent of surface site preparation steps. When all the preparation and productivity factors are considered (Appendix B), a cost of \$1,500 to \$2,600 per acre is considered reasonable pending further testing. These costs assume that District purchase and operation of all equipment, and potential salvage value of tractors and plows would tend to drive the cost toward the lower end of the range.

4.2.6 Vertical Blending

Deep tilling and possible use of scarification equipment to provide mixing and homogenization of surface soils with cleaner lower soils is a physical treatment alternative that involves mixing and tilling the soil by mechanical means. Application of this technology is dependent on the concentration profile. Soil mixing was investigated because it was considered applicable to a wide area, and uses nearly the same equipment that would be required for any alternatives involving soil movement or inversion. Soil blending has been demonstrated in full-scale applications on pesticide contaminated agricultural soils (CBA, 2004.). An incidental benefit of blending is that it would provide an oxygen source for the indigenous microbes and may increase the rate of natural decomposition.

4.2.6.1 Effectiveness

This alternative may achieve adequate reduction in the contaminant concentrations, if the starting concentrations surface and depth profile are reasonably low. Toxaphene has an estimated half-life of 1 year to 14 years in soil (ATSDR, 2001). Preliminary studies at this site indicated that intensive (weekly) tilling (disk plow) of 1-2 ft or less achieved a reduction of approximately 20% in surface soil concentrations of toxaphene over a 6 month period (Bartol, 2004).

However, flooding will attract wildlife (e.g., piscivorous birds) to the area, increasing the potential for wildlife exposure to residual toxaphene. Hydraulic control during periods of high rainfall would also be difficult under flooded conditions, and discharge of potentially contaminated stormwater to surface water bodies could result in surface water quality violations. The degree of success and length of time required to achieve target goals using this technology has not been documented. Additional equipment testing, monitoring, and resolution of analytical issues would be required to determine if tilling will achieve the desired remediation goals on this site, especially for applications in areas requiring higher than 20 percent reduction.

A proven mixing alternative already being used on agricultural soils is offered by CBA Environmental Services, Inc. using modified rock trenching equipment they have produced for over 10 years. CBA utilizes several patented technologies and processes associated with the Mobile Injection Treatment Unit (MITU). Specifically, CBA has utilized the MITU-LVR model to complete several pesticide blending projects. These blending projects have involved blending impacted soils with onsite clean soils to depths ranging from 2 to 12 feet. CBA's MITU-LVR and proprietary blending process were utilized on a site in southeastern Pennsylvania to achieve the first Act 2 Closure of a site contaminated with pesticides through historical agricultural use. The MITU-LVR equipment and process also continues to be utilized on multiple historic pesticide contaminated blending projects throughout the United States (CBA, 2004). The success of these rock trencher based units is based on the custom designed mixing drum or disk attachments. The equipment has routinely been used to disperse soil amendments and can provide one pass treatment of approximately one acre per day in trench widths of up to 16-ft. One such smaller disk unit easily capable of 2-3 foot depth mixing that may be faster than drum head units on wet Apopka soils is shown below.



CBA, Inc., 2004

Based on District limited success with mixing demonstrated using on-site traditional tilling techniques, and discovery of the CBA mixing equipment, this alternative is retained for further evaluation.

4.2.6.2 Implementability

This alternative is implementable under existing conditions at the site, but the ease of application will depend on the field moisture conditions, depth, and the degree of historical deeper plowing, which is not well known. Plowing for complete mixing of 0-2 ft soils by tilling may require a large number of passes in some areas, and would be hampered by the presence of roots and rocks at depth. The site specific optimum sequence of steps necessary would need to be developed. Use of modified rock trenching equipment using specially designed disk and drum attachments has successfully mixed pesticide contaminated soils to a depth of twelve feet in a single pass (CBA, 2004).

4.2.6.3 Cost

The costs associated with this alternative are similar to the costs for soil inversion and relatively low, but would require the cost of a demonstration testing program, and longer term monitoring to document effectiveness. Base costs of \$1,700 to 3,500 per acre were estimated for blending (\$2,710 per acre used in alternative costing) but could be as low as \$660 per acre for limited tilling pass low level reduction areas. Costs are highly dependent on site conditions, total acreage, and depth.

4.2.7 Horizontal Blending

Shallow soils that can be vertically mixed can also be combined between adjacent fields before mixing with a minimum of distance movement, especially if ditches, roads, or canals are not a hindrance. Horizontal blending is assumed to use the same earthmoving equipment as vertical blending and island construction. The primary concerns are whether adequate volumes of the sufficiently different concentrations and TOC are present to allow the final composite to meet remediation criteria. Blending would require preliminary confirmation of the ending soil quality, especially where the TOC content of the sources varies. Field applications would also require determination of whether deeper than 1 ft cleaner soils were needed in the mix.

4.2.7.1 Effectiveness

This option may be expected to achieve the same general reduction range of 21-32% as tilling or deep plowing, and allow complete re-flooding but would result in residual contaminant concentrations in contact with surface water. Toxaphene has an estimated half-life of 1 year to 14 years in soil (ATSDR, 2001). It is not anticipated that tilling and blending would effectively treat the elevated concentrations detected on-site in a timely manner.

Biodegradation of OCPs may also be expected to occur due to aeration and natural attenuation. The degree of success and length of time required to achieve remediation goals using this technology has not been documented. The same type of treatability study required for vertical blending would be required to determine if this combination option will achieve the desired remediation goals on this site. Horizontal blending does not decrease overall exposure since exposure is reduced in one area below a risk threshold while increasing exposure in another area (although still below the risk threshold). Because techniques that reduce overall exposure should be an emphasized over techniques that merely dilute COPCs horizontally, this alternative is overall judged less effective than inversion and vertical blending that would reduce overall exposure.

4.2.7.2 Implementability

This alternative is implementable under existing conditions at the site. However, the use of such blending would be highly location specific and dependent on availability of sufficient materials of adequate quality in adjacent fields, and the ability to maintain the sources in a non-flooded condition. This site specific option is retained for further evaluation.

4.2.7.3 Cost

The costs associated with this alternative are relatively higher than other options involving blending because soil must be moved between fields would require higher than simple tilling or plowing, would be location specific, and require longer term monitoring to document effectiveness. Horizontal blending is estimated to cost at least \$4,500 to \$6,100 per acre.

4.2.8 Landfarming

Landfarming, also known as land treatment or land application, is an above-ground biological remediation technology for soils that traditionally reduces concentrations of constituents by spreading excavated soils in a relatively thin layer on the ground surface and accelerating or stimulating aerobic microbial activity within the soils through aeration and/or the addition of minerals, nutrients, and moisture. Soil texture affects the permeability, moisture content, and bulk density of the soil. For the NSRA, these activities may be performed *in situ*.

Ogram and Cheng (2004) have reported to the District that cycling the soils between anaerobic and aerobic conditions could enhance biodegradation. They are investigating the benefits of adding sulfate to stimulate sulfate reducing bacteria which may also dechlorinated OCPs. Biodegradation of toxaphene may be enhanced by anaerobic conditions such as flooding (Howard, 1991). Landfarming has been proven most successful in treating petroleum hydrocarbons including diesel fuel, No. 2 and No. 6 fuel oils, JP-5 jet fuel, oily sludge, and woodpreserving wastes and certain pesticides. The more chlorinated or nitrated the compound, the more difficult it is to achieve biodegradation. Full-scale operations have been conducted, particularly for sludges produced by the petroleum industry (EPA, 2004). Land farming is considered a commercial technology, with highly variable site specific performance, rates, and costs.

Tilling is the mechanism that provides an oxygen source for the indigenous microbes and may increase the rate of natural decomposition following periodic flooding. The depth of treatment is limited to the depth of achievable tilling. The enhanced microbial activity results in degradation of adsorbed constituents through microbial respiration. Contaminated soils may be mixed with soil amendments such as soil bulking agents and nutrients (nitrogen or phosphorus) tilled into the earth. Soil conditions are controlled to optimize the rate of contaminant degradation. Conditions normally controlled include moisture content, aeration (by tilling the soil with a predetermined frequency, the soil is mixed and aerated), and pH (buffered near neutral pH 7 by adding crushed limestone agricultural lime or lowered by adding elemental sulfur). Excessive amounts of certain nutrients (i.e., phosphate and sulfate) can repress microbial metabolism. The composition of nutrients and acid or alkaline solutions/solids for pH control is developed in biotreatability studies and the frequency of their application is modified during landfarm operation as needed.

Although sufficient types and quantities of microorganisms are usually present in the soil, recent applications of *ex situ* soil treatment include blending the soil with cultured microorganisms or animal manure. Soil microorganisms require moisture for proper growth. Excessive soil moisture, however, restricts the movement of air through the subsurface thereby reducing the availability of oxygen which is also necessary for aerobic bacterial metabolic processes. The ideal range for soil moisture is between 40 and 85 percent of the water-holding capacity (field capacity) of the soil or about 12 percent to 30 percent by weight. Periodically, moisture must be added in landfarming operations because soils become dry as a result of evaporation, which is increased during aeration operations (i.e., tilling and/or plowing). Excessive accumulation of moisture can occur at landfarms in areas with high precipitation or poor drainage. Water Management systems for control of runon and runoff are necessary to avoid saturation of the treatment area or washout of the soils in the landfarm. Run-on is usually controlled by earthen berms or ditches that intercept and divert the flow of stormwater. Runoff can be controlled by diversion within the bermed treatment area to a retention pond where the runoff can be stored, treated, or released under a National Pollution Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit.

Landfarming with or without periodic flooding is a potentially chemical-biological treatment alternative that may offer substantial benefit for relatively small effort, although determination of optimum conditions is required. Landfarming is retained for further consideration.

4.2.8.1 Effectiveness

This alternative may achieve some reduction in the contaminant concentrations, if the starting concentrations are reasonably low. Toxaphene has an estimated half-life of 1 year to 14 years in soil (ATSDR, 2001). It is not anticipated that tilling alone would effectively treat the elevated concentrations detected on-site in a timely manner without augmentation. The degree of success and length of time required to achieve remediation goals using this technology has not been documented. Treatability tests and demonstration are necessary to determine where and to what degree landfarming can be applied to achieve the desired remediation goals on this site, as opposed to more intensive bioremediation. Breakdown products from typical peroxygen or other oxidant chemical amendments would leave the soils oxygen rich.

4.2.8.2 Implementability

This alternative is implementable under existing conditions at the site. Aqueous amendments can be sprayed and spread with standard agricultural equipment as part of already discussed tilling and mixing operations.

4.2.8.3 Cost

The costs associated with this alternative but would include the cost of a treatability study, and longer term monitoring to document effectiveness. Since the period of time required to achieve the target goal is longer than for other alternatives, the cost is higher. The low percent reductions needed in some areas may allow tilling the reagents into the soil with only a low degree of mixing required. In a tilling scenario, not including operation of the tilling/mixing equipment, the costs can range from \$8/ton up to \$20/ton (\$12,900 to \$32,300 per acre).

The landfarming option would need to conduct a bench testing program to determine the optimal treatment scenario accounting for the *ex situ* treatment versus tilling and particularly the dry weight versus TOC weighted target goal.

4.2.9 In Situ Bioremediation

Anaerobic-aerobic bacterial enhancement (i.e., bioremediation) increases the rate of the natural microbial degradation of contaminants by supplementing these microorganisms with nutrients, carbon sources or electron donors. This process can involve the addition of an enriched culture of microorganisms for quicker decomposition or the use of indigenous microbes in the soil. Enzymes created by the bacteria enhance the dechlorination of the COPCs. A commercially available process called DARAMENDTM was used to evaluate this alternative, although other

providers exist. This process can be applied *ex situ* or *in situ*. Performance on duplicate bench test have shown up to 68% reduction of OCP's, and full-scale projects for example at the THAN Superfund Site have achieved over 90% reduction with multiple cycles (EPA, 1997 and Adventus, 2004).

Ogram and Cheng (2004) indicate that cycling the soils between anaerobic and aerobic conditions could enhance biodegradation. This could be accomplished by managing water levels coupled with tilling. Ogram and Cheng (2004) also support the addition of sulfate to stimulate sulfate reducing bacteria prior to an anaerobic cycle. Sulfate reducing bacteria have also been shown to be capable of reductive dechlorination of OCPs. The process under investigation by Ogram and Cheng (2004) has not been demonstrated at the field scale.

4.2.9.1 Effectiveness

Based on overview of available literature the effectiveness of this alternative for treatment of the toxaphene concentrations detected at the site has been documented at approximately 50 per cent reduction per treatment cycle (Allen, 1999; Battelle, 2003; Felsot, 1991; Kantachote, 2004, Portier, 1989; USEPA, 1992, 1996, 1997, 2001, 2004). The selection of this alternative requires a demonstration scale testing to validate effectiveness on the site for various concentrations and TOC conditions. One notable case study using bioremediation on toxaphene-contaminated soil was performed by Adventus. Bacterial enhancement is retained for either *in situ* or *ex situ* application based on the documented success of this alternative for treatment of elevated toxaphene and other OCP concentrations (Adventus, 1997, 2004; and Planteco, 2004).

Adequate soil treatment would allow re-flooding directly or after tilling or other blending. The re-flooded soils would contain residual OCPs in contact with surface water.

4.2.9.2 Implementability

This alternative is reasonably implementable under existing conditions at the site using commercially available processes and equipment. Fields requiring higher than 50% reduction would likely require more than one treatment cycle. Reduction is expressed as a percentage of the remaining contamination, i.e. the second cycle would remove 50% of the remaining 50%. Two full cycles would remove an estimated 75 percent. Where less than 50% reduction is required, weaker and shorter treatment cycles can be performed based on monitoring.

4.2.9.3 Cost

The cost for this alternative is moderate to high depending on the length of the time and volume of additive required to reach the clean up goals. Costs for this alternative generally range from \$10,000 to \$20,000 per acre for *in situ* and *ex situ* versions of the application plus the tilling or transport cost to get soil to treatment. These costs are based on other much smaller sites requiring much higher COPC percent reduction to specific ARARs. Overall costs for large scale applications on broad acreage to lesser degrees is undocumented.

4.2.10 Ex Situ Chemical Treatment

This option involves excavation and staging of all or part of the soils from a highly contaminated small acreage field, treatment at up to 100 tons per hour, followed by testing and replacement / blending. The representative process, Soilsavers FX is a patented soil treatment technology that has already been approved and used on a variety of Florida sites. The chemical oxidation process relies on the Soil FXTM treatment system which is comprised of the Water FXTM reactor that produces hydroxyl rich water that is used in combination with a number of different oxidizers, catalysts, reducers, acid and bases that are selected based on the contaminant of concern, soil matrix, moisture content, organic content, and remediation goal.

A key component of the process is the specially designed reactor-mixing system that can accommodate a wide variety of amendments and optimize treatment contact. The process has been proven for chlorinated compounds, and the treated soil has been used for construction. The patented advanced oxidation process (AOP) has treated more than 3.5 million tons of soil in six states since 1994, including difficult to treat clayey matrices and dredge materials containing semivolatile organic compounds such as cool tar. The contaminants are usually destroyed to innocuous endpoints in 1-2 days with no significant off-gassing or toxic by-products. AOP processes typically leave the soil oxygen rich (Soilsavers 2004; Torshin, 2003).

This process is not applicable on a wide acreage scale, regardless of cost, because it would substantially reduce soil organic carbon content. Any oxidation of the organic carbon matrix may increase the availability of phosphorus, thereby increasing the P flux from the treated area, thereby having a deleterious effect on a primary objective of the restoration project – to reduce nutrient loading to Lake Apopka. Most oxidants would act indiscriminately on both OCPs and soil organic carbon content, so the high levels of organic carbon in NSRA soils would increase oxidant demand and cost, and reduce the oxidative treatment of OCPs. However, proportionate reduction of both OCPs and soil organic carbon would not reduce carbon normalized OCP concentrations, and therefore have little effect on bird tissue concentrations. Finally loss of soil organic carbon could cause further settling of the NSRA, which also is contrary to the overall site shallow marsh depth restoration objectives.

4.2.10.1 Effectiveness

AOP can treat all of the OCPs non-selectively. Chemical demand will also be exerted by the soil organic carbon. A treatability study would be required to determine whether the SoilsaversFX process would effective on higher TOC concentration soils, and to determine the minimum dosages necessary versus concentration to avoid time and effort in over-treatment. Most applications have required nearly complete removals.

Soilsavers does not have documented full scale field experience treating the pesticides of concern at the Apopka project including DDT, DDE, dieldrin, chlordane and toxaphene. However, there is Soilsavers bench scale results that document oxidation of all of the pesticides of concern except toxaphene (Soilsavers, 2004). Toxaphene was not present in the soil matrix tested. Table 4-2 summarizes the bench scale treatment of DDD, DDT and dieldrin with reductions in 90% to 99% range. These concentrations are lower than those present at Apopka but they do demonstrate the ability to achieve high percentage reductions at low concentrations.

Table 4-2 presents bench test results from work with starting concentrations similar to those found at Apopka except for DDT which are on the low side in the bench test.

ОСР	Pre Treat 1	Post Treat 1	Pre Treat 2	Post Treat 2
heptachlor	12,000	720	8,900	600
aldrin	1,700	<190	1,400	<190
heptachlor epoxide	1,900	430	2,000	560
dieldrin	9,000	2,900	7,300	3,900
4,4'-DDE	2,600	800	2,200	990
4,4'-DDD	5,700	1,900	5,100	1,800
4,4'-DDT	2,800	880	2,400	780
alpha chlordane	22,000	7,500	18,000	8,600
gamma chlordane	23,000	7,900	16,000	9,200

 Table 4-2.
 FPM Pesticide Bench Results (mg/kg)

Source: Soilsavers, 2004.

Bench scale percent reductions range from 56% to 68% based on first round bench work. Subsequent bench tests and field applications have been achieving percent reductions greater than 90% and in many cases greater than 99% for recalcitrant compounds. The bench test process is used to determine the optimal combination of reagents relative to contaminant concentrations, remediation criteria and soil matrix.

4.2.10.2 Implementability

The Soilsavers FX process requires a minimal equipment mobilization and set-up effort. Since electrical power is not available at the site, an electrical generator for limited power will be needed. AOP treatment will be more difficult to implement with high organic and moisture content soil.

4.2.10.3 Cost

The cost for this treatment alternative is relatively high due in part to soil handling. The total mass of contaminant requiring removal will have a direct impact on the amount of oxidizer required and therefore the cost to treat. Based on experience treating a wide range of contaminants the per ton treatment cost (assuming the soil is excavated and stockpiled for treatment) is from a low of \$12/ton up to \$30/ton (\$19,400 to to \$48,400 per acre) for the average

percent reductions required at Apopka, and assuming the need for complete one pass treatment. This assumes that Soilsavers will dry the soil, screen out the large material, apply the reagents and stockpile the soil for testing by others. The difference in price is reagent cost. The greater the percent reduction and mass, the greater reagent doses required. Higher TOC will require more oxidizer to treat. Conversely the treatment criteria for soils high in TOC is also higher so the cost may not be significantly affected by TOC.

Complicating the pricing is that Soilsavers has not been called upon to achieve low percent reductions (less than 75%). Typically 99% and greater reductions are required therefore thorough mixing; curing, drying and layered applications are required. In this case many of those steps may not be needed as the starting concentrations are relatively low and the percent reductions are low. The above cost estimates assume all those steps are required. Based on the relatively high cost, but high effectiveness and demonstrated implementation, this alternative is considered applicable for the NSRA, but primarily only at the highest concentration areas with the lowest TOC.

4.2.11 Low Temperature Thermal Desorption

Thermal desorption involves the process of heating the contaminant at low temperatures (300 to 1000 degrees Fahrenheit) to volatilize the organic contaminants, separate them from the soil media, and capture them in a carbon adsorption system.

4.2.11.1 Effectiveness

Thermal desorption is an effective method for treating chlorinated pesticides in high concentrations. A full-scale thermal desorption treatment project was implemented at the T.H. Agricultural & Nutrition Company (THAN) Superfund Site in Albany, Georgia. The average initial toxaphene concentration at the site was 257 ppm and a removal efficiency of 99.29 percent was achieved in a 3 month period (USEPA, 1995). A treatability study would be required to determine whether thermal desorption would be effective on higher concentrations of toxaphene, and for high organic and moisture content soil.

4.2.11.2 Implementability

The thermal desorption process requires a significant equipment mobilization and set-up effort. Since electrical power is not available at the site, an electrical facility would have to be constructed, or a natural gas powered unit utilized. Thermal processes are more difficult to implement with high organic and moisture content soil.

4.2.11.3 Cost

The cost for this treatment alternative is high. Mobilization and set-up costs are generally about \$1,000,000. The cost for the design and implementation of the thermal desorption system at THAN was \$250 per ton of soil (USEPA, 1995). Based on the high cost of over \$403,000 per acre and difficulty of implementation, this alternative is not considered applicable for the NSRA.

4.2.12 Incineration

Incineration uses controlled flame combustion to volatilize and destroy organic contaminants in a variety of media including soil, sludge, liquid and gas. The primary combustion unit is generally operated between 1200 to 3000 degrees Fahrenheit. The byproducts, or bottom ash, created during the incineration process can be disposed of in a landfill, or used for clean backfill if they are not hazardous waste by characteristic or listing.

A significant disadvantage of incineration is its corresponding effect of reducing the soil's total organic carbon content, which would adversely affect its ability to support the planned land use as wetland habitat.

4.2.12.1 Effectiveness

This alternative is proven to be an effective means of treating pesticide-contaminated soil. On-site incineration was used to remediate 7,840 tons of pesticide-contaminated soil at the Yakima Pit Superfund Site in Yakima, Washington over a four-month period (USEPA, 2004).

4.2.12.2 Implementability

A significant effort is required to mobilize equipment and materials and set up the mobile incinerator in a remote area. Like thermal desorption, power supplies must be installed, or a gas powered unit used. A test burn must be conducted to measure the treatment efficiencies and air emissions concentrations.

4.2.12.3 Cost

The mobilization and set-up costs associated with this process are high (~\$1,000,000), and power consumption and labor to operate the system are costly. On-site incineration costs were \$770 per ton of soil at the Yakima Pit Superfund Site, which had material volumes similar to those at the Lust Airstrip. In addition, this activity will require permitting as an air pollution source, which will impose additional costs. In general, the cost to implement this technology ranges from \$300 to \$1,000 per ton (Frazar, 2000). Based on the high cost and difficulty of implementation, this alternative is not considered applicable for the NSRA.

4.2.13 Excavation and Off-site Landfill Disposal

This alternative includes the time-tested options of scraping contaminated soils into staging piles, and loading into dump trucks or roll-offs for transport to the nearest Subtitle D permitted landfill. In addition to scraping excavation of the surface one foot of muck, this alternative would require limited de-watering to preclude hauling free liquids to the landfill. It is also assumed the landfill has sufficient capacity, and will accept the waste. Surface mowing and any clear and grub materials are assumed to be left in place.

4.2.13.1 Effectiveness

This alternative is proven to be an effective means of treating pesticide-contaminated soil, but has not been used for very large areas and volumes.

4.2.13.2 Implementability

A moderate effort is required to mobilize equipment and materials and set up the mobile in a remote area. Like all the other alternatives involving soil handling, there will be field variable performance differences based on depth, moisture, roots, etc.

4.2.13.3 Cost

The mobilization and set-up costs associated with this process are low. In the LUST FS this alternative was estimated to cost \$68 per ton for 9,000 tons in July 2002. Escalating these costs to August 2004 would equate to a unit price of approximately \$73.50 per ton. In general, the cost to implement this alternative in the District was recently reportedly to range from \$50 to \$65 per ton (Bartol, 2004), exclusive of mowing and clearing, and other factors such as fuel price inflation. Based on a 1.0 ton/cu yd average soil (1,613 tons per 1,613 cu yd or acre-ft of soil), even this lower cost range equates to a relatively high cost of at least \$80,700 to \$104,900 per acre. Despite the cost, this proven alternative is considered applicable for several relatively small but highly contaminated fields in the NSRA, and was retained for further consideration.

4.2.14 Summary of Technology Screening

Based on the information and findings presented in this section, the following technologies have been retained for further evaluation:

- Isolation/Containment Technologies
 - Island On-Site Containment
 - Berm Containment
 - Clay Capping
 - Soil Cover
 - Soil Layer Inversion
 - Vertical Blending
 - Horizontal Blending
- In Situ Treatment
 - Landfarming (Water Level Cycling and/or tilling with amendments)
 - Bioremediation (Anerobic-Aerobic)
- *Ex Situ* Treatment
 - Soil Reactor *Ex Situ* Chemical Treatment
 - Excavation and Off-site Landfill Disposal

4.3 Development of Remedial Alternatives

4.3.1 No Action and Institutional Controls Alternative

Under this passive alternative, no action will be taken at the site to remove, treat, or contain the soil contamination. The no action alternative includes monitoring of surface water, sediment, and fish tissue samples for a 30 year period to determine the impact of the COPCs on the environments. The no action alternative is being evaluated as a baseline alternative. The site presents limited exposure potential for protected bird species under the no-action alternative. Under the no action alternative, flooding of the property could not be accomplished in accordance with applicable state and federal regulations.

4.3.1.1 Effectiveness

The no action alternative is not effective in achieving the RAOs.

4.3.1.2 Implementability

The no action alternative is easily implemented, but will not achieve the RAOs. Action would be required in some areas to maintain pumping and control structures to insure the land remains unflooded. Maintenance costs would also include inspection and erosion controls, and mowing in some locations to maintain roads.

4.3.1.3 Cost

The no action alternative will have a baseline annual monitoring only cost requiring negotiation with other agencies. NSRA site minimum administrative and maintenance costs are estimated at \$450,000 per year, not including periodic 5 year reviews of the site. These costs do not include any significant levee maintenance, or pumping controls costs or any increased costs associated with control of increased P flux from soils.

4.3.2 Active Remediation Application Considerations

Soil remediation of 0-12 inch depth soils containing various amounts of OCPs is needed to accomplish varying degrees of risk reduction - management. Specifically, reduction of OCPs to Target levels is needed to allow timely re-flooding in support of the lake Apopka Restoration. Hydraulically, flooding will likely be accomplished on a FB size basis, therefore, the need exists to apply active remediation measures on an Alum Block or field size basis within FBs to accelerate completion of risk reduction within those prioritized areas. The location and timing of treatment may be based on a number of factors including topographic boundaries and control structures, and the time needed to accomplish and perform confirmation monitoring of adequate treatment.

Typical site restorations often involve source reduction and perimeter containment first, followed by broader plume reduction and monitoring. In this case, however, the essentially large scale

"non-point" source nature of the problem is more conducive to treatment of lower strength areas to allow more rapid re-flooding.

Technology options can be coupled in different treatment trains on a field level for more effective, faster, and less costly remediation alternatives, and to avoid broad application of actions that are in excess of what is required. For example, a field might be subject to custom restoration involving partial reduction by tilling and amendments, followed by vertical blending with deeper soils.

Based on these underlying assumptions, and to maintain maximum flexibility, MACTEC has assembled a matrix of technology and actions as process unit building blocks that may be applied to various contamination levels, soil conditions, or other site conditions. When put together as a treatment train, these options provide alternatives for field level remediation. The sum of these alternatives and the deployment scenario and schedule define the overall site restoration. This approach is technically advantageous because it can be applied even if site concentrations, size, treatment depths, or target remediation levels change.

The remainder of this section presents the development of remedial alternatives to address OCP contaminated soil at NSRA. Technologies/process options retained following the screening describe in Sections 4.1 and 4.2 are combined to form remedial action alternatives. Alternatives are developed to attain the RAO discussed in sections 3.2 and 3.3, using the general response actions either singly or in combination (no action; limited action; containment, *ex situ* and *in situ* treatments). A range of remedial alternatives have been considered to address contaminated media at the site to satisfy the established RAOs. For the no action alternative, the only action required to be implemented is the draining of excess water in order to maintain the fields dry.

Remedial alternatives have been developed following a consistent methodology and rationale to determine which technologies are suitable for each field. Tables 4-3 shows the different remedial alternatives with the selected options taking into account the location (up-slope, near features or similar blocks, interim flooding depth, etc.) and characteristics (size, TOC content) of the field in question. Table 4-3 also presents the minimum percent reduction required for each field in order to meet the carbon normalized BETL shown in Table 3-2. Table 4-4 contains analogous information for each field in order to meet the CTL shown in Table 3-2. These tables are arranged in order of higher to lower percent reduction required. The percentage reduction for the critical containment required to meet the BETLs and CTLs, extracted from these tables are shown on Figures 4-2 and 4-3. A column with a field identification number has been included in Tables 4-3 and 4-4. Figure 4-1 presents the NSRA area with these field identification numbers and associated owner – alum block field identification. The fields proposed for the different remedial alternatives are shown in Figures 4-4 and 4-5. These figures follow the information presented in Tables 4-3 and 4-4.



- Field # Owner X Alum
- 1 Zellwin Farms X ZSE-J
- 2 Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I
- 3 Clonts Farm X ZSE-H
- 4 Clonts Farm X ZSE-G
- 5 Clonts Farm X ZSE-C
- 6
- 7
- 8
- 9
- 10

57

34

MACTEC, 2004.

- 11
- 12 Lust & Long Precooler X ZNE-F



Field # Owner X Alum

Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-F

Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-D1

Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-D2

Lust Farms X ZNE-D

Lust Farms X ZNE-C

13

14

15

16

17

31 Zellwood Drainage District X ZSW-C 32 Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZSW-B 33 Clarence Beall X ZNW-B 34 Zellwin Farms X ZSW-A 35 Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A

- 36 Zellwin Farms X ZNW-B 37 Zellwin Farms X ZNW-C
- 38 Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A

Field # Owner X Alum

- Clarence Beall X ZNC-B 39
- 40 Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNC-B
- 41 Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-A2
- 42 Smith X ZNE-A
- 43 Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A1
- 44 Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-A1
- 45 Long Farms, Inc. X Z1S-E
- 46 Zellwin Farms X Z1S-E
- 47 Zellwin Farms X Z1S-D
- 48 Zellwin Farms X Z1S-C
- 49 Zellwin Farms X Z1S-B
- 50 Zellwin Farms X Z1S-A
- 51 Shaffer X Z1S-E
- 52 Marsell X Z1S-E
- 53 Grinnell Farms, Inc. X Z1S-E
- 54 General Impex X Z1N-G
- 55 Zellwin Farms X Z1N-G
- 56 Robert Potter & Sons, Inc. X Z1N-F
- 57 Hensel & Rodgers X Z1N-A
- 58 Long Farms, Inc. X Z1N-C
- 59 Grinnell Farms, Inc. X Z1N-D
- 60 Rice X Z1N-D1
- 61 Rice X Z1N-D2
- 62 Zellwin Farms X Z1N-D
- 63 Zellwin Farms X Z1N-E
- 64 Marsell X Z1N-E
- 65 Bates X Z1N-E
- 66 Grinnell Farms, Inc. X Z1N-E
- 67 Shortz X Z1N-B2
- 68 Shortz X Z1N-B1
- 69 NAPA X Z1N-B
- 70 Progressive Growers (Rice) X Z1N-B

Prepared/Date: MLJ 7/26/04 Checked/Date: WAT 7/27/04

Lake Apopka North Shore Restoration Area SJRWMD Orange & Lake Counties, FL



Field Names PROJ. NO. 609604004 Figure 4-1
Table 4-3. Remedial Alternatives for the Minimum Percent Reduction to Meet the BETL

Field Identification Number	OWNER X ALUM ¹	Acres	Flooding Block Designation	Flooding Block Depth (ft)	Critical Contaminant	% Reduction Low	% Reduction High	Average Carbon-Normalized Concentration Of Critical Contaminant (µg/kg TOC)	% TOC	Island construction	Berm Only Containment of the Non-Flooded Areas	Soil cover	Soil layer Inversion	Vertical blending	Horizontal blending	Landfarming –tilling with bio and/or chemical amendments	Bioremediation-aerobic-anaerobic dechlorination	Soil Reactor <i>ex situ</i> Chemical Treatment	Excavation/Off-Site Land Disposal
41	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-A2	76.687	FB5	1.5 TO 2	DDTx	68%	- 91%	71114	47.74	Х		Х				Х	Х	Х	Х
63	Zellwin Farms X Z1N-E	96.277	FB14	0.5	DDTx	57%	- 85%	158803	27.08		Х	Х				Х	Х	Х	Х
						0.404	500/												
24	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-D	58.624	FB8	2	DDTx	34%	- 78%	10210	48.43	Х		Х		Х		Х	Х		
56	Robert Potter & Sons, Inc. X Z1N-F	307.969	FB13	0.5	toxaphene	22%	- 69%	17600	31.19				Х	Х		Х	Х		
2	Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I	246.960	FB6	2	toxaphene	20%	- 73%	79048	31.99				Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		
50		40.501	ED 10		DDE	1.90/	750/	07.650	01.00				37						
53	Grinnell Farms, Inc. X ZIS-E	40.591	FB10	1	DDTx	10%	- 73%	27658	31.03				X	X	X	X	X		
10	Lust Farms X ZSE-A	156.729	FB6	2	toxaphene	14%	- 74%	//38//4	39.88				Х	Х	Х	X	X		
48	Zellwin Farms X Z1S-C	314.405	FB11	2	toxaphene	13%	- 62%	72987	33.23				Х	Х		Х	Х		
64	Marsell X Z1N-E	13.332	FB14	0.5	DDTx	11%	- /8%	25273	30.43		X		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		
62	Zellwin Farms X Z1N-D	75.071	FB13	0.5	DDTx	9%	- 69%	24820	35.57				Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		
58	Long Farms, Inc. X Z1N-C	159.357	FB13	0.5	DDTx	9%	- 69%	24750	13.55				Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		
68	Shortz X Z1N-B1	24.043	NFB		DDE	7%	- 46%	12468	19.25				Х	Х		Х	Х		
13	Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-F	40.112	FB8	2	toxaphene	7%	- 74%	68276	35.88				Х	Х		Х	Х		
59	Grinnell Farms, Inc. X Z1N-D	56.731	FB13	0.5	DDTx	7%	- 54%	24386	44.00				Х	Х		Х	Х		
69	NAPA X Z1N-B	34.135	NFB		DDE	7%	- 54%	21420	4.02				Х	Х		Х	Х		
55	Zellwin Farms X Z1N-G	198.201	FB14	0.5	toxaphene	4%	- 64%	65527	32.41				Х	Х		Х	Х		
47	Zellwin Farms X Z1S-D	307.701	FB10	1	toxaphene	3%	- 61%	6917	37.91				Х	Х			Х		

Source: SJRWMD, 2004; MACTEC, 2004.

¹ OWNER X ALUM is a code identifying farm fields.

Prepared by/Date: MLJ 7/22/04

Checked by/Date: EMK/WAT 7/24/04

Table 4-4. Remedial Alternatives for the Maximum Percent Reduction to Meet the CTL

Field Identification Number	OWNER X ALUM ¹	Acres	Flooding Block Designation	Flooding Block Depth (ft)	Critical Contaminant	% Reduction Low	% Reduction High	Average Carbon-Normalized Concentration Of Critical Contaminant (µg/kg TOC)	% TOC	Island construction	Berm Only Containment of the Non-Flooded Areas	Soil cover	Soil layer flipping	Vertical blending	Horizontal blending	Landfarming -tilling with bio and/or chemical amendments	Bioremediation-aerobic-anaerobic dechlorination	Soil Reactor <i>ex situ</i> Chemical Treatment	Excavation/Off-Site Land Disposal
41	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-A2	76.687	FB5	1.5 TO 2	DDTx	68%	- 91%	71114	47.74	Х		Х				Х	Х	Х	Х
63	Zellwin Farms X Z1N-E	96.277	FB14	0.5	DDTx	57%	- 85%	15880	27.08		Х	Х				Х	Х	Х	Х
24	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-D	58.624	FB8	2	DDTx	34%	- 78%	10210	48.43	Х		Х				Х	Х	Х	Х
64	Marsell X Z1N-E	13.332	FB14	0.5	DDTx	11%	- 78%	25273	30.43		Х	Х				Х	Х	Х	Х
53	Grinnell Farms, Inc. X Z1S-E	40.591	FB10	1	DDTx	18%	- 75%	27658	31.03	Х		Х				Х	Х	Х	Х
			1	1							<u>г т</u>								
10	Lust Farms X ZSE-A	156.729	FB6	2	toxaphene	14%	- 74%	73874	39.88						Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
13	Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-F	40.112	FB8	2	toxaphene	7%	- 74%	68276	35.88						Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
2	Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I	246.960	FB6	2	toxaphene	20%	- 73%	79048	31.99						Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
56	Robert Potter & Sons, Inc. X Z1N-F	307.969	FB13	0.5	toxaphene	22%	- 69%	17600	31.19							Х	Х	Х	Х
62	Zellwin Farms X Z1N-D	75.071	FB13	0.5	DDTx	9%	- 69%	24820	35.57							Х	Х	Х	Х
58	Long Farms, Inc. X Z1N-C	159.357	FB13	0.5	DDTx	9%	- 69%	24750	13.55							Х	Х	Х	Х
33	Clarence Beall X ZNW-B	75.371	FB2	3	DDE	0%	- 67%	10153	26.98						Х	Х	Х	X	Х
46	Zellwin Farms X Z1S-E	214.079	FB10	1	DDTx	0%	- 65%	23156	41.25							X	Х	Х	Х
55	Zellwin Farms X Z1N-G	198.201	FB14	0.5	toxaphene	4%	- 64%	65527	32.41						Х	Х	Х	X	Х
57	Hensel & Rodgers X Z1N-A	306.203	FB12	0.5	DDE	0%	- 64%	20860	2.09							X	Х	Х	Х
17	Lust Farms X ZNE-C	75.425	FB5	1.5 TO 2	toxaphene	0%	- 63%	50763	38.84							X	Х	Х	Х
43	Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A1	19.117	FB5	1.5 TO 2	DDTx	0%	- 62%	20893	39.58							Х	Х	Х	Х
48	Zellwin Farms X Z1S-C	314.405	FB11	2	toxaphene	13%	- 62%	72987	33.23						Х	X	Х	Χ	X
47	Zellwin Farms X Z1S-D	307.701	FB10	1	toxaphene	3%	- 61%	6917	37.91							Х	Х	Х	Х

Table 4-4. Remedial Alternatives for the Maximum Percent Reduction to Meet the CTL

Field Identification Number	OWNER X ALUM ¹	Acres	Flooding Block Designation	Flooding Block Depth (ft)	Critical Contaminant	% Reduction Low	% Reduction High	Average Carbon-Normalized Concentration Of Critical Contaminant (µg/kg TOC)	% TOC	Island construction	Berm Only Containment of the Non-Flooded Areas	Soil cover	Soil layer flipping	Vertical blending	Horizontal blending	Landfarming -tilling with bio and/or chemical amendments	Bioremediation-aerobic-anaerobic dechlorination	Soil Reactor <i>ex situ</i> Chemical Treatment	Excavation/Off-Site Land Disposal
50	Zellwin Farms X Z1S-A	329.036	FB11	2	toxaphene	0%	- 58%	56961	25.80							Х	Х	Х	Х
49	Zellwin Farms X Z1S-B	308.098	FB11	2	toxaphene	0%	- 57%	56572	29.88							Х	Х	Х	Х
1	Zellwin Farms X ZSE-J	143.455	FB6	2	toxaphene	0%	- 56%	52116	40.28							Х	Х	Х	Х
16	Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-D2	47.085	FB8	2	toxaphene	0%	- 55%	59669	43.49							Х	Х	Х	Х
23	Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-E	73.439	FB8	2	toxaphene	0%	- 54%	55441	44.25						Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
59	Grinnell Farms, Inc. X Z1N-D	56.731	FB13	0.5	DDTx	7%	- 54%	24386	44.00							Х	Х	Х	Х
69	NAPA X Z1N-B	34.135	NFB		DDE	7%	- 54%	21420	4.02						Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
			[,	
14	Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-D1	64.537	FB8	2	toxaphene	0%	- 48%	45136	30.84							X	X		
20	Lust Farms X ZNE-A	39.893	FB5	1.5 TO 2	toxaphene	0%	- 47%	60180	52.58							X	X		
68	Shortz X Z1N-B1	24.043	NFB		DDE	7%	- 46%	12468	19.25							X	Х		
6	Lust Farms X ZSE-F	222.705	FB7	2	toxaphene	0%	- 44%	47650	35.58					Х		X	X	I	
9	Lust Farms X ZSE-D	316.043	FB7	2	toxaphene	0%	- 42%	47115	37.95					Х		X	Х	I	
28	Stroup Farms X ZSC-B	78.596	FB1	3	dieldrin	0%	- 40%	14567	39.73					Х	Х	Х	Х		
44	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-A1	19.603	FB5	1.5 TO 2	DDTx	0%	- 36%	14750	38.15					Х		Х	Х	I	
25	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-C	73.932	FB5	1.5 TO 2	DDTx	0%	- 33%	13810	39.33					Х	Х	Х	Х	I	
26	Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	356.644	FB5	1.5 TO 2	toxaphene	0%	- 31%	38819	48.32				Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	I	
27	Lust Farms X ZSC-C	242.009	FB1	3	toxaphene	0%	- 31%	34331	44.33				Х	Х		Х	Х		
19	Stroup Farms X ZNE-A	75.694	FB5	1.5 TO 2	toxaphene	0%	- 29%	1199	44.71				Х	Х		Х	Х		
39	Clarence Beall X ZNC-B	150.972	FB4	2	dieldrin	0%	- 28%	5023	38.59				Х	Х		Х	Х		

 Table 4-4. Remedial Alternatives for the Maximum Percent Reduction to Meet the CTL

Field Identification Number	OWNER X ALUM ¹	Acres	Flooding Block Designation	Flooding Block Depth (ft)	Critical Contaminant	% Reduction Low	% Reduction High	Average Carbon-Normalized Concentration Of Critical Contaminant (µg/kg TOC)	% TOC	Island construction	Berm Only Containment of the Non-Flooded Areas	Soil cover	Soil layer flipping	Vertical blending	Horizontal blending	Landfarming -tilling with bio and/or chemical amendments	Bioremediation-aerobic-anaerobic dechlorination	Soil Reactor <i>ex situ</i> Chemical Treatment	Excavation/Off-Site Land Disposal
7	Stroup Farms X ZSE-E	148.245	FB7	2	toxaphene	0%	- 22%	32806	36.85				Х	Х		Х	Х		
			1							1									
42	Smith X ZNE-A	29.283	FB5	1.5 TO 2	toxaphene	0%	- 18%	32414	34.00				Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		
40	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNC-B	156.145	FB4	2	toxaphene	0%	- 18%	6404	39.90				Х	Х		Х	Х		
32	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZSW-B	94.714	FB1	3	DDE	0%	- 12%	15835	30.80				Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		
35	Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	321.842	FB2	3	toxaphene	0%	- 10%	31701	37.95				Х	Х		Х	Х		
11	Long Farms, Inc. X ZSE-A	181.786	FB6	2	toxaphene	0%	- 8%	28228	47.84				Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		
38	Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	332.688	FB3	2	toxaphene	0%	- 5%	28939	36.36				Х	Х		Х	Х		
36	Zellwin Farms X ZNW-B	211.451	FB2	3	toxaphene	0%	- 4%	26440	34.63				Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		

Source: SJRWMD, 2004; MACTEC, 2004.

Prepared by/Date: MLJ 7/22/04

¹ OWNER X ALUM is a code identifying farm fields.

Checked by/Date: EMK/WAT 7/24/04

No other fields require action to meet the CTLs. Supporting documentation in Appendix A.











The rationale and methodology used to select applicable attenuation method was as follows:

- Fields requiring a high percentage reduction (highly contaminated fields) to meet the established remediation target level, and are located at the up-slope boundary of the NSRA (i.e., Crakes & Sons, Inc farm located in alum block ZNE-A2) are considered for isolation/containment and the more aggressive *ex situ* treatment options.
- Fields with high concentrations of contaminants located adjacent to fields considered for isolation/containment alternatives, are considered for scraping and removal of the top 1 ft soil layer to be disposed of at the adjacent, highly contaminated field considered for isolation/containment (horizontal blending).
- Fields with high concentrations of contaminants located adjacent to existing roads are also considered for scraping and removal of the top 1 ft soil layer to form wider covered berms alongside the existing roads.
- Fields moderately contaminated and adjacent to fields requiring no treatment, are considered for use elsewhere in soil horizontal blending.
- Fields requiring 45% reduction or less are considered for soil vertical blending.
- Fields requiring 32% reduction or less are considered for site proven soil layer inversion.
- Fields requiring 75% reduction or less with TOC levels at or above 10% are considered for bioremediation (aerobic-anaerobic dechlorination).
- Fields requiring more than 50% reduction would require several cycles depending on concentrations.
- Fields with smaller acreage requiring 75% reduction or less with TOC levels less than 10% are considered for landfarming with chemical amendments and/or soil reactor *ex situ* chemical treatment (ISCO). Such fields may require custom dosing treatment and possible polishing cycles depending on concentrations.

To present the different alternatives that will address the two distinct remediation levels presented in Table 3-2, the alternatives to meet the BETL are developed in Section 4.3.3, and the alternatives to meet the CTL are developed in Section 4.3.4.

4.3.3 Remedial Alternatives for the Minimum Percent Reduction to Meet the BETL

Table 4-3 shows a total of 17 fields requiring remedial action to meet the RAOs BETL. The minimum percent reduction required ranges from 68 to 3% for the carbon normalized critical parameter. Following the method and rationale discussed above to determine the most appropriate technology for the characteristics of each field, possible alternatives are presented for three different ranges of percent reduction requirements, including 1) fields requiring reduction of 50% or above, 2) fields with a percent reduction between 50 and 20% and, 3) fields requiring less than 20% reduction. Restoration of each of these sub-groups of fields is discussed further in the following sections.

4.3.3.1 Remedial Alternatives for Fields Requiring a Percent Reduction Greater than 50%

There are two fields in this category as shown in Table 4-4 for which DDTx is the critical contaminant, with a total area of approximately 173 acres. These two fields are located at the east boundary of the NSRA.

4.3.3.1.1 No Action

The "no action" alternative is usually incorporated in the FS in order to have a baseline reference with which to compare other alternative. In the case of the NSRA, no action (as well as limited action) demands that the fields are kept in a dry condition to avoid the contact of surface water with contaminated soil/sediment, in this way preventing the establishment of fish habitat that may attract bird populations. This alternative prevents the realization of a critical element for the overall restoration of Lake Apopka.

4.3.3.1.2 Limited Action

The limited action alternative is similar to the no action alternative mentioned above with the distinction that it would include monitoring programs including soil sampling and the implementation of remedial actions. Though monitoring does not prevent exposure to contaminants, it could be used in combination with other remedial actions to evaluate the short-term and long-term effects of these actions.

4.3.3.1.3 Isolation/Containment

Several technologies were selected, including construction of bermed areas or islands that would preclude flooding the field or part of the field, soil covers, soil layer inversion, vertical blending, and horizontal blending.

The two fields considered here are located at the east boundary of the NSRA and both exhibit a high concentration of DDTx making them suitable for the construction of bermed areas to preclude flooding. If implemented, this alternative would represent a 1.7% of the total NSRA would be unavailable for flooding. These two fields would not be suitable for either soil layer inversion, or vertical soil blending given that the these technologies would at most result in a 45 and 30% reduction, respectively, which is not sufficient to meet the BETL.

4.3.3.1.4 In situ Treatment

The technologies considered here are landfarming, which consists or tilling the upper foot of soil with the addition of chemical and/or biological amendments, and multi-cycle bioremediation with the addition of amendments necessary for aerobic-anaerobic reductive dechlorination. Amendments would be tilled into the soil in both cases, including nutrients, enzymes, bacteria, moisture, bulking agents, pH, and moisture control additives. Surfactant treatments are also sometimes applied to accelerate pollutant biovailability.

4.3.3.1.5 *Ex situ* Treatment

The processes examined here are soil reactor *ex situ* chemical treatment. This alternative would require staging and handling of excavated soils for custom treatment. The AOP cavitation mixing reactor would not require the additional handling. The treatment is capable of processing 100 to 250 tons per hour, and producing an acceptable product in one pass. The better the initial treatment, the less soil would require treatment and disposal by blending on-site in the same field. ADP is anticipated to be simple and fast technology to implement.

4.3.3.2 Remedial Alternatives for Fields Requiring Between 50 and 20% Reduction (BETL)

There are three fields in this category as shown in Table 4-3. DDTx is the critical contaminant for the field located at the east boundary of the NSRA, toxaphene is the critical contaminant for the other two fields, one located at the north east shore of the lake and the other just north of Interceptor Road. These three fields represent a total area of approximately 614 acres.

4.3.3.2.1 No Action

The "no action" alternative demands that the fields are kept in a dry condition to avoid the contact of surface water with contaminated soil/sediment, in this way preventing the establishment of fish habitat that may attract bird populations. This alternative prevents the realization of a critical element for the overall restoration of Lake Apopka.

4.3.3.2.2 Limited Action

The limited action alternative is similar to the no action alternative mentioned above with the distinction that it would include monitoring programs including soil sampling and the implementation of remedial actions. Though monitoring does not prevent exposure to contaminants, it could be used in combination with other remedial actions to evaluate the short-term and long-term effects of these actions.

4.3.3.2.3 Isolation/Containment

Several technologies were examined here, including construction of bermed areas or islands that would preclude flooding all or part of the field, soil covers, soil layer inversion, vertical blending and horizontal blending.

Two of the fields considered here is located at the east boundary of the NSRA making then suitable for the construction of a bermed area to preclude flooding. If implemented, this alternative would be represent a less of 173 acres or less than two percent of the total NSRA that would be unavailable for flooding.

Using the methodology describe above, these three fields would be suitable for either soil layer inversion, or vertical soil blending given that the these technologies would result in a 45 to 30% reduction, respectively, sufficient to meet the BETL.

Horizontal soil blending is also considered for these three fields given that they are located adjacent to fields with no remedial action requirements.

4.3.3.2.4 In situ Treatment

The technologies and soil handling options considered here included landfarming, which consists or tilling the upper foot of soil with the addition of chemical and/or biological amendments, and bioremediation with the addition of amendments necessary for aerobic-anaerobic reduction dechlorination. Due to the lower reduction required (20 to 50%), shorter or less intensive amendment programs would be required

4.3.3.2.5 *Ex situ* Treatment

The processes examined here are soil reactor *in situ* chemical treatment (Soilsavers FX) and low temperature thermal desorption. This group of fields would require only partial volume or strength treatment to reach the point of allowing blending to accomplish the remainder of the RAOs. Further analysis would be needed to determine the point at which mobilizing and permitting the thermal treatment becomes less economical than the chemical option. Also, the chemical blending process option would require preliminary bench testing to optimize the dosing for various concentration and TOC conditions.

4.3.3.3 Remedial Alternatives for Fields Requiring Less Than 20% Reduction (BETL)

There are 12 fields in this category as shown in Table 4-4. DDTx is the critical contaminant for five fields, toxaphene for five fields and DDE for the remaining two fields. Four of these fields are located at the north and east boundaries and three are located relatively close to the north boundary of the NSRA. These 12 fields represent a total area of approximately 1,420 acres.

4.3.3.3.1 No Action

The "no action" alternative demands that the fields are kept in a dry condition to avoid the contact of surface water with contaminated soil/sediment, in this way preventing the establishment of fish habitat that may attract bird populations. This alternative prevents the realization of a critical element for the overall restoration of Lake Apopka.

4.3.3.3.2 Limited Action

The limited action alternative is similar to the no action alternative mentioned above with the distinction that it would include monitoring programs including soil sampling and the implementation of remedial actions. Though monitoring does not prevent exposure to contaminants, it could be used in combination with other remedial actions to evaluate the short-term and long-term effects of these actions.

4.3.3.3.3 Isolation/Containment

Isolation technologies were examined here included soil layer inversion, vertical blending and horizontal blending.

Using the selection methodology described above, these fields would be suitable for either soil layer inversion, or vertical soil blending given that the these technologies would result in an estimated 45 and 30% reduction, respectively, sufficient for these fields to meet the BETL.

Horizontal soil blending is considered for some of these fields given that they are located adjacent to several similarly sized fields with no remedial action requirements that are planned for flooding to the same depth.

4.3.3.3.4 In situ Treatment

The technologies considered here are landfarming, which consists or tilling the upper foot of soil with the addition of chemical and/or biological amendments, and bioremediation with the addition of amendments necessary for anaerobic-aerobic reductive dechlorination. Landfarming may be expected to achieve at least as much reduction as the recent tilling demonstration (20%) even without amendments to accelerate and improve the degradation. Four of the fields totaling over 450 acres already exhibit DDT breakdown to DDE.

4.3.3.3.5 *Ex situ* Treatment

The processes examined here are soil reactor *ex situ* chemical treatment. Minimum treatment of 1,420 acres would only be done on higher strength fields requiring greater than 70% reduction to more quickly allow blending to achieve the final endpoints. Due to the large acreage involved, this option is subject to further economic analysis to verify such action is worthwhile.

4.3.4 Remedial Alternatives for the Maximum Percent Reduction to Meet the CTL

Table 4-4 shows a total of 46 fields requiring remedial action to meet the RAOs CTL. The percent reduction required ranges from 91 to 4%. Following the method to determine the most appropriate technology for the characteristics of each field, the alternatives are presented for four different ranges of percent reduction requirements:

- 1. A percent reduction of 75% or higher,
- 2. Fields requiring a percent reduction of 50% to 75%
- 3. Fields requiring a percent reduction of 20% to 50%,
- 4. Fields requiring a reduction less than 20%.

4.3.4.1 Remedial Alternatives for Fields Requiring 75% or Higher Reduction

There are five fields with a total area of approximately 286 acres in this category as shown in Table 4-4 for which DDTx is the critical contaminant. These five fields are located at the north-east and east boundaries of the NSRA.

4.3.4.1.1 No Action

The "no action" alternative demands that the fields are kept in a dry condition to avoid the contact of surface water with contaminated soil/sediment, in this way preventing the establishment of fish habitat that may attract bird populations. This alternative prevents the realization of a critical element for the overall restoration of Lake Apopka.

4.3.4.1.2 Limited Action

The limited action alternative is similar to the no action alternative mentioned above with the distinction that it would include monitoring programs including soil sampling and the implementation of remedial actions. Though monitoring does not prevent exposure to contaminants, it could be used in combination with other remedial actions to evaluate the short-term and long-term effects of these actions.

4.3.4.1.3 Isolation/Containment

Several technologies were examined here: construction of bermed areas or islands that would preclude flooding the field or part of the field, *in situ* capping which would seal contaminants under soil covers, soil layer inversion, vertical blending and horizontal blending.

The five fields considered here are located at the north-east and east boundaries of the NSRA and all exhibit a high concentration of DDTx making them suitable for the construction of bermed areas to preclude flooding. If implemented, this alternative would represent 286 acres or approximately 3.2 percent of the total NSRA would be unavailable for flooding.

These five fields would not be suitable for either soil layer inversion, or vertical soil blending given that the these technologies would at most result in a 45 and 30% reduction, respectively, not sufficient to meet the CTL.

4.3.4.1.4 In situ Treatment

The technologies considered here are landfarming, which consists or tilling the upper foot of soil with the addition of chemical and/or biological amendments, and bioremediation with the addition of amendments necessary for aerobic-anaerobic dechlorination. Since bioremediation reductions are a percent of the remaining contaminant, at least two full treatment cycles would be required.

4.3.4.1.5 Ex situ Treatment

The processes examined here are soil reactor *ex situ* chemical treatment. Implementation considerations for 75% reduction are the same as for the highest reduction BETL group. Both options require custom mass destruction of staged soils, and need only be used to the extent necessary to allow use in blending or cover.

4.3.4.2 Remedial Alternatives for Fields Requiring Between 50% and 75% Reduction

There are 21 fields in this category as shown in Table 4-4. For 13 of these fields toxaphene is the critical contaminant, for five fields the critical contaminant is DDTx and for the remaining three fields the critical contaminant is DDE. These 13 fields comprise a total area of approximately 3,490 acres. Twelve of these fields are located in Unit 1, north of the McDonald Canal Road, two are located at the south-east end of the of Unit 2, one is located at the east boundary of the NSRA, the remaining are scattered within Unit 2.

4.3.4.2.1 No Action

The "no action" alternative demands that the fields are kept in a dry condition to avoid the contact of surface water with contaminated soil/sediment, in this way preventing the establishment of fish habitat that may attract bird populations. This alternative prevents the realization of a critical element for the overall restoration of Lake Apopka.

4.3.4.2.2 Limited Action

The limited action alternative is similar to the no action alternative mentioned above with the distinction that it would include monitoring programs including soil sampling and the implementation of remedial actions. Though monitoring does not prevent exposure to contaminants, it could be used in combination with other remedial actions to evaluate the short-term and long-term effects of these actions.

4.3.4.2.3 Isolation/Containment

Several technologies were examined here: construction of bermed areas or islands that would preclude flooding the field or part of the field, soil covers, soil layer inversion, vertical blending and horizontal blending.

Three fields considered here are located at the north and east boundaries of the NSRA. Another field borders the east shore of Lake Apopka. These fields, given their location and required percent reduction to meet the CTL make them suitable for the construction of bermed areas to preclude flooding. If implemented, this alternative would represent 231 acres or a maximum of 2.6 percent of the total NSRA that would be partially unavailable for flooding, even if simply capped; islands would be significantly smaller.

The fields covered in this subsection would not be suitable for either soil layer inversion, or vertical soil blending alone given that the these technologies would at most result in a 45 and 30% reduction, respectively, not sufficient to meet the CTL.

Horizontal blending of soil between fields can also be an option to some degree for those fields located contiguous to "clean" fields. Ten such fields are part of the 21 fields examined in this subsection.

4.3.4.2.4 In situ Treatment

The technologies considered here are landfarming, which consists or tilling the upper foot of soil with the addition of chemical and/or biological amendments, and bioremediation with the addition of amendments necessary for aerobic-anaerobic dechlorination. Treatment amendments would be tailored to the critical contaminant, and treatment would be prioritized in order to prepare blocks for flooding sooner.

4.3.4.2.5 Ex situ Treatment

The processes examined here are soil reactor *ex situ* chemical treatment. Due to the large area involved, this technology would likely only be used in small areas, or to produce clean materials for other uses.

4.3.4.3 Remedial Alternatives for Fields Requiring Between 20% and 50% Reduction

There are 13 fields in this category as shown in Table 4-4. For eight of these fields toxaphene is the critical contaminant, for two fields the critical contaminant is DDTx. Dieldrin and DDE are the critical contaminants for the two and one fields respectively. These 13 fields comprise a total area of approximately 1,813 acres. Twelve of these fields are located in Unit 2, two fields are located at the east boundary, and one at the north boundary of the NSRA. Two fields are located bordering the north-east shore of Lake Apopka.

4.3.4.3.1 No Action

The "no action" alternative demands that the fields are kept in a dry condition to avoid the contact of surface water with contaminated soil/sediment, in this way preventing the establishment of fish habitat that may attract bird populations. This alternative prevents the realization of a critical element for the overall restoration of Lake Apopka.

4.3.4.3.2 Limited Action

The limited action alternative is similar to the no action alternative mentioned above with the distinction that it would include monitoring programs including soil sampling and the implementation of remedial actions. Though monitoring does not prevent exposure to contaminants, it could be used in combination with other remedial actions to evaluate the short-term and long-term effects of these actions.

4.3.4.3.3 Isolation/Containment

Several technologies were examined here: construction of bermed areas that would preclude flooding the field or part of the field, soil covers, soil layer inversion, vertical blending and horizontal blending.

No fields are considered here for isolation from flooding since there are other options within this category of technologies that could be implanted in order to achieve the CTL proposed in Table 3-2 without making fields unavailable for flooding.

Using the methodology describe above, the fields covered in this subsection would be suitable for either soil layer inversion, or vertical soil blending given that the these technologies would at most result in a 45 and 30% reduction, respectively, which would be sufficient to meet the CTL.

Horizontal blending of soil between fields can be an option for those fields located contiguous to "clean" fields. Ten such fields are part of the 13 fields examined in this subsection.

4.3.4.3.4 In situ Treatment

The technologies considered here are landfarming, which consists or tilling the upper foot of soil with the addition of chemical and/or biological amendments, and bioremediation with the addition of amendments necessary for aerobic-anaerobic dechlorination. Treatment to achieve 20% or greater reduction could be done on portions of these fields needed for quicker flooding, but may not be warranted unless such acceleration of the schedule avoids maintenance and monitoring costs.

4.3.4.3.5 *Ex situ* Treatment

The processes examined here are soil reactor *ex situ* chemical treatment. While this alternative is technically possible, the economic benefit is unlikely compared to *in situ* options, unless the equipment is already mobilized elsewhere on-site.

4.3.4.4 Remedial Alternatives for Fields Requiring Less Than 20% Reduction

There are seven fields in this category as shown in Table 4-4. Toxaphene is the critical contaminant for all but one field for which DDE is the critical contaminant. Four of these fields are extensive fields located just south of the McDonald Canal Road, two fields border Lake Apopka, and one is located at the east boundary of the NSRA. These seven fields represent a total area of approximately 1,328 acres.

4.3.4.4.1 No Action

The "no action" alternative demands that the fields are kept in a dry condition to avoid the contact of surface water with contaminated soil/sediment, in this way preventing the establishment of fish habitat that may attract bird populations. This alternative prevents the realization of a critical element for the overall restoration of Lake Apopka.

4.3.4.4.2 Limited Action

The limited action alternative is similar to the no action alternative mentioned above with the distinction that it would include monitoring programs including soil sampling and the implementation of remedial actions. Though monitoring does not prevent exposure to

contaminants, it could be used in combination with other remedial actions to evaluate the short-term and long-term effects of these actions.

4.3.4.4.3 Isolation/Containment

Several technologies were examined here: construction of bermed areas that would preclude flooding the field or part of the field, soil covers, soil layer inversion, vertical blending and horizontal blending.

No fields are considered here for isolation from flooding since there are other options within this category of technologies that could be implanted in order to achieve the CTL proposed in Table 3-2 without making fields unavailable for flooding.

Using the methodology describe above, the fields covered in this subsection would be suitable for either soil layer inversion, or vertical soil blending given that the these technologies would result in a 45 and 30% reduction, respectively, quite sufficient to meet the CTL.

Horizontal blending of soil between fields can be an option for those fields located contiguous to "clean" fields. Five such fields are part of the seven fields described in this subsection.

4.3.4.4 In situ Treatment

The technologies considered here are landfarming, which consists or tilling the upper foot of soil with the addition of chemical and/or biological amendments, and bioremediation with the addition of amendments necessary for aerobic-anaerobic dechlorination. Treatment to achieve 20% or less reduction could be done on portions of these fields needed for quicker flooding, but may not be warranted unless such acceleration of the schedule avoids maintenance and monitoring costs.

4.3.4.4.5 Ex situ Treatment

The processes examined here are soil reactor *ex situ* chemical treatment. Due to the large area involved, this technology would likely only be used in small areas, or to produce clean materials for other uses.

5.0 Detailed Analysis of Remedial Alternatives

This section presents a detailed description and analysis of the remedial alternatives that address the contaminated soil at NSRA. Section 5.2 presents remedial alternatives for OCP contaminated soil at the NSRA. A detailed analysis is performed to provide decision makers with sufficient information to identify appropriate remedial alternatives for OCP contaminated soil at NSRA. The detailed analysis has been conducted using CERCLA Section 121, the NCP, and USEPA Remedial Investigation (RI)/FS guidance (USEPA, 1988) as a basis, but allowing for some flexibility to better address the requirements of the NSRA.

5.1 Screening Criteria

The in-depth evaluation of each remedial alternative includes the following:

- A detailed description of the alternative, emphasizing the application of the technology or actions; and
- An analysis of the alternative against the modified CERCLA criteria as explained in Section 2.1.

The modified criteria against which the alternatives are screened are the following (see Table 5-1):

- Protection to the avian populations that will make the Lake Apopka NSRA their permanent or temporary habitat;
- Compliance with the regulatory requirements established by the USFWS with regard to the NSRA;
- Long-term effectiveness and permanence;
- Short-term effectiveness;
- Implementability;
- Cost; and
- Stakeholder's acceptance.

The modifying criterion, stakeholder's acceptance, is more appropriately evaluated after the comment period. It is anticipated that the stakeholder's acceptance will be used in conjunction with the remedial alternative comparison presented in Section 6.0 to select the appropriate remedial alternatives for the OCP contaminated soils at NSRA.

A final consideration in developing this evaluation procedure came from the findings of the technology screening, which indicated that one or more technologies (e.g., soil flipping, vertical blending, bioremediation) are not currently proven to reliably achieve more than a 45-50% reduction in exposure concentrations. Other technologies, e.g., enhanced bioremediation, can achieve greater percentage reductions, but greater percentage reductions are achieved more slowly, and may require multiple treatment cycles, at greater cost. It appears that an ability to

achieve more than 50% reduction was limited to only a few, higher cost, alternatives. Therefore, fields requiring more than a 50% reduction could impose significant feasibility limitations.

Factors	Criteria to Consider
Protection to the Avian Populations	How risks are eliminated, reduced, or controlled. Short-term effects
Compliance with Regulatory Requirements	Compliance with chemical-specific requirements Compliance with location-specific requirements Compliance with action-specific requirements
Long-Term Effectiveness and Permanence	Magnitude of residual risk Adequacy of controls Reliability of controls
Short-Term Effectiveness	Protection of the avian populations during remedial action Protection to the community during remedial action Protection to the workers during remedial action. Environmental effects Time until RAO is achieved.
Implementability	Ability to apply technology Reliability of technology Ease of undertaking additional remedial action, if necessary Coordination with other agencies
Cost	Capital cost Long term monitoring, operations, and maintenance cost (O&M)

Table 5-1. Criteria for Evaluation of Remedial Alternatives

5.2 Detailed Analysis of Remedial Alternatives

This section presents the detailed description and analysis of remedial alternatives that address the soil contamination at the Lake Apopka NSRA. The remedial alternatives that were developed for the fields requiring remedial action were discussed in Sections 4.3.3 through 4.3.4. In order to make this FS a more efficient document, the detailed analysis of the remedial alternatives together with the evaluation against the six criteria is presented by alternative rather than by remediation levels, as was the case in Section 4.3.4. and 4.3.5. Each alternative is presented as it is applied to a specific type of field. In this way, there will be less recurrence of similar or identical paragraphs. Table 5-2 presents a summary of the detailed analysis of the alternatives taking into account the percent reduction required.

5.2.1 No Action

Typically, the no action alternative is defined as doing no response and no long-term monitoring of the contaminated soil. However, as discussed earlier, the District is currently implementing programs to maintain the area drained of surface water. Because this is an ongoing action, the continued implementation of this program will be retained as a component of the no action alternative.

In accordance with the NCP, the no action alternative is used as a baseline for comparison against alternatives that incorporate remedial actions. The no action alternative would include the following components:

- Continue drainage programs
- Periodic site reviews

As stated above, the District is implementing programs that maintain the drainage of the NSRA, minimizing the extent to which contaminated soil comes in contact with surface water. In order to implement this program, the District must maintain levees, canals, access roads and pumping equipment, in addition to periodically monitoring the site to determine the need for drainage.

Periodic site reviews, including surface and groundwater monitoring, may be required in order to establish whether the soil contamination is not affecting any other medium, and to ensure that the Florida surface water and drinking water standards are met. The costs associated with this component are not included.

5.2.1.1 Technical Criteria Analysis

This subsection provides the technical criteria analysis of the no action alternative compared against the six criteria in Table 5-1. Table 5-2 provides a summary of the detailed analysis of the remedial alternatives.

5.2.1.1.1 Protection of Avian Populations

No action risks to the avian populations are reduced and controlled so long as the fields remain drained thus allowing limited contact of surface water with contaminated soil, and therefore limited potential for fish in the avian food chain to uptake OCPs.

5.2.1.1.2 Compliance with Regulatory Requirements

Provided the contaminated areas do not come in contact with the surface water, the District will be in compliance with the ESA, MBTA and the BGEPA. Periodic monitoring, will in the same way, determine whether the District is in compliance with the SDWA.

Location-specific regulatory requirements are not met with this alternative, since this action does not comply with the Lake Apopka Restoration Act, the Surface Water Improvement and Management Act (SWIM) and the CWA.

Action-specific regulatory requirements do not apply to the no action alternative.

		Compliance with	Long-term			
	Protective of Avian	Regulatory	Effectiveness and	Short-term		Cost
Alternative	Populations	Requirements	Permanence	Effectiveness	Implementability	(K\$/acre)
No action	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	Moderate
		Only for fields	Only for fields			
Limited Action	Yes	requiring < 20%	requiring < 20%	Yes	Yes	Moderate
		reduction	reduction			
Isolation/Containment						
Island Construction	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	9.4
Berm Containment	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Limited Acreage	7.3
Soil Cover	Requires	Requires	Requires	Voc	Vas	24.4
Son Cover	demonstration	demonstration	demonstration	105	105	24.4
	Pilot study	Pilot study	Pilot study	Pilot study		
Soil Lover Inversion	recommended for	recommended for	recommended for	recommended for	Vas	26
Son Layer Inversion	fields requiring	fields requiring	fields requiring	fields requiring	105	2.0
	> 20% reduction	> 20% reduction	> 20% reduction	> 20% reduction		
	Only for fields					
	requiring < 75%					
	reduction provided					
Vertical Blending	limited acreage is	2.7				
	involved, or fields					
	requiring < 50%					
	reduction	reduction	reduction	reduction	reduction	
Horizontal Blending	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Limited Acreage	6.1
In situ treatment						
Landfarming	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	18.0
Bioremediation	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	23.0
<i>Ex situ</i> treatment						
Soil Reactor ex situ treatment	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	34.7
Excavate & Landfill	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	118.6
Source: MACTEC, 2004				Pre	pared by/Date: MLJ 9/10)/04

Table 5-2. Summary of Detailed Analysis of Remedial Activities

Checked by/Date: WAT 9/10/04

5.2.1.1.3 Long-Term Effectiveness and Permanence

This action is effective in reducing exposure to piscivorous birds, but only as the result of continued pumping to keep the NSRA dry. Adequate and reliable controls and drainage program implementation will need to be maintained in order to maintain fields in a dry state. Consequently, this action is not a permanent solution. The magnitude of the residual risk is addressed under this alternative only as it relates to the natural attenuation that will take place with time.

5.2.1.1.4 Short-Term Effectiveness

The no action alternative meets short-term effectiveness criteria. The drainage of the fields has been performed for a number of years now since the bird mortality event and protection to the avian population, community and workers has been achieved with no adverse environmental effects. However, with the no action alternative, the RAOs will not be achieved.

5.2.1.1.5 Implementability

The no action alternative has been implemented since the bird mortality event, along with the field drainage program.

5.2.1.1.6 Cost

There is no capital cost associated with this alternative. The long term monitoring, operations, and maintenance costs, including the cost of perpetual drainage of the farm fields, is relatively high, but has not been quantified.

5.2.2 Limited Action

The limited action alternative consists of long-term monitoring activities, physical barriers, and administrative actions to reduce the potential for exposure to the contaminated media. Limited action could also include public information programs, providing a database of information about the site, and evaluating changes in site conditions over time. The limited action alternatives differs from the no action alternative primarily by incorporation of long term monitoring of soil concentrations to identify when concentrations have naturally attenuated to such an extent that flooding of individual fields may be possible, i.e., this alternative includes MNA.

5.2.2.1 Technical Criteria Analysis

This subsection provides the technical criteria analysis of the limited action alternative compared against the six criteria in Table 5-1.

5.2.2.1.1 Protection of Avian Populations

Risks to the avian populations are eliminated, reduced and controlled so long as the fields remain drained, allowing no chance for surface water to come in contact with contaminated soil so long as concentrations of COPCs remain above the target levels.

5.2.2.1.2 Compliance with Regulatory Requirements

Provided the contaminated areas do not come in contact with the surface water, the District will be in compliance with the ESA, MBTA and the BGEPA. Periodic monitoring, will in the same way, determine whether the District is in compliance with the SDWA.

Location-specific regulatory requirements are not met with this alternative, since this action does not comply with the Lake Apopka Restoration Act, the Surface Water Improvement and Management Act (SWIM) and the CWA. It is plausible that MNA may be effective in the long term in fields that exceed the target levels by less than 30%, and therefore may eventually achieve compliance with these Florida statutes.

Action-specific regulatory requirements do not apply to the limited action alternative.

5.2.2.1.3 Long-Term Effectiveness and Permanence

The incorporation of monitoring into the Limited Action alternative implies implementation of MNA. Whereas, available non-site-specific research indicates the half lives of the COPCs in the environment are approximately 2 to 20 years, this action may be effective in the long term, although effectiveness has not been demonstrated, and is expected to require a long term monitoring period of more than 30 years.

5.2.2.1.4 Short-Term Effectiveness

The no action alternative meets short-term effectiveness criteria. The drainage of the fields has been performed for a number of years now since the bird mortality event and protection to the avian populations, community and workers as been achieved with no adverse environmental effects. However, with the no action alternative, the RAOs will not be achieved.

5.2.2.1.5 Implementability

The no action alternative has been implemented since the bird mortality event, along with the field drainage program.

5.2.2.1.6 Cost

There is no capital cost associated with this alternative. The long term monitoring, operations, and maintenance costs, including the cost of perpetual drainage of the farm fields, is relatively high, but has not been quantified.

5.2.3 Isolation/Containment

A number of technologies were considered under this option. Of these, the retained technologies were island construction above flooding levels, berm containment to prevent soil flooding of certain areas, soil cover, deep plowing soil layer inversion, vertical blending of soils and horizontal blending of soils.

5.2.3.1 Island/Peninsula Construction Above the Flooding Level

This remedial alternative consists of constructing a limited number of on-site landfill like vaults in areas where adjacent roads, dikes, or the elevation of the area afford construction of an enclosure. Contaminated soil will be excavated and placed in the vault. A geomembrane cap may be installed on top of the contaminated material to provide a barrier between the material and the environment, and the surface covered with clean soil for re-vegetation. Fields considered for this alternative are those requiring 75% or greater reduction to achieve the remediation target level and are located near the east boundary of the NSRA. A total of three fields were identified for which this remedial alternative could be applied.

These small area fields, located at or near roads are candidates for isolating the 0-12 inch contaminated surface soils by building "islands" above the proposed flooded level. The island earthworks would be constructed using 623 scrapers and D-8 dozers in such a way as to minimize soil movement. These sites are assumed accessible to equipment without further actions. Roads, canals and/or ditch features would be used to the extent possible to minimize the construction effort, and are not assumed to be a hindrance. No soil preparation of the currently vegetated fields is assumed required, but the soils must be de-watered and mowed to the extent necessary to allow reasonable equipment operation.

The island design layout would be computer optimized by the specific characteristics of each field. For cost estimation purposes, it is assumed that a four man crew would move soil from two adjacent six square acre sub-fields. Scrapers would stage soil and 5cubic yard/load bulldozers would move the soil no more than 400 ft to stockpiles for other dozers to complete the final stacking, shaping, contouring, and compacting of the island. The long narrow islands would be approximately 6-8 ft high X 100 ft width X 600 ft length. Assuming a rate of 2 acres per day, one island would require approximately 6 crew days, not including weather days or other delays. Deeper clean soils would be used to provide at least a six inch soil cover, and initial re-vegetation would include hydroseeding. The effort would include finishing the removal area to a flat grade and final surveying the site to confirm the removal of 1 ft.

Earthworks to isolate OCP contaminated soils is a permanent solution that provides complete protection from OCP exposure. This option would reduce the flooded area approximately 13% based on the assumed island height. The surrounding flooded area depth would be increased by 1 ft. Long-term inspection and maintenance of the islands to confirm the lack of exposed OCP soils would be required in perpetuity until monitoring has confirmed natural attenuation of the subsurface contamination. Placement of the materials is assumed to enhance natural attenuation but the rate is unknown. Further, the construction includes no coupling with bio-amendments spreading or mixing during placement.

Above water islands will be seeded for erosion control only initially. There likely would be benefits from tapering island slopes to deepened areas to create more littoral habitat if flooding

was less than to island top. Vegetation on islands may require mowing to prevent shrubs and trees, which might have roots large enough to penetrate the cap. In later phased efforts, some islands might be allowed to grow trees adjacent to open water to attract birds looking for nesting sites.

5.2.3.2 Technical Criteria Analysis

This subsection provides the technical criteria analysis of the island/peninsula construction alternative compared against the six criteria in Table 5-1.

5.2.3.2.1 Protection of Avian Populations

This alternative would be protective of the avian populations, since it would prevent surface water from coming into contact with contaminated soil/sediment, and, as a consequence would prevent the establishment of a fish habitat. As islands/peninsulas develop vegetation, these areas provide suitable locations for rookeries, and would as such perhaps attract more fish-eating birds to the NSRA.

5.2.3.2.2 Compliance with Regulatory Requirements

Provided the contaminated areas do not come in contact with the surface water, the District will be in compliance with the ESA, MBTA and the BGEPA. Periodic monitoring, will in the same way, determine whether the District is in compliance with the SDWA.

This alternative slightly reduces the total area of restored wetlands, but does not significantly adversely affect compliance with Florida statutes intended to restore water quality of Lake Apopka.

This alternative will require permitting by FDEP and the US Army Corps of Engineers to comply with Section 404 of the CWA (dredge and fill) and other Florida requirements for construction within wetlands and/or floodplains. Whereas the action is interpreted to be in the public interest, MACTEC believes the alternative is permittable, but permit requirements may affect cost.

Action-specific regulatory requirements may apply during construction of the necessary controls. Non point source emissions of OCP-contaminated particulates by wind and stormwater erosion that could be generated during the required construction can be minimized with appropriate erosion controls. These controls would ensure compliance with Florida air pollution and water pollution control regulations.

5.2.3.2.3 Long-Term Effectiveness and Permanence

The isolation of contaminated soil within these island vaults is effective in preventing the contaminated soil from coming into contact with surface water. Monitoring and maintenance of the isolated areas will be required to ensure the integrity of the outer edge barrier.

5.2.3.2.4 Short-Term Effectiveness

The isolation of contaminated soils within these island vaults meets the short-term effectiveness criterion. The high contamination areas will remain dry, so the RAOs will not be completely achieved given that areas at the NSRA would remain un-flooded, and therefore contributing little to the restoration of Lake Apopka. This alternative is not expected to have any negative environmental effects, therefore the avian populations will not be affected during the remedial action. There would only be slight exposures to workers performing the remedial action.

5.2.3.2.5 Implementability

Island construction can be performed using standard construction technologies. This option must include adequate erosion controls and maintenance. This alternative will require CWA Section 404 (dredge and fill) permitting, but it is assumed the risk assessment (RA) is permittable because the overall restoration program is in the public interest.

5.2.3.2.6 Cost

The overall cost for this action is estimated to be approximately \$9,400 per acre. For purposes of this FS, this unit cost is assumed to be applicable regardless of the overall size of the application. Details of the basis of this cost estimate are provided in Appendix B.

5.2.4 Berm Containment of Non-Flooded Areas

This remedial alternative consists of implementing construction activities necessary to prevent flooding those fields which require a high percent reduction (75% and above), located at the boundary of the NSRA and therefore may be at a higher elevation. A total of two fields were identified for which this remedial alternative could be applied, both are currently part of the FBs proposed to be flooded to 0.5 ft.

5.2.4.1 Technical Criteria Analysis

This subsection provides the technical criteria analysis of the berming only isolation alternative compared against the six criteria in Table 5-1.

5.2.4.1.1 Protection of Avian Populations

This alternative would be protective of the avian populations, since it would prevent surface water from coming into contact with contaminated soil/sediment, and, as a consequence would prevent the establishment of a fish habitat.

5.2.4.1.2 Compliance with Regulatory Requirements

Provided the contaminated areas do not come in contact with the surface water, the District will be in compliance with the ESA, MBTA and the BGEPA. Periodic monitoring, will in the same way, determine whether the District is in compliance with the SDWA. This alternative slightly reduces the total area of restored wetlands, but does not significantly adversely affect compliance with Florida statutes intended to restore water quality of Lake Apopka.

This alternative will require permitting by FDEP and the US Army Corps of Engineers to comply with Section 404 of the CWA (dredge and fill) and other Florida requirements for construction within wetlands and/or floodplains. Whereas the action is interpreted to be in the public interest, MACTEC believes the alternative is permittable, but permit requirements may affect cost.

Action-specific regulatory requirements may apply during construction of the necessary controls. Non point source emissions of OCP-contaminated particulates by wind and stormwater erosion that could be generated during the required construction can be minimized with appropriate erosion controls. These controls would ensure compliance with Florida air pollution and water pollution control regulations.

5.2.4.1.3 Long-Term Effectiveness and Permanence

The isolation of contaminated soil using berms is effective in preventing the contaminated soil from coming into contact with surface water within the limited portions of the site where it has been considered, specifically at higher elevations, near roads or other barriers, in FBs with planned water depth less than 0.5 ft. In other areas, use of earthen berms will not be sufficient to prevent groundwater seepage and inundation of the bermed area. Monitoring and maintenance of the berms will be required to ensure their integrity. Rainwater and runoff would require maintenance of temporary pumping equipment and structure maintenance to prevent ponding behind berms.

5.2.4.1.4 Short-Term Effectiveness

The isolation of contaminated soils by berming meets the short-term effectiveness criterion. The high contamination areas will remain dry, so the RAOs will not be completely achieved given that areas at the NSRA would remain un-flooded, and therefore contributing little to the restoration of Lake Apopka. This alternative is not expected to have any negative environmental effects, therefore the avian populations will not be affected during the remedial action. There would only be slight exposures to workers performing the remedial action.

5.2.4.1.5 Implementability

Berm construction can be performed using standard construction technologies. This option must include adequate erosion controls and maintenance. This alternative will require CWA Section 404 (dredge and fill) permitting, but it is assumed the RA is permittable because the overall restoration program is in the public interest. This alternative, however, is viable only in limited areas within the NSRA.

5.2.4.1.6 Cost

The cost of this alternative is estimated to be \$7,300 per acre. For purposes of this FS, this unit cost is assumed to be applicable regardless of the overall size of the application. Details regarding the basis of this cost estimate are provided in Appendix B.

5.2.5 Soil Cover

The soil cover alternative has been considered for the same fields as the earthwork options to prevent flooding. In general, this alternative consists of the placement of a layer of clean soil at least six inches thick over contaminated soils to provide permanent isolation of the non-leachable OCPs. The cover material would then be compacted over the contaminated soil and the banks to the extent necessary for and surfaces would be sloped for stabilization and erosion control. Dredge material from Lake Apopka might be used where testing confirms adequate cover soil characteristics. A vertical section would be constructed around the perimeter of the area, to a depth of approximately 2 feet below land surface. The cover area would depend on the size of the non-flooded area defined in a field.

The soil cover alternative is considered in areas where the fields are located in upland areas at the boundaries of the NSRA or generally with higher levels of contamination requiring problematic reductions for other technologies. These areas are considered candidates for isolation by placement of a soil cover prior to flooding. This action requires that the surface is prepared by mowing of chopping, and that clean soil from elsewhere on the property is excavated and transported to the field to be covered, spread in a finished layer thickness of one ft, and compacted. This action can be performed by standard construction equipment. Sufficient soil is assumed available nearby either from fields not requiring treatment, or from deeper layers of fields where the surface layer has been removed as part of other remedial action options. For the seventeen fields included in the minimum treatment, this option is suggested only for the three fields (231 acres total) requiring the highest (34-68 percent) reduction that exceeds proven soil inversion reduction capabilities (approximately 30 percent). If any appreciable time period occurs between completion and flooding, re-vegetation and maintenance of the site is recommended.

The effectiveness of this alternative is critically dependent on two assumptions:

- 1. The COPCs are virtually immobile in site soils and sediments; and
- 2. The soil cover will not erode appreciably under the project future land use.

Both these assumptions appear to be valid, however, wide scale implementation of this alternative should not be implemented without extended pilot testing to verify these assumptions.

5.2.5.1 Technical Criteria Analysis

This subsection provides the technical criteria analysis of the soil cover alternative compared against the six criteria in Table 5-1.

5.2.5.1.1 Protection of Avian Populations

If the alternative is effective (to be demonstrated by an extended pilot test), it would be protective of the avian populations since it would prevent surface water from coming into contact with contaminated soil/sediment. This alternative is expected to be effective because the COPCs have been shown to be immobile in site soils.

5.2.5.1.2 Compliance with Regulatory Requirements

Under the effectiveness assumptions previously stated, the alternative complies with all identified regulatory requirements.

Action-specific regulatory requirements may apply during construction of the necessary controls. Non point source emissions of OCP-contaminated particulates by wind and stormwater erosion that could be generated during the required construction can be minimized with appropriate erosion controls. These controls would ensure compliance with Florida air pollution and water pollution control regulations.

5.2.5.1.3 Long-Term Effectiveness and Permanence

Construction of a soil cover for some of these areas will have effective and permanent results provided these areas are properly constructed and maintained. The incorporation of monitoring into this alternative may be necessary to assure that this is the case. Monitoring should also be implemented to follow the natural attenuation that is likely to take place over time.

5.2.5.1.4 Short-Term Effectiveness

The construction of a soil cover alternative meets short-term effectiveness criteria. Maintaining the contaminated soil from coming in contact with surface water is the primary objective of this remedial action and can be effectively accomplished by means of this alternative. Protection to the avian population, community and workers can been achieved with no adverse environmental effects.

5.2.5.1.5 Implementability

This alternative would be moderately difficult to implement on soils with high organic content. The low-density soils may not support optimum compaction of the cover. If the area is flooded, the soils will swell and shift slightly.

5.2.5.1.6 Cost

The estimated cost for this alternative is \$24,400 per acre. The basis for this cost estimate is provided in Appendix B.

5.2.6 Soil Layer Inversion

This alternative has been considered for those fields requiring approximately 30% reduction or less based on the effectiveness demonstrated by this technology. Deep plowing is a physical treatment alternative that involves the inversion of entire layers of soils by use of special mechanical means (moldboard plow). Limited testing of this alternative has been conducted in the NSRA.

Soil inversion or flipping is an inherently attractive, presumably low cost range option for large areas. Proper soil inversion involves multi-step preparation and special plowing, using moldboard and offset disk plows. This action has been used worldwide to invert entire soils layers. In Australia, layers 1-3 meters in depth are being inverted at a reported cost of \$1,000 to \$3,000 per hectare to restore moisture profiles in arid regions for pasture restoration (Australian Ministry of the Environment web site). In the US, The USDA National Soil Tilth Laboratory, Ames, Iowa has reported use of the technique (under flooded conditions) to seal contaminated sediments below clean bottom material following floods. A Pilot program is reportedly currently being designed by Allen Machine and Equipment, Roscoe, Texas for 0-2 ft depth soil inversion of Everglade's soils containing chlordane for the SFWMD.

Adequate equipment and preparation are absolutely critical to achieve the desired depth of the turn or "flip". To accomplish a minimum 24 inch depth turn needed in the NSRA fields, offset plow disks of 38 to 54 inches may be required. For moldboard plow use, the size and curvature of the blades requires custom design, and the tractor or dozer pulling the plow must have adequate horsepower to be capable of constant speed without excessive slippage. Spinning the tractor tires or failure to maintain speed can and will result in failure to reach and sustain the specified depth under even the wettest conditions.

The technique has been already tested by the District for several weeks in September 2003 on a two acre test plot in the NSRA with somewhat mixed and less than anticipated results. Plow manufacturers maintain flipping can be accomplished with 95-98 percent efficiency, even under NSRA muck characteristics. However, initial testing was confirmed to provide only an estimated 32 ± 8 percent OCP reduction. The demonstration already performed in the NSRA was evaluated and found to be equipment limited, especially considering the extreme and unanticipated moisture conditions. Since the achieved reduction was adequate for much of the NSRA minimum treatment areas (1,975 of 2,207 acres and 15 of 17 fields), the soil inversion option is a candidate for much of the NSRA. If further, more rigorous testing confirms results closer to theoretical results this option may be applicable to all of the sites.

5.2.6.1 Technical Criteria Analysis

This subsection provides the technical criteria analysis of the soil layer inversion alternative compared against the six criteria in Table 5-1.

5.2.6.1.1 Protection of Avian Populations

This alternative will be protective if its use is restricted to fields that exceed the target levels by a small percentage (e.g., 30% based on available data).

5.2.6.1.2 Compliance with Regulatory Requirements

Provided the soil that comes in contact with the surface water meets the LTL or HTL as established in Table 3-2, the District will be in compliance with the ESA, MBTA and the BGEPA. Periodic monitoring, will in the same way, determine whether the District is in compliance with the SDWA and the CWA.

This action complies with the Lake Apopka Restoration Act.

There are no location-specific regulatory requirements that need to be taken into account.

Action-specific regulatory requirements may apply during the implementation of the alternative. Non point source emissions of OCP-contaminated particulates by wind and stormwater erosion that could be generated during the implementation can be minimized with appropriate erosion controls. These controls would ensure compliance with Florida air pollution and water pollution control regulations.

5.2.6.1.3 Long-Term Effectiveness and Permanence

This alternative is effective and permanent under the assumption that COPCs are virtually immobile in site soils, and would eventually naturally attenuate under anaerobic conditions.

5.2.6.1.4 Short-Term Effectiveness

This alternative is effectiveness in the short term if restricted to fields where concentrations do not exceed the target levels by more than 30%. Protection to the avian populations, community and workers can been achieved with no adverse environmental effects. It is possible that this technology can be effective and capable of achieving COPC reductions greater than 30%, however, greater percent reductions would have to be demonstrated via a properly designed pilot test.

5.2.6.1.5 Implementability

The limited testing of this alternative conducted in the NSRA indicates that implementation may be difficult in site soils. Nonetheless, MACTEC understands that these limitations can be overcome if the correct equipment is used.

5.2.6.1.6 Cost

The estimated cost of this alternative is approximately \$2,600 per acre. The basis for this cost estimate is provided in Appendix B. Amortization of purchased equipment over larger acreage

would significantly alter the costs. This estimate assumes no credit for salvage value of the equipment.

Cost Uncertainties and Pilot Scale

Calculations of cost include the capital equipment, mobilization, labor and fuel, and equipment spares. Despite experience with estimating productivity (acres per hour or day) for a given step or equipment, there are so many unknown factors that it would be at best an approximation. A well equipped test over 75-100 acres is needed in the NSRA to gain confidence. The plow planned for use for the next pilot study will be a 5 bottom plow which has been cut back to a 3 bottom. Once the plow and the proper horsepower of the tractor are matched up and the slippage is under control, an average of two acres per hour (for Phase 3 inversion) is judged possible, barring other unforeseen circumstances. There are other unknowns, such as the presence of stumps, rocks, frequency and time lost due to instances of the tractor and plow stuck, efficiency of turns. Very little vertical profile data exists for much of the NSRA below the 0-1 ft depth. Additional service and maintenance equipment would also be needed to keep all the equipment operational.

If Phases 1 through 3 can be done without any type of root plowing, productivity of an average from 10 acres to 30 acres per day may be possible. Based on the likely site preparation steps, an overall cost of \$1,500 to \$2,600 per acre is used for FS costing. After a larger pilot effort is completed, firm estimates can be done based on sound data. Because of the size of the project it is anticipated the equipment could be purchased. Therefore, the actual cost will depend greatly on the total number of acres. Further, when the project is complete, cost could be reduced further by sale of the used equipment.

A pilot to refine this technique is estimated to require approximately 4 weeks to process approximately 75-100 acres using the above equipment and a crew of four to five experienced operators. Depending on the equipment furnished by the District (tractors) versus purchase of attachments, this pilot effort is estimated at \$325,000-\$410,000. Assuming adequate soil inversion, the pilot field(s) areas would require no further action. Deeper inversion depths to 3 ft are also possible.

5.2.7 Vertical Blending

Vertical blending involves complete mixing of the 0-12 inch and 12-24 inch depth intervals. Since the lower intervals contain ten percent or less OCP contamination than the surface layer, a theoretical 45 percent reduction in surface exposure concentration is possible. Deeper blending of 0-3 ft depth soils might be expected to achieve even higher reduction, possibly as high as 68%.

Vertical blending can be accomplished by several techniques using agricultural or forestry heavy equipment. The commonly accepted approach utilizes large offset disk plows and multiple pass

working of the soil to effect the homogenization. The shallow tilling demonstration previously conducted in the NSRA is a partial example of tilling that resulted in a 21 +/- 8 percent reduction despite weekly tilling for six months. This method would benefit from use of much larger equipment with disks as large as 38 inches.

Historically, the NSRA tilling has primarily involved the upper 8 inches of soil. The presence of deeper roots, rocks, and even limestone could adversely impact soil inversion or deep tillage equipment. Because of the time and uncertainties involved in implementing this alternative, other methods were researched. An alternate approach investigated involves the use of diesel powered special towed reclamation equipment called the Rotoclear. This equipment is used in mining and forestry for pipeline and right-of-way clearing, reclamation services drainage reconstruction, topsoiling, revegetation, and rangeland improvement (Personal Communications, W. Erickson, 2004) One such HMI application involved the mixing of lime into the top four feet of acidic mine tailing soils.

Based on initial evaluation, Rotoclearing is a unique land clearing and habitat management tool that may be able to effectively aid in achieving site specific goals in portions of the NSRA. The Rotoclear machine, manufactured by Madge Rotoclear, Calgary Canada, uses a rotating drum with 56 cutting teeth to shred or chip into mulch, and mix. Drum sizes and weights are available; speeds may reach 350 rpms. The machine has incorporated up to 125 tons/acre of woody plant materials processed plant materials into soil to a maximum depth of 9 inches, but can be adjusted to a maximum depth of 18 inches. Larger drums would be required to reach lower depths

Uses have included mining, pipeline operations, pre-stripping brush incorporation, mulch substitute, soil amendment incorporation, and as an alternate revegetation method and for erosion repair. In forestry, uses have included mulching slash, windfall or stumps (below ground level) without burning, seedbed preparation, right-of-way management, road, powerline and pipeline easement development and maintenance. In waste remediation and hydrocarbon landfarming the Rotoclear is used to rapidly incorporate organics/nutrients and improve aeration. The technique provides a highly controlled method for improving/rejuvenating wildlife habitat associated with soil, alleviates compacted soils, Incorporates organic materials and amendments (18 inch maximum depth), and aerates soil stimulating microbial activity. (Personal Communications, Carlson, 2004, Habitat Management, Inc.; Madge Rotoclear Manufacturing, 2004).

The Rotoclear is pulled by a large farm type tractor or bulldozer (D-7 or D-8 size machine). Productivity is primarily dependent upon cover vegetation type, size, soil mixing depth, soil type and terrain. Rotoclear production rates reportedly range from approximately 0.5 acres per hour in heavier stands to 2.5+ acres per hour in low-density shrublands/grasslands. Because this equipment has not been used in the NSRA, and mixing efficiency may be moisture affected, field trials are necessary.

5.2.8 Technical Criteria Analysis

This subsection provides the technical criteria analysis of the vertical blending alternative compared against the six criteria in Table 5-1.

5.2.8.1 Protection of Avian Populations

This technology is protective in portions of the NSRA. The limits of its applicability relate to the concentrations of COPCs and the depth of the soil profile available for vertical blending. Consequently it is expected to be protective in areas where concentrations of COPCs exceed the target levels by less than 50%, and may also be effective in areas with slightly higher concentrations of COPCs if the thickness of the soil profile available for blending is more than 2 ft.

5.2.8.2 Compliance with Regulatory Requirements

This alternative complies with regulatory requirements in areas where it is effective, as discussed in the previous paragraph (protectiveness).

5.2.8.3 Long-Term Effectiveness and Permanence

This technology is effective and permanent in portions of the NSRA as previously described.

5.2.8.4 Short-Term Effectiveness

This technology is effective immediately in those portions of the NSRA where it may be applied, as previously described.

5.2.8.5 Implementability

This technology is readily implementable using commercially available modified rock trenching equipment. Such equipment is currently being used in New Jersey on agricultural soils.

5.2.8.6 Cost

The estimated cost for vertical soil mixing is \$2,700 per acre pending further information. The basis for this cost estimate is provided in Appendix B.

5.2.8.7 Horizontal Blending

Horizontal blending is a combination of minimum excavation – earthmoving and vertical blending techniques that takes into account specific NSRA field locations and conditions. This option is assumed to only applicable when adjacent fields have highly disparate OCP concentrations, and where a composite combination of the surface soils from the two would result in a product that meets the required minimum reduction for both. These conditions are size-volume and soil TOC dependent
5.2.8.8 Technical Criteria Analysis

This subsection provides the technical criteria analysis of the isolation/containment alternative compared against the six criteria in Table 5-1.

5.2.8.8.1 Protection of Avian Populations

This technology is protective in portions of the NSRA. The limits of its applicability relate to the availability of clean soil on an adjacent parcel.

5.2.8.8.2 Compliance with Regulatory Requirements

This alternative complies with regulatory requirements in areas where it is effective, as discussed in the previous paragraph (protectiveness).

5.2.8.8.3 Long-Term Effectiveness and Permanence

This technology is effective and permanent in portions of the NSRA as previously described.

5.2.8.8.4 Short-Term Effectiveness

This technology is effective immediately in those portions of the NSRA where it may be applied, as previously described.

5.2.8.8.5 Implementability

This technology is readily implementable using commercially available technologies.

5.2.8.8.6 Cost

The estimated cost for this alternative is \$6,100 per acre. The basis for this cost estimate is provided in Appendix B.

5.2.9 In Situ Treatment

Landfarming and bioremediation are the retained technologies considered under this option. Both technologies are similar as relates to implementability, however depending on the organic content of the soil, OCP concentrations, and required percent reduction, one technology would be more suitable than the other.

5.2.9.1 Landfarming

Landfarming as an option envisioned for possible use in the NSRA, incorporates physical site preparation and tilling techniques with introduction of various bio and/or chemical treatment soil amendments (liquid fertilizers, buffers, etc.), and moisture control to initiate and accelerate *in situ* biodegradation of OCPs. The technology results in the destruction of COPC mass, and consequently is highly rated with respect to long term effectiveness and permanence.

5.2.9.2 Technical Criteria Analysis

This subsection provides the technical criteria analysis of the *in situ* treatment alternative compared against the six criteria in Table 5-1.

5.2.9.2.1 Protection of Avian Populations

This alternative, if properly implemented, is protective of the avian populations because it will reduce or eliminate exposure to the COPCs. If flooding cycles are part of the anaerobic-anobic treatment, care must be taken to control run-on and run-off impacting the avian food chain.

5.2.9.2.2 Compliance with Regulatory Requirements

This alternative is expected to be compliant with all regulatory requirements.

5.2.9.2.3 Long-Term Effectiveness and Permanence

This alternative, as all the other alternatives which incorporate reduction of COPC mass by treatment, is permanent and effective over the long term.

5.2.9.2.4 Short-Term Effectiveness

This alternative is effective in achieving the RAOs in the short term.

5.2.9.2.5 Implementability

This alternative is readily implemented with available technologies, however, pilot testing is required. For any of the treatments that amend the soil with nutrients or carbon source, there is a need to demonstrate that the NSRA soils truly are deficient or need optimization of either carbon or nutrients, and to verify the other environmental conditions at the NSRA such as oxidation reduction potential that may be limiting the natural attenuation of OCPs.

5.2.9.2.6 Cost

The estimated cost of this technology is \$18,000 per acre, and is highly variable depending on degree of reduction needed, acreage, and time. The basis of this cost estimate is provided in Appendix B.

5.2.10 Bioremediation

5.2.10.1 In Situ Bioremediation (DaramendTM)

5.2.10.1.1 Rationale

Pesticides persist in the environment because the conditions necessary for their biodegradation are not present or the microorganisms capable of their biodegradation may not be present at the contaminated site. At some sites the right consortia of microorganisms necessary for their biodegradation may be present, but biodegradation may not occur due to unsuitable environmental conditions such as nutrient shortage, unfavorable pH or toxic concentrations of the contaminants of interest or metals. Many laboratory and field studies have provided evidence that

oxidized organic compounds such as chlorinated pesticides degrade rapidly under anaerobic conditions (Clark, 2003; Fracas, 2000; Allen, 1999; Adventus, 2004; Battelle, 2003; Portier, 1989). Numerous efforts have also demonstrated the efficacy of biostimulation of in situ biodegradation of oxidized organic compounds using commonly available products (USEPA, 2001; Neil, 2004; Lang, 2004). Examples of these processes include PLANTECO's Surface Application and Mobilization of Nutrient Amendments (SAMNA) approach [patent pending] which uses preferred amendments that include agricultural wastes and compost to treat contaminated soil and groundwater *in situ*. Typically, the amendments will also include bulking agents, such as grass, sawdust, peat and liquid carbon and electron sources. The liquid amendments also improve the accessibility (bioavailability) of the strongly sorbed DDT and PAHs to the soil microorganisms. Indigenous microorganisms consume the available oxygen and the amended soil quickly becomes anaerobic. Under anaerobic conditions, chlorinated pesticides have been shown to undergo reductive dechlorination and mineralization to CO2. Over the course of treatment, moisture, organic matter, inorganic compounds, pH and temperature are all monitored. SAMNA is similar to other competing bioremediation enhancing techniques (e.g., DARAMEND, XENOREM, SABRE) used for bioremediation of biodegradable organic compounds. In situ bioremediation of chlorinated pesticides in soils can be achieved in less than 24 months using SAMNA.

The maximum concentration of COPCs at the site in question is about an order of magnitude less than other sites where *in situ* bioremediation has been applied. The quantitation of the COPCs in g/kg of organic carbon would need to be converted to g/kg of soil to directly compare carbon normalized data with published data from other sites. Depth of treatment and degree of reduction in any *ex situ* treatment would be done on a field specific basis. Partially treated soils could either be blended with other soil, covered, or possibly simply left as a soil cap. However, testing of the treated soil would be required to verify that changes in organic carbon or other characteristics still allow use for capping.

Other chlorinated pesticides have been identified in the site soil. Baseline characterization of the site will precede treatability studies and pilot field tests where such data does not already exist. Application sequence includes:

Field Pilot Test (*In Situ* Bioremediation – approximately nine months)

- Treat one acre of site with selected amendment
- Establish restoration rate for selected amendment under field conditions
- Determine moisture application rate for the region of Florida
- Revegetate restored pilot test site with local indigenous plants

Design and Full Scale Implementation (*In Situ* Bioremediation)

- Use pilot-scale test data to design full-scale remedy plus cost
- Install technology on applicable portions of the entire site

- Use conventional earth moving equipment to amend the soil with selected amendment
- Install or provide water application system

Operation and Maintenance (*In Situ* Bioremediation)

- Biweekly maintenance of treated plots
- Monitor site moisture, irrigation, pH, temperature, inorganics, etc.
- Monitor changes in concentration of pesticides of concern quarterly
- Reapply amendment and till if need be for up to 24 months.

The proprietary technology, XENOREM that was used to treat DDT and toxaphene at the Helena Chemical Company and SMC Tampa, Florida sites consisted of some of the same products in PLANTECO's SAMNA technology, except that XENOREM involves dig and treat by composting while SAMNA is applied *in situ*. DARAMEND and SAMNA use different products, but their method of *in situ* application is similar.

Based on the information from several Superfund sites, a few generalizations can be made regarding which technologies have seen the most use or success for the remediation of a particular class of pesticides. The organophosphate pesticides, including malathion and parathion appear to be best degraded by aerobic treatment such as composting and land spreading. The organochloride pesticides, including chlordane, DDT and toxaphene appear to require a cycling of aerobic and anaerobic phases in order for remediation to be most successful. The anaerobic phase reductively dechlorinates these pesticides while the aerobicphase completes the mineralization of the compound. White-rot fungi have also shown to be promising in the remediation of organochlorides.

5.2.10.1.2 Application of *In Situ* **DARAMEND Bioremediation on Pesticide Impacted Soils** Chlorinated organic compounds deposited to soil are bound, to varying degrees, as determined by their physical/chemical properties and those of the soil (e.g., pH, organic matter content and clay mineralogy). Biodegradation of chlorinated organic compounds in the environment is influenced by a complex variety of factors. When incorporated into a soil matrix the half-lives of these compounds will often be measured in years.

Adventus has developed a bioremediation technology suitable for application to soils impacted with chlorinated organic compounds. The technology, known as DARAMEND, enhances and promotes natural bioremediation rates by adjusting conditions in a soil matrix to stimulate biodegradation of target compounds. The key to the DARAMEND approach is the application of repeated and sequential anoxic and oxic conditions to the soil matrix (treatment cycles). Treatment results in the sequential reductive dechlorination and aerobic biodegradation of chlorinated organic compounds.

The general applicability of the technology has been verified by testing samples of soil collected from a number of sites throughout North America. To illustrate the effectiveness of DARAMEND treatment, two project summaries detailing results from field scale applications were evaluated. The technology has been patented for use on soils containing chlorinated organic pesticides and organic explosive compounds.

DARAMEND bioremediation is generally applied as a land treatment process. Soil and amendments are blended using a deep rotary tiller, driven by an agricultural tractor, with an effective penetration of two (2) feet. Tilling serves to incorporate amendments and homogenize and aerate the amended soil. The technology has been applied both to excavated soil placed in a land treatment unit and to surficial soil left in place (upper two (2) feet).

Standard DARAMEND bioremediation has been effective in reducing the concentration of DDT. To improve its effectiveness in degrading DDT metabolites, particularly DDD, the provider has made a number of improvements in the technology. DARAMEND has been applied to numerous sites impacted by various different chlorinated pesticides, including DDT and its metabolites, as well as other recalcitrant compounds such as toxaphene and chlordane. Most recently treatment was completed full-scale on the THAN Superfund Site in Montgomery, Alabama, where DDT, DDD and DDE concentrations were reduced substantially (Table 5-3).

Table 5-3.	Influence of Standard DARAMEND, THAN Superfund Site,
	Montgomery, Alabama.

	Concentration (mg/kg)								
Parameter	Initial Final								
DDE	48.6	11							
DDD	590	102							
DDT	216	27							
toxaphene	720	13							

Source: Adventus, 2004.

Adventus' studies with the Generation III DARAMEND bioremediation have proven it to be superior to all of the preceding applications, particularly when treating recalcitrant chlorinated organic pesticides. Table 5-4 provides a summary of the interim results obtained during an ongoing bench scale study looking at a few different modifications to the standard technology. Clearly, the Generation III applications have substantially improved performance over the standard technology. Of particular interest is the dramatic reduction seen in DDD concentrations.

DDD and, to a lesser extent DDE, both biodegradation intermediates of DDT, are commonly observed to transiently accumulate during the bioremediation of DDT contaminated soils. DDD in particular is generally considered very recalcitrant and resistant to biodegradation. Although standard DARAMEND bioremediation is able to cause substantial reductions in all DDT

0.32

< 0.3

biodegradation products, DDD has traditionally been the most difficult to remove and, in some cases, has been observed to accumulate using standard DARAMEND protocols. With the Generation III DARAMEND, we do not encounter this transient DDD accumulation, and we see rapid reduction of the DDD originally present in the impacted soil. Adventus theory is that although DDD will still result from the biodegradation of DDT, the conditions in the soil are such that DDD is also degraded very rapidly and does not result in any measurable transient accumulation.

DDD, DDT, and Toxaphene.										
		Concentrat	ion (mg/kg)							
Parameter	Initial Standard Gen. III (a) Gen. III (b)									
DDE	0.3	0.16	< 0.2	<0.2						
DDD	1.65	3.12	0.22	0.16						

1.58

14.70

< 0.2

< 0.3

Table 5-4.Influence of Standard and Generation III DARAMEND Bioremediation on DDE,
DDD, DDT, and Toxaphene.

Source: Adventus, 2004.

14.46

28.24

DDT

toxaphene

Figure 5-1 compares the results between a Generation III DARAMEND treatment and a standard DARAMEND treatment on more heavily contaminated pesticide-impacted soil from an industrial site in Louisiana. Results show that the concentration of total pesticides was reduced by 95%, from 277 mg/kg to 12.6 mg/kg, after 105 days of treatment using the Generation III technology. During the same period, only an 80% reduction in soil pesticide concentrations was achieved with the standard DARAMEND treatment.





5.2.10.1.3 Treatment Cost

In general, bioremediation treatment costs are determined on a price per ton basis. To convert to price per acre, we have assumed an average depth of one foot and a soil bulk density of 1.0 ton/cubic yard. We have assumed this bulk density due to the relatively high organic matter content (Appendix B). For a large project such as Apopka, it is reasonable to expect the unit price for treatment might range between \$25 and \$40 per ton (\$40,300 to 64,500 per acre-ft), not including site delineation, site preparation, soil excavation (if required), confirmatory analysis, permitting or overall project management. Using the assumptions outlined above, each acre should contain approximately 1,613 tons of soil. Therefore, the cost estimate for typical source area full scale turnkey treatment ranges between about \$23,000 and \$36,000 per acre for removals as high as 99%.

5.2.10.1.4 Pilot Scale Demonstration

Prior to full scale treatment, an on-site pilot scale demonstration of the technology to verify its effectiveness with site soils would be performed on approximately 250 tons of surficial soil in place, assuming Adventus provides all amendments, equipment, and labor, would cost approximately \$100,000 to \$125,000. Pilot testing would be performed at worst case hotspots on the site.

Based on overall site conditions, landfarming or *in situ* bioremediation applications are potentially applicable on at least five to nine of fifteen fields totaling 793 to 922 acres. The cost of bioremediation to a depth of one foot is estimated to be \$16,700 to \$23,000 per acre to effect reductions needed as high as 68 percent. The presumably even lower cost for performing shorter, fewer, or less intense treatment cycles to provide less than 20 percent reduction are not well documented. The District intense tilling demonstration involving weekly tilling for six months achieved approximately 21 percent reduction, but did not involve a regime of amendments.

5.2.10.2 Technical Criteria Analysis

This subsection provides the technical criteria analysis of the *in situ* treatment alternative compared against the six criteria in Table 5-1.

5.2.10.2.1 Protection of Avian Populations

This alternative, if properly implemented, is protective of the avian populations because it will reduce or eliminate exposure to the COPCs.

5.2.10.2.2 Compliance with Regulatory Requirements

This alternative is expected to be compliant with all regulatory requirements.

5.2.10.2.3 Long-Term Effectiveness and Permanence

This alternative, as all the other alternatives which incorporate reduction of COPC mass by treatment, is permanent and effective over the long term.

5.2.10.2.4 Short-Term Effectiveness

This alternative is effective in achieving the RAOs in the short term.

5.2.10.2.5 Implementability

This alternative is readily implemented with available technologies.

5.2.10.2.6 Cost

The estimated cost of this technology is estimated to be \$24,100 per acre, but will be less for fields only requiring lower percent reduction and fewer or shorter cycles due to differences in the COPC matrices. The basis of this cost estimate is provided in Appendix B.

5.2.11 Ex Situ Treatment

The only technology considered under this option is *ex situ* chemical treatment (Soilsavers AOP).

Soil Savers specializes in *ex situ* chemical oxidation of organic contaminants contained in earth materials and as a contractor/technology company their experience includes both bench experience and full scale applications. The chemical oxidation process relies on the Soil FXTM treatment system which is comprised of the Water FXTM reactor that produces hydroxyl rich water that is used in combination with a number of different oxidizers, catalysts, reducers, acid and bases that are selected based on the contaminant of concern, soil matrix, moisture content, organic content, and remediation goal. Figure 5-2 shows generic process flow chart which describes the treatment process as follows:



Figure 5-2. Ex Situ Chemical Treatment Process Schematic

Soil Savers has experience treating a variety of soil types ranging from sand and clay to dredge material with high TOC. Six case histories are available which demonstrate the process aility to treat a variety of contaminants in a variety of soil types.

The Soilsavers process has treated over 500,000 tons of soil using chemical oxidation on over 100 *ex situ* chemical oxidation treatment projects. Full scale treatments range from recalcitrant manufactured gas plant wastes (with compounds such as benzo-a-pyrene), creosote, gasoline, crude oil and fuel oil.

The Soil FX^{TM} Treatment System has been used to treat a wide variety of contaminants *ex situ* including a wide variety of PAHs.

Soil Savers' research and development department regularly conducts bench tests on contaminated soils. Table 5-5 summarizes treatment efficiencies for a variety of chemicals of regulatory concern based on bench scale data which included OCPs.

Regulatory Constituent	Pretreatment Concentration	Post Treatment Concentration	Percent Reduction
1,2-dichloroethene	610	<4.4	>99%
2-methylnapthalene	43,000	40	>99.9%
4,4'-DDD	66	<6	>90%
4,4'-DDT	210	<6	>97%
aldrin	1,700	<190	>88.8%
benzo(a)pyrene	8,210	<190	>97%
benzo(g,h,i)perylene	6,070	<200	>97%
dibenzofuran	9,200	<37	>99%
dieldrin	160	<2	>99%
di-n-Butyl phthalate	3,300	300	91%
heptachlor	12,000	600	95%
heptachlor epoxide	200	430	79%
p-isoproplytoluene	700	170	98%
methoxychlor	130	<20	>84%
tetrachlorethene	4,500	43	99%
trichloroethene	180	<2.2	>88%
vinyl chloride	21	<2.2	>90%

Table 5-5. Bench Scale Performance Da	ata
---------------------------------------	-----

Source: Soilsavers, 2004.

Note: All results in mg/kg

Soil Savers does not have documented full scale field experience treating the pesticides of concern at the Apopka project including DDT, DDE, dieldren, chlordane and toxaphene.

However the above bench scale results that document oxidation of all of the pesticides of concern except toxaphene. Table 5-5 summarizes the bench scale treatment of DDD, DDT and dieldrin with reductions in 90% to 99% range. These concentrations are lower than those present at Apopka but they do demonstrate ability to achieve high percentage reductions at low concentrations.

Table 5-6 presents bench test results from earlier work than presented in Table 5-5, with starting concentrations similar to those found at Apopka except for DDT which are on the low side in the bench test.

ОСР	Pre Treat 1	Post Treat 1	Pre Treat 2	Post Treat 2
heptachlor	12,000	720	8,900	600
aldrin	1,700	<190	1,400	<190
heptachlor epoxide	1,900	430	2,000	560
dieldrin	9,000	2,900	7,300	3,900
4,4-DDE	2,600	800	2,200	990
4,4'-DDD	5,700	1,900	5,100	1,800
4,4 DDT	2,800	880	2,400	780
alpha chlordane	22,000	7,500	18,000	8,600
gamma chlordane	23,000	7,900	16,000	9,200

Table 5-6. FPM Pesticide Bench Results (mg/kg)

Source: Soilsavers, 2004.

Bench scale percent reductions range from 56% to 68% based on first round bench work. Subsequent bench tests and field applications have been achieving percent reductions greater than 90% and in many cases greater than 99% for recalcitrant compounds. The bench test process is used to determine the optimal combination of reagents relative to contaminant concentrations, remediation criteria and soil matrix.

Soil Savers does not have bench data for weathered toxaphene but is confident in its ability to oxidize this mixture. A brief review of the literature suggests that toxaphene will oxidize and is no more difficult to treat than many of the organic chemicals that Soil Savers has treated in the past. The real issue relates to the laboratory methodologies utilized to test the soils and a toxicological evaluation of the resulting treated soils. The process uses a variety of different oxidizers and reagents that can be modified for different environmental settings. For most all of the reagents microtox tests or other toxicological evaluations have been conducted on treated media. This issue is similar to the concerns regarding the proposed alum treatment when first considered. Bench tests would first address the most effective steps to oxidize the toxaphene and subsequent tests would evaluate the best combination of reagents versus the environmental issues.

The Apopka soil has a high TOC, high humate content and a moisture content of up to 40% by weight. Worst case percent reductions required to achieve the low dry weight wt criteria range from approximately 60% for dieldrin to 90% for DDT. The average required reduction is substantially less.

The total mass of contaminant requiring reduction will have a direct impact on the amount of oxidizer required and therefore the cost to treat. Based on experience treating a wide range of contaminants the per ton treatment cost (assuming the soil is excavated and stockpiled for treatment) is from a low of \$12/ton up to \$30/ton (\$19,400 to \$48,400 per acre assuming 1.0 tons/cu yd soil density) for the average percent reductions required on this project. This assumes that Soil Savers will dry the soil, screen out the large material, apply the reagents and stockpile the soil for testing by others. The difference in price is reagent cost. The greater the percent reduction and mass, the greater reagent doses required. Higher TOC will require more oxidizer to treat conversely the treatment criteria for soils high in TOC is also higher so the cost may not vary. Complicating the pricing is that Soil Savers has not been called upon to achieve low percent reductions (less than 75%). Typically 99% and greater reductions are required therefore through mixing; curing, drying and layered applications are required. In this case many of those steps may not be needed as the starting concentrations are required, and does not reflect lower possible costs for less intense treatment.

The low percent reductions may also indicate the application could be used in an *in situ* variation by tilling the reagents into the soil as a high degree of mixing may not be required. In a tilling scenario, where others are operating the tilling/mixing equipment, the costs can range from \$8/ton up to \$20/ton (\$12,900 to \$32,300 per acre).

Soil Savers would need to conduct a bench testing program to determine the optimal treatment scenario accounting for the *ex situ* treatment versus tilling and particularly the dry weight versus TOC weighted remediation goal. There is an existing bench scale facility in McKinney, Texas capable of handling all of the bench work including evaluating alum in combination with oxidation.

5.2.12 Soilsavers AOP *Ex Situ* Chemical Treatment

5.2.12.1 Technical Criteria Analysis

This subsection provides the technical criteria analysis of the *ex situ* treatment alternative compared against the six criteria in Table 5-1.

5.2.12.1.1 Protection of Avian Populations

This alternative, if properly implemented, is protective of the avian populations because it will reduce or eliminate exposure to the COPCs.

5.2.12.1.2 Compliance with Regulatory Requirements

This alternative is expected to be compliant with all regulatory requirements.

5.2.12.1.3 Long-Term Effectiveness and Permanence

This alternative, as all the other alternatives which incorporate reduction of COPC mass by treatment, is permanent and effective over the long term.

5.2.12.1.4 Short-Term Effectiveness

This alternative is effective in achieving the RAOs in the short term.

5.2.12.1.5 Implementability

This alternative is readily implemented with available technologies.

5.2.12.1.6 Cost

The estimated cost of this technology is \$28,000 to 34,700 per acre. The basis of this cost estimate is provided in Appendix B. Costs for lesser degrees of treatment have yet to be determined.

6.0 Comparative Analysis of Remedial Alternatives

Remedial alternatives for the NSRA soil contamination were developed and individually evaluated in Sections 4.0 and 5.0, respectively, using the seven technical evaluation criteria presented in Section 2.1. For comparative purposes, these criteria are grouped into the following categories:

- Threshold criteria
- Primary balancing criteria
- Modifying criterion

This section presents a comparison of remedial alternatives with respect to the threshold and primary balancing criteria. This comparison is intended to provide technical information to support selection of a preferred alternative. The modifying criterion consisting of stakeholder reviews (i.e., USFWS, FDEP) is more appropriately evaluated after review of this document. It is anticipated that the stakeholder's reviews will be accomplished at a later date.

6.1 Overall Approach to Comparative Analysis

Section 4.0, developed remedial alternatives to accomplish the RAOs identified for the soil contamination at NSRA. The threshold and primary balancing criteria identified above are used to streamline the comparison between alternatives, while ensuring compliance with the RAOs. Components of these criteria are described below.

6.1.1 Threshold Criteria

Because the selected alternatives must be protective to the avian populations, as well as comply with the regulatory requirements, the following threshold criteria are essential:

- Protection to the bird populations at will make the NSRA their permanent or temporary habitat
- Compliance with the regulatory requirements

An individual assessment of each alternative with respect to these criteria was presented in Section 5.1.

6.1.2 Primary Balancing Criteria

Primary balancing criteria consists of the following components:

- Long- term effectiveness and permanence
- Short-term effectiveness
- Implementability
- Cost

These criteria are used to provide an assessment of the permanence of each remedial alternative, while ensuring their implementability and cost-effectiveness. An individual assessment of each alternative with respect to these criteria was presented in Section 5.2. A comparative analysis of each of the alternatives using primary balancing criteria is presented in Section 6.2.

Comparative evaluation of cost will be based on the estimated cost per acre remediated. It is assumed that the upper foot of soil is to be remediated so 1 acre is equivalent to 1 acre-ft of soil which is approximately 900 tons.

6.2 Comparative Analysis

The following subsections present a comparison between alternatives for the 11 remedial alternatives capable of addressing the soils contamination at the NSRA using the six threshold and balancing criteria outlined above. Remedial alternatives are compared to each other in Section 6.2.1.

6.2.1 Comparative Analysis for Soil Remediation Alternatives at the NSRA

The alternatives discussed within this FS are identified as follows:

- Alternative A No action
- Alternative B Limited action
- Alternative C Island/peninsula construction
- Alternative D Bermed only containment of non-flooded areas
- Alternative E Soil capping and/or cover
- Alternative F Soil layer inversion
- Alternative G Vertical blending
- Alternative H Horizontal blending
- Alternative I Land farming shallow tilling with biological and/or chemical amendments
- Alternative J Bioremediation aerobic-anaerobic dechlorination
- Alternative K Soil reactor *ex situ* chemical treatment
- Alternative L Excavation and off-site landfill disposal

6.2.1.1 Comparison of Threshold Criteria

The following comparison is made between remedial alternatives that could be implemented to remediate the soil contamination at the NSRA with respect to two criteria:

- 1) Protection for the bird populations that will make the NSRA their permanent or temporary habitat, and
- 2) Compliance with the regulatory requirements.

6.2.1.2 Protection of Bird Populations at the NSRA

Soil contamination at the NSRA has been proven to constitute a risk to piscivorous bird populations when the soil comes in contact with surface water supporting fish habitat. All the alternatives presented in this FS, including Alternatives A and B, are protective of the piscivorous bird populations at the NSRA. Alternatives A, B, C, and D, are protective because these alternatives consist primarily in maintaining the fields drained, and under this condition bird exposure to COPCs is mitigated. Bird exposure to OCPs is primarily through the ingestion of fish contaminated with OCPs, and maintaining the fields in a dry condition will prevent the establishment of a fish habitat. However, the dry field condition is inconsistent with the wetland restoration objectives for the NSRA.

The remaining alternatives are also protective to the piscivorous bird populations at the NSRA because a field will not be flooded unless it has met the remediation target level. As fields are remediated and re-flooded, a more precise remediation target level may be developed which will then become the remediation target level for the remainder of the fields.

6.2.1.3 Compliance with Regulatory Requirements

All the alternatives presented in this FS comply with the chemical-specific regulatory requirements which include the SDWA, the ESA, the MBTA, and the BGEPA. Alternatives A, B, C, and D, comply with the chemical-specific regulatory requirements given that under these alternatives the soil will remain dry and the contaminated areas will not come in contact with the surface water, the District will be in compliance with the ESA, MBTA and the BGEPA. Periodic monitoring, will in the same way, determine whether the District is in compliance with the SDWA. The remaining of the alternatives also comply with the chemical-specific regulatory requirements since fields will not be flooded unless it has been proven that the degree of treatment has reduced the OCP soil concentration to levels in which it will not pose a risk to the bird habitat.

Alternatives A, B, C, and D, do not comply with location-specific regulatory requirements; specifically, they do not comply with the Lake Apopka Restoration Act, and as a consequence they do not comply with the CWA that drives the Lake Apopka Restoration Act. Although alternatives C and D tend to be inconsistent with the objective of the Lake Apopka Restoration Act, it is anticipated that they would be applied over such a small portion of the NSRA that the effect of this inconsistency will be *de minimus*.

The remainder of the alternatives comply with the Lake Apopka Restoration Act since the fields will be flooded and will revert to wetlands, which is of primary importance in the restoration of Lake Apopka.

Action-specific regulatory requirements do not apply to alternatives A and B. Action-specific regulatory requirements will apply to all the other alternatives during construction and implementation of the alternatives. Non point source emissions of OCP-contaminated particulates by wind and stromwater erosion that could be generated during the required construction can be minimized with appropriate construction site and long-term erosion controls. Action-specific regulatory requirements can be complied with equally by all the alternatives.

6.2.1.4 Comparison of Primary Balancing Criteria

A comparison was made between the remedial alternatives with respect to the following balancing criteria:

- 1) Long-term effectiveness and permanence;
- 2) Short-term effectiveness;
- 3) Implementability; and
- 4) Cost.

These criteria are discussed for each alternative within Section 5.2.

6.2.1.5 Long-Term Effectiveness and Permanence

Long-term effectiveness of the various alternatives is decreased in proportion to the magnitude of the residual risk. Reduction and *ex situ* treatment remove the possibility of residual risk by verified COPC destruction. Bioremediation is permanent but slightly less effective because it reduces the residuals in proportion to the depth and extent of application only, although further and accelerated attenuation is expected with time because of soil layer mixing. Soil covers and islands might be less permanent and effective because of the possibility of erosion uncovering remaining untreated contamination. Dikes and berms that leave the soils uncovered except for re-vegetation are even more susceptible to failure and the possibility of periodic but infrequent flooding. Soil inversion and vertical blending may be equally permanent but adequate. Soil flipping would bury the OCPs beyond reach, while blending would only reduce the surface exposure to lower acceptable values. Blending would lower concentrations of OCPs so that they do exceed thresholds, especially if deeper mixing involving clean soils is accomplished.

Not all the alternatives have the same degree of adequacy and reliability. Island construction is not considered as applicable for deeper flooding blocks. Soil covers would typically provide less coverage of the COPCs than proper soil inversion and might be breached by erosion after even periodic storm flooding. Bermed and uncovered areas would not allow re-flooding. Once accomplished, bioremediation controls are adequate and reliable for long-term controls because the OCPs will have been dechlorinated, but the *in situ* alternative is subject to the variability involved in monitoring large areas to confirm with analytical certainty that desired concentrations have been reached, and that pockets or deeper contamination will not impact the food chain after re-flooding.

6.2.1.6 Short-Term Effectiveness

All of the alternatives can be protective of the avian populations during implementation because the impacted fields would be kept in a non-flooded condition until monitoring verifies the field specific reductions have been accomplished. None of the alternatives involve processes that would have significant emissions, or transport of residual waste that could have an impact on the surrounding community. Workers implementing the construction alternatives would be protected adequately from chemical exposure during equipment operation and servicing by common Level D OSHA protection. Mechanical and fall or other injury risk due to very large scale heavy equipment operation in hot, wet conditions with subsurface roots, etc. can be addressed with adequate safety programs. Alternatives requiring chemical handling and application will require additional protection according to established protocols.

Time to achieve the RAOs on a field level is significantly different for the alternatives according to the amount of multi-pass surface preparation, and the time required for the chemical-biological treatment processes to occur. Island and cover or berm alternatives may process several acres per day. Deep plowing or inversion equipment have plowed 30 to 50 acres per day under some conditions, but productivity is expected to be far less under NSRA conditions. Physical soil manipulation alternatives will require relatively little monitoring to verify completion. Chemical treatment would be fast and a unit might process 1-2 acres per day but require time for staging and re-placement of soils after a few days of curing and confirmation sampling. Bioremediation performed in varying intensity cycles would require the longest time. Bio-treatment cycle lengths of 1 to over 150 days have been utilized on other OCP sites, with number of cycles varying from a few to over a dozen. Bioremediation times for individual fields may range from six months to several years.

6.2.1.7 Implementability

Island, soil cover, and berm isolation techniques have no significant construction issues. Off-site landfill disposal of soils in subject to availability of landfill capacity.

Vertical blending and soil inversion have been commonly applied for bringing lower soils to the surface in Texas (Personal Communications, Allen, 2004), and in Australia to depths of 3 meters, and have even reportedly been implemented in the US under flooded conditions to seal contaminated sediments below clean sediment (Personal Communications, USDA, 2004). Implementability is a matter of site preparation and use of proper equipment. Reliability of deep plowing will suffer if roots and wet conditions do not allow a constant speed – turning depth, or if the concentrations at depth are not as low as anticipated. Large scale efficiency under NSRA wet muck field conditions is essentially unknown because the demonstrations have so far been limited.

Ease of undertaking additional remediation, if necessary, varies significantly for several alternatives. Islands, berms, and soil cover can be repaired or replaced. Soil inversion is a nearly one-time procedure that can probably not be repeated more than once, and the second attempt would require a deeper turning depth to bring up clean materials from 2 to 3 feet to the surface. However, such failure of inversion, if it occurs, can easily be followed by sequential tilling to depths as deep as 3-4 ft or more with offset plows having larger 42 to 54 inch disks.

Bioremediation has been documented by various processes, but is relatively complex to control versus time, and some processes have experienced problems with achieving complete DDTx dechlorination, or have required volume increases due to the use of bulking agents. Full-scale application performance data on large acreage versus time is lacking.

Although bioremediation and chemical treatments may be expected to be effective based on relevant full-scale experience, most documented successful applications of these technologies have addressed different soil types and/or have had different remedial objectives. Typically these technologies have been applied to soils more typical of uplands, with lower moisture and organic content. To address these conditions, the application often must add moisture or organic material. Implementation in the NSRA's marsh soils would have distinctly different soil preparation and amendment requirements. It is not clear if these factors would improve or adversely affect implementability. Also, successful documented applications of bio and chemical treatment technologies were conducted at higher initial concentration and had lower (more stringent) remediation targets. These unique features of the NSRA RAOs are expected to make implementability easier. In any case, however, these technologies have not been demonstrated in an application similar to the situation in the NSRA, and this represents a relative disadvantage for these technologies. The processes would need adjustment to treat wet NSRA high TOC content soils. Chemical treatment in an *ex situ* reactor would provide the most complete soil contact for treatment but is mass based and non-selective; chemical demand will be exerted by the soil TOC and OCPs. Chemical treatment will be the most efficient on the lowest TOC soils requiring the least OCP reduction. Stated another way, chemical treatment is certain to reduce TOC and therefore produce product with greater leachability. These soils may not be as desirable for the future wetland use of the NSRA. Such soils would, however, be acceptable as clean cover materials for non-flooded areas.

Coordination with other agencies is assumed to be required for any alternative or approach, particularly those requiring demonstration and later confirmation monitoring prior to re-flooding of phased portions of the NSRA. None of the retained alternatives discussed herein are considered to have unusual or significantly different coordination requirements. Based on the analytical difficulties already experienced for different methods, it is assumed that resolution of issues related to confirmatory monitoring frequency, number, spacing, and precision and accuracy will be needed to avoid the possibility of rejection for re-flooding or required re-treatment if field samples are above negotiated target levels.

6.2.1.8 Cost

Actual costs for broad acreage remediation using any of the construction methods or the biological treatment methods are not well documented. While overall project costs are driven almost entirely by target levels and size of the acreage to be treated, field level application costs of the individual alternatives are driven by the underlying per acre unit cost assumptions. These assumptions are subject to a high degree of uncertainty with regard to productivity. For example, deep plowing –soil inversion has the lowest unit cost, but daily productivity could vary nearly an order of magnitude. For vertical blending and mixing, the possibility of single pass processing using Rotoclearing or trenching equipment under wet conditions has not been determined. Processing rates considered reasonable, commercially available, and using adequate sized equipment were used in costing.

The supporting cost documentation is contained in Appendix B. The rationale and methodology for estimating alternative costs was simplified to unit cost inputs per acre to allow multiple alternative cost comparisons applied to large broad acreage fields. Typical construction and agricultural costs for site preparation, soil manipulation, soil movement, soil compaction and stabilization, and cover or re-vegetation operations were assembled from Means Construction Guide (2004), and RACER (1999), National Construction Estimator (2004), and the Alabama Cost Estimator (2002); agriculture costs only.Vendors provided estimates for bioremediation and chemical treatment. Based on the non-flooded but wet site conditions, discussions with the District, and correspondence with previous site demonstration equipment operators, each alternative unit cost was built based on the required steps. For example, most of the soil manipulation isolation alternatives include site preparation, mowing, and tilling steps.

Unit costs per acre were applied to fields considered to be candidates for an alternative based on the OCP concentration, %TOC, size, field location, flooding depth, and characteristics of the adjoining fields. For each field the composite unit costs per acre for candidate alternatives were multiplied by the field acreage to arrive at the various technology application costs. The minimum cost for each field was then used to assemble the reduction group costs.

At the field level, each alternative represents a stand-alone-technology application. There are numerous possible combinations not costed for coupling partial treatment applications with other alternatives to reach the stated goals. Coupling is particularly applicable to highest concentration fields requiring the most complete treatment. An option might be to process part of the surface soil with *in situ* bioremediation or chemical treatment, then blend the product with the remainder of the surface soils. Chemical treatment is known to be more economical for lower TOC content soils. In lower contaminated areas requiring limited treatment, vertical blending might be augmented with a less intensive form of *in situ* bioremediation to provide accelerated achievement of target levels.

These costs are for the comparative technology implementation only, assume adequate access, and non-flooded conditions without additional roads, canals, ditches, or pumping and controls beyond what is currently provided by the District. No additional costs have been added to cover procurement, construction oversight, or monitoring beyond that required for process control.

6.2.1.9 Summary of Comparative Analysis for the Remediation Alternative

Table 6-1 presents a summary of the comparative analysis of the soil contamination remedial alternatives for the NSRA. The evaluation criteria presented within this table provide evaluation of the individual remedial alternatives in their ability to achieve the screening criteria. This summary table also supports the overall comparison of remedial alternatives to support the stakeholders acceptance process.

Figure 6-1 provides a map showing the field locations and corresponding lowest cost alternatives to meet the BETL. Figure 6-2 provides the same information for the more extensive area treatment needed to meet the CTL.

Table 6-2 presents minimum capital costs for the retained alternatives summarized by the percent reduction field groups. Not all alternatives are reasonably applicable to all fields, reduction levels.

As shown, the minimum cost estimated for BETL treatment of 2,207 acres in 17 fields is \$6,740,000 or approximately \$3,054 per acre. This minimum is based on unit costs and productivity considered conservative pending further phased demonstrations. For the CTL larger acreage of 6,915 acres, the minimum cost is estimated to be at least \$61,907,000 or approximately \$8,953,, per acre. The higher average cost is due to the need for higher degrees of treatment requiring higher cost technologies. If all the acreage could be treated with the lower average cost alternative following demonstrated proof of performance, the CTL minimum cost might be reduced significantly by as much as \$27,767,400 to approximately \$34,139,000.

Appendix B provides a more detailed summation of the costs and potential savings if isolation (inversion or mixing) techniques can be improved and substituted for acreage requiring greater than 20% reduction. This difference highlights the critical need for a robust pilot program to determine actual unit cost per acre for planning purposes. With practice, and due to the economy of scale for this size project, overall much lower cost per acre is potentially possible.





Table 6-1. Alternatives Relative Comparison Summary

Evaluation Factors and Criteria	No Action A	Limited Action B	Island Construction C	Soil Cover D	Berms Only E	Soil Layer Inversion F	Vertical Blending G	Horizontal Blending H	<i>In Situ</i> Landfarming I	Bioremediation J	Chemical Treatment K	Excavation/ Landfill L
AVIAN POPULATION PROTECTION	_			-	_	-	_	-	-			
Risk Eliminated	1	1	1	1	1	1	2	2	2	2	1	1
Risk Reduced or controlled	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Short-term Effects		1	1	1	2	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATORY	REQU	IREMEN'	TS									
Compliance with chemical-specific requirements	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Compliance with location -specific requirements	NO	NO	NO	NO	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Compliance with action -specific requirements	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
LONG-TERM EFFECTIVENESS-PERM	IANEN	NCE										
Magnitude of Residual Risk	6	6	5	5	5	3	4	4	2	2	1	1
Adequacy of Controls	5	5	4	4	4	1	2	3	2	2	1	1
Reliability of Controls	2	2	1	3	3	1	2	2	2	2	1	1
SHORT-TERM EFFECTIVENESS												
Protection of Avian Pop. During Restoration	NA	NA	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Protection of Community During Restoration	NA	NA	NA	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Protection of Workers During Remedial Action	NA	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1

Table 6-1. Alternatives Relative Comparison Summary

Evaluation Factors and Criteria	No Action A	Limited Action B	Island Construction C	Soil Cover D	Berms Only E	Soil Layer Inversion F	Vertical Blending G	Horizontal Blending H	In Situ Landfarming I	Bioremediation J	Chemical Treatment K	Excavation/ Landfill L
IMPLEMENTABILITY												
Ability to Apply Technology	1	NA	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Reliability of Technology		1-										
	1	Monitor	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Ease of undertaking additonal Remedial												
Action if Needed	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Coordination with Other Agencies	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
COST												
Capital	2	2	3	4	3	1	1	2	3	4	5	6
O&M	3	3	1	2	1	NA	NA	NA	1	NA	NA	NA
			LIMITED ACREAGE								LIMITED ACREAGE	LIMITED ACREAGE

Source: MACTEC, 2004

Prepared by/Date: MLJ 9/10/04

Checked by/Date: WAT 9/10/04

Notes:

Relative Ranking - 1 is most protective, effective, etc., higher values are less. NA = Not Applicable

Target Level Basis and Reduction Levels	Field Group Acreage	No. Fields	Minimum Cost \$	Average \$/Acre (Minimum)	Maximum Cost \$	Comments
BEST ESTIMATE						
Reduction >50%						Pilot Location to determine
	173	2	\$1,421,606	\$8,219.08	\$17,628,314	if lower cost options feasible
20% < Reduction < 50%	614	3	\$1,608,333	\$2,621.34	\$14,182,027	
Reduction <20%						Soil Inversion
	1,420	12	\$3,710,077	\$2,611.98	\$35,792,592	Demonstration required
Total to Achieve Best Estimate						
Target Levels	2,207	17	\$6,740,016	\$3,054.03	\$79,317,975	
CONSERVATIVE ESTIMATE						
Reduction >75%						Soil Inversion
	254	4	\$2,068,772	\$8,446.73		Demonstration required
75% < Reduction >50%	3,529	22	\$49,589,830	\$14,051.02		
20% < Reduction < 50%						Demonstrate Vertical
	1,813	13	\$6,779,596	\$3,739.61		Blending
Reduction <20%	1,328	7	\$3,468,472	\$2,611.98		
Total to Achieve Conservative						
Estimate Target Levels	6,915	46	\$61,906,670	\$8,952.50		

 Table 6-2.
 NSRA Soil Restoration Overall Alternatives Cost Summary

Source: MACTEC, 2004

Prepared by/Date: EMK 9/10/04

Checked by/Date: WAT 9/10/04

Alternative	Function	Remedial Action - Technology Description	Composite (\$/acre Jul 2004 \$) *
А	No Action	No Action	Administrative in perpetuity
В	NO ACTOR	Limited Action	Administrative + Monitoring
С		Island construction (Non-flooded)	\$9,381
D		Soil Cover Capping (Non-flooded)	\$24,370
Е	Isolation/Containment	Berms or Dikes Alone (Non-flooded)	\$7,294
F	Technologies	Soil layer Inversion (0-2 ft)	\$2,612
G		Vertical Soil Blending (0-2 ft)	\$2,710
Н		Horizontal Soil blending (0-1 ft adjacent fields)	\$6,112
Ι	In situ Trootmont	Landfarming - In situ biostimulation /augmentation	\$17,982
J	In suu Treatment	Bioremediation-Anaerobic-aerobic reductive dechlorination	\$22,982
K	Er Situ Treatment	Soil reactor <i>in situ</i> Chemical Treatment (0-1 ft)	\$34,719
L	Ex Suu Treatment	Excavation and Off-site Landfill Disposal (0-1 ft)	\$118,560

Table 6-3. Lake Apopka NSRA Units 1 and 2 Soil Remediation - Earthmoving/Construction and Treatment Composite Unit Costs Summary

Source: MACTEC, 2004.

Prepared by/Date: EMK 9/10/04

Checked by/Date: WAT 9/10/04

* Includes soil clearing, preparation, vertical manipulation, movement, *in situ* or *ex situ* treatment, replacement, compaction, stabilization, and cover elements to the extent required for each different alternative - See Appendix B.

These costs are based on rates from the National Construction Estimator, 2004, Racer 1999 (Means) and the Alabama Cost Estimator, 2002 (agricultural costs) updated to July 2004 dollars.

7.0 Conclusions and Recommendations

7.1 Conclusions

The ZDWCD Units 1 and 2 consist of 70 farm field units, covering approximately 9,900 acres. Within this area, soils have been contaminated by historical use of OCPs. It has been determined that re-flooding these fields, in 1998, contributed to the death of 676 birds in 1998-1999, after the birds ate fish that accumulated pesticide residues in their tissues. The OCPs most likely to have contributed to the bird mortality event of 1998-1999 were chlordane (total), DDE, DDTx (sum of DDD, DDE, and DDT), dieldrin, and toxaphene. These are the COPCs.

These COPCs are very persistent and immobile in site soils from 0-12 inches in depth, due, in part to the high organic carbon content of the soils, which averages 36% by weight. The COPCs are strongly associated with soil organic carbon, and the steady state concentration of OCPs in bird tissue appears to be directly related to the carbon-normalized concentrations of the COPCs (e.g., mg of toxaphene per kg of organic carbon), not the rate of exposure. The District has developed a range of estimates of target levels for each of the COPCs in soil on a carbonnormalized basis. The BETL represents the Districts best estimate of a carbon-normalized concentration of each COPC in soil that could be left in place during wetland restoration without resulting in toxic effects to protected birds. These concentration targets were prepared to assist MACTEC's analyses and are preliminary and subject to change. Insofar as the District continues to conduct research on the relationship between levels of pesticides in soil and pesticide exposure by piscivorous birds, there is some uncertainty in the final soil target levels that will be selected as protective. Therefore, the District also requested that this FS consider CTLs that might be selected after completion of ongoing research. The range between the CTLs and BETLs represents a reasonable range of potential remedial action objectives for soils to protect piscivorous birds under the wetland restoration land use scenario.

The 70 farm field units were the basic building blocks used in this FS, representing an appropriate exposure unit for piscivorous birds, and an appropriate unit for considering alternative remedial actions. The District has previously established that concentrations within these fields are relatively homogeneous, but may be quite different from surrounding fields that had different owners. For each of the 70 farm field units, a best estimate and a conservative estimate of the carbon-normalized concentration of each of the COPCs was calculated. The best estimate exposure concentration is the average value observed on each field. The conservative estimate is the upper 95% confidence limit of the average, or the maximum concentration, whichever was smaller. Limited soil profile data indicates little contamination in the 12-24 inch or 24-36 inch depth soil intervals.

The uncertainty regarding potential remediation target levels, as well as the uncertainty in knowing exactly what concentrations exist in the NSRA now, were expressly considered by evaluating potential remedies across the above-described range of potential remediation levels and the range of potential exposure concentrations. The best estimate soil concentrations were compared to the BETLs to identify the most probable degree of remediation that may be required on each field. On the other hand, comparison of the conservative estimate of the concentration with the CTL is expected to produce an upper bound estimate of the magnitude of remediation that may be required that may be required in order to restore these lands to a wetland function.

A field by field comparison of best estimate soil concentrations to BETLs (see Table 4-3) indicated that 2,200 acres in 17 fields of the 9,900 acre study area exceeded the BETLs. Of these 2,200 acres, however, 1,500 exceeded the BETL by less than 20%. In the conservative analysis, however, it is possible that 6,900 acres in 46 fields exceed the CTLs, representing a worst case estimate of the acreage needing remediation (Table 4-4). It was further determined that toxaphene was the critical contaminant for more than 70% of the acreage requiring remediation under either the best estimate or worst case scenarios. In other words, toxaphene exceeds its target level by a greater ratio than the other COPCs, and requires the greatest percentage reduction to achieve target levels in more than 70% of the fields requiring remediation. Chlordane was not identified as the critical contaminant on any field.

The FS identified 24 remedial technologies and process options that might be applicable to one or more fields on the site. After an initial screening, these were assembled into 12 remedial alternatives (Table 6-1). These alternatives included no action; a limited action alternative relying principally on MNA; several alternatives whose objective was to physically isolate the COPCs by soil manipulation to prevent exposure by birds (without removing the COPCs from the NSRA); and alternatives that would destroy the contaminant mass by biological treatment, either *in* or *ex situ*. The initial screening step clarified that some lower cost technologies may be available that would be capable of remediating some fields (e.g., the fields with relatively low percentage reductions required), but could not be relied on to remediate all the fields, particularly those where much higher percentage reduction of COPC concentrations were required.

It was assumed that any of the alternatives could be applied independently or in varying degrees to any of the farm field units requiring remediation, and that there was no need to select only one remedial alternative. The alternatives were evaluated on a field by field basis. To accomplish this efficiently, the fields were separated into groupings based on the percentage reduction in concentration required for the critical contaminant. Location-specific factors were also considered: fields at higher elevations near the land-side boundaries of NSRA may be easier to isolate than fields at lower elevations that would be inundated 2 or more feet under water.

A few fields are so contaminated that the only cost effective solution may be to isolate them, by building islands or peninsulas, or constructing earthen berms, that could prevent surface water

from coming in contact with the contaminated soils and prevent formation of fish habitat. Such alternatives would reduce the acreage of wetland habitat that can be created in the NSRA, but the portion of the total NSRA area included in these high concentration fields is small enough (less than 2 percent) that excluding them from the wetlands would not significantly adversely affect the wetland and Lake Apopka restoration project. These fields could also be treated by *in situ* bioremediation or *ex situ* treatment technologies, thereby regaining their acreage as potential wetlands, though at a considerably greater cost.

It was determined that attractive low cost alternatives may be applicable to a great majority of the acreage. These include soil layer inversion, and vertical blending (tilling), either of which may be enhanced by the addition of amendments that promote COPC degradation. While these technologies appear to be attractive, with the potential to remediate most of the contaminated area, they have not yet been demonstrated to be effective in achieving contaminant concentration reductions much greater than 30%, in limited testing conducted in the NSRA. Even at this level of treatment, they may be useful over large portions of the NSRA. They present a reasonable promise, however, of achieving even greater applicability, and, given their low cost per acre, further pilot testing of these alternatives definitely represents a worthwhile investment.

The more intensive and expensive alternatives (amendments, *ex situ* and *in situ* treatments) would likely be removed from further initial implementation based upon estimated costs, at least pending further testing on the far less costly alternatives. If the less costly alternatives do not prove to be successful, the more costly alternatives could be investigated further. The use of inversion and blending alternatives would not preclude the use of further biological treatment or excavation.

Assuming that the BETLs are sufficiently conservative, and that best estimate concentration levels are accurate, the total cost to remediate Units 1 and 2 of the NSRA, using a combination of technologies (Figure 6-1), is estimated to be \$6,700,000. On the other hand, if it is subsequently determined that the BETLs are not sufficiently protective, and the CTLs were adopted, the estimated minimum remediation cost for Units 1 and 2 of the NSRA could be as high as \$62,000,000 (Figure 6-2 and Table 6-2). Potential cost savings of at least \$976,000 are projected if pilot tests are successful, and further savings are increased in proportion to the acreage treated by lower unit cost isolation techniques, and the degree to which inversion or blending isolation can be further proven for higher percent reduction. If CTL level treatment of 6915 acres is needed, there is an enormous potential savings incentive of approximately \$42,400,000, provided isolation can be applied to the 3529 acres of fields needing 50% to 75% reduction. In any case MACTEC is fairly confident of the range of potential remediation costs. It should also be noted that these alternative cost estimates are in 2004 dollars but do not include other or related District internal costs associated with management of the NSRA program.

It is clear there is some uncertainty in the overall estimated cost. This is caused, primarily, by uncertainty in the ultimate target levels. It is expected that this uncertainty will be reduced or eliminated by flooding areas with relatively low concentrations, monitoring the outcome, and using this information to refine the estimated remediation levels.

It is anticipated that wetland restoration at the site should proceed in phases, with the least contaminated areas re-flooded first, then monitored to verify that the OCP levels in that section did not cause adverse effects, then proceed to re-flood areas with somewhat higher concentrations if adverse effects of the earlier phases are minimal. Using this process, tentative estimates of acceptable soil concentrations can be verified in the field. This experimental approach has been initiated by monitoring fish tissue and bird eggshell thinning on the Duda Farms property, a portion of the NSRA that was reflooded in 2002. On that parcel, concentrations of toxaphene in fish tissue have consistently been much less than the threshold concentration of 4.3 mg/kg, wet weight, which is consistent with the low soil concentrations that were observed on that parcel, but also consistent with the bioaccumulation factors that support the BETLs. These results suggest that the District bioaccumulation factors are consistent with full scale re-flooding results, and thus the BETLs are more accurate than the CTLs, and may be sufficiently conservative to guide remediations.

7.2 Recommendations

This sequential approach has already been initiated by re-flooding Duda Farms, and the District expects to continue by re-flooding another area with relatively little contamination, the Sand Farm to the north of the Duda Farms. Based on the analysis conducted in this FS, the next recommended area for re-flooding is FB 1, followed by FBs 2, 3, and 4. There are no fields within FBs 1 through 4 that exceed the BETLs. These could be reflooded, with monitoring, restoring 2,200 acres of wetland near the lake's north shore.

On a parallel track, pilot studies may be conducted to determine the most cost-effective methods for remediating 400 acres at Lust Farms X ZSE-A and Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I parcels in FB 6. These are the only two parcels in FB 6 that exceed the BETLs and they represent only 30% of its area. Accelerated testing of remediation technologies on these fields would permit the accelerated restoration of an additional 1,300 acres in FB 6.These fields would be most appropriate for pilot testing the soil layer inversion technology, and/or other promising technologies. Once these technology demonstrations are completed, and taken to full scale, FB 6 would be next in sequence for flooding, contingent on the results of continuing monitoring in Duda Farms, and FBs 1 through 4. Figure 7-1 shows this phased approach. Rigorous and well-maintained pilot testing should be considered for the following technologies:

- Soil layer inversion,
- Vertical blending and

• Use of either of these technologies in combination with the addition of amendments that would stimulate biodegradation.

MACTEC intends to begin working on a letter report which would better define pilot testing or treatability study parameters for these technologies.

An area of possible promise especially for use as an interim measure, is water management. Water is currently being pumped to keep fields drained. However, water level and duration manipulations could also be utilized in flooded fields: to minimize habitat for the most sensitive species (e.g. flood field at depth too deep for wood storks), and prevent or minimize fish colonization or bioaccumulation of OCPs in fish to critical levels through intermittent drawdowns. Such manipulations would be orchestrated to minimize adverse exposure through timing/scheduling, duration, and depth changes. Although pumping would still be necessary, these types of habitat manipulations still provide some water recharge benefit. These processes could be used in concert with stated technologies of berm or ditch and canal construction or perhaps more appropriately as an interim measure for select FBs while pilot testing and other activities proceed.

Temporary flooding would need to be managed in a way not to increase the water and phosphorus loading back to the lake. In addition, the flooding and especially drying of fields would be a significant attractor for many birds and especially wood storks. High water levels can discourage birds, but even well timed drawdowns could attract piscivorous birds to the site. Changing water levels would have to be done with care on any fields where unacceptable risk from OCPs still exists, to insure adequate risk management during implementation.

This tactic of re-flooding areas with relatively low concentrations, monitoring, pilot testing remedial technologies in FBs with small fractions of their area requiring remediation, and thereafter remediating such FBs, could quickly restore 3,500 acres, or 35% of the study area to wetland function.

FB 6 was selected as the most promising area for pilot and full scale testing of remedial approaches primarily because the portion of the flood block that may require remediation is small (approximately 30%). Thus, a limited investment in remedial action can generate a large benefit in wetland restoration acreage. This principle should be useful in guiding subsequent field remediation sequencing schedules.

Finally, MACTEC recommends that the District discuss this process and recommended sequence with the USFWS, NRCS, FDEP and other stake holders.



aeg/2004/projects/sim.....-__opka fs/presentation/lake apopka - presentation figures.ppt 03/04 CH

8.0 References / Bibliography

Adventus Americas Inc. July 2004. Correspondence: Florida FS – Adventus Followup.

- Adventus Americas Inc. July 2004. Correspondence: Generation III DARAMEND Tech Sheet.
- Adventus Americas Inc. June 2004. Correspondence: Application of *In Situ* DARAMEND Bioremediation on Pesticide Impacted Soils.
- Adventus Americas Inc. June 2004. http://www.adventus.us
- Adventus Americas Inc. June 2004. Third Generation DARAMEND Treatment for Pesticides.
- Adventus Americas Inc. May 2004. Oceta Environmental Technology Profiles DARAMENDTM Bioremediation Technology. Catalogue #01-010H. http://www.oceta.on.ca
- Adventus. 2004. DARAMEND[®] and TERRAMEND[™] Bioremediation Technologies. Solid-Phase Treatment of Soils and Sediments Impacted with Organics.
- Adventus. 2004. Enhanced Bioremediation of Pesticide-Impacted Sediment at the THAN Superfund Site, Montgomery AL.
- Adventus Americas Inc. 2004. Project: Bioremediation of Soil Containing Toxaphene and DDT Former Chemical Manufacturing Facility.
- Adventus Americas Inc. May 2004. Correspondence: Introducing Adventus' New EHCtm Technology.
- Adventus Americas Inc. 2004. Correspondence: Third Generation Daramend Treatment for Pesticides.
- Adventus Americas Inc. 2004. Project: Full-Scale Bioremediation of Pesticide Impacted Soil/Sediment T.H. Agriculture & Nutrition (THAN) Superfund Site Montgomery, Alabama.
- Adventus Americas, Inc. June 2004. Correspondence: Bioremediation Technologies for Marine Sediments.
- Alabama Cost Estimator, 2002.
- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR). 2002. Toxicological Profile for DDT/DDE/DDD (Update). Atlanta, GA: US Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service.
- ATSDR. August 1996. Toxicological Profile for Toxaphene.
- ATSDR. May 1994. Toxicological Profile for 4,4'-DDT; 4,4'-DDE; 4,4'-DDD
- ATSDR. April 1993. Toxicological Profile for Aldrin/ Dieldrin.
- ATSDR. April 1993. Toxicological Profile for Chlordane.
- Alberta Agriculture, Food and Rural Development. (July 2004). On-Farm Composting: Bioremediation / Soil Remediation. http://www.agric.gov.ab.ca
- Alleman, B.C. and Leeson A. 1999. Full-Scale Bioremediation of Chlorinated Pesticides. Bioremediation of Nitroaromatic and Haloaromatic Compounds. Columbus, OH: Battelle Press
- Allen H.L.; Mandel, R.M.; Torres, M.; Crouse, D.G.; and Miller, T.F. 1999. Anaerobic Bioremediation of Toxaphene-Contaminated Soil. Phytoremediation and Innovative

Strategies for Specialized Remedial Applications. A. Leeson and B.C. Alleman, Eds. Columbus, OH: Batetelle Press.

AstraZeneca Canada, Inc. 2004. The Xenorem[™] Process to Treat Toxaphene Contaminated Soil

- Anderson, J.A.; Kruger, E.L.; and Coats, J.R. 1994. Enhanced Degradation of a Mixture of Three Herbicides in the Rhizosphere of a Herbicide-Tolerant Plant. Chemosphere 28: 1551-1557.
- Anderson, V.; Buckley, T.; Pflughoeft-Hassett, D.; and Stewart, A. January 2004. Instructions for Use of Fly Ash to Stabilize Soil in Livestock Facilities. University Of North Dakota Grand Forks; North Dakota State University ND Agricultural Experiment Station Carrington Research Extension Center; Energy & Environmental Research Center. AS-1258
- Anon. 1993. Discovery may reduce soil damage. Biotechnology Business News, 3, (68), 15 16. (BA)
- Anon. 1993. Grace Dearborn to commercialize soil bioremediation process. Biotechnology News, 13, (15), 10. (BA)
- Anon. 1993. Mycotech Completes Financing. Biotechnology News, 13, (28), 10. (BA)
- Anon. 1994. Biotal decontamination process. Biotechnology Business News, 4, (79), 20. (BA)
- Anon. 1994. Fungi cleans up contamination. European Chemical News, 61, (1614), 29. (BA)
- Anon. February 19 1996. Envirogen has PCB Remediator. Chemical Marketing Reporter, 249, (8), 44. (BI)
- Anon. January 1992. Dirt Alert 2: Thermal Desorption, Proven on VOCs, goes for the heavyweights. Environment Today, 3, (5). 30. (BI)
- Anon. June 1992. Groundwater Technology, Inc. Announces Marketing Agreement for Fungal Remediation Technology and New General Manager. PR Newswire. (IA)
- Anon. October 16, 1990. Geosafe Receives First Hazardous Waste Removal Contract. PR Newswire. (IA)
- Anon. September 1991. Bioremediation Gets Vote of Confidence. Bioventure View, 6, (9), 22. (BI)
- AquaTerra Technologies. July 2004. Solidification / Stabilization. http://www.aquaterratch.com
- AstraZeneca Canada, Inc. 2004. The XenoremTM Process to Treat Toxaphene Contaminated Soil
- ATRA, Inc. 1997. Environmental Risk Assessment of a Lake Apopka Muck Farm Restoration. Tallahassee, Florida.
- ATRA, Inc. 1998. Comparison of Muck Farm Restoration Levels to Concentrations in Lake Apopka North Shore Restoration Area. Prepared for St. Johns River Water Management District, Palatka, Florida.
- Bachmann, A. 1993. Soil REMEDIATION at Schweizerhalle: A Case Study. Soil Environment, 1, 695 712. (CA)
- Barles, R.W.; Daughton, C.G.; and Hsieh, D. 1979. Accelerated Parathion Degradation In Soil Inoculated With Acclimated Bacteria Under Field Conditions. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 8, (A), 647 - 660. (PA)

P:\EEG\2004 -EEG\Projects\SJRWMD APOPKA FS\FS REPORT\Lake Apopka FS - Final (01 21 05).doc

- Bartol, T. 2004. Ecological Risk Assessments. May 18, 2004. Lake Apopka Avian Mortality Conference, St. Johns River Water Management District, Palatka, FL.
- Basili, G. 2004. Bird Use of the North Shore Restoration Area. Lake Apopka Avian Mortality Conference, May 18, 2004. St. Johns River Water Management District, Palatka, FL.
- Batelle. June 2003. Orlando In Situ & On-site Bioremediation Conference. Pesticides, Remediation of Wetlands, Sediments, and Lagoons, Landfarming, Biopiles, Composting, and Bioreactors Bioavailability Considerations and Contaminant Treatability Studies.
- Beck, A.J.; Wilson, S.C.; and Alcock, R.E. 1995. Kinetic Constraints On The Loss Of Organic Chemicals From Contaminated Soils: Implications For Soil Quality Limits. Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology, 25, (1), 1 - 43. (BO)
- Beck, P. 1996. Soil And Groundwater Remediation Techniques. Geoscience Canada, 23, (1), 22 - 40. (SC)
- Benazon, N. 1995. Soil Remediation: A Practical Overview Of Canadian Cleanup Strategies And Commercially Available Technologies. Hazardous Materials Management, 7, (5), 10. (EB)
- Bicki, T. and Felson, A.S. 1994. Remediation of pesticide contaminated soil at agrochemical facilities. Mech. Pestic. Mov. Ground Water, pp. 81 99. (CA)
- BioOne. July 2004. Residual Organochlorine Pesticides In Soils And Fish From Wetland Restoration Areas In Central Florida, USA. Wetlands. (2002) Issn: 0277-5212. vol. 22 Issue 4 pp 705-711. http://www.bioone.org
- Blus, L.J. 1982. Further Interpretation of the Relation of Organochlorine Residues in Brown Pelican Eggs to Reproductive Success. Environmental Pollution (Series A) 28:15-33.
- Blus, L.J.; Cromartie, E.; McNease, L.; and Joanen, T. 1979. Brown Pelican: Population Status, Reproductive Success, and Organochlorine Residues in Louisiana, 1971-1976. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 22(1-2):128-134.
- Blus, L.J.; Henny, C.J.; and Kaiser, T.E. 1980. Pollution Ecology of Breeding Great Blue Herons in the Columbia Basin, Oregon and Washington. Murrelet 61:63-71.
- Blus, L.J.; Neely, B.S. Jr.; Belisle A.A.; and Prouty, R.M. 1974. Organochlorine Residues in Brown Pelican Eggs: Relation to Reproductive Success. Environmental Pollution 7:81-91.
- Blus, L.J.; Neely, B.S. Jr.; Lamont, T.G.; and Mulhern, B. 1977. Residues of Organochlorines and Heavy Metals in Tissues and Eggs of Brown Pelicans, 1969-1973. Pesticide Monitoring Journal 11:40-53.
- Bott, S.C., Office of the General Counsel, USDA Commodity Credit Corporation, c/o Natural Resources Conservation Service (NCRS), Thirty Year Easement Deed with SJRWMD, CCC-1255, OMB No. 0578-0013, CCC-FL-Apopka, October 1996.
- Braune, B.M. and Norstrom, R.J. 1989. Dynamics of Organochlorine Compounds in Herring Gulls: III. Tissue Distribution and Bioaccumulation in Lake Ontario Gulls. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 8:957-968.
- Burken, J.G. and Schnoor, J.L. 1996. Phytoremediation: Plant Uptake Of Atrazine And Role Of Root Exudates. Journal of Environmental Engineering, 122, (11), 958-963. (CA)

- Butler, R.W. 1992. Great Blue Heron (Ardea herodias). From The Birds of North America, No. 25. Editors A. Poole, P. Stettenheim, and F. Gill. The Academy of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia.
- C.H.I.P.S. July 2004. Biotechnology for the Environment: Soil Remediation. Editors Agathos, Spiros N., Reineke, Walter. http://www.chipsbooks.com
- Call, D.J.; Shave, H.J.; Binger, M.E.; Bergeland, B.D.; Ammann; and Worman, J.J. 1976. DDE Poisoning in Wild Great Blue Heron. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 16(3):310-313.
- Canada's Business and Consumer Site. 2004. Canada Company Capabilities. <u>http://strategis.ic.gc.ca</u>
- CBA Environmental Services, Inc., Personal communications with Edward Kellar, August, 2004.
- Chang, S.; Hu, K.; and Wang, Y. 1994. The use of yellow phosphorus to destroy toxic organic compounds. Journal of Environmental Science, 6, (1), 1 12. (PA)
- Chemical and Engineering News. November 25, 1991. Soil Remediation Gains Momentum. Produces 85 Tons Of Clean Sand For Reuse From Every 100 Tons Of Contaminated Soil. p. 24 - 26. (PM)
- Chemical Engineering. February 1997. Heat and Vacuum Team Up To Tackle Soil Contaminants. Develops Faster Soil Remediation Process Using Heat And Vacuum At A Cost Of \$100 To \$250 Per Ton. p. 15. (PM)
- Chemical Week. August 17, 1994. Treatment Technologies Promise An Alternative To Incineration. Includes Related Article On Verification Technology. 155, (6), p. 28 (4). (CA)
- Chou, C.C. 1993. Soil decontamination. Assignee: Shell Oil Co. (CA)
- Clark, C.J. II, and Chen, X. 2003. Literature Review: Biodegradation of Toxaphene Contamination. Submitted to SJRWMD.
- Cleaning Soil Without Incineration. May 1994. Mechanical Engineering -CIME, 116, (5), p. 50(6). (IA)
- Coats, J.R. and Anderson, T.A. July 2004. Iowa State University. The Use of Vegetation to Enhance Bioremediation of Surface Soils Contaminated with Pesticide Wastes. http://es.epa.gov
- Cole, M.A.; Zhang, L.; and L. Xianzhong. 1995. Remediation of Pesticide-Contaminated Soil by a Combination of Compost Addition and Planting. HWRIC Research Reports. Illinois.
- Commodore Applied Technologies, Inc. 1994. Solvated Electron Technology. http://www.commodore.com
- Conrow, R.; Coveney, M.F.; Lowe, E.F.; Marzolf, E.R.; Mace, L.E.; and Peterson, J. 2003. Mortality of Fish-Eating Birds on Former Farms at Lake Apopka. Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC) 24th Annual Meeting. November 9-13, 2003, Austin, TX.
- Coulter M.C.; Rodgers, J.A.; Ogden, J.C.; and Depkin F.C. 1999. Wood Stork (Mycteria americana). From The Birds of North American, No. 409. Editors A. Poole and F. Gill. Cornell Laboratory of Ornithology and the Academy of Natural Sciences.

P:\EEG\2004 -EEG\Projects\SJRWMD APOPKA FS\FS REPORT\Lake Apopka FS - Final (01 21 05).doc
- Coveney, M. 2004a. Restoration of Former Farms at Lake Apopka: Current and Future Directions. Lake Apopka Avian Mortality Conference. SJRWMD, Palatka, FL.
- Coveney, M. 2004b. Target Levels for Remediation of OCPs on the NSRA at Lake Apopka. Transmitted by email to John Kaiser of MACTEC on July 2, 2004.
- Coveney, M.F.; Lowe, E.F.; Sepulveda, M.S.; Marzolf, E.R.; Mace, L.E.; Bowen, P.J.; Conrow, R.; and Gross, T.S. 2003. Pesticide Accumulation in Soil-Water Microcosms Evaluated with a Negative Exponential Model. Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC) 24th Annual Meeting. November 9-13, 2003, Austin, TX.
- Cox, J.; Kautz, R.; MacLaughlin, M.; and Gilbert, T. 1994. Closing the gaps in Florida's wildlife habitat conservation system. Office of Environmental Services, Florida Game and Fresh Water Commission, Tallahassee, Florida.
- Cutright, T.J.; and Lee, 5. 1995. *In situ* Soil Remediation: Bacteria or fungi? Energy Sources, 14, (4), 413 419. (AG)
- Day, Steven R.; Moos, Larry. 2004. Correspondence. A Comparison of *In Situ* Soil Mixing Treatments.
- Dennis, R.M.; Dworkin, D.; Lowe, W.L.; and Zupko, A.J. 1992. Evaluation of commercially available soil-washing processes for site remediation. Journal of Hazardous Industrial Wastes, 24, 515 - 525. (CA)
- Discover. April 1990. Bioremediation is becoming technology of choice for pollution clean-ups due to low cost. p. 76 78. (PM)
- Easton, J. April 23, 2001. 3052 Final Report: Treatment Trials for Organochlorine Contaminated Soil.
- ELI Eco Logic Inc. July 2004. Hazardous Waste Remediation, Pollution Prevention and Waste Minimization. http:///www.ecologic.ca
- ELI Eco Logic International Inc. October 2000. Presentation: Gas-Phase Chemical Reduction for the Treatment of Pesticides and Other Persistent Organic Pollutants.
- Engineering Manual. September 1987. Design and Construction of Dikes For Containment of Dredged Material. Chapter 6, 1110-2-5027.
- Engle, S. 1995. Site technology capsule: Terra-Kleen solvent extraction technology. PRC Environmental Management, Inc. Report.
- Environmental Decontamination Ltd. 2004. Mechanochemical Dehalogenation. http://www.tribochem.com
- Environmental Review. June 1998. Health Effects of Mercury in the Environment.
- Environmental Science and Technology. 2003. Environmental technologies at the Nanoscale.
- Euro Chlor. 2004. Chlorine Online Information Resource Publication. http://www.eurochlor.org
- Evans, R.M. and Knopf, F.L. 1993. American White Pelican (Pelecanus erythrorhynchos). From The Birds of North America, No. 57. Editors A. Poole and F. Gill. The Academy of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia.
- Felsot, A.; Dzantor, E.K.; Case, L.; and Liebl, R. 1990. Assessment Of Problems Associated With Landfilling Or Land Application Of Pesticide Waste And Feasibility Of Cleanup By Microbiological Degradation. Report from Illinois Department of Energy and Natural Resources. 8lpp. (PA)

P:\EEG\2004 -EEG\Projects\SJRWMD APOPKA FS\FS REPORT\Lake Apopka FS - Final (01 21 05).doc

- Felsot, A.S. 1991. Testing the use of landfarming to remediate pesticide-contaminated soil excavated from agrochemical facilities. Fourth Chemical Congress of North America. New York. (BO)
- FirstGov Search Results. June 2004. SBRP2000-2005 Programs University of Florida Project 2 2002-2003 Progress 401. http://www.firstgov.gov.
- Fish, J.R. and Revesz, R. 1996. Microwave solvent extraction protocol for chlorinated pesticides from soil. Science, 14, (3), 230 234. (PA)
- Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP). 2004. Accepted Chemical Oxidation Products / Process List Petroleum Cleanup Program. http://www.dep.state.fl.us
- FDEP. February 2003. Correspondence: C-Sparger System® and PerozoneTM
- FDEP. June 2002. Correspondence: Matrix Enhanced Treatment system (METS)
- FDEP. June 2002. Correspondence: Soilsaver System.
- FDEP. May 2003. Correspondence: Controlled *In Situ* Chemical Oxidation (CISCO)TM Process, also known as CISCOPTM or Cool-OxTM
- FDEP. September 2002. Correspondence: Soil FX Treatment System
- FRDA Report 178. 2004. Fundamentals of Mechanical Site Preparation.
- Fox, R.D. 1996. Critical review: physical/chemical treatment of organically contaminated soils and sediments. Journal of the Air and Waste Management Association, 46, 391. (EB)
- Fruit Growers Chemical Company. 2004. 3052 Final Report: Treatment Trials for Organochlorine Contaminated Soil.
- Gan, J.; Koskinen, W.C.; and Becker, R.L. 1995. Effect Of Concentration On Persistence Of Alachlor In Soil. Journal of Environmental Quality, 24, 1162 1169. (HW)
- Gard, N.W. and C.E. Mackay. November 2003. Forensic Analysis of the Pelican Die-off on Lake Apopka: Evidence for the Contribution of Organochlorine Poisoning. Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC) 24th Annual Meeting. Austin, TX.
- Garland, G.A.; Grist, T.A.; and Rosalie, E. 1995. The compost story: from soil enrichment to pollution remediation. Rio Cycle, 36, 53 56. (HW)
- Glynn Environmental Coalition. June 1999. Toxaphene Technical Overview, Part 2. http://www.glynnenvironmental.org
- Google Search: Soil Blending. July 2004. http://www.google.com
- Greenpeace International. 2004. Comments on General Technical Guidelines for Environmentally Sound Management of Wastes Consisting of, Containing or Contaminated with Persistent Organic Pollutants By Environment, Canada, 22 February 2004 Draft
- Griffiths, R.A. 1995. Soil washing technology and practice, Journal of Hazardous Materials, 40, (2), 175 189. (CA)
- Gross, T.S., Ruessler, D.S.; Sepulveda, R.; Conrow, M.F.; Coveney, L.E.; Mace, J.E.; Marburger, E.F.; Lowe, S.; Richter, and Marzolf, E.R. November 2003. Microcosm Evaluation of a First Flush Bioaccumulation of Chlorinated Pesticides in Gambusia. Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC) 24th Annual Meeting. Austin, TX.

P:\EEG\2004 -EEG\Projects\SJRWMD APOPKA FS\FS REPORT\Lake Apopka FS - Final (01 21 05).doc

- Grosso, J.A.; Gross, T.S.; Sepulveda, M.S.; Ruessler, D.S.; Conrow, R.; Conveney, M.F.; Mace, L.E., Low, E.F.; Richter, S.; and Marzolf, E.R. November 2003. Tissue Residue Levels in Great Egrets Fed Fish Environmentally Exposed to Organochlorine Pesticides. Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC) 24th Annual Meeting. Austin, TX.
- Ground-Water Remediation Technologies Analysis Center (GWRTAC). July 2004. Remediation Technologies. http://www.gwrtac.org
- GWRTAC. July 2004. Technical Documents Technical Status Reports. http://www.gwrtac.org
- Habitat Management, Inc. 2004. VAS Video. Rotoclear Demonstration.
- Harding ESE, Inc. Alternative Soil Treatment for Recalcitrant Chlorinated Organics Enhanced Composting Utilizing XenoremTM
- Hazardous Waste News. December 2, 1996. Technology: Terra-Kleen's Solvent Extraction Unit Proves Effective In Remediating Soil. p. N/A. (PM)
- Historic Pesticide Contamination Task Force. 1999. Findings and Recommendations for the Remediation of Historic Pesticide Contamination.
- Holman, C. May 1993. Bioremediation attacks on-site contaminants. World Wastes, 36, (5), p. 6. (IA)
- Holzworth, L.K., Wiesner, L.E. July 2004. Principles of Establishment and Seedling Year Management. http://animalrangeextension.montana.edu.
- HortResearch. October 2000. Review of Daramend® and XenoremTM Mapua Bioremediation Trials
- Hurst, J.G.; Newcomer, W.S.; and Morrison, J.A. 1974. Some Effects of DDT, Toxaphene, and Polychlorinated Biphenyl on Thyroid Function in Bobwhite Quail. Poultry Science 53:125-133.
- Hutton, J.H. and Trentini, A.J. 1994. Thermal desorption of polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons and pesticides contaminated soils at an Ohio Superfund Site: a case study. Proceedings of Annual Meeting of Air and Waste Management Association, 87, (14B), 29 pp. (PA)
- Illinois Natural Resources Information Network (INRIN). 2003. Great Blue Heron. (http://www.inhs.uiuc.edu/chf/pub/ifwis/birds/great-blue-heron.html).
- In Situ Fixation, Inc. July 2004. Soil Mixing Technique. http://www.insitufixation.com
- Interstate Technology Regulatory Council. 2003. Technical and Regulatory Guidance for Surfactant/Cosolvent Flushing of DNAPL Source Zones.
- Ingenta: Article Summary. July 2003. *In situ* Remediation of DDT-Contaminated Soil Using a Two-Phase Cosolvent Flushing-Fungal Biosorption Process. Water, Air and Soil Pollution. vol. 147, no. 1-4, pp. 263-274(12). http://www.ingenta.com
- Ingenta: Article Summary. July 2004. Bioremediation Of DDT In Soil By Genetically Improved Strains Of Soil Fungus Fusarium Solani. Biodegradation (2001), vol. 12 no.4, pp. 235-245(11). http://www.ingenta.com
- Ingenta: Article Summary. June 2004. Bioremediation of DDT-contaminated soil: enhancement by seaweed addition. Journal of Chemical Technology & Biotechnology. vol. 79. no. 6, 632-638(7). http://www.ingenta.com

P:\EEG\2004 -EEG\Projects\SJRWMD APOPKA FS\FS REPORT\Lake Apopka FS - Final (01 21 05).doc

- James, S.C.; Kovalick, W.W.; & Bassin, J. July 1995. Technologies for Treating Contaminated Land And Groundwater. Chemistry and Industry, 13, p. 492. (IA)
- Jiann-Yuan D. and Shian-Chee W. 1997. Transport of Organochlorine Pesticides in Soil Columns Enhanced by Dissolved Organic Carbon. Water Science and Technology Vol 35 No 7 pp 139–145. http://www.iwaponline.com
- Kansas Department of Health and Environment. 2004. Bureau of Environmental Remediation, Remedial Section. State Water Plan Contamination Remediation Program. Kinsley Pesticide Cleanup.
- Keller, E. and Rickabaugh, J. 1992. Effects of surfactant structure on pesticide removal from a contaminated soil. Journal of Hazardous Industrial Wastes, 24, 652 661. (CA)
- Kempton, H. and Davis, A. 1992. Remediation of solvent-contaminated soils by aeration. Journal of Environmental Quality, 21, (1), 121-128. (BO)
- Kuman, S.; Mukerji, KG; and Lal, R. 1996. Molecular aspects of pesticide degradation by microorganisms. Critical Reviews in Microbiology, 22, (1), 1 26. (SC)
- Kuritz, T. and Wolk, C.P. 1995. Use Of Filamentous Cyanobacteria For Biodegradation Of Organize Pollutants. Applied Environmental Microbiology, 61, (1), 234 -238. (PA)
- Laine, M.M. and Jorgensen, K.S. 1996. Straw Compost And Bioremediated Soil As Inocula For The Bioremediation Of Chlorophenol-Contaminated Soil. Finish Environmental Agency, 62, (5), 1507 - 1513. (CA)
- Laitinen, A.; Michaux, A.; and Aaltonen, O. 1994. Soil cleaning by carbon dioxide: A review. Environmental Technology, 15, (8), 715 - 727. (PA)
- Lamar, R.T and Dietrich, D.M. 1990. *In situ* depletion of pentachiorophenol from contaminated soil by Phanerochaete spp. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 56, (10), 3093 -3100. (AG)
- Lang Environmental, Inc. 2004. Super Fund Site Tampa. http://www.lang-eng.com
- Lhotka, J.M.; Zaczek, J.J.; and Graham, R.T. 2004. The Influence of Soil Scarification on Oak Reproduction: Review and Management Considerations.
- Livingstion, S.D.; Bade, D.H.; and Texas A&M Publication Reprint. July 2004. Paratill® Renovations of Pastures and Hayfields. http://www.bigbrothers.com
- Longcore, J.R. and Stendell, R.C. 1977. Shell Thinning and Reproductive Impairment in Black Ducks After Cessation of DDE Dosage. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 6:293-304.
- Lopez-Avila, V.; Young, R.; Benedicto, J; Ho, P; Kim, R.; and Beckert, W.F. 1995. Extraction of organic pollutants from solid samples using microwave energy. Journal of Analytical Chemistry, 67, (13), 2096 - 2102. (CA)
- Lowe, E. May 18, 2004. Lake Apopka: The Loss and Restoration of a Nationally Significant Ecosystem. Lake Apopka Avian Mortality Conference. St. Johns River Water Management District, Palatka, FL.
- Lowe, E.; Conrow, R.; Marzolf, E.; Coveney, M.; Mace, E.; Bowen, P.; Richter, S.; Gross, T.; Sepulveda, M.; Grosso, J.; and Wiebe, J. May 2004. Lake Apopka Organochlorine Pesticide Bioaccumulation Study. Lake Apopka Avian Mortality Conference. SJWMD.
- Lowe, E.F.; Conrow, R.; Schell, J.; Conveney, M.F.; Marzolf, E.R.; Richter, S.I.; Groos, T.S.; and Sepulveda, M. November 2003. Lipid-normalized Levels of Organochlorine

Pesticides in Piscivorous Birds Vary Among Tissues. Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC) 24th Annual Meeting. Austin, TX.

- Lowe, E.F.; Conrow, R; Schell, J. Coveney, M.F.; Marzolf, E.R.; Richter, S.I.; Groos, T.S.; and Sepulveda, M.S. November 2003. Pesticide Toxicosis in Birds at Lake Apopka, Florida: Remaining Uncertainties. Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC) 24th Annual Meeting. Austin, TX.
- Mackay, C.E. and Gard, N.W. November 2003. Forensic Analysis of the American White Pelican Die-off on Lake Apopka: Probabilistic Analysis of Potential Exposure to Organochlorine Pesticides. Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC) 24th Annual Meeting. Austin, TX.
- MacLeod, M.; Woodfine, D.; Brimacombe, J.; Toose, L.; and Mackay, D. February 2002. A Dynamic Mass Budget For Toxaphene In North America. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry: Vol. 21, No. 8, pp. 1628-1637. http://etc.allenpress.com
- Madsen, E.L., Ph.D. 2004. Cornell University Department of Microbiology. Report on Bioavailability of Chemical Wastes With Respect to the Potential for Soil Bioremediation.
- Mann, M.J. and Groenendijk, K.E. 1996. The First Full Scale Soil Washing Project In The USA. Environmental Progress, 15, (2), 108 - 111. (PA)
- Martijn, A.; Bakker, H.; and Schreuder, R.H. 1993. Soil Persistence of DDT, dieldrin, And Lindane Over a Long Period. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination & Toxicology, 51, (2), 178 - 184. (GB)
- Marzolf, E. May 2004. Lake Apopka Bird Mortality Investigation: Soil Sampling and Pesticide Results. Lake Apopka Avian Mortality Conference. SJRWMD.
- Marzolf, E.R.; Conrow, R.; Coveney, M.F.; Lowe, E.F.; Mace, E.L.; Gross, T.S.; Sepulvead, M.W.; Grosso, J.A.; and Schell, J.D. November 2003. Pesticide BSAFs Derived from Multiple Experimental Scales – Lake Apopka, Florida. Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC) 24th Annual Meeting. Austin, TX.
- Marzolf, E.R.; Conrow, R.; Coveney, M.F.; Mace, L.E., Lowe, E.F.; and Richter. S.I. November 2003. Organochlorine Pesticides in Soils of a Previously Farmed Wetland Restoration Site – Lake Apopka, FL. Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC) 24th Annual Meeting. Austin, TX.
- Masciangioli, Tina; Zhang, Wei-Xian. March 2003. Correspondence: Environmental Science & Technology. Environmental Technologies at the Nanoscale.
- McAdams, C.L. 1994. New technologies in soil remediation. Waste Age, 24, (5), 36. (EB).
- McFarland, M.J. and Salladay, D. 1996. Composting treatment of Alachlor impacted soil amended with the white rot fungus Phanerochaete chrysosporium. Hazardous Wastes and Hazardous Materials, 13, 363 - 373. (HW)
- Means Construction Guide, 2004.
- Meckes, M.C.; Engle, S.W.; and Kosco, B. 1996. Site demonstration of Terra-Kleen response group's mobile solvent extraction process. Journal of the Air and Waste Management Association, 46, 971 - 977. (PA)
- Meinhardt, R. 2004. Bioremediation and Phytoremediation as Potential Emerging Innovative Technologies for Use in the Destruction and Decontamination of Obsolete Pesticides and POPs, A Situational Analysis for South Africa.

- Meyer, K.; and Frederick, P. 2002. Final Report: Survey of Florida's Wood Stork (Mycteria americana) Nesting Colonies. USFWS. Order Number 401812M195.
- Michigan State University Researchers Are Studying Whether Composting Can Be Used To Remediate PCB-contaminated soil. 1997, Jan. 20. Waste News, 2, (35), p. 4. (BS)
- Michigan State University, Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering. 2004. Occidental Chemical Corporation Site, Montague, Michigan Comments on Site Cleanup Plan. http://www.egr.msu.edu
- Midwest Soil Remediation, Inc. July 2004. Thermal Desorption What Is It? What Does It Do? http://www.midwestsoil.com
- Miller, C.; Valentine, R.L.; and Roehl, R.L. 1996. Chemical And Microbiological Assessment Of Pendimethalin-Contaminated Soil After Treatment With Fenton's Agent. Water Research, 30, 2579 - 2586. (HW)
- Miller, D. 1994. Remediation of a Central Arizona Pesticide Applicators Airstrip With Thermal Desorption Techniques. Proceedings of the (8 7th) Annual Meeting of the Air and Waste Management Association, vol. 1 4B. (CA)
- Ministry for the Environment. June 1996. Organochlorines Bulletin 3. New Zealand. gttp://www.mfe.govt.nz
- Ministry of Farming. July 2004. Sustainable Farming Fund Project Summary.
- Ministry of Forests. July 2004. Mechanical Site Preparation. British Columbia. www.for.gov.bc.ca
- Ministry of Forests. July 2004. Soil Rehabilitation Guidebook. British Columbia. www.for.gov.bc.ca
- Minnesota Department of Agriculture. July 2004. Bioremediation Treatability Study Fact Sheet. Guidance Document #17. http://www.mda.state.mn.us
- Minnesota Department of Agriculture. July 2004. Incident Response Guidance Documents Available. http://www.mda.state.mn.us
- Minnesota Department of Agriculture. July 2004. Soil Cleanup Goals. http://www.mda.state.mn.us
- Mohr, D.H. and Merz, P.H. 1995. Application Of A 2D Air Flow Model To Soil Vapor Extraction And Bioventing Case Studies. Ground Water, 33, (3), 433 - 444. (CA)
- Moore, W. March 1995. Cleaning up America's Soil: An Overview Of The Processes, Equipment, And Legalities Involved With Contaminated Earth Cleanup. (Special report: soil remediation). Construction Equipment, 91, (3), p. 48. (IA)
- MCSP Publications. 2000. Tillage and Soil Management. Modern Corn and Soybean Production. www.mcsp-pubs.com
- Munz, C. and Bachmann, A. 1993. Documentation Of An Environmentally Acceptable Soil Restoration. Altlastensanierung 93, 2, 1135 - 1142. (CA)
- Nanostructures and Advanced Materials Chemistry. 2004. Synthesis and Application of Nanosize Semiconductors for Photoxidation of Toxic Organic Chemicals.
- Nappipieri, P. and Bollag, J.M. 1991. Use Of Enzymes To Detoxify Pesticide-Contaminated Soils And Waters. Journal of Environmental Quality, 20, (3), 510 517. (CA).

National Audubon Society. 1999. American Birds. The 99th Christmas Bird Count. pp. 245-246.

National Construction Estimator. 2004.

- NATO/CCMS Pilot Project on Contaminated Land and Groundwater (Phase III). January 2003. Project No. 15 (1999).
- NATO/CCMS Pilot Project on Contaminated Land and Groundwater (Phase III). January 2003. Project No. 12 (2002).
- New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection Historic Pesticide Contamination Task Force. July 2004. Addendum 4 Testing Protocol for Soil Blending at Historic Pesticide Residue Sites.
- New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection. 2004. Agricultural Lands Summary of Pesticide Cases.
- Newswire. February 1993. New EPA Ruling Removes Barriers To On-Site Soil Treatment; Can Reduce Cleanup Cost, Completion Time.
- Nichols, A.B. 1993. Pesticides remediation opportunities. Environmental Protection, 4, (5), 28. (EB)
- Nicholson, Peter J. July 2004. Center for Innovative Grouting Materials and Technology (CIGMAT). Cement Soil Mixing in Soft Ground. http://gem1.cive.uh.edu
- Niego, S. May 2004. Federal Law and the Apopka Bird Mortality. Lake Apopka Avian Mortality Conference. SJRWMD.
- Noorman, F. and Vis, P.I.M. 1995. Successful soil purification test by Ecotechniek. Soil Environment, 5, (2), 1013 1022. (CA)
- Norstrom, R.J.; Clark, T.P.; Jeffrey, D.A.; and Won, W.T. 1986. Dynamics of Organochlorine Compounds In Herring Gulls (Larus argentatus): I. Distribution And Clearance Of [14C] DDE In Free-Living Herring Gulls (Larus argentatus). Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 5:41-48.
- North Atlantic Treaty Organization. 2003. NATO/CCMS Pilot Study. Evaluation of Demonstrated and Emerging Technologies for the Treatment and Cleanup of Contaminated Land and Groundwater (Phase III). 2002 Annual Report. Number 255. EPA 542-R-02-010.
- Noss, R.F. 1991. Landscape Connectivity: Different Functions At Different Scales. Landscape Linkages and Biodiversity. Editor Wendy E. Hudson. Washington D.C. Island Press. pp. 27-40.
- Nuy, E.G.J. 1993. Halocarbon-Containing Soil Successfully Thermally Remediated Removal Of Dioxins And Pesticides Possible Without Excessive Emissions. Polytech. Tzjdschr, 48, (12), 50 - 51. (CA).
- Orgam, A. and Y. Chang. 2004. Processes Controlling Biological Breakdown of Pesticides at Lake Apopka. Deliverables prepared for SJRWMD.
- Ontario Centre for Environmental Technology Advancement (OCETA). July 2004. Profiles: Catalogue. 01 Soil / Sediment Remediation. http://www.oceta.on.ca
- Pendergrass, S. and Prince, J. 1991. Chemical dechlorination of pesticides at a Superfund site in Region II. Proceedings of Annual Meeting of Air and Waste Management Association, 84, (11), pp. 14. (CA)

- Personal Communications with Erickson, W. at Adventus and Carlson, K at Habitat Management, Inc. July 2004.
- Personal Communications with Madge Rotoclear Manufacturing, Calgary, Canada. July 2004.

Personnel Communication with Allen Machine Equipment, Co. August 2004.

- Phillips, Theresa; Bell, G.; Raymond, D.; Shaw, K.; Seech, Alan. 2004. Daramend® technology for *in situ* bioremediation of soil containing organochlorine pesticides.
- Phytoremediation of Organics Action Team. 2000. Phytoremediation Site Profiles: Aberdeen
- PLANTECO Environmental Constultants. 2004. Feasibility of *In situ* Bioremediation and Phytoremediation of Chlorinated Pesticides in Soils.
- Plant Protection Institute and International HCH and Pesticides Association. 2001. 6th International HCH and Pesticides Forum. Poznan, Poland.
- Portier, R. and Roy, M. 1989. Design Of *In Situ* Biodegradation Systems For Persistent Pesticide Remediation. 197th American Chemical Society Meeting. Dallas, Texas.(BO)
- Pranty, B. 2002. The Important Bird Areas of Florida: 2000-2002. Audubon of Florida. (http://www.audubon.org/bird/iba/florida/entire_ms.pdf). pp. 100-101.
- Pranty, B. and Basili, G.D. 1998. Bird use of agricultural fields at Lake Apopka, Florida, With Recommendations For The Management Of Migratory Shorebirds And Other Species. Florida Audubon Society.
- Quinlan, M. and Peery, D. 1996. The guidance of remediation projects using gas chromatographic field screening for pesticides or polychlorinated biphenyls. AT Onsite, 2, (1), 171 - 177. (CA)
- RACER, 1999.
- Raghavan, R.; Coles, E.; and Dietz, D. 1991. Cleaning excavated soil using extraction agents: A state of the art review. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 26, (1), 81 -87. (PA)
- Recetox Tocoen & Associates. July 2004. Persistent, Bioaccumulative and Toxic Chemicals in Central and Eastern European Countries – State-of-the-art Report. http://www.recetox.muni.cx
- Reicosky, D.C. 2004. Correspondence. Effects of Conservation Tillage on Soil Organic Carbon Dynamics: Field Experiments in the US Corn Belt.
- Rester, D. Specialist (Engineering). July 2004. Tillage Equipment Horsepower Requirements. http://www.lsuagcenter.com
- Richter, S. and J. Schell. 2003. Analytical Uncertainty and Bioavailability of Pesticides in Lake Apopka Restoration Area Soils. Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC) 24th Annual Meeting. November 9-13, 2003, Austin, TX.
- Rivers, D.B. and Frazer, F.R. 1988. Enzyme stabilization for pesticide degradation. Nuclear Chemical Waste Management, 8, (2), 157 163. (PA)
- Robinson, H. 1999. Bird Report: Zellwood Drainage And Water Control District Unit 1, Unit 2, and the Zellwin Sand Farm Property. August 15, 1998-August 14, 1999.
- Roco, M.C., Dr. September 2003. Presentation: National Nanotechnology Initiative Overview and environmental aspects.

- Roth, T.M. 1996. Innovative *In Situ* Remediation Techniques Part 1: Soil Remediation. Remediation Management, 2, (3), p. 24. (EB)
- Rouhani, S., and M.R. Wild. 2000. Statistical and Geostatistical Analysis of NSRA Soil/Sediment Data. New Field, Inc. Atlanta, GA, prepared for SJRWMD.
- Sahle-Demessie E.; and Richardson T. April 2000. Cleaning Up Pesticide Contaminated Soils: Comparing Effectiveness of Supercritical Fluid Extraction with Solvent Extraction and Low Temperature Thermal Desorption. Environmental Technology, 1 April 2000, vol. 21, no. 4, pp. 447-456(10). Selper Ltd. http://www.ingenta.com
- Sahle-Demessie, E.; Meckes, M.C.; and Richardson, T.L. 1996. Remediating pesticide contaminated soils using solvent extraction. Environmental Progress, 15, (4), 293 -300. (CA)
- Sanders, P.F. 1995. Calculation Of Soil Cleanup Criteria For Volatile Organic Compounds As Controlled By The Soil-To-Groundwater Pathway: Comparison Of Four Unsaturated Soil Zone Leaching Models. Journal of Soil Contamination, 4, (1), 1 - 24. (PA)
- Scientific and Technical Advisory Panel to the Global Environment Facility: non-combustion technologies for the destruction of POPs stockpiles. April 2004
- Schwartz, J. and Liu, Y. 1997. Process for decreasing chlorine content of chlorinated hydrocarbons. Patent No. 5,606,135. Assignee: The Trustees of Princeton University. (PF)
- Semer, R. and Reddy, K.R. 1996. Evaluation of soil washing process to remove fixed contaminants from a sandy loam. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 45, (1), 45 47. (PA)
- Sepulveda, M.S.; Coveney, M.F.; Low, E.F.; Conrow, R.; Marzolf, E.R.; Marburger, J.E.; Mace, L.E.; Ochoa-Acuna, H.G.; Grosso, J.A.; and Gross, T.S. 2003. Bioaccumulation of Organochlorine Pesticides in Fish and Crayfish from Soils North of Lake Apopka. Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC) 24th Annual Meeting. November 9-13, 2003, Austin, TX.
- SETTM Annex to Pesticides Treatment Technology Fact Sheet. 2004.
- Sharom, M.S.; Miles, J.R.W.; Harris, C.R.; and McEwen, F.I. 1980. Behavior of 12 insecticides in soil and aqueous suspensions of soil and sediment. Water Research, 14, (8), 1095 -1100. (PA).
- Shaw, Edward, A. 1996. Remediation of pesticide-contaminated soil. (CA)
- Sheih, Y.S. 1994. Thermo-O-Detox: a thermal separation process. Proceedings of the 13th International Incineration Conference. pp. 215 220. (CA)
- Shimp, J.F.; Tracy, J.C.; Davis, L.C. and et al. 1993. Beneficial effects of plants in the remediation of soil and groundwater contaminated with organic materials. Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology, 23, (1), 41 - 77. (SC)
- Showers, D.R.; Norris, R.D.; and Clarke, A.N. 1996. Treatability Studies for Pesticides Contaminated Soil from a Superfund Site: A Case Study of Six Technologies. Air & Waste Management Association, 89th Annual Meeting & Exhibition. Nashville, TN. Gray, N.C.C., Cline, P.R., Moser, G.P., Moser, L.E., Guiler, H.A., Gray, A.L., and D.J. Gannon.
- Siag, A.; Fournier, D.J.; and Waterland, L.R. 1993. Pilot-scale incineration of contaminated soil from the Chemical Insecticide Corporation Superfund Site. USEPA Report. pp. 192. (CA)

- Singh, G.; Kathpal, T.S.; Spencer, W.F.; and Dhankar, J.S. 1991. Dissipation of some organochlorine insecticides in cropped and uncropped soil. Environmental Pollution, 70, (3), 219 - 239. (GB)
- Singh, U.P. and Orban, J.E. 1989. Innovative isolation of oily hazardous wastes. International Conference on Physiochemical Biology, 2, 992 1010. (CA)
- Snyder, J.L.; Grob, R.L.; McNally, M.E.; and Oostdyk, T.S. 1994. Supercritical fluid extraction of selected pesticides from fortified soils and determination by gas chromatography with electron capture detection. Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part A: Environmental Science Engineering Volume A29, No. 9, 1801 -1816. (PA)
- Soil Savers, Inc. 2004. Advanced Oxidation Technologies. www.soilsavers.com
- Soil Savers, Inc. 2004. Apopka Sediment Pesticide Remediaton. www.soilsavers.com
- Soil Savers, Inc. 2004. Soil-FX Technology Water-FX Technology. www.soilsavers.com
- Sperduto, M.; Hebert, C.; Donlan, M.; and Thompson, S. 1999. Injury Quantification and Restoration Scaling for Marine Birds Killed as a Result of the North Cape Oil Spill.
- St. Johns River Water Management District (SJRWMD). Unpublished data (aerial photos and field notes).
- SJRWMD and United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2003. Final Report of Bird Deaths at Lake Apopka.
- SJRWMD and USFWS. Unpublished data (analytical results).
- Stabnikova, E.V. and Selezneva, M.V. 1996. Use of the biological preparation Lestan for cleaning soils of oil hydrocarbons. Prikl. Biokhim. Mikrobiol. 32, (2), 219 - 223. (BA)
- Sud, R.K.; Kuman, P.; and Narula, N. 1986. Role of bacterization in environmental decontamination from pesticides. Environmental Ecology, 4, (1), 156 157. (PA)
- Sundstrom, G.C. 1994. Risk-based remediation of pesticide contamination. Proceedings of Annual Meeting of Air and Waste Management Association, 87, (9), 15 pp. (CA)
- Terra Resources, Ltd. July 2004. Soil Washing & Gravimetric Concentration: Terra WashTM. http://www.terrawash.com
- Tetra Tech EM, Inc. October 2000. Use of ACWA Technologies for Treatment of Pesticides Wastes.
- Tetra Tech EM Inc. Weisman, Richard J. October 2000. Presentation: Use of ACWA The Association for Environmental Health and Sciences. July 2004. *In Situ* Thermal Destruction at Rocky Mountain Arsenal Hex Pit. http://www.aehs.com
- The Association for Environmental Health and Sciences. June 2004. Bioremediation of DDT and Toxaphene Contaminated Soils. http://www.aehs.com
- The EverGreen State College, Olympia, WA. 2002. Research Notes Min & Alexis. http://academic.evergreen.edu
- Timmons, D.M. 1990. In Situ Verification of Mercury, Arsenic, Pesticides And PCBBearing Waste. Proceedings of Annual Meeting of the Air and Waste Management Association, p. 11, June 24 - 29, Pittsburgh, PA. (PA)
- Tonkin & Taylor, LTD. 2003. FCC MAPUA Site Remediation Summary of AEE. Ref. No. 18777.04

- Troxler, W.L.; Goh, S.K.; and Dicks, L.W.R. 1993. Treatment Of Pesticide-Contaminated Soils With Thermal Desorption. Journal of the Air Waste Management Association,43, (12), 1610 - 1619. (PA)
- University of Nebraska-Lincoln. June 1999. Managing Pesticide Biodegradation With Bacteria. Vol. 11, No. 6. http://pested.unl.edu
- University of Cincinnati and USEPA. 2004. Effectiveness of Gas-Phase Bioremediation Stimulating Agents for Unsaturated Zone *In Situ* Bioremediation.
- UNIDO. 2004. Correspondence. Bioremediation of Persistent Organic Pollutants A Review
- UNIDO. 2000. ICS Proceedings. POPs and Pesticides Contamination: Remediation Technologies. Clean Technologies for the Reduction and Elimination of POPs.
- United Nations Environment Programme. Review of Emerging, Innovative Technologies for the Destruction and Decomtamination of POPs and the Identification of Promising Technologies for Use in Developing Countries. Final GF/8000-02-02-2205
- University of Florida and Institute of Food and Safety. 2004. Reducing the Risk of Groundwater Contamination by Improving Cattle Dipping Vat Site Management. Bulletin 305. Fact Sheet #8.
- Unsworth, R.E. and R. Bishop. 1994. Assessing Natural Resource Damages Using Environmental Annuities. Ecological Economics, 11:35-41
- US Department of Justice and SJRWMD. 2003. Memorandum of Understanding Between the St. Johns River Water Management District and the United States of America.
- US Navy. Naval Facilities Engineering Service Center. June 2004. What's New on the Environmental Restoration and BRAC. http://enviro.nfesc.navy.mil
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). July 2004. Contaminated Agricultural Land. http://www.epa.nsw.gov.au
- USEPA. July 2004. On-Site Incineration at the FMC Corporation, Yakima Pit Superfund Site, Yakima, WA. www.clu-in.org
- USEPA. July 2004. TechKnow3.0 OPTICS. Remediation Technologies Information. http://www.techknow.org
- USEPA. June 2004. Land Cleanup and Wastes. Georgia NPL/NPL Caliber Cleanup Site Summaries. http://www.epa.gov
- USEPA. June 2004. National Center For Environmental Research. Project: Reducing Uncertainty in Estimating Toxaphene Loading to the Great Lakes. Swackhamer, Deborah L., Hites, Ronald A. (November 1999). http://cfpub1.epa.gov
- USEPA. June 2004. TechKnow3.0 Ozone Protection Technologies Information Clearinghouse System (OPTICS). New Remediation Technologies. http://www.techknow.org
- USEPA. October 2003. Presentation: Full Scale Innovative Technologies, including Bioremediation, Deployed to Treat POPs – Related Contaminants in US Clean Up Programs.
- USEPA. 2003. Full Scale Innovative Technologies, Including Bioremediation, Deployed to Treat POPs – Related Contaminants in US Clean Up Programs
- USEPA. 2003. Montrose Superfund Site, Update on Field and Laboratory Studies at the Former Montrose Plant Property, San Francisco, CA.

- USEPA. October 2002. Guiding Principles For Constructed Treatment Wetlands: Providing for Water Quality and Wildlife Habitat.
- USEPA. July 2001. Total Maximum Daily Load (TMDL) Development. Dupree/Terry Creeks Final Toxaphene TMDL
- USEPA. 2001. Cost and Performance Summary Report: Bioremediation at the StaufferChemical Company Superfund Site, Tampa, Florida. Office of Solid Waste and Emergency Response, Technology Innovation Office. Washington, DC.
- USEPA. November 2000. Region/ORD Workshop Summary Report.
- USEPA. 2000. Potential Applicability of Assembled Chemical Weapons Assessment Technologies to RCRA Waste Streams and Contaminated Media. EPA 542-R-00-004 www.epa.gov and/or clu-in.org
- USEPA. February 1997. SITE Technology Capsule: GRACE Bioremediation Technologies' DARAMEND[™] Bioremediation Technology. Article Number: EPA/540/R-95/536a.
- USEPA. 1997. GRACE Bioremendiation Technologies; DARAMEND® Bioremediation Technology
- USEPA. 1996. Site Technology Capsule: GRACE Bioremediation Technologies' DARAMENDTM Bioremediation Technology. Pilot-Scale Demonstration of DARAMENDTM Enhanced Bioremediation of Sediment Contaminated with Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Hamilton Harbour. http://www.cciw.ca
- USEPA. 1996. Soil Screening Guidance: User's Guide. 9355.4-23. USEPA/540/R-96/018. PB96-963505.
- USEPA. 1995. Cost and Performance Report. TH Agriculture & Nutrition Company Superfund Site. RPF\042.pm5\0728-01.pm5
- USEPA. September 1994. Terra-Kleen Solvent Extraction Technology. Site Superfund Innovative Technology Evaluation Demonstration Bulletin. EPA/540/MR-94/521
- USEPA. November 1992. Proceedings of the 4th Forum on Innovative Hazardous Waste Treatment Technologies. San Francisco, CA. (NT)
- USEPA. 1992. Extraction of pesticides from contaminated soil using supercritical carbon dioxide. 100 110. (CA)
- USEPA. 1988. Guidance for Conducting Remedial Investigations and Feasibility Studies under CERCLA. USEPA/540/G-89/004.
- USEPA. September 1987. Engineering Manual. Design and Construction of Dikes for Containment of Dredged Material.
- USFWS. 2003. Draft Lake Apopka Natural Resource Damage Assessment and Restoration Plan.
- USFWS. 2002. Biological Opinion for the Interim Restoration Plan for the Duda-sub East Property (USFWS Log No. 02-650) transmitted by letter of April 1, 2002 from Peter M. Benjamin, USFWS, to Niles Glasgow, NRCS.
- USFWS. February 1999. Organochlorines are Preliminary Cause of Death in Birds and Fish Near Lake Apopka, Florida. http://southeast.fws.gov/news/1999/r99-022.html.
- Vijgen, John. 2004. Report: New and emerging techniques for the destruction and treatment of pesticides wastes and contaminated soils. "NATO/CCMS Pilot Study: Evaluation of

Demonstrated and Emerging Technologies for the Treatment of Contaminated Land and Groundwater (Phase III)."

Waste Management. 2004. Off-Site Bioremediation for Contaminated Soils. www.wm.com

- Weeks, K.R., Veenstra, S.C., AMEC Earth and Environmental, Westford MA; Gregson, B.P., National Guard Bureau, Camp Edwards, MA. June 2001. Comparison Of Innovative Technologies For Soil Cleanup At Camp Edwards, Massachusetts Military Reservation. Fourth Tri-Service Environmental Technology Symposium.
- Wentz, J.A. and Taylor, M.L. 1990. APEG treatment process and results for chemically degrading PCBs, PCDDs, and pesticides in contaminated soil. Proceedings of National Conference on Hazardous Waste Material, 7th, 392 - 396. (CA)
- Weston, D.P.; Jarman, W.M.; Cabana, G.; Bacon, C.E.; Jacobson, L.A. April 2002. An Evaluation of The Success Of Dredging As Remediation At A DDT-Contaminated Site In San Francisco Bay, California, USA. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry: Vol. 21, No. 10, pp. 2216-2224.
- Wilcoxon, J.P. 2004. Synthesis and Application of Nanosize Semiconductors for Photoxidation of Toxic Organic Chemicals.
- Young, J.C.; Bollag, J.M.; Regan, R.W. 2004. Pennsylvania State University. Bioremediation of Chlorinated Pesticide-Contaminated Sites Using Compost.
- Zhang, Wei-Xian. Lehigh University. September 2003. Site Remediation with Iron Nano Particles Interagency Workshop: Nanotechnology and the Environment: Applications and Implications.

Appendix A Soil Data Used in Feasibility Study and Supporting Documentation

Owner Acreage

Acreage

OWNERXALUM	ACRES
Bates X Z1N-E	6.352
Baumgardt X SFN-C	11.290
Clarence Beall X ZNC-B	150.972
Clarence Beall X ZNW-B	75.371
Clarence Beall X ZSC-A	61.570
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	298.606
Clonts Farm X ZSE-C	100.413
Clonts Farm X ZSE-G	152.052
Clonts Farm X ZSE-H	28.542
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNC-B	156.145
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-A1	19.603
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-A2	76.687
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-C	73.932
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-D	58.624
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZSW-B	94.714
General Impex X Z1N-G	24.466
Grinnell Farms, Inc. X Z1N-D	56.731
Grinnell Farms, Inc. X Z1N-E	11.822
Grinnell Farms, Inc. X Z1S-E	40.591
Hensel & Rodgers X Z1N-A	306.203
Long Farms, Inc. X Z1N-C	159.357
Long Farms, Inc. X Z1S-E	45.278
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A1	19.117
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	356.644
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-D1	64.537
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-D2	47.085
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-E	73.439
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-F	29.723
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-F	10.389
Long Farms, Inc. X ZSE-A	181.786
Lust Farms X ZNE-A	39.893
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	263.618
Lust Farms X ZNE-C	75.425
Lust Farms X ZNE-D	50.787
Lust Farms X ZSC-C	242.009
Lust Farms X ZSE-A	156.729
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	316.043
Lust Farms X ZSE-F	222.705
Marsell X Z1N-E	11.298
Marsell X Z1N-E	2.034
Marsell X Z1S-E	21.502
NAPA X Z1N-B	34.135
Progressive Growers (Rice) X Z1N-B	1.278
	13.644
	4.760
Robert Potter & Sons, Inc. X Z1N-F	307.969
	11.916
SHOTZ A ZIN-BI Shortz X ZIN BO	24.043
Shullz A Z IN-62 Smith X ZNE A	15.771
Shiul A LNE-A	29.283
Sucup Farms A ZNE-A	75.694

Table take from units look-up table

P:\EEG\2004 -EEG\Projects\SJRWMD APOPKA FS\FS REPORT\Appendix A Materials\owner-acreage.xlsowner-acreage.xls

Stroup Farms X ZSC-B	78.596
Stroup Farms X ZSE-E	148.245
Stroup Farms X ZSW-C	80.696
Zellwin Farms X SFN-C	76.822
Zellwin Farms X SFN-D	66.777
Zellwin Farms X Z1N-D	75.071
Zellwin Farms X Z1N-E	96.277
Zellwin Farms X Z1N-G	198.201
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-A	329.036
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-B	308.098
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-C	314.405
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-D	307.701
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-E	214.079
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	332.688
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	321.842
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-B	211.451
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-C	250.462
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I	246.960
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-J	143.455
Zellwin Farms X ZSW-A	112.876
Zellwood Drainage District X ZSW-C	9.589

			Total		1.11							
	Flooding		Chlordane	DDE	DDE	DDTx	DDTx	Dieldrin	Dieldrin	Toxaphene	Toxaphen	
OwnerXAlum	Block	SiteName	ug/kg	ug/kg	Code	ua/ka	Code	ua/ka	Code	ua/ka	eCode	TOC %
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-A1	FB5	ZEFE0579	760	2100		3260		190	U	7500		25 499
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNC-B	FB4	ZEFE0583	560	1300		1760	U	140	U	8600		23 127
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZEFE0596	2480	9600	Sanata and S	37100		600	Ū	30000		52 184
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	FB5	ZEFE0624	960	2100		3020	U	240	Ū	21000		29.65
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-C	FB5	ZEFE0629	. 44	150		204	U	11	U	135	U	1,1267
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	FB5	ZEFE0660	960	2800	Senator data data data data data data data dat	3825	U	235	U	21000		29.65
Lust Farms X ZNE-C	FB5	ZEFE0692	380	1100		3200	an a	230	JN	13000		24,906
Stroup Farms X ZNE-A	FB5	ZEFE0721	1320	4400		5060	UU	330	U	17000		37 952
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	FB5	ZEFE0723	760	2200		2900	U	190	Ū	13000	11.00.9197.910.000 or your conservation of	21 941
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-D1	FB8	ZEFE0732	353	930		1225	U	85	Ū	4600		23.72
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-A1	FB5	ZES0580	480	2000	2000	5400	1	125	U	7800		39,138
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-A1	FB5	ZES0581	760	2700		8800	a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a	185	Ū	14000		49.812
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A1	FB5	ZES0582	1560	5300		14100		385	Ū	23000		46.847
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0584	340	1300		2550	·	330	JN	7100		46.254
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A1	FB5	ZES0585	296	1100		2550		210	JN	7100		30.836
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0586	.850	3000		8400		580		19000		38.545
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0587	4800	16000		79200	U	1200	U	46000		52.777
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0590	1200	4500		19500	and a second sec	670	JN	27000		42.696
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0591	4800	15000		70300		1200	U	42000		53,963
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0592	520	1800		2890	Ρ	690	JN	13000		38.545
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0593	88	350		860		84		1400	and an	50,998
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0595	1240	5000		20800		315	U	22000	a 3 daara (1 daaraa (44,475
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	FB5	ZES0597	970	3100		9400		120	U	17000		37.359
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	FB5	ZES0598	680	2100		7890	Ρ	175	U	45000		52.777
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0599	510	1400		3140	and a second	490	JN	16000		43,289
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0600	132	490		1320		140	JN	2800		53.37
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0601	440	1400		4800		360	JN	11000		51.591
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0602	440	1900		5500		730	JN	18000		53.37
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	FB5	ZES0603	2560	7400		13300		650	U	50000		44.475
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	FB5	ZES0604	372	1400		4110	P	95	U	14000	an yez az an a san a	50.405
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0606	124	550		1390		160	JN	2700		54.556
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0609	1240	5400		11900		1700	JN	42000	1997 B. 7 1997 C. 1997 Conjunction of the second	50.998
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	FB5	ZES0611	530	3500		10810		320	JNP	27000		52.184
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	FB5	ZES0612	1680	5100		19090	Ρ	415	U	54000		49.812
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0613	760	4100		9100		1400	JN	22000	Q	51.591
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0614	680	3000		9700		640	JN	13000		50.998
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	FB5	ZES0616	890	4500		6790		520	JN	20000		43.289
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	FB5	ZES0617	1080	3500		13500		270	U	46000		52.184
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	FB5	ZES0618	460	1600		4600	20120100	105	U	15000	New York Control of the Control of t	52.777
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	FB5	ZES0619	480	1300	1	4200		120	U	8200	99999999999999999999999999999999999999	50,998

÷,

			Total									
	Flooding		Chlordane	DDE	DDE	DDTx	DDTx	Dieldrin	Dieldrin	Toxaphene	Toxaphen	
OwnerXAlum	Block	SiteName	ug/kg	ug/kg	Code	ug/kg	Code	ug/kg	Code	ug/kg	eCode	TOC %
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0622	720	3300		9100		650	JN	21000		46.254
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0623	600	2800		7500		740	JN	16000		49.812
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	FB5	ZES0626	1530	2800		8100		325	U	39000		52.777
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	FB5	ZES0627	2220	2900		7600		650	2.72 Weikeland Construction of the second	31000	and a second	43.289
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-D	FB8	ZES0630	1440	5600		15600		360	U	22000		47.44
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-D	FB8	ZES0631	1520	6200		31700		375	U	22000	an na mangana na mananana na mangana na mangana	45.068
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-E	FB8	ZES0632	400	1400		3740	6. (a (a	90	U	17000		43.882
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0633	324	1400		2200	Р	650	JN	14000		51.591
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0634	910	4400		12400		1800	JN	41000		52.777
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0636	1160	2300	1	4340		900	JN	30000		51.591
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	FB5	ZES0638	1040	2100		5300	CONTRACTOR DATE: NO.	205	U	37000		51.591
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-C	FB5	ZES0639	1240	2800		8100		310	U	17000		52.184
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-C	FB5	ZES0640	1000	2800		7700		250	U	14000		47.44
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-D	FB8	ZES0641	1580	7600		21700		980	JN	24000		49.219
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-D	FB8	ZES0642	1360	4700		15600	2 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	340	U	14000		51.591
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-E	FB8	ZES0643	680	3000		7900	a contractor for for a contractor of the	105	U	18000		32.022
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-E	FB8	ZES0644	316	1100		2820	Ρ	80	U	17000	10.000 000 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	36.173
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0645	680	2200		3490	Ρ	630	JN	20000		48.626
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0646	440	2000		5000	Courts 2 of a scientific scientific	600	JN	18000		49.812
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0647	440	2000		4150		780	JN	20000		51.591
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	FB5	ZES0649	. 1180	2200		5500	Ρ	550	JN	28000		52.184
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-C	FB5	ZES0650	856	2000		4940		560	((A. (7)) (((((((((((((((((16000	en la fan in de la fan de la fan en de la fan de l	48.033
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-D	FB8	ZES0652	680	2700		6400	an in one and an and	340	JN	15000		51.591
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-D	FB8	ZES0653	760	2700		7700		195	U	21000		45.661
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-E	FB8	ZES0654	1000	2800		7800		480	Ρ	31000	1 (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1	50.405
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-E	FB8	ZES0655	880	3200		9000		225	U	25000		52.777
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0657	650	2400		5000	Ρ	150	ี่ป	35000		50.405
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0659	930	2000		4100		125	U	21000		50.405
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	FB5	ZES0661	1160	4200		5950		285	U	25000		43.289
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	FB5	ZES0662	700	1800		4300	P	400	JN	25000		50.998
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-C	FB5	ZES0663	930	2000		5400		600	JN	20000		51.591
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-D2	FB8	ZES0665	1060	4000		5665	U	1000	JN	37000		48.033
Lust Farms X ZNE-D	FB8	ZES0666	494	1600		2930	Autor Territori	100	U	9200		45.661
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-E	FB8	ZES0667	1190	3200		8500		285	U	42000		42.103
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-E	FB8	ZES0668	590	2100		5000	Ρ	350	JN	18000		52.184
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-F	FB8	ZES0669	880	2600		8100		220	U	25000		28.464
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0670	356	1400		1905	U	85	U	15000		47.44
Lust Farms X ZNE-A	FB5	ZES0671	720	3200		14200		470	JN	25000	(M. 1)	52.184
Lust Farms X ZNE-A	FB5	ZES0672	620	2000		4180		410	JN	18000	2010) - Madon - Anno	52.777
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	FB5	ZES0673	1150	2500		3720	U	560	JŃ	23000	en en en en el	40.917

			Total									
	Flooding		Chlordane	DDE	DDE	DDTx	DDTx	Dieldrin	Dieldrin	Toxaphene	Toxaphen	
OwnerXAlum	Block	SiteName	ug/kg	ug/kg	Code	ug/kg	Code	ua/ka	Code	ua/ka	eCode	TOC %
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	FB5	ZES0675	1440	3300		6120		750	JN	34000		48 626
Lust Farms X ZNE-C	FB5	ZES0676	670	1400		2160		420	JN	15000	******	47.44
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-C	FB5	ZES0677	920	2700		4010	. Constantine and a second	230	U	9400		35.58
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-D2	FB8	ZES0678	700	2300		4700		460	JN	19000	1944-1947 - Salaman Sa	46.254
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-E	FB8	ZES0680	1030	3100		8100	Second and the second se	235	U	26000		44.475
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-F	FB8	ZES0681	480	1500		3750	Ρ	115	U	12000	999.9999.9999.9799.9999.99999.99999.99999.99999.9999	41.51
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0685	690	1800		3450	JP	105	U	17000		50.998
Lust Farms X ZNE-A	FB5	ZES0686	1360	3500		8200		340	U	52000		52.777
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	FB5	ZES0688	848	1200		2150		410		13000		45.661
Lust Farms X ZNE-C	FB5	ZES0690	1200	2100		4120	P	600	JN	26000		49.812
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-D2	FB8	ZES0693	700	2600		4370		810	JN	23000		37.952
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-D2	FB8	ZES0694	2440	2800		15900		600	U	35000	002403030303030303030	51.591
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-D1	FB8	ZES0696	150	450		930		32	U	3200		10.674
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-D1	FB8	ZES0697	725	1900		4530		95	U	17000		35.58
Mulford Hickerson c/o Peat Hu	FB8	ZES0698	11.6	43		55.2	U	2.9	U	145	U	2.5499
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZES0701	507	3200		4100		730		12000	an i communication and an	43.289
Stroup Farms X ZNE-A	FB5	ZES0703	400	1800		7500		510	JN	13000		50.405
Stroup Farms X ZNE-A	FB5	ZES0704	610	2600		5800		1000	JN	23000		51.591
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	FB5	ZES0705	1090	2400		3635	U	620	JN	18000		46.254
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	FB5	ZES0706	1260	2800		7500		590	JN	33000	1997-1997, 2007 Contraction Contraction Contraction Contraction Contraction Contraction Contraction Contraction	52.184
Lust Farms X ZNE-C	FB5	ZES0707	560	1300		1580	UU	140	U	9200		37.952
Lust Farms X ZNE-D	FB8	ZES0710	308	940		1620	Р	75	U	6800		37.952
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-D1	FB8	ZES0711	758	2100		5600		890		28000		41.51
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-D1	FB8	ZES0712	445	1900		4940		590	JN	19000		27.278
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-D1	FB8	ZES0713	850	2200		4890	Ρ	135	JN	23000		39.138
Stroup Farms X ZNE-A	FB5	ZES0719	560	2100		4460		630	JN	18000		49.812
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	FB5	ZES0724	980	3200		4950	P	145	U	22000		41.51
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	FB5	ZES0725	480	1900		3680		280	JN	18000		44.475
Lust Farms X ZNE-C	FB5	ZES0727	195	610		910	P	100	JN	5200		38.545
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-D2	FB8	ZES0728	790	2500		4800		580	JN	23000		39.138
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-D2	FB8	ZES0729	710	1800		3280	Р	410	JN	20000		37.952
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-D1	FB8	ZES0731	506	1800		3100		95	U	8700		37.952
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-F	FB8	ZES0733	570	2500		5600		420	JN	14000		38.545
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-F	FB8	ZES0735	1040	2700		9600		260	U	42000		34.987
Lust & Long Precooler X ZNE-I	FB8	ZES0737	. 10.4	2.6	U	7.8	บบบ	2.6	U	130	U	0.593
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A1	FB5	ZES0981	590	3300		7200	Į	940		25000		37.952
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A1	FB5	ZES0982	342	3200		11200	Į	570		31000		42.696
Smith X ZNE-A	FB5	ZES0983	223	1500		4080	[160		11000		30.836
Smith X ZNE-A	FB5	ZES0984	232	2000	ļ	4870	l	190		14000		36.173
Smith X ZNE-A	FB5	ZES0985	133	700		2080		96		8000		34 987

			Total									
	Flooding		Chlordane	DDE	DDE	DDTx	DDTx	Dieldrin	Dieldrin	Toxaphene	Toxaphen	
OwnerXAlum	Block	SiteName	ug/kg	ug/kg	Code	ug/kg	Code	ua/ka	Code	ua/ka	eCode	TOC %
Smith X none	FB5	ZES0986	14.8	14		21.5	υυ	3.75	U	185		3 9731
NAPA X Z1N-B	NFB	ZNS0076	47.8	580		765	a an	110		860	<u> </u>	4 015
Shortz X Z1N-B1	NFB	ZNS0077	121.8	2400		4700		180		1200		19 25
Progressive Growers (Rice) X	2NFB	ZNS0078	10.4	2.55	U	7.65	บบบ	2.55	U	130	U	0.605
Shortz X Z1N-B2	NFB	ZNS0079	800	2200	Service and a service	5300	U	200	U	3100		36.3
Grinnell Farms, Inc. X Z1N-E	FB14	ZNS0080	11.2	40		94.8	U	2.8	U	140	U	3 19
Grinnell Farms, Inc. X Z1N-E	FB14	ZNS0081	100	390		586	1	25	Ū	250	Ŭ	29.15
Hensel & Rodgers X Z1N-A	FB12	ZNS0082	11.6	2.9	U	8.7	บบบ	2.9	Ū	145	U	1 21
Hensel & Rodgers X Z1N-A	FB12	ZNS0083	188.8	43	5 v - 10	48.7	UU	58		145	Ŭ	0.935
Hensel & Rodgers X Z1N-A	FB12	ZNS0084	12.7	170		286		11		140	Ŭ	1 485
Long Farms, Inc. X Z1N-C	FB13	ZNS0085	26.4	130		191	1	2.7	U	300		1 045
Long Farms, Inc. X Z1N-C	FB13	ZNS0087	278	2200	C	7700		190	JN	15000		14.3
Long Farms, Inc. X Z1N-C	FB13	ZNS0089	16	330	Gerand and and and an approximate of	428		. 4	U	200	U	22 55
Rice X Z1N-D2	FB13	ZNS0090	14.4	45		60.6	U	3.6	U	180	Ŭ	9.9
Rice X Z1N-D1	FB13	ZNS0092	12.4	68		88.05	U	3.05	U	155	Ŭ	6.05
Rice X Z1N-D1	FB13	ZNS0093	14	310		440	1. (1. (1. (1. (1. (1. (1. (1. (1. (1. (3.5	U	460	JN	21.45
Zellwin Farms X Z1N-D	FB13	ZNS0094	770	4400		12500	C. C	540	JN	26000	***	34 1
Zellwin Farms X Z1N-E	FB14	ZNS0095	1560	4900	and the second se	17600		385	U	29000		19 25
Bates X Z1N-E	FB14	ZNS0097	33.2	750		1858.5		8.5	U	1600		51.7
Marsell X Z1N-E	FB14	ZNS0098	1440	2000		7760	U	360	U	5200		38.5
Hensel & Rodgers X Z1N-A	FB12	ZNS0099	10.8	37		42.5	UU	8.8		135	U	1.815
Hensel & Rodgers X Z1N-A	FB12	ZNS0100	164	·860		1600	11	37	9 ************************************	670		3.08
Long Farms, Inc. X Z1N-C	FB13	ZNS0101	361	1700		5800		210	JN	12000		9.35
Long Farms, Inc. X Z1N-C	FB13	ZNS0102	625	1800		5900		490	JN	32000		25.85
Long Farms, Inc. X Z1N-C	FB13	ZNS0103	13.2	28		34.7	UU	3.35	U	165	U	7.15
Grinnell Farms, Inc. X Z1N-D	FB13	ZNS0104	794	2800		10730		220	JN	26000		44
Zellwin Farms X Z1N-D	FB13	ZNS0105	1368	4000		8700		860	JN	39000		40.7
Zellwin Farms X Z1N-E	FB14	ZNS0106	2030	5700		11300		490	U	50000	**************************************	28.6
Zellwin Farms X Z1N-E	FB14	ZNS0107	2530	7000		19700		1300	JN	79000	ann ann an Constant (1920 an Charles	41.8
Marsell X Z1N-E	FB14	ZNS0108	22.4	380		890		22		740	1999-1997-1998-1999, fair lark ann an 1999 ann an 1999 ann 1999 ann 1997 ann 1997 ann 1997 ann 1997 ann 1997 an	22
Marsell X Z1N-E	FB14	ZNS0109	1440	5700		15255	U	355	U	7800		30.8
Hensel & Rodgers X Z1N-A	FB12	ZNS0112	10.4	17		22.2	UU	2.6	U	130	U	0.66
Hensel & Rodgers X Z1N-A	FB12	ZNS0113	12	150		164.05	U	3.05	U	150	U	1.65
Hensel & Rodgers X Z1N-A	FB12	ZNS0114	49.4	540	·	666		12	a na funda na fan fan fan fan fan fan fan fan fan	530		1.705
Long Farms, Inc. X Z1N-C	FB13	ZNS0116	800	1500		4000		600	JN	17000		17.05
Long Farms, Inc. X Z1N-C	FB13	ZNS0117	1240	2600		4490		315	U	14000	0107-00000202000202-0-0-0-0-0-0-0000000	14.3
Long Farms, Inc. X Z1N-C	FB13	ZNS0118	272	820		1090	U	70	U	2400	2000/13/2000.000.000.000.000.000.000.000.000.00	5.005
Robert Potter & Sons, Inc. X Z	1FB13	ZNS0120	1040	2100		5200		870	JN	39000	*****	47.3
Zellwin Farms X Z1N-D	FB13	ZNS0121	1062	3200		5240		500	JNP	30000		31.9
Zellwin Farms X Z1N-E	FB14	ZNS0123	2670	3400		10500		650	U	58000	nene in andra a canada a canad	44

			Total	Sec. 1			1.11					
	Flooding		Chlordane	DDE	DDE	DDTx	DDTx	Dieldrin	Dieldrin	Toxaphene	Toxaphen	
OwnerXAlum	Block	SiteName	uq/kg	ug/kg	Code	ua/ka	Code	ua/ka	Code	ua/ka	eCode	TOC %
Zellwin Farms X Z1N-G	FB14	ZNS0124	36.4	220	and a provide state of the second state of the	427		9	U	570	.IN	5 2 2 5
Zellwin Farms X Z1N-E	FB14	ZNS0125	120	420		1050		29.5	U	2600		1 76
Hensel & Rodgers X Z1N-A	FB12	ZNS0127	43.4	190	1	246		5.5	Ū	470		6.05
Hensel & Rodgers X Z1N-A	FB12	ZNS0128	11.6	51		56.9	UU	2.95	Ū	145	U	1 595
Hensel & Rodgers X Z1N-A	FB12	ZNS0129	24.8	420	Concinential of the second	562	1	14	JN	500		3 41
Robert Potter & Sons, Inc. X Z	FB13	ZNS0130	240	860	CONTRACTOR STR	1270	U	130	JŃ	3500	1999 - Frankrik Marine Street and Anno 1999	4 29
Robert Potter & Sons, Inc. X Z	FB13	ZNS0131	224	420	1	1220		150	JN	4900		4.4
Robert Potter & Sons, Inc. X Z	FB13	ZNS0132	1320	2100		3970	PP	1200	JN	43000		46.2
Robert Potter & Sons, Inc. X Z	FB13	ZNS0133	432	1100		2060		330	JN	17000		38.5
Robert Potter & Sons, Inc. X Z	FB13	ZNS0134	1800	2100	1	5800		800	JN	41000		47.3
Zellwin Farms X Z1N-G	FB14	ZNS0135	930	2500		4740	1	800		43000		46.2
Zellwin Farms X Z1N-G	FB14	ZNS0136	610	1800		3550	000.000.0000.0000	520		29000		42.9
General Impex X Z1N-G	FB14	ZNS0137	24.8	830	5	1136	U	6	U	1000	- Alashakir	13.2
Hensel & Rodgers X Z1N-A	FB12	ZNS0139	22.5	430		567		16	*****	140	U	1 375
Hensel & Rodgers X Z1N-A	FB12	ZNS0140	31.6	560		680	1	5.5	U	410		1 705
Hensel & Rodgers X Z1N-A	FB12	ZNS0141	13.8	230		283		3.1	U	155	U	1 815
Robert Potter & Sons, Inc. X Z	FB13	ZNS0142	368	1300	goon and an and a good and a	2390	Contract of the second s	310	JN	1900		4 95
Robert Potter & Sons, Inc. X Z	FB13	ZNS0143	480	1400		3050		610	JN	16000		26.4
Robert Potter & Sons, Inc. X Z	FB13	ZNS0144	2470	3700	5	8750	U	2400	JN	79000	······································	44
Robert Potter & Sons, Inc. X Z	FB13	ZNS0145	552	1900		3300	Ρ	540	JNP	25000		40 15
Robert Potter & Sons, Inc. X Z	FB13	ZNS0146	760	1300		3360	•••••	490	JN	22000		39.6
Zellwin Farms X Z1N-G	FB14	ZNS0147	1030	1300	\$00000 mmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmm	2430	U	400	JN	36000	1979 W.	46 75
Zellwin Farms X Z1N-G	FB14	ZNS0148	980	3200	Sector and the sector of	6500		900		46000		45.1
Zellwin Farms X Z1N-G	FB14	ZNS0149	600	2300		2590	UÙ	145	U	12000	100000 (00 000 000 000 000 000 000 000 0	20.35
Zellwin Farms X Z1N-G	FB14	ZNS0150	560	2200		3085	U	135	U	10000		20.35
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-A	FB11	ZNS0151	1690	2600		4090	P :	1100	JN	36000	199 La	26.4
Hensel & Rodgers X Z1N-A	FB12	ZNS0152	20.2	330		381	for the second sec	2.75	U	340	1997 9 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2.915
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-B	FB11	ZNS0154	434	1100		1840	Ρ	160	JNP	16000	an a	20.35
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-B	FB11	ZNS0155	372	1000		1170	UP	130	JNP	5900		35.2
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-B	FB11	ZNS0157	550	1000		1560	Ρ	120	JNP	12000	1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 100	19.8
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-C	FB11	ZNS0158	834	1400		2850	Ρ	550	JN	27000		42.9
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-C	FB11	ZNS0159	608	1100		1445	U	360	JN	12000	1	26.4
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-D	FB10	ZNS0161	1580	1900		2865	U	740	JN	37000		42.35
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-D	FB10	ZNS0162	1620	2200		4000	P	860	JN	49000		40.15
Grinnell Farms, Inc. X Z1S-E	FB10	ZNS0164	1490	5000		14805	U	305	U	33000		46.2
Grinnell Farms, Inc. X Z1S-E	FB10	ZNS0165	21.2	98		223.5	U	5.5	U	580		0.935
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-A	FB11	ZNS0167	900	2200		3190	P	760	JN	25000		29.7
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-A	FB11	ZNS0168	335	830		940	UU	300	JN	7700		9.9
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-B	FB11	ZNS0169	131	340		466	PP	19	U	3800	1915-1914 (short)en an an anna an an an an an an an an an	40.7
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-B	FB11	ZNS0170	584	1300	even for a second on	1990	P	190	JNP	17000		29.7

			Total							and the first seal		
	Flooding		Chlordane	DDE	DDE	DDTx		Dieldrin	Dieldrin	Toxaphene	Toxenhen	
OwnerXAlum	Block	SiteName	ua/ka	ua/ka	Code	ua/ka	Code	ua/ka	Code	ua/ka	eCode	TOC %
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-C	FB11	ZNS0171	792	1500		3060	P	250	.INP	30000		30.8
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-C	FB11	ZNS0172	1150	1800		5800	P	300	JNP	50000		45.65
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-C	FB11	ZNS0173	744	1300	forman an an air an	2270	P	250	JNP	19000	****	24.00
Zeilwin Farms X Z1S-D	FB10	ZNS0174	888	1400	\$*************************************	1930	U	400	.IN	19000	Marana manananan manana ara-	27.2
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-D	FB10	ZNS0175	1000	2800		5080		930		37000	Nonairean agus gan an a	45 1
Grinnell Farms Inc. X 71S-F	FB10	ZNS0176	1990	6700	and the second	20125	U	425	[]	49000		45.1
Grinnell Farms Inc X Z1S-E	FB10	ZNS0178	344	1700		2510	`		Ŭ	5500		न्तुः । २१ Q
Shaffer X Z1S-E	FB10	ZNS0182	12.8	3 15	U	9 45	000	3 15	Ц	160	11	5.06
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-A	FB11	ZNS0183	33.9	130	<u> </u>	161.5	11	30	.IN	1100		3.00
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-A	FB11	ZNS0184	285	900		1160	P	260	JN	6100		5.28
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-B	FB11	ZNS0185	98	310		620		-00 51	INP	4400		11 55
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-B	FB11	ZNS0186	640	1500		3290		280	INP	26000		10.8
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-C	FB11	ZNS0187	932	1500		3650	P	200 Q5		33000	*****	13.0
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-C	FB11	ZNS0188	1410	2100		4250	P	130		41000		41.0
Zellwin Farms X 71S-C	EB11	ZNS0189	888	1800	And the first second seco	2730	, DD	340		21000	- (546) - 400 A. (757) - (757) - 85 A. (777) - (777)	36.3
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-D	FB10	ZNS0191	146	340		420		540	INP	27000	(AC)/449-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00-00	22.55
Zellwin Farms X 71S-D	FB10	ZNS0192	1160	1800	and an a state of the contract of	2600	U U	500	IN	21000		41.05
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-D	FB10	ZN00102 ZNS0193	849	1700		2030	U U	380	D	22000	****	41.20
Marsell X 71S-F	FB10	ZNS0195	76	10.5	11	58 5		10.5	1	22000	11	50.05
Zellwin Farms X 71S-F	FB10	ZN00100	1020	5700	V	20600	000	18.5	U	22000	U	34 GE
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-A	FB11	ZN00130	760	1200		20000	111	400	U INI	12000		34.05
Zellwin Farms X 71S-A	FB11	ZNS0198	700	1200		1270		420	IN	15000		J 1.9
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-A	FB11	ZNS0199	97.8	240	ana ang manga	265	PU	00 1- 88	IN	2200		40.00
Zellwin Farme Y 71S A	FB11	7890200	346	270		200		220	JIN INI	2200 6100		20.9
Zeliwin Forms Y 71S_R	FB11	ZNS0200	1024	001		2040	D	230	JIN	18000		15.95
Zellwin Forms X 71S-C	EB11	ZNG0202 ZNG0203	1024	280		2030	Г D	90 12 F	U LI	2000		40.7
Zellwin Farms X 71S_C	FB11	ZNG0205	032	1700		5100	F	12.5	U U	2000		5.59
Zellwin Farme Y 71S C	FB11	ZN00200	200	1000		2000	Ъ	20		19000		244
Zellwin Farme Y 71S D	FB10	ZN00200	1210	2000		2300	IF H	500	JINE	22000	1991 hada analar ang	34. I
Zeliwin Forms Y 71S D	FB10	ZNS0207	562	2000	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1550	U U	350	JN	32000	1997-1999-1997 - Salaran Analas (Salaran Salaran Salaran Salaran Salaran Salaran Salaran Salaran Salaran Salar	31.4
Zellwin Farms X 71S D	FB10	ZN30200	JOZ //59	300		1550	U	300		0000		44.00
Zellwin Fallis A 213-D	EB10	7NC0209	2040	1100		1070	V	750		0900		20.3
Zellwin Farms V 718 E	EB10	ZNO0211	3040	2500		22 100		700		34000	an a	48.95
Long Forma Jon V 718 E	EP10	ZNOUZ 12 ZNO0214	440	2000		4000	1 11 1	19	JN	3000	1.1	46.2
Zollurin Formo Y 718 A	CD11	ZNO0214	10 E A E	02		1007		4		200	U	22
Zellwin Farms X Z15-A	CD11	ZINGUZ 10	240	4700	Į	1007		200		11000		35.2
Zeliwin Farms X Z15-A		ZNOUZIO	830	1700		2180	1111 1111	280	JNP	12000		34.1
Zeliwin Farms X Z15-A	ED44	ZN30217	1045	1500		16/0		760	JN	21000		34.65
Zellwin Farms X Z10-B		ZNOUZIO	630	1000		1940	۲ 5	240	JNP	22000		38.5
Zeliwin Farms X Z1S-B		ZNS0219	1210	1300		2980	۲	270	JNP	30000		39.6
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-B	г В 11	ZNS0220	1008	1500		2700	۲ Y	100	JNP	24000		33

		Per la construcción de la cons	Total		10.00				Salar deer			
	Flooding		Chlordane	DDE	DDE	DDTx	DDTx	Dieldrin	Dieldrin	Toxaphene	Toxaphen	
OwnerXAlum	Block	SiteName	ug/kg	ug/kg	Code	ug/kg	Code	uq/kq	Code	ug/kg	eCode	TOC %
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-C	FB11	ZNS0221	930	2300		4900	Ρ	125	U	35000		39.6
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-C	FB11	ZNS0222	820	2200	1. A. A. A. A. C.	3900	Ρ	400	JNP	25000		43.45
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-D	FB10	ZNS0223	1820	2400		4055	Ρ	860	JN	51000		45.1
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-D	FB10	ZNS0224	950	1700		2465	U	410	JN	18000		37.4
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-E	FB10	ZNS0225	452	1300		1470	UU	85	U	8400		45.1
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-E	FB10	ZNS0226	223	720		785	UU	32.5	U	4900		44
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-E	FB10	ZNS0227	181.9	800		1001		26	JNP	1600	1999 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 - 1994 -	29.15
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-E	FB10	ZNS0228	721	2700		3720		120	JN	3400		48.4
Long Farms, Inc. X Z1S-E	FB10	ZNS0229	337.9	670		1252		11	JN	700		23.1
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-A	FB11	ZNS0231	1227	1500		1670	UU	380	JNP	22000		42.35
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-B	FB11	ZNS0233	410	650		1200	Ρ	130	JNP	11000		29.7
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-C	FB11	ZNS0235	420	900		2060		140	JNP	13000		21.45
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-C	FB11	ZNS0237	920	2600		4250	Ρ	380	JNP	22000	and a state of a state	27.5
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-D	FB10	ZNS0238	770	1600		2130	U	350	JN	12000		39.05
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-E	FB10	ZNS0240	47.2	440	4	484.5	U	22	JN	820	JN	33.55
Stroup Farms X ZNE-A	FB5	ZSFE0740	27.6	88		130	U	7	U	345	U	33.801
Lust Farms X ZNE-C	FB5	ZSFE0749	1530	5100		7190	Р	810		45000		34.394
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	FB6	ZSFE0815	188	760		853	UU	46.5	U	1600		16.604
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	FB6	ZSFE0819	920	2100		2570	UU	235	U	3300		42.103
Stroup Farms X ZSE-E	FB7	ZSFE0825	800	2900		3300	UU	490	JN	14000		30.836
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSFE0831	532	1600		2400		380	JN	9400		28.464
Lust Farms X ZSE-F	FB7	ZSFE0837	159	350		870		83	JN	4800		13.046
Clonts Farm X ZSE-C	FB6	ZSFE0891	840	2500		2920	ບບ	210	U	6000		31.429
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	FB6	ZSFE0899	216	980		1370		130	JN	2600		11.267
Lust Farms X ZSE-F	FB7	ZSFE0904	1000	1800		8050	U	250	U	13000		29.65
Lust Farms X ZSE-F	FB7	ZSFE0909	470	1700		3520		320	JN	14000		23.72
Clonts Farm X ZSE-G	FB6	ZSFE0940	640	1900		2815	U	145	U	7500		27.871
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I	FB6	ZSFE0954	485	960		1270	U	240	JN	9600		17.197
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-J	FB6	ZSFE0967	900	1900		2910	U	420	JNP	15000		23.72
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I	FB6	ZSFE0975	364	780		910	UU	180	JNP	5200		20.162
Clonts Farm X ZSE-C	FB6	ZSFE0989	560	1700		2100	U	130	U	5500		23.72
Long Farms, Inc. X ZSE-A	FB6	ZSS0741	296	900		1160	U	250	JN	5200		37.952
Long Farms, Inc. X ZSE-A	FB6	ZSS0743	246	840		1480	Р	420	JN	8700		37.952
Lust Farms X ZSE-A	FB6	ZSS0744	710	1500		3360		590	JN	26000		49.219
Lust Farms X ZSE-A	FB6	ZSS0745	418	1200		1700	Р	490	JN	10000		14.232
Lust Farms X ZSE-A	FB6	ZSS0746	450	1600	[2470	ļ	390	JN	20000		30.243
Lust Farms X ZSE-A	FB6	ZSS0747	380	1800	Į	1990	UU	95	U	240	U	18.976
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0750	750	2200	ļ	3420	P	530	JN	26000		43.882
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0751	236	760	ļ.	1005	U,	55	U	5200		34.394
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0752	960	2400		5500		550	JN	32000		52.777

			Total								194	
	Flooding		Chlordane	DDE	DDE	DDTx	DDTx	Dieldrin	Dieldrin	Toxaphene	Toxaphen	
OwnerXAlum	Block	SiteName	ug/kg	ug/kg	Code	ug/kg	Code	ug/kg	Code	ug/kg	eCode	TOC %
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0755	274	740		1520		160	JN	7100		32.615
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0757	10.4	9.2		17.75	UP	2.65	U	130	U	0.593
Long Farms, Inc. X ZSE-A	FB6	ZSS0759	780	1300		1520	UU	340	JN	9500		48.626
Long Farms, Inc. X ZSE-A	FB6	ZSS0760	756	1400		2370		390	JN	12000		49.219
Long Farms, Inc. X ZSE-A	FB6	ZSS0762	376	1100		2950		570	JN	15000		50.998
Long Farms, Inc. X ZSE-A	FB6	ZSS0763	1120	2200		4730	JP	1000	J	24000		52.184
Lust Farms X ZSE-A	FB6	ZSS0764	538	1200		2870		490	JN	19000		52.184
Lust Farms X ZSE-A	FB6	ZSS0765	1270	2600		7200	J	125	U	30000	,	49.812
Lust Farms X ZSE-A	FB6	ZSS0767	1510	2800		7000	Ρ	1100	JN	150000		41.51
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0770	840	2400		4400	Ρ	205	U	37000		27.278
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0771	850	2100		4180		440	JN	25000		49.812
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0772	700	1800		3970	JP	540	J	20000		49.812
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0773	225	520	1	930	Ρ	140	JNP	3800		23.127
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0774	600	1700	2	4900		310	JN	23000	99999999999999999999999999999999999999	48.626
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0775	580	1900		6200	1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1	145	U	23000	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	48.033
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0776	294	800	12////optories.com/optories.St	2000	- Children ber in Banagion antiophol	· 70	U	7800		13.046
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0778	16.8	30	a cicles and a cicle	38.3	UU	4.15	U	210	U	21.941
Long Farms, Inc. X ZSE-A	FB6	ZSS0781	341	1000	Contractor and a second	2090	i - Al Saintain Starong Sant Saing in 1985	440	JN	15000	****	51.591
Long Farms, Inc. X ZSE-A	FB6	ZSS0782	292	1000		1920	1910-1910-1910-1910-1910-1910-1910-1910	320	JN	9700		52,184
Lust Farms X ZSE-A	FB6	ZSS0783	900	2000	aline and a second	5100		860	JN	33000		51.591
Lust Farms X ZSE-A	FB6	ZSS0784	390	1200		2570		460	JN	11000		50,405
Lust Farms X ZSE-A	FB6	ZSS0785	376	1700		3030		350	JN	8000		45.661
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0788	650	1800	. ferrar an an air a	3220		330	JN	28000		49.219
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0789	520	1500		2150		120	U	20000		46.254
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0790	840	2100		4250	aga na ana ang ang ang ang ang ang ang a	490	JN	30000		40.324
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0791	872	1300		2950	2 × 10 11; 1 × 1000 × 1000 × 1000	390	JN	15000		45.661
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0792	810	2000	-farmer same same	4340		660	JN	23000		46 847
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0793	785	1300	denne a new series in be	3260	J	85	U	18000		50,998
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0794	580	1400	furning a second	3930		145	U	23000	07.03.000 (03.03.03.000 - vortuge and a second	50,405
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0795	560	2300	1996)994994999999999434-4-1	6400	1	135	Ū	17000	and state damaged and a late of straining	34,987
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0796	296	1000		2980		75	U	7600		18 976
Long Farms, Inc. X ZSE-A	FB6	ZSS0797	790	1800		2465	U	420	JN	13000		46 847
Long Farms, Inc. X ZSE-A	FB6	ZSS0798	512	1500		2720	-	600	JN	17000	*************************	46 847
Long Farms, Inc. X ZSE-A	FB6	ZSS0799	1250	2700	() () () () () () () () () () () () () (5300	Ρ	1300		26000		50 405
Long Farms, Inc. X ZSE-A	FB6	ZSS0800	260	810		1670		400	.IN	9600		49 219
Lust Farms X ZSE-A	FB6	ZSS0802	1180	2800		8200		980	()	32000	Na na mangana kana kana kana kana kana kana kan	47 44
Lust Farms X ZSE-A	FB6	ZSS0804	452	1300	1	2610	P	260	JN	18000		27 278
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0805	620	1400	1	2600	P	400	JN	23000		36 766
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0806	570	1700	fama	2650	t.	130	JN	22000	********	32 615
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0809	610	1600	1) Cale 14, 11, 17, 17, 19, 19, 19, 19, 19, 19, 19, 19, 19, 19	2510	P	380	JN	17000		48.033

Ì

			Total									
	Flooding		Chlordane	DDE	DDE	DDTx	DDTx	Dieldrin	Dieldrin	Toxaphene	Toxaphen	
OwnerXAlum	Block	SiteName	ug/kg	ug/kg	Code	ug/kg	Code	ug/kg	Code	ug/kg	eCode	TOC %
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0810	383	870		1580	Ρ	270	JN	19000	•	46.847
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0811	1148	1800		4600	Ρ	650		24000		48.626
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0812	574	1500		3140	P	300		13000		37.952
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0813	870	1800		5400	Contraction of coloradomics	160	U	16000	2 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 19	39,731
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	FB7	ZSS0814	1480	2300		6840	A STATE OF THE STATE OF THE STATE	370	U	20000	1	27.871
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	FB6	ZSS0816	176	1000		1174	U	91	JN	1200		40.324
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	FB6	ZSS0817	176	820		1004	U	91	JNP	1700		48 626
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	FB6	ZSS0820	520	2000	1	2465	U	135	JN	2800		42,103
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	FB6	ZSS0822	480	2200		2800	U	560		4600		41.51
Stroup Farms X ZSE-E	FB7	ZSS0826	480	2600		3680	Р	500		9500		33,801
Stroup Farms X ZSE-E	FB7	ZSS0830	580	2300		3570	Ρ	510		9700		34,987
Lust Farms X ZSE-F	FB7	ZSS0832	1210	2100		4120	Ρ	610	JN	25000		42,696
Lust Farms X ZSE-F	FB7	ZSS0833	910	2300	(6800		710	JN	20000		50,998
Lust Farms X ZSE-F	FB7	ZSS0834	1150	1900		4280	Р	530	JN	22000		37 359
Lust Farms X ZSE-F	FB7	ZSS0835	530	1600		2830	Р	310	an a	12000		29.057
Lust Farms X ZSE-F	FB7	ZSS0836	1130	2900	-	7500	from a consideration of the second se	890	JN	34000		49.812
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	FB6	ZSS0838	84	900		1046	Р	180		1200	JN	49 812
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	FB6	ZSS0840	308	950		1100	UU	75	U	3100		49 219
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	FB6	ZSS0841	400	2000		2465	Ū	440		6100		49 812
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	FB6	ZSS0842	228	920	1	1115	Ū	160	JN	1400		40.917
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	FB6	ZSS0843	520	2000	Sector of a constant of a cons	2645	U	540		5400		45 068
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	FB6	ZSS0844	352	1300		1890	Ū	490	JN	4900		43 289
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	FB6	ZSS0845	680	2100		2925	Ū	680	JN	8400		39 731
Stroup Farms X ZSE-E	FB7	ZSS0846	870	3700		5240	P	770	JN	15000		36 766
Stroup Farms X ZSE-E	FB7	ZSS0847	700	2300	\$10° 10° 10° 10° 10° 10° 10° 10° 10° 10°	5110	1	640	JN	17000		46 847
Stroup Farms X ZSE-E	FB7	ZSS0848	550	2100		3810	********	640	JN	13000		42 103
Stroup Farms X ZSE-E	FB7	ZSS0849	268	1200		1525	U	220	JN	2300		35 58
Stroup Farms X ZSE-E	FB7	ZSS0850	340	1500		3210	to the second second	320	JN	4900		37 952
Lust Farms X ZSE-F	FB7	ZSS0851	102	210	·	372	P	56	JN	2800		5.93
Lust Farms X ZSE-F	FB7	ZSS0852	620	1800		2900		580	JN	18000		50 405
Lust Farms X ZSE-F	FB7	ZSS0853	500	1500		3190		470	JN	14000		50,998
Lust Farms X ZSE-F	FB7	ZSS0854	165	600	\$	1200		150	JN	6700		36 173
Lust Farms X ZSE-F	FB7	ZSS0855	1130	2100		5600	Р	670	JN	28000	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	46 254
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	FB6	ZSS0856	800	3400	1	3800	บบ	200	U	2600		39 138
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	FB6	ZSS0857	560	2300	-	2755	U	135	U	4800		47 44
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	FB6	ZSS0858	560	1900		2180	UU	140	U	3800		47 44
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	FB6	ZSS0859	300	1500		1755	Ū	380		4100		48 033
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	FB6	ZSS0860	520	2500	1	3040	Ū	610		6500		43 882
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	FB6	ZSS0861	368	1700	Contraction of the second second	2190	Ū	430	JN	2500	1	27 871
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	FB6	ZSS0862	520	1900	21/10/2/2016/10/2019/19	2505	U	640	JN	6000	1440.00 440.000 organization and a second	29.65

	and the second		Total				S. Starte					
	Flooding		Chlordane	DDE	DDE	DDTx	DDTx	Dieldrin	Dieldrin	Toxaphene	Toxaphen	
OwnerXAlum	Block	SiteName	ug/kg	ug/kg	Code	ug/kg	Code	ua/ka	Code	ua/ka	eCode	TOC %
Stroup Farms X ZSE-E	FB7	ZSS0864	480	2700		4270	CONTRACTOR PROVIDENCE	530		10000		34 987
Stroup Farms X ZSE-E	FB7	ZSS0865	550	2000	Contraction of the second s	3490		430	JN	12000		45.068
Stroup Farms X ZSE-E	FB7	ZSS0866	. 770	2700		5000	6 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	620	JN	17000		40.324
Lust Farms X ZSE-F	FB7	ZSS0868	308	1200	george and and	1545	U	210	JN	4900		42,696
Lust Farms X ZSE-F	FB7	ZSS0870	890	1700		2680	Ρ	410	JN	17000		48.033
Lust Farms X ZSE-F	FB7	ZSS0871	600	1800		3130	Ρ	490	ana mana manja kana kana kana kana kana kana kana	16000	99999999999999999999999999999999999999	38.545
Lust Farms X ZSE-F	FB7	ZSS0873	720	1600		4190	60.00.00000000000000000000000000000000	320	JN	9400	a na an	8.302
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	FB6	ZSS0874	268	1700		1965	U	65	U	1700	80° 1000 01 01 01 01 01 00 000 0 01 000 0 000 000000	46.847
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	FB6	ZSS0875	332	1400		1570	UU	85	U	1100	20 ¹⁴⁰ 101 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 1	41.51
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	FB6	ZSS0876	520	2100		2370	UU	135	U	4000	2.4/6/626264900/646464900000121/10100-112	42,103
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	FB6	ZSS0877	560	2100		2550	U	380	JN	3200		30.243
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	FB6	ZSS0880	650	3700		4830	U	810		7700		31,429
Stroup Farms X ZSE-E	FB7	ZSS0881	288	1400		2020	U	70	U	6800		8.895
Stroup Farms X ZSE-E	FB7	ZSS0882	540	2000		3180		500	JN	11000		39.138
Stroup Farms X ZSE-E	FB7	ZSS0884	600	1900		2940		440	JN	14000	99999979979979999999999999999999999999	48.626
Lust Farms X ZSE-F	FB7	ZSS0886	670	2000		3150	Ρ	540		18000		47.44
Lust Farms X ZSE-F	FB7	ZSS0888	890	2300		4410		950	JN	27000		47,44
Lust Farms X ZSE-F	FB7	ZSS0889	399	1200		2920		300	JN	12000		45.661
Lust Farms X ZSE-F	FB7	ZSS0890	128	370		1012	U	32	U	2400		2.9057
Clonts Farm X ZSE-C	FB6	ZSS0892	442	1500		1755	U	150	JN	2100		33.801
Clonts Farm X ZSE-C	FB6	ZSS0893	132	270		310	UU	63	JN	500	U	37.952
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	FB6	ZSS0896	13.6	11		17.8	UU	3.4	U	170	U	7.116
Clonts Farm X ZSE-C	FB6	ZSS0898	688	1500		2030	U	460	JN	10000		32.022
Clonts Farm X ZSE-G	FB6	ZSS0900	534	1300		1745	U	370	JN	12000		36,173
Clonts Farm X ZSE-G	FB6	ZSS0901	468	1200		1650	U	310	JN	9100		34.987
Clonts Farm X ZSE-G	FB6	ZSS0902	352	1300		1570	U	200	JN	5500		35.58
Clonts Farm X ZSE-G	FB6	ZSS0903	426	1500		2035	U	480	JN	3000		37.952
Zeliwin Farms X ZSE-I	FB6	ZSS0907	1770	3800		7400		1500	JN	38000		37.359
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I	FB6	ZSS0908	1630	2400		5200	Ρ	920		49000		35.58
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-J	FB6	ZSS0910	1120	2000		5300		870	JN	25000		20.162
Clonts Farm X ZSE-C	FB6	ZSS0912	572	1300		1470	UU	290	JN	4000	an ann an	39.138
Clonts Farm X ZSE-C	FB6	ZSS0914	428	1000		1350	U	230	JN	4000	and a first the standard state of a second se	26.685
Clonts Farm X ZSE-C	FB6	ZSS0915	378	900		1200	U	200	JN	3300		54.556
Clonts Farm X ZSE-G	FB6	ZSS0916	410	1100	·	1432	Ρ	300	Ρ	4600		31.429
Clonts Farm X ZSE-G	FB6	ZSS0917	154	480		604.5	U	60	JN	1200		27.278
Clonts Farm X ZSE-G	FB6	ZSS0918	502	1500		2055	U	500		5800		37.952
Clonts Farm X ZSE-G	FB6	ZSS0919	305	1100		1445	U	270	JN	2600		33.801
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I	FB6	ZSS0920	13.6	54		68.45	U	3.45	U	170	U	2.9057
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I	FB6	ZSS0922	77	210		277.5	U	55	JNP	1100	200 0.01 ,01,000,000,01,000,000,000,000,000,00	16.011
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I	FB6	ZSS0924	1340	2600		5130	and from the second second	1000	JN	44000	221/01/101/01/01/01/01/01/01/01/01/01/01/0	33.801

			Total	a second and						
	Flooding		Chlordane	DDE	DDE DDT	х оотх	Dieldrin	Dieldrin	Toxaphene	Toxaphen
OwnerXAlum	Block	SiteName	ua/ka	ua/ka	Code ua/ki	Code	ua/ka	Code	ua/ka	eCode TOC %
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-J	FB6	ZSS0925	1380	3500	1120)0	1100	JN	63000	43 289
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-J	FB6	ZSS0926	640	2500	680)0	550	JN	8300	46 847
Clonts Farm X ZSE-C	FB6	ZSS0927	176	650	73	37 UU	200	JN	3100	24 906
Clonts Farm X ZSE-C	FB6	ZSS0928	397	1500	170	0 00	430		4300	31,429
Clonts Farm X ZSE-G	FB6	ZSS0929	404	1300	160)5 U	230	JN	7200	33.208
Clonts Farm X ZSE-G	FB6	ZSS0930	470	1400	178	80 U	200	JN	4000	30.243
Clonts Farm X ZSE-G	FB6	ZSS0931	800	3500	458	50 U 0	720	JN	6600	40.324
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I	FB6	ZSS0933	2000	5100	699	0 U	1800	JN	42000	32.022
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I	FB6	ZSS0936	1270	2100	540	0	960	JN	37000	46.254
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-J	FB6	ZSS0937	937	1500	450	0	560	JN	39000	45.661
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-J	FB6	ZSS0938	1730	5000	1500	0	1200	JN	31000	43.289
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-J	FB6	ZSS0939	244	750	119	0	130	JN	3200	21.941
Clonts Farm X ZSE-G	FB6	ZSS0942	520	2000	251	0 U	130	U	4500	34.987
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I	FB6	ZSS0946	1360	2700	500	0	1100	JN	30000	39.731
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I	FB6	ZSS0947	478	1200	162	25 U	330	JN	5500	41.51
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I	FB6	ZSS0948	1430	2600	530	0 P	1200		47000	47.44
Clonts Farm X ZSE-G	FB6	ZSS0951	47	150	18	5 U	31	JN	710	4.9219
Clonts Farm X ZSE-G	FB6	ZSS0952	800	2600	300	0 00	200	U	5400	29.65
Clonts Farm X ZSE-H	FB6	ZSS0953	54	260	33	0 U	31	JN	470	5.2184
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I	FB6	ZSS0955	1400	2800	390	0 P	870	Ρ	20000	37.952
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I	FB6	ZSS0956	996	1700	262	20 P	560		19000	46.847
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I	FB6	ZSS0957	1510	2900	464	0 P	1200	JN	40000	8.302
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-J	FB6	ZSS0959	1190	1800	375	60 P	820		24000	29.65
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-J	FB6	ZSS0960	1620	3000	639	0 P	180	U	16000	48.033
Clonts Farm X ZSE-H	FB6	ZSS0961	45	190	234	.5 U	38	JN	550	7.116
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I	FB6	ZSS0963	1420	2700	406	50	1100	JN	21000	46.254
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I	FB6	ZSS0965	736	1600	245	60 P	420		36000	46.254
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I	FB6	ZSS0966	1380	2400	341	5 U	1100	JN	24000	43.289
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-J	FB6	ZSS0968	1630	2400	392	20	1300	JN	14000	42.696
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-J	FB6	ZSS0969	958	1400	230	0	860	JN	12000	42.103
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I	FB6	ZSS0970	332	1100	123	0 UU 0	160	JN	1600	19.569
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I	FB6	ZSS0971	1176	1600	250	0 P	800	Ρ	11000	42.696
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-J	FB6	ZSS0973	1736	1100	221	0 PP	1000	Ρ	14000	48.626
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I	FB6	ZSS0974	15.2	14	21	7 UU	3.85	U	190	U 10.674
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-J	FB6	ZSS0978	1560	3300	651	0	1300	JN	24000	46.254
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-J	FB6	ZSS0979	48	11.5	U 34	5 000	11.5	U	600	U 55.742
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-J	FB6	ZSS0980	23.6	77	35	3 U	6	U	295	U 46.254
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-A	FB11	ZWFE0314	328	860	120	0 P	200	JN	8000	16.011
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWFE0315	172	550	763	.5 U	43.5	U	4900	33.208
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWFE0320	288	880	131	0 U	70	U	8800	32.615

			Total	1. AN 18			1.00							
	Flooding		Chlordane	DDE	DDE	DDTx	DDTx	Dieldrin	Dieldrin	Toxaphene	Toxaphen			
OwnerXAlum	Block	SiteName	ug/kg	uq/kq	Code	uq/kq	Code	ua/ka	Code	ua/ka	eCode	TOC %		
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-B	FB2	ZWFE0325	297	770		1190		120	JN	6800		18 976		
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-C	FB2	ZWFE0329	434	1100		1530	U	150	JNP	5500		17 79		
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNC-B	FB4	ZWFE0336	192	770		1220	P	48.5	U	3400	1999 - C.	29.057		
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWFE0387	204	710		930	U	50	Ū	7800		27 871		
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-B	FB2	ZWFE0392	268	950		1175	Ū	65	U	4200	144-14-14-14-14-14-14-14-14-14-14-14-14-	12 453		
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWFE0397	480	1500		2410		115	U	14000	*******	17 79		
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWFE0406	144	450		659	Р	85	JN	5800	·····	30 243		
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWFE0424	275	820		1045	U	310	JN	4600		23 72		
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNC-B	FB4	ZWFE0429	600	1900		2630	Ū	420	JN	11000	1999	43 882		
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWFE0476	200	780		980	Ρ	50	U	5000	1997-1997-1997-1997-1997-1997-1997-1997	19,569		
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-C	FB2	ZWFE0481	268	900		1155	U	190	JN	5000		25,499		
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWFE0507	271	1200		1525	U	520	JN	3400		31,429		
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWFE0513	470	1600		2055	U	420	JN	4000		29 057		
Clarence Beall X ZNC-B	FB4	ZWFE0517	580	1600		2325	U	890	JN	5800	00000000000000000000000000000000000000	26.685		
Zellwin Farms X ZSW-A	FB1	ZWFE0518	100	510		785.5	U	70	JN	1300		17.79		
Zellwin Farms X ZSW-A	FB1	ZWFE0540	136	150		218	UU	34	U	1700	U	37.952		
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZSW-B	FB1	ZWFE0545	264	1100		1415	U	65	U	2800		29.65		
Clarence Beall X ZSC-A	FB1	ZWFE0549	344	1500		1670	UU	210	JN .	2700		39.731		
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	FB5	ZWFE0570	1190	4100		4670	UU	285	JN	14000		19.569		
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0316	545	1300		2105	U	400	JN	21000	······	49.219		
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0317	204	710		1090	P	50	U	5500		31.429		
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0318	152	460		727	Ρ	37.5	υ	6100		36.766		
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0319	480	1300		2880	Ρ	270	JN	20000		48.033		
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-B	FB2	ZWS0322	265	1100		1590	P	45	U	7100		50.405		
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-B	FB2	ZWS0323	530	1800		2520	U	290	JN	18000		46.847		
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-B	FB2	ZWS0324	440	1600		1820	UU	110	U	9900		39.138		
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-C	FB2	ZWS0326	500	1000		1365	U	250	JN	8200		30.243		
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-C	FB2	ZWS0327	188	930		1256.5	U	46.5	U	840		3.558		
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-C	FB2	ZWS0328	277	700		857.5	U	37.5	U	3300		43.289		
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0330	184	550		840		45.5	U	5100		10.674		
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0332	461	1100		1405	PU	95	U	14000		44.475		
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0334	440	1100		1370	UP	50	U	12000		48.626		
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0335	224	690		800	UU	55	U	5700		38.545		
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNC-B	FB4	ZWS0337	13.2	7.5		14.1	UU	3.3	U	165	U	2.4906		
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNC-B	FB4	ZWS0338	400	1500	ļ	3000		390	JN	19000		51.591		
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNC-B	FB4	ZWS0339	1170	2700	L	6580	Ļ	950	JN	30000		52.184		
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0340	552	1200		1800	U	320	JNP	18000		49.219		
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0341	443	1100		1855	U	340	JN	17000		45.661		
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0343	364	1100	[1960	P	200	JN	17000		46.254		
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0344	57	170		235	U	30	JN	1500		9.488		

			Total				E. DOM:						
	Flooding		Chlordane	DDE	DDE	DDTx	DDTx	Dieldrin	Dieldrin	Toxaphene	Toxaphen		
OwnerXAlum	Block	SiteName	ug/kg	ug/kg	Code	ug/kg	Code	ug/kg	Code	ug/kg	eCode	TOC %	
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-B	FB2	ZWS0345	304	760		1125	U	75	U	3100		41.51	
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-C	FB2	ZWS0348	227	1000		1310	Ρ	38.5	U	6600	ан ан ан ан ан арагаасан араан ал ан алан ал ан	26.092	
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-C	FB2	ZWS0350	251	850	, in the second s	1170	U	60	U	4400	2010-0000000000000000000000000000000000	37.359	
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0352	401	1400		2240	P	260	JN	25000		49.812	
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0353	440	1600		2230	Ρ	280	JN	20000		46.254	
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0354	300	1300		2170	Ρ	160	JN	10000	a (hailing a parairi na manairi bira a shar ta da	40.917	
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0355	454	1100		1410	U	290	JN	16000		43.882	
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNC-B	FB4	ZWS0359	720	2300		5050	Ρ	480	JN	25000		52.777	
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0361	316	1200		1630	Ρ	80	U	12000		43.289	
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0364	346	910		1700	JP	290	JN	16000	·····	43.882	
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0365	343	1000		1520	U	240	JN	13000		40.324	
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-B	FB2	ZWS0367	600	1300		2260	U	150	U	15000		44.475	
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-B	FB2	ZWS0369	450	1600		2740		340	JN	17000		44.475	
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-C	FB2	ZWS0370	76	270		307	ບບ	18.5	U	840		5.5149	
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-C	FB2	ZWS0371	52	190		236	U	30	JN	1200	Alter Millioner Linder Allerheiterkeitere -	5.93	
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-C	FB2	ZWS0372	430	1400		1860	U	280	JN	7000	9 1919 (9 and an	39.731	
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-C	FB2	ZWS0373	360	1500		1990	U	300	JN	7400		40.917	
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0374	332	1100		1480	Ρ	85	U	12000	an a	31.429	
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0376	418	1500		2220	Ρ	260	JN	19000	1.4.4.4.4.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1	48.626	
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0378	351	870		1040	UU	85	U	9200	, e , e , a , a , a , a , a , a , a , a	36.766	
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNC-B	FB4	ZW\$0380	300	1200		1685	U	75	U	5200	************************************	46.847	
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNC-B	FB4	ZWS0381	560	1900		3630	Ρ	360	JN	21000		51.591	
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0382	13.2	12		18.6	UU	3.3	U	165	U	4.6254	
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0384	369	970		1505	U	330	JN	18000	ann an	44.475	
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0385	320	1100		2150	Ρ	50	U	18000		48.033	
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0386	207	640		969	U	130	JNP	6400		26.685	
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-B	FB2	ZWS0388	296	910		1205	U	75	U	4000	230707-77777788007777922278899987	31.429	
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-B	FB2	ZWS0389	480	1100		1530	U	120	U	7000	1.00.023*025*75.03.02**1404444444444444444444	43.289	
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-B	FB2	ZWS0391	22.4	61		72	UU	5.5	U	140	U	2.3127	
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-C	FB2	ZWS0393	61	280		360	Ρ	51		1400		5.93	
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-C	FB2	ZWS0396	260	1000		1290	U	60	U	3400		29.65	
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0398	402	1400		2040	Ρ	200		9100		32.022	
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0399	450	2000		2890	Ρ	105	U	16000		40.917	
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0400	511	1500		2190	Ρ	340	a har ya	12000		43.289	
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0401	284	690		830	UU	70	JNP	7600		48.033	
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNC-B	FB4	ZWS0403	332	1400		1970	Ρ	85	U	4600		34.394	
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNC-B	FB4	ZWS0404	520	1900		3250	Ρ	440	JN	16000		50.998	
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0408	278	1100		1950	P	300		15000	45.6		
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0409	348	940		1560	P	220	JN	22000		37.952	
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0410	472	1300		2180	JP	430	JN	22000		49.219	

			Total	100					A CONTRACTOR OF		
	Flooding		Chlordane	DDE	DDE	DDTx	DDTx	Dieldrin	Dieldrin	Toxaphene Toxaphen	
OwnerXAlum	Block	SiteName	ug/kg	ug/kg	Code	ug/kg	Code	uq/kg	Code	ua/ka eCode	TOC %
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0411	415	1100		1725	U	350	JN	17000	42,103
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0412	480	1300		1830	U	120	U	15000	33.208
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-B	FB2	ZWS0413	620	2000		3380	Ρ	690	JN	22000	41.51
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-B	FB2	ZWS0414	200	490		639.5	U	49.5	U	2300	22.534
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-B	FB2	ZWS0415	213	720	-	1430		380		6900	33.208
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-C	FB2	ZWS0417	268	810		1065	U	150	JN	5900	34.394
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-C	FB2	ZWS0418	164	480		651	U	94	JN	2500	33.208
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0419	291	950		1185	U	240	JN	7700	27.278
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0421	650	1500		2420	Ρ	740	JN	19000	48.033
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0423	556	1400		2000	JNPP	900		14000	45.068
Clarence Beall X ZNC-B	FB4	ZWS0425	500	1900		2415	U	1100	JN	5300	33.208
Clarence Beall X ZNC-B	FB4	ZWS0426	590	1700		2610		1300	JN	8900	38.545
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0430	467	1100		1880	U	380	JN	18000	33.801
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0431	284	750		1210	JP	250	JN	14000	45.661
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0432	346	1100		1710	U	280	JN	14000	34.987
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0433	366	1400		2320	Ρ	410	JN	17000	46.847
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-B	FB2	ZWS0436	640	1900		3540	Ρ	560	JN	21000	46.847
Clarence Beall X ZNW-B	FB2	ZWS0438	510	1900		2460	U	390	JN	5900	26.685
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-C	FB2	ZWS0440	192	730		908	U	170	JN	3600	19.569
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0442	650	2000		2580	U	1100	JN	15000	41.51
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0443	690	1900		3060		1000	JN	22000	48.626
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0445	413	1600		1950	U	550	JN	9100	39.138
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0446	353	850		1100	U	450	JN	9500	48.033
Clarence Beall X ZNC-B	FB4	ZWS0447	414	1600		2115	U	930	JN	9300	25.499
Clarence Beall X ZNC-B	FB4	ZWS0448	460	1700		2840	Ρ	1000	JN	6900	45.661
Clarence Beall X ZNC-B	FB4	ZWS0450	700	3300		7260	Ρ	1300	JN	7600	49.812
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0451	379	1200	Sector of the	2090	Ρ	350	JN	15000	45.661
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0452	375	1100	pointer and a start of the	1990	Ρ	350	JN	18000	40.917
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0453	360	1100		1950	P	. 90	U	16000	45.661
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0454	284	930		1150	UP	70	U	10000	36.173
Clarence Beall X ZNW-B	FB2	ZWS0456	640	2600		3220	U	510	JN	8400	41.51
Clarence Beall X ZNW-B	FB2	ZWS0458	91	710	le contractor de la contra	950		200		2300	15.418
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-C	FB2	ZWS0460	480	1700		2205	U	460	JN	9700	41.51
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-C	FB2	ZWS0461	204	790	land the second	1020	U	180	JN	4200	22.534
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0462	52	220		263	U	40		690	4.2696
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0463	406	1400	Į	2180		940	JN	4600	40.324
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0464	422	1400	ļ	1765	U	460	JN	6900	41.51
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0465	520	2000		2440	U	630	JN	8600	42.696
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0467	400	1100		3205	U	360	JN	5300	28.464
Clarence Beall X ZNC-B	FB4	ZWS0468	487	1600		2180	U	1200	JN	7400	37.952

			Total									
	Flooding		Chlordane	DDE	DDE	DDTx	DDTx	Dieldrin	Dieldrin	Toxaphene	Toxaphen	
OwnerXAlum	Block	SiteName	ug/kg	ug/kg	Code	ug/kg	Code	ua/ka	Code	ua/ka	eCode	TOC %
Clarence Beall X ZNC-B	FB4	ZWS0469	680	2400	a statut di sera di se	4820		1700	JN	12000		49 812
Clarence Beall X ZNC-B	FB4	ZWS0470	520	1800		2720	U	910	JN	4500		38.545
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0471	132	520	1	769	Ρ	140	Ρ	5400	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	45 661
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0472	188	780		1146.5	U	46.5	U	2700	1999	30.836
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0473	417	980	1 mar 1 m	1470	U	300	JN	15000		42.696
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	FB2	ZWS0474	338	1100	1014-0-004 (040 (040 (040 (040 (040 (040 (0	1665	U	270	JN	14000		36,173
Zellwin Farms X ZSW-A	FB1	ZWS0475	11.6	64		78.95	U	2.95	U	145	U.	2.3127
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZSW-B	FB1	ZWS0477	280	910		1210	U	70	U	3400		32.022
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZSW-B	FB1	ZWS0479	68	240		314.5	U	17.5	U	690		1.8976
Clarence Beall X ZNW-B	FB2	ZWS0480	1320	5500		6780	U	720	JN	17000	*******	24.313
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-C	FB2	ZWS0482	68	210		279	U	42	JN	2000		20,162
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-C	FB2	ZWS0484	61	330		453	JNP	57	Ρ	1600		17.79
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0485	160	430		590.5	U	40.5	U	830		7.709
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	FB3	ZWS0489	386	1400		1820	U	280	JNP	3300		30.836
Clarence Beall X ZNC-B	FB4	ZWS0490	826	2000		3080	JNP	1600		5500	-	34.987
Clarence Beall X ZNC-B	FB4	ZWS0491	600	1800		2625		1100	JN	5300		39.138
Clarence Beall X ZNC-B	FB4	ZWS0492	530	1500		2950	JNP	1500		8300		39.731
Clarence Beall X ZNC-B	FB4	ZWS0493	590	2000		2635	U	910	JN	17000		42.103
Zellwin Farms X ZSW-A	FB1	ZWS0496	164	440		721.5	U	90	JN	2100		20.755
Zellwin Farms X ZSW-A	FB1	ZWS0497	400	2000		3035	Ū	410	Ρ	11000		39.138
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZSW-B	FB1	ZWS0499	156	500		648.5	U	38.5	U	1200		21.348
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZSW-B	FB1	ZWS0500	660	1800		3450		145	U	8000	and in the second second second second	46.254
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZSW-B	FB1	ZWS0501	560	2100		2645	U	135	U	6400		40.917
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZSW-B	FB1	ZWS0502	400	1300		1700	U	100	U	5800		39.138
Zellwood Drainage District X Z	FB1	ZWS0503	230	2400		3520		290	JN	5500		44.475
Stroup Farms X ZSW-C	FB1	ZWS0505	650	2600		3095	U	630	Ρ	11000		46.847
Stroup Farms X ZSW-C	FB1	ZWS0506	810	2300		2690	UU	195	U	12000		49.219
Clarence Beall X ZSC-A	FB1	ZWS0508	940	3500		4660		1100	JN	6400		48.033
Clarence Beall X ZSC-A	FB1	ZWS0509	308	2100		2770		500		5900		44.475
Stroup Farms X ZSC-B	FB1	ZWS0511	750	1900		2160	UU	1100	JN 🕔	6800		40.324
Stroup Farms X ZSC-B	FB1	ZWS0512	660	2900	· ·	3510	U	1300	JN	9000		30.836
Lust Farms X ZSC-C	FB1	ZWS0514	770	1400		2510		960	JN	19000		50.998
Lust Farms X ZSC-C	FB1	ZWS0515	1670	4000		8100		3300	JN	26000		49.812
Lust Farms X ZSC-C	FB1	ZWS0516	480	1200		2110		600	JN	7700		40.917
Zellwin Farms X ZSW-A	FB1	ZWS0521	440	1900]	3110	U	110	U	7600		44.475
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZSW-B	FB1	ZWS0523	264	1300		2365	U	65	U	3700		7.116
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZSW-B	FB1	ZWS0524	920	2400		4360		430	JN	7600		47.44
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZSW-B	FB1	ZWS0525	324	610		1990	U	80	U	4500	COLUMN STREET,	44.475
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZSW-B	FB1	ZWS0526	224	650	Į	915	U	55	U	1200		17.197
Clarence Beall X ZSC-A	FB1	ZWS0531	384	1200		1585	U	370	JN	4300		49.219

			Total	1.11		1999 (M						
	Flooding		Chlordane	DDE	DDE	DDTx	DDTx	Dieldrin	Dieldrin	Toxaphene	Toxaphen	
OwnerXAlum	Block	SiteName	ug/kg	ug/kg	Code	ug/kg	Code	ug/kg	Code	ug/kg	eCode	TOC %
Stroup Farms X ZSC-B	FB1	ZWS0534	514	1300		1490	UU	500	JN	3700		42.696
Lust Farms X ZSC-C	FB1	ZWS0535	478	1200		2070		700	JN	16000		41.51
Lust Farms X ZSC-C	FB1	ZWS0536	840	1500		3220		1100	JN [.]	22000		52.184
Lust Farms X ZSC-C	FB1	ZWS0537	760	1400		3220		950	and the second	20000		48.626
Lust Farms X ZSC-C	FB1	ZWS0538	660	1300		2210		740	JN	15000		47.44
Zellwin Farms X ZSW-A	FB1	ZWS0541	680	2000	and the second s	2585	U	175	U	5600		45.661
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZSW-B	FB1	ZWS0543	345	1400		1990	\$110 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	85	U	3800		40.917
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZSW-B	FB1	ZWS0544	212	810		1075	U	55	U	265	U	32.022
Stroup Farms X ZSW-C	FB1	ZWS0546	14	21		28.1	UU	3.55	U	175	U	8.895
Stroup Farms X ZSW-C	FB1	ZWS0547	640	1800		2060	UU	130	JNP .	7200		47.44
Clarence Beall X ZSC-A	FB1	ZWS0550	426	2000		2430	Ρ	490	Ρ	6000		49.219
Clarence Beall X ZSC-A	FB1	ZWS0551	272	1100		1230	UU	65	U	1400		48.626
Lust Farms X ZSC-C	FB1	ZWS0554	512	780		1210		550	JN	12000		48.626
Lust Farms X ZSC-C	FB1	ZWS0555	720	1700		2940		1200	JN	23000		49.812
Lust Farms X ZSC-C	FB1	ZWS0557	524	1000		1720		690	JN	12000		49.219
Lust Farms X ZSC-C	FB1	ZWS0558	184	710		986	UP	130	JN	6600	4999-01-41-999-07-00-00-00-00-00-08-08-08-08-08-08-08-08-	4.0324
Stroup Farms X ZSC-B	FB1	ZWS0559	288	1700		1840	ບບ	290	Ρ	1600		45.068
Lust Farms X ZSC-C	FB1	ZWS0561	442	740		1120	Ρ	470	JN	8400		47.44
Lust Farms X ZSC-C	FB1	ZWS0562	682	1100		1950		700	JN	17000	1999 (1999) (1999) (1999) (1997) (199	49.812
Lust Farms X ZSC-C	FB1	ZWS0563	584	990		2040		690	JN	15000	1997.94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 9	50.405
Lust Farms X ZSC-C	FB1	ZWS0566	372	730		1055	UP	390	JN	10000		48.626
Lust Farms X ZSC-C	FB1	ZWS0567	400	310		1810	U	100	U	17000	······································	49.812
Lust Farms X ZSC-C	FB1	ZWS0571	432	1400		1725	UP	200	JNP	6600		43.289
Lust Farms X ZSC-C	FB1	ZWS0572	282	770		890	ŲIJ	140	JNP	4800		39.731
Lust Farms X ZSC-C	FB1	ZWS0574	536	1400	,	1590	UU	550	JN	12000		32.022
Lust Farms X ZSC-C	FB1	ZWS0575	396	1000		1260	UP	250	JN	8200		43.289
Lust Farms X ZSC-C	FB1	ZWS0576	256	640		740	UU	130	JN	4400	and and a second se	45.661
Lust Farms X ZSC-C	FB1	ZWS0577	170	540		620	UU	93	JN	2100		42.103
Zellwood Drainage District X Z	\$FB1	ZWS0578	12.4	3.1	U	9.3	ບບບ	3.1	U	155	U	1.4232

* Total chlordane is the sum of alpha-chlordane, gamma-chlordane, heptachlor and heptachlor epoxide No code included for total chlordane because it is a summation

Statistical Table

OWNER X ALUM	ACRES	CN CHLORD ANE	CN DDE	CN DDTX	CN DIELDRI N	CN TOXAPHE NE	CN CHLORD ANE	CN DDE	CN DDTX	CN DIELDRI N	CN TOXAPHEN E	CN CHLORDA NE	CN CN DDE DDTX	CN DIELDRI N	CN TOXAPHE NE	CN CHLORD ANE	CN DDE	CN DDTX	CN DIELD RIN	CN TOXAPHEN E	CN CHLORD ANE	CN DDE	CN DDTX	CN DIELDRI	CN TOXAPHE NE
		EC	EC	EC	EĊ	EC	UCL 95	UCL 95	UCL 95	UCL 95	UCL 95	AVERAGE	VERAGE VERAGE	VERAGE	AVERAGE	STD.ERR.	D.ERR.	TD.ERR.	D.ERR.	STD.ERR.	ST.ER/AVE	ST.ER/AVE	.er/ave	.ER/AVES	T.ER/AVE
Lust Farms X ZNE-A	39.893	899	5518	16890	989	60180	1465	8065	33197	1437	117109	899	5518,16890	989	60180	195	876	5610	154	19583	0.216	0.159	0.332	0.156	0.325
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	263.618	1710	4311	10340	744	31349	1710	4311	10340	744	31349	1442	6518 14625	1124	59183	157	634	1520	10 9	4607	0.109	0.097	0.104	0.097	0.078
Lust Farms X ZNE-C	75.425	2021	9289	14804	1656	86273	2021	9289	14804	1656	86273	1194	5237 9026	1061	50763	400	1963	2799	288	17200	0.335	0.375	0.310	0.272	0.339
Lust Farms X ZNE-D	50.787	653	3504	6417	438	20148	1091	5326	10228	514	24106	529	2990 5343	417	19033	123	514	1074	21	1116	0.233	0.172	0.201	0.051	0.059
Lust Farms X ZSC-C	242.009	1013	4572	7500	2048	45877	1013	4572	7500	2048	45877	790	3279 5528	1547	34331	130	752	1147	292	6714	0.164	0.229	0.207	0.189	0.196
Lust Farms X ZSE-A	156.729	1600	6282	12553	1902	122603	1600	6282	12553	1902	122603	1244	5097 10351	1449	73874	197	655	1218	251	26958	0.159	0.129	0.118	0.173	0.365
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	316.043	116 1	4590	10531	1037	54175	1161	4590	10531	1037	54175	1008	4027 8973	893	47115	91	332	920	85	4168	0.090	0.082	0.102	0.095	0.088
Lust Farms X ZSE-F	222.705	1862	6840	17185	1619	56173	1862	6840	17185	1619	56173	1425	5368 12794	1339	47650	254	854	2547	163	4943	0.178	0.159	0.199	0.122	0.104
Long Farms, Inc. X Z1N-C	159.357	2907	14630	36488	2806	98314	2907	14630	36488	2806	98314	2033	10442 24750	1830	67664	464	2224	6232	51 8	16274	0.228	0.213	0.252	0.283	0.241
Long Farms, Inc. X Z1S-E	45.278	1251	2900	5420	48	3030	3406	7546	14405	68	5180	644	1591 2887	42	2424	607	1309	2533	6	606	0.944	0.823	0.877	0.134	0.250
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A1	19.117	1589	11313	30098	2436	72606	1589	11667	32506	2436	79376	918	7768 20893	1534	52650	277	1611	4798	373	11043	0.302	0.207	0.230	0.243	0.210
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	356.644	982	6910	15789	1683	45960	982	6910	15789	1683	45960	774	5467 12370	1368	38819	122	844	2001	184	4180	0.157	0.154	0.162	0.135	0.108
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-D1	64.537	1345	5879	14445	1617	60961	1345	5879	14445	1617	60961	1102	5124 11319	1050	45136	123	381	1578	286	7985	0.112	0.074	0.139	0.273	0.177
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-D2	47.085	1853	7260	21192	2168	70089	1853	7260	211 92	2168	70089	1442	6118 14257	1683	59669	199	553	3360	235	5047	0.138	0.090	0.236	0.139	0.085
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-E	73.439	1293	7249	19320	1017	69208	1293	7249	19320	1017	69208	988	5727 15187	799	55441	158	791	2147	113	7152	0.160	0.138	0.141	0.141	0.129
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-F	40.112	1546	9134	28457	1546	120045	1694	9578	31492	1722	120714	1130	6738 19865	1169	68276	233	1174	4804	229	21667	0.207	0.174	0.242	0.196	0.317
Long Farms, Inc. X ZSE-A	181.786	1091	3444	6489	1415	34171	1091	3444	6489	1415	34171	809	2865 5280	1111	28228	156	320	669	169	3288	0.193	0.112	0.127	0.152	0.116
Lust & Long Precooler X ZNE-F		877	877	2631	877	43845					10000	877	877 2631	877	43845					*000	14075				
Zellwin Farms X Z1N-D	75.071	2752	12903	36657	2113	95823	3325	13807	42519	2276	106874	2432	10921 24820	1755	88704	307	993	6089	179	6250	0.126	0.091	0.245	0.102	0.070
Zellwin Farms X Z1N-E	96.277	3874	25455	77253	3761	181204	3874	25647	77253	3761	181204	3543	18744 52318	3369	158803	151	3146	11367	179	10212	0.043	0.168	0.217	0.053	0.064
Zellwin Farms X Z1N-G	198.201	1536	9057	1 3861	1680	88248	1536	9057	13861	1680	88248	1207	6544 10939	1270	65527	166	1268	1474	207	11464	0.138	0.194	0.135	0.163	0.175
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-A	329.036	2668	7597	10156	2480	73679	2668	7597	10156	2480	73679	2079	5676 7505	1822	56961	331	1081	1491	370	9403	0.159	0.190	0.199	0.203	0.165
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-B	308.098	1928	4597	8689	761	73378	1928	4597	8689	761	73378	1526	3651 6678	597	56572	222	523	1113	91	9297	0.146	0.143	0.167	0.152	0.164
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-C	314.405	2212	5682	10961	988	83201	2212	5682	1 0961	988	83201	1958	5014 9789	838	72987	144	378	663	85	5781	0.073	0.075	0.068	0.102	0.079
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-D	307.701	2297	4996	8167	1578	81189	2297	4996	8167	1578	81189	1897	4348 6917	1292	65036	224	362	698	159	9017	0.118	0.083	0.101	0.123	0.139
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-E	214.079	1943	10010	31997	1740	41669	1943	10010	31997	1740	41669	1169	6162 16664	870	23156	402	1999	7965	452	9618	0.344	0.324	0.478	0.519	0.415
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	332.688	738	4114	6200	1220	33305	738	4114	6200	1220	33305	665	3699 5471	1032	28939	43	245	431	111	2581	0.064	0.066	0.079	0.107	0.089
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	321.842	507	2587	4230	617	35090	507	2587	4230	617	35090	461	2390 3901	550	31701	27	117	195	40	2011	0.059	0.049	0.050	0.072	0.063
Statistical Table

÷.

OWNER X ALUM	ACRES	CN CHLORD ANE	CN DDE	CN DDTX	CN DIELDRI N	CN TOXAPHE NE	CN CHLORD ANE	CN DDE	CN DDTX	CN DIELDRI N	CN TOXAPHEN E	CN CHLORDA NE	CN DDE D	CN D DTX	CN DIELDRI N	CN TOXAPHE NE	CN CHLORD ANE	CN DDE	CN DDTX	CN DIELD RIN	CN TOXAPHEN E	CN CHLORD ANE	CN DDE	CN DDTX	CN DIELDRI N	CN TOXAPHE NE
		EC	EC	EC	EC	EC	UCL 95	UCL 95	UCL 95	UCL 95	UCL 95	AVERAGE	AVERAGE VE	RAGE /E	ERAGE	AVERAGE	STD.ERR.	D.ERR.	TD.ERR.	D.ERR.	STD.ERR.	ST.ER/AVE	ST.ER/AVE	T.ER/AVE	T.ER/AVE S	T.ER/AVE
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-B	211.451	704	4100	6225	895	32924	704	4100	6225	895	32924	602	3429 5	5282	719	26440	58	379	533	100	3670	0.096	0.111	0.101	0.139	0.139
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-C	250.462	882	6450	8916	890	20405	882	6450	8916	890	20405	657	4415 6	8057	686	17809	130	1177	1653	118	1501	0.198	0.267	0.273	0.172	0.084
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I	246.960	3757	9546	15664	3657	117306	3757	9546	15664	3657	117306	2637	6816 11	258	2512	79048	650	1583	2556	664	22189	0.247	0.232	0.227	0.264	0.281
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-J	143.455	2736	6883	17101	2419	71712	2736	6883	17101	2419	71712	2145	5365 12	2641	1862	52116	335	860	2524	316	11092	0.156	0.160	0.200	0.169	0.213
Zellwin Farms X ZSW-A	112.876	553	4334	6698	737	19053	553	4334	6698	737	19053	408	3130 4	1834	510	13769	73	607	941	114	2666	0.179	0.194	0.195	0.224	0.194
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	298,606	668	5439	7193	1111	11912	668	5439	7193	1111	11912	569	4627 6	6095	909	9872	58	477	645	119	1198	0.102	0.103	0.106	0.131	0.121
Clonts Farm X ZSE-C	100.413	1155	5424	7167	1123	19057	1155	5424	7167	1123	19057	894	4106 5	5412	862	13974	141	712	947	141	2745	0.158	0.173	0.175	0.164	0.196
Clonts Farm X ZSE-G	152.052	958	5509	7553	1105	20080	958	5509	7553	1105	20080	827	4578 6	6256	929	16549	74	527	734	100	1999	0.090	0.115	0.117	0.108	0.121
Clonts Farm X ZSE-H	28.542	537	4982	6573	594	9007	915	9084	12100	701	11273	430	3826 5	5015	564	8368	107	1156	1558	30	639	0.248	0.302	0.311	0.053	0.076
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNC-B	156.145	782	4383	8111	1036	38373	782	4383	8111	1036	38373	603	3580 e	6404	784	29586	98	440	934	138	4809	0.162	0.123	0.146	0.176	0.163
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-A1	19.603	1490	8236	17666	1490	29413	1743	9145	19074	1737	34442	955	6255 14	750	957	25816	271	994	1487	268	2967	0.284	0.159	0.101	0.280	0.115
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-A2	76.687	3898	25665	120950	3876	79599	3898	25665	120950	3876	79599	2463	16274 71	114	2514	58393	695	4549	24139	660	10272	0.282	0.280	0.339	0.263	0.176
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-C	73.932	1631	9654	16887	1579	35226	1631	9654	16887	1579	35226	1349	6702 13	810	1303	30758	137	1430	1490	134	2164	0.102	0.213	0.108	0.103	0.070
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-D	58.624	1718	13724	52134	1757	48815	1718	13724	52134	1757	49534	1314	10210 34	469	1334	41026	196	1702	8556	205	4121	0.149	0.167	0.248	0.154	0.100
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZSW-B	94.714	1035	7631	12761	979	22653	1035	7631	12761	979	22653	769	5255 8	506	721	15835	149	1326	2375	144	3806	0.194	0.252	0.279	0.200	0.240
Stroup Farms X ZNE-A	75.694	1294	8998	15072	1930	44793	1294	8998	16000	1930	48123	668	4936 10)110	1199	30669	285	1852	2685	333	7957	0.427	0.375	0.266	0.278	0.259
Stroup Farms X ZSC-B	78.596	1297	8698	10919	4144	28100	1444	8698	10919	4144	28100	895	5233 E	533	2190	14567	227	1432	1812	807	5592	0.253	0.274	0.277	0.369	0.384
Stroup Farms X ZSE-E	148.245	1045	8328	12886	1521	40561	1045	8328	12886	1521	40561	883	6755.10	732	1338	32806	91	885	1211	103	4362	0.104	0.131	0.113	0.077	0.133
Stroup Farms X ZSW-C	80.696	875	5550	6873	1328	24381	1107	6384	8145	1328	28228	647	3563 4	604	691	16743	190	1166	1463	263	4745	0.294	0.327	0.318	0.381	0.283
Clarence Beall X ZNC-B	150.972	1098	5493	9264	3477	25323	1098	5493	9264	3477	25323	929	5023 8	147	3133	21032	94	262	623	192	2395	0.101	0.052	0.077	0.061	0.114
Clarence Beall X ZNW-B	75.371	2471	20291	26280	2732	62774	2471	20291	26280	2732	62774	1204	10153 13	304	1737	31796	524	4189	5361	411	12799	0.435	0.413	0.403	0.237	0.403
Clarence Beall X ZSC-A	61.570	889	5636	7371	1589	13063	889	5636	7371	1589	13063	585	4091 5	285	993	9532	147	748	1011	289	1710	0.252	0.183	0.191	0.291	0.179
Hensel & Rodgers X Z1N-A	306.203	4392	18516	25579	1629	24587	4392	18516	25579	1629	24587	2152	13106 17	914	951	20860	1268	3062	4339	383	2110	0.589	0.234	0.242	0.403	0.101
Robert Potter & Sons, Inc. X Z1N-	307.969	1761	12736	24883	3687	103045	1761	12736	24883	3687	103045	1435	8533 17	600 2	2730	81424	178	2300	3985	524	11832	0.124	0.270	0.226	0.192	0.145
Grinnell Farms, Inc. X Z1N-D	56.731	1477	6364	24386	500	59091						1477	6364 24	386	500	59091										
Grinnell Farms, Inc. X Z1N-E	11.822	176	1338	3060	176	8777	183	1487	4921	183	21305	174	1296 2	535	174	5246	2	42	525	2	3531	0.012	0.032	0.207	0.012	0.673
Grinnell Farms, Inc. X Z1S-E	306.203	2550	14856	45565	1885	108647	2587	15098	46763	1901	110309	1526	10372 27	658	1229	64837	438	1953	7894	278	18788	0.287	0.188	0.285	0.226	0.290
Marsell X Z1N-E	13.332	2338	18506	50682	2305	25325	3447	23343	64878	3385	32512	1420	8476 25	273	1425	14065	698	5114	13624	674	6346	0.491	0.603	0.539	0.473	0.451
Marsell X Z1S-E	21.502	76	78	234	78	3796						76	78	234	78	3796										

Statistical Table

5.

																							w gran			
		CN CHLORD			CN DIELDRI	CN TOXAPHE	CN CHLORD			CN DIELDRI	CN TOXAPHEN	CN CHLORDA		CN I	CN DIELDRI	CN TOXAPHE	CN CHLORD	CN	CN	CN DIELD	CN TOXAPHEN	CN CHLORE	1		CN DIELDRI	CN TOXAPHE
OWNER X ALUM	ACRES	ANE	CN DDE	CN DDTX	N	NE	ANE	CN DDE	CN DDTX	N	Е	NE	CN DDE	DDTX	N	NE	ANE	DDE	DDTX	RIN	E	ANE	CN DDE	CN DDT)	N	NE
		EC	EC	EC	EC	EC	UCL 95	UCL 95	UCL 95	UCL 95	UCL 95	AVERAGE	VERAGE	VERAGE	/ERAGE	AVERAGE	STD.ERR.	D.ERR.3	TD.ERR.	D.ERR.	STD.ERR.	ST.ER/AVE	ST.ER/AVE	T.ER/AVE	T.ER/AVE S	T.ER/AVE
NAPA X Z1N-B	34.135	922	14446	19054	2740	21420						922	14446	19054	2740	21420										
Smith X ZNE-A	29.283	418	5529	13463	525	38703	479	7278	18055	680	46523	347	4131	10880	440	32414	45	1082	2468	83	4854	0.131	0.262	0.227	0.188	0.150
Smith X none		186	352	730	189	9313						186	352	730	189	9313					2					
Shortz X Z1N-B1	24.043	540	12468	24416	935	6234						540	12468	24416	935	6234										
Shortz X Z1N-B2	15.771	1102	6061	15152	1102	8540						1102	6061	15152	1102	8540										
Rice X Z1N-D2	13.644	73	455	648	73	3636						73	455	648	73	3636										
Rice X Z1N-D1	4.760	102	1445	2051	101	5124	226	2015	3019	222	10409	68	1285	1779	67	3634	35	161	273	34	1490	0.517	0.125	0.153	0.511	0.410
Zellwood Drainage District X ZSW	9.589	436	5396	7915	652	21782	522	14196	19636	1036	38484	411	2916	4611	544	17074	24	2480	3304	108	4708	0.059	0.851	0.717	0.199	0.276
General Impex X Z1N-G	24.466	94	6288	8652	91	7576						94	6288	8652	91	7576										
Shaffer X Z1S-E	11.916	126	125	374	125	6324						126	125	374	125	6324										
Progressive Growers (Rice) X Z11	1.278	860	843	2529	843	42975						860	843	2529	843	42975					r.					
Bates X Z1N-E	6.352	32	1451	3611	33	3095						32	1451	3611	33	3095										
Mulford Hickerson c/o Peat Humm	us Corp >	227	1686	2279	227	11373						227	1686	2279	227	11373										
																						0.209	0.210	0.226	0.192	0.196
Indicates only one sample in block			·																							

								, • ,																		
		OWNER X ALUM		ACRES	CN CHL EC	ORDANE (E	C EC	N DDTX N E	DIELDRI C I	TOXAPHE (EC	CHLORDA UCL 95	CN DDE	CN DDTX N UCL 95	DIELDRI	TOXAPHE (UCL 95 A	CHLORDA	ON DDE (VERAGE A	CN DDTX N VERAGE AV	DIELDRI I VERAGE A	TOXAPHEN VERAGE	NE CN CHLORDA STD.ERR. S	CN DDE	N DDTX N TD.ERR. S	DELDR	TOXAPHENE STD.ERR.	CN CHLORDA CN DDE CN DDTX N DIELDRI TOXAPHENE ST.ER/AVE IT.ER/AVE IT.ER/AVE IT.ER/AVE IT.ER/AVE
	1	Lust Farms X ZNE-A	Lust Farms X ZNE-A	39,893		1288	6632	27211	1288	98528	1465	8065	33197	1437	117109	899	5518	16890	989	60180	195	876	5610	15 4	19583	0.216463 0.158773 0.332148 0.155865 0.325410
	2	Lust Farms X ZNE-B	Lust Farms X ZNE-B	263.618		1710	4311	10340	744	31349	1710	4311	10340	744	31349	1442	6518	14625	1124	59183	157	634	1520	109	4607	0.108882 0.097200 0.103908 0.097279 0.077845
	3	Lust Farms X ZNE-C	Lust Farms X ZNE-C	75.425		2021	9289	14804	1656	86273	2021	9289	14804	1656	86273	1194	5237	9026	1061	50763	400	1963	2799	288	17200	0.335286 0.374808 0.310090 0.271657 0.338824
	4	Lust Farms X ZNE-D	Lust Farms X ZNE-D	50.787		653	3504	6417	438	20148	1091	5326	10228	514	24106	529	2990	5343	417	19033	123	514	1074	21	1116	0.233236 0.171759 0.201050 0.051335 0.058612
	. 5 . 6	Lust Farms X ZSC-C	Lust Farms X ZSC-C	242.009 156 729		1013	4572	12553	2048	45877	1013	4572	12553	2048	45877	/90 1244	3279 5097	5528 10351	1547	34331 73874	130	/52 655	114/	292	5/14 26958	U.164213 U.229170 U.207465 U.188564 U.195569
1 1	7	Lust Farms X ZSE-D	Lust Farms X ZSE-D	316.043		1161	4590	10531	1037	54175	1161	4590	10531	1002	54175	1008	4027	8973	893	47115	91	332	920	201 85	4168	0.089823 0.082446 0.102484 0.094930 0.088472
	8	Lust Farms X ZSE-F	Lust Farms X ZSE-F	222.705		1862	6840	17185	1619	56173	1862	6840	17185	1619	56173	1425	5368	12794	1339	47650	254	854	2547	163	4943	0.178006 0.159040 0.199093 0.121506 0.103739
1 1	9	Long Farms, Inc. X Z1N-C	Long Farms, Inc. X Z1N-(159.357		2907	14630	36488	2806	98314	2907	14630	36488	2806	98314	2033	10442	24750	1830	67664	464	2224	6232	518	16274	0.228340 0.212973 0.251801 0.282899 0.240512
1 1	10	Long Farms, inc. X Z1S-E	Long Farms, Inc. X Z1S-E	45.278		1251	2900	5420	48	3030	3406	7546	14405	68	5180	644	1591	2887	42	2424	607	1309	2533	6	606	0.943510 0.822881 0.877202 0.134021 0.250000
	11	Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A1	Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-	19.117		1589	11313	30098	2436	72606	1589	11667	32506	2436	79376	918	7768	20893	1534	52650	277	1611	4798	373	11043	0.302129 0.207420 0.229662 0.243029 0.209743
	12	Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-	356.644		982	6910 5970	15789	1683	45960	982	6910	15789	1683	45960	774	5467	12370	1368	38819	122	844	2001	184	4180	0.157335 0.154414 0.161766 0.134671 0.107667
	13	Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-D1	Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-	04.037 47.085		1345	7260	14445 21102	1617 2168	70089	1345	5879	14445	1617	50961 70080	1102	5124 6118	11319	1050	40136	123	381	1578	286	7985	0.111629 0.074421 0.139377 0.272932 0.176906
	15	Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-E	Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-I	73.439		1293	7249	19320	1017	69208	1293	7249	19320	1017	69208	988	5727	15187	799	55441	158	555 791	2147	200 113	7152	0.160213 0.138067 0.141366 0.141464 0.129001
1 1	16 (1)	Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-F	Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-	40.112		1546	9134	28457	1546	120045	1694	9578	31492	1722	120714	1130	6738	19865	1169	68276	233	1174	4804	229	21667	0.206612 0.174176 0.241852 0.195556 0.317336
A D Description Description <thdescription< th=""> <thdescription< th=""> <thd< td=""><td>17</td><td>Long Farms, Inc. X ZSE-A</td><td>Long Farms, Inc. X ZSE-/</td><td>181.786</td><td></td><td>1091</td><td>3444</td><td>6489</td><td>1415</td><td>34171</td><td>1091</td><td>3444</td><td>6489</td><td>1415</td><td>34171</td><td>809</td><td>2865</td><td>5280</td><td>1111</td><td>28228</td><td>156</td><td>320</td><td>669</td><td>169</td><td>3288</td><td>0.192754 0.111857 0.126762 0.151934 0.116470</td></thd<></thdescription<></thdescription<>	17	Long Farms, Inc. X ZSE-A	Long Farms, Inc. X ZSE-/	181.786		1091	3444	6489	1415	34171	1091	3444	6489	1415	34171	809	2865	5280	1111	28228	156	320	669	169	3288	0.192754 0.111857 0.126762 0.151934 0.116470
19 2 2 5 2 5 2 5 3 5 3 5 3 5 3 5 3 5 3 5 3 5 3 5 3 5 3 5 3 5 3 5 3 5 3 5 3 5 3 5 3 5 3 5 3 5	18 (2)	Lust & Long Precooler X ZNE-F				877	877	2631	877	43845						877	877	2631	877	43845						
0 0	19	Zellwin Farms X				1312	5371	7495	1249	49966						1312	5371	7495	1249	49966						
1 1	20	Zellwin Farms X Z1N-D	Zellwin Farms X Z1N-D	75.071	·	2752	12903	36657	2113	95823	3325	13807	42519	2276	106874	2432	10921	24820	1755	88704	307	993	6089	179	6250	0.126296 0.090919 0.245314 0.102150 0.070461
12 Autor une 3114 Autor une 3114 <td>21</td> <td>Zellwin Farms X Z1N-E</td> <td>Zeliwin Farms X Z1N-E</td> <td>96.277</td> <td></td> <td>3874</td> <td>25455</td> <td>12961</td> <td>3761</td> <td>181204</td> <td>38/4</td> <td>25647</td> <td>1253</td> <td>3761</td> <td>181204</td> <td>3543</td> <td>18744</td> <td>52318</td> <td>3369</td> <td>158803</td> <td>151</td> <td>3146</td> <td>11367</td> <td>179</td> <td>10212</td> <td>0.042610 0.167863 0.217265 0.053127 0.064305</td>	21	Zellwin Farms X Z1N-E	Zeliwin Farms X Z1N-E	96.277		3874	25455	12961	3761	181204	38/4	25647	1253	3761	181204	3543	18744	52318	3369	158803	151	3146	11367	179	10212	0.042610 0.167863 0.217265 0.053127 0.064305
1 2 2 2 1 1 0	23	Zellwin Farms X Z1S-A	Zellwin Farms X Z1S-A	329.036		2769	7789	10391	2577	75663	2769	9057 7789	10391	2577	75663	2138	5699	7505	1866	57499	352	1200	1474	207	10140	0.157530 0.193608 0.134788 0.162913 0.174945
Abs Contract 2:5: Contract 2:5: Contract 2:5:	24	Zellwin Farms X Z1S-B	Zellwin Farms X Z1S-B	308.098		1928	4597	8689	761	73378	1928	4597	8689	761	73378	1526	3651	6678	597	56572	222	523	1113	91	9297	0.145735 0.143336 0.166628 0.151843 0.164345
Absolutive Xiele Absolutive Xiele	25	Zellwin Farms X Z1S-C	Zellwin Farms X Z1S-C	314.405		2212	5682	10961	988	83201	2212	5682	10961	988	83201	1958	5014	9789	838	72987	144	378	663	85	5781	0.073407 0.075421 0.067763 0.101686 0.079209
27 2444 Francy 220 6 2440 Francy 220 6	26	Zellwin Farms X Z1S-D	Zellwin Farms X Z1S-D	307.701		2297	4996	8167	1578	81189	2297	4996	8167	1578	81189	1897	4348	6917	1292	65036	224	362	698	159	9017	0.117929 0.083173 0.100885 0.123354 0.138641
11 2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.2.	27	Zellwin Farms X Z1S-E	Zellwin Farms X Z1S-E	214.079		1943	10010	31997	1740	41669	1943	10010	31997	1740	41669	1169	6162	16664	870	23156	402	1999	7965	452	9618	0.343630 0.324474 0.477975 0.519243 0.415348
B Description Solution Solution <th< td=""><td>28</td><td>Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A</td><td>Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A</td><td>332.688</td><td></td><td>738</td><td>4114</td><td>6200</td><td>1220</td><td>33305</td><td>738</td><td>4114</td><td>6200</td><td>1220</td><td>33305</td><td>665</td><td>3699</td><td>5471</td><td>1032</td><td>28939</td><td>43</td><td>245</td><td>431</td><td>111</td><td>2581</td><td>0.064329 0.066224 0.078716 0.107294 0.089178</td></th<>	28	Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	332.688		738	4114	6200	1220	33305	738	4114	6200	1220	33305	665	3699	5471	1032	28939	43	245	431	111	2581	0.064329 0.066224 0.078716 0.107294 0.089178
Signate Source	29.	Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	321.842		507	2587	4230	617	35090	507	2587	4230	617	35090	461	2390	3901	550	31701	27	117	195	40	2011	0.059453 0.048816 0.050094 0.072330 0.063447
Status	31	Zeliwin Farms X ZNW-B	Zeliwin Farms X ZNVV-B	211.451 250.462		704	4100. 64501	6225 8916	895	32924	/U4 882	4100 6450	6225 8916	895	32924	602	3429	5282	719	26440	58 130	379	533	100	3670	0.095638 0.110609 0.100977 0.138825 0.138812
33 2 deter fram: X 2EL 2	32	Zellwin Farms X ZSE-1	Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I	246.960		3757	9546	15664	3657	117306	3757	9546	15664	3657	117306	2637	6816	11258	2512	79048	650	1583	2556	664	22189	0.266520 0.232275 0.2272932 0.171032 0.064271
3 Description Control France Zable i Contro France Zable i Contro France Zable i <	33	Zellwin Farms X ZSE-J	Zellwin Farms X ZSE-J	143.455		2736	6883	17101	2419	71712	2736	6883	17101	2419	71712	2145	5365	12641	1862	52116	335	860	2524	316	11092	0.156067 0.160213 0.199688 0.169491 0.212840
State Distate Distate <thdistate< th=""> <thdistate< th=""> <thdis< td=""><td>34</td><td>Zellwin Farms X ZSW-A</td><td>Zellwin Farms X ZSW-A</td><td>112.876</td><td></td><td>553</td><td>4334</td><td>6698</td><td>737</td><td>19053</td><td>553</td><td>4334</td><td>6698</td><td>737</td><td>19053</td><td>408</td><td>3130</td><td>4834</td><td>510</td><td>13769</td><td>73</td><td>607</td><td>941</td><td>114</td><td>2666</td><td>0.179285 0.193997 0.194589 0.224136 0.193637</td></thdis<></thdistate<></thdistate<>	34	Zellwin Farms X ZSW-A	Zellwin Farms X ZSW-A	112.876		553	4334	6698	737	19053	553	4334	6698	737	19053	408	3130	4834	510	13769	73	607	941	114	2666	0.179285 0.193997 0.194589 0.224136 0.193637
99 Durin Femil X2ED-0 Dimin Femil X2ED-0	35	Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	298.606		668	5439	7193	1111	11912	668	5439	7193	1111	11912	569	4627	.6095	909	9872	58	477	645	119	1198	0.101639 0.103044 0.105840 0.130760 0.121382
a) Control #um / Zel-4 Contro #um / Zel-4 Control #um / Zel-4 Con	36	Clonts Farm X ZSE-C	Clonts Farm X ZSE-C	100.413		1155	5424	7167	1123	19057	1155	5424	7167	1123	19057	894	4106	5412	862	13974	141	712	947	141	2745	0.157598 0.173389 0.175028 0.163570 0.196404
as Culture function Culture funct	37	Clonts Farm X ZSE-G	Clonts Farm X ZSE-G	152.052		958	5509	7553	1105	20080	958	5509	7553	1105	20080	827	4578	6256	929	16549	74	527	734	100	1999	0.089603 0.115057 0.117304 0.107779 0.120761
Guards Ster, Inv. X 201-4 Chanks Ster, Inv. X 201-4 Ster, Inv. X 201-4 Ster, Inv.X 2	39	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNC-B	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZN(156 145		782	4902	8111	1036	38373	782	9084 4383	12100 8111	1036	38373	43U 603	3626	6404	784	20586	- 107	1156	1558	.30 138	4900	0.248143 0.302170 0.310661 0.053228 0.076336
1 Chraks & Son, Inc. X 2H-X Condex & Son, Inc. X 2H-X Son Dec X 2H-X Condex & Son, Inc. X 2H-X Son Dec X 2H-X Condex & Son, Inc. X 2H-X Son Dec X 2H-X Condex & Son, Inc. X 2H-X Son Dec X 2H-X Condex & Son, Inc. X 2H-X Son Dec X 2H-X Condex & Son, Inc. X 2H-X Son Dec X 2H-X Condex & Son, Inc. X 2H-X Son Dec X 2H-X Condex & Son, Inc. X 2H-X Son Dec X 2H-X Condex & Son, Inc. X 2H-X Son Dec X 2H-X Condex & Son, Inc. X 2H-X Son Dec X 2H-X	40	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-A1	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE	19.603		1490	8236	17666	1490	29413	1743	9145	19074	1737	34442	955	6255	14750	957	25816	271	994	1487	268	2967	0.102362 0.122773 0.143633 0.173042 0.102333
Calisies 85 0 X2MEC Calisies 85 0 X2ME (A11 V2M (A11 V2M (A11 V2M (A11 V2M V2M	41	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-A2	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNI	76.687		3898	25665	120950	3876	79599	3898	25665	120950	3876	79599	2463	16274	71114	2514	58393	695	4549	24139	660	10272	0.282130 0.279508 0.339441 0.262611 0.175902
45 Orthike & Sm. [In: X XM-5 Orthike & Sm. [In: X XM-5	42	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-C	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNI	73.932		1631	9654	16887	1579	35226	1631	9654	16887	1579	35226	1349	6702	13810	1303	30758	137	1430	1490	134	2164	0.101541 0.213376 0.107929 0.102578 0.070359
44 Crakes & Son, Inc. X 23V-B Orthole & Son, Inc.	43	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-D	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE	58.624		1718	13724	52134	1757	48815	1718	13724	52134	1757	49534	1314	10210	34469	1334	41026	196	1702	8556	205	4121	0.148997 0.166723 0.248229 0.153664 0.100453
struct struct st	44	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZSW-B	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZSV	94.714		1035	7631	12761	979	22653	1035	7631	12761	979	22653	769	5255	8506	721	15835	149	1326	2375	144	3806	0.193612 0.252374 0.279191 0.199917 0.240348
	45	Stroup Farms X ZNE-A	Stroup Farms X ZNE-A	78 508		1294	8998	15072	1930	44793	1294	8998	16000	1930	48123	668	4936	10110	1199	30669	285	1852	2685	333	7957	0.427380 0.375139 0.265549 0.277704 0.259451
48 Stroup Farma X ZSW-C Stroup Farma X ZS	47	Stroup Farms X ZSE-E	Stroup Farms X ZSE-E	148.245		1045	8328	12886	1521	40561	1045	8328	12886	1521	40561	883	6755	10732	1338	32806	227	143Z 885	1012	103	2092 4362	0.103652 0.131015 0.112890 0.076997 0.132952
49 Clarence Bealt X2NC-8 Clarence Bealt X2NC-8 <th< td=""><td>48</td><td>Stroup Farms X ZSW-C</td><td>Stroup Farms X ZSW-C</td><td>80.696</td><td></td><td>875</td><td>5550</td><td>6873</td><td>1328</td><td>24381</td><td>1107</td><td>6384</td><td>8145</td><td>1328</td><td>28228</td><td>647</td><td>3563</td><td>4604</td><td>691</td><td>16743</td><td>190</td><td>1166</td><td>1463</td><td>263</td><td>4745</td><td>0.293728 0.327095 0.317698 0.380847 0.283425</td></th<>	48	Stroup Farms X ZSW-C	Stroup Farms X ZSW-C	80.696		875	5550	6873	1328	24381	1107	6384	8145	1328	28228	647	3563	4604	691	16743	190	1166	1463	263	4745	0.293728 0.327095 0.317698 0.380847 0.283425
50 Clarence Beall X ZMV-B Clarence Beall X ZMV-C Clarence Beall X ZMV-C Clarence Beall X ZMV-	49	Clarence Beall X ZNC-B	Clarence Beall X ZNC-B	150,972		1098	5493	9264	3477	25323	1098	5493	9264	3477	25323	929	5023	8147	3133	21032	94	262	623	192	2395	0.101153 0.052244 0.076526 0.061382 0.113890
51 Clarence Beall X ZSC-A Clarence Beall X ZSC-	50	Clarence Beall X ZNW-B	Clarence Beall X ZNW-B	75.371		2471	20291	26280	2732	62774	2471	20291	26280	2732	62774	1204	10153	13304	1737	31796	524	4189	5361	411	12799	0.435088 0.412605 0.402994 0.236583 0.402543
52 Hensel & Rodgers X Z1N-A Hensel & Rodgers X Z1N-B Sobet Point & Sons, Inc. X Z1N-F Gennel Farms, Inc. X Z1N-B Gennel Farms, Inc. X Z1N-B Gennel Farms, Inc. X Z1N-B Gennel Farms, Inc. X Z11 11.822 178 24883 3987 103045 1741 12736 24883 3987 103045 1437 6334 2439 833 2110 0.124248 0.228431 0.131493 54 Grinnell Farms, Inc. X Z1N-E Grinnell Farms, Inc. X Z11 18.22 178 1838 3060 176 8777 183 1487 4921 183 2130 174 5246 2 42 52 2 3531 0.011489 0.238060 0.238060 0.238060 0.238060 0.238060 0.238060 0.238060 0.238060 0.238060 0.238060 0.238060 0.238060 0.238060 0.238060 0.238060 0.238060 0.238060 0.238060 <th< td=""><td>51</td><td>Clarence Beall X ZSC-A</td><td>Clarence Beall X ZSC-A</td><td>61.570</td><td></td><td>889</td><td>5636</td><td>7371</td><td>1589</td><td>13063</td><td>889</td><td>5636</td><td>7371</td><td>1589</td><td>13063</td><td>585</td><td>4091</td><td>5285</td><td>993</td><td>9532</td><td>147</td><td>748</td><td>1011</td><td>289</td><td>1710</td><td>0.252093 0.182840 0.191230 0.290743 0.179445</td></th<>	51	Clarence Beall X ZSC-A	Clarence Beall X ZSC-A	61.570		889	5636	7371	1589	13063	889	5636	7371	1589	13063	585	4091	5285	993	9532	147	748	1011	289	1710	0.252093 0.182840 0.191230 0.290743 0.179445
13 10000H1 Protein & Sons, Inc. X 211N- 100000H Protein & Sons, Inc. X 211N- 10000H Protein & Sons, Inc. X 211N- 1177 5342 24883 3987 103045 1437 5342 24883 3987 103045 1437 5334 24883 3987 103045 1437 5334 24883 3987 103045 1437 5334 24883 500 50001 1477 5334 24883 500 50001 1477 5344 2488 500 50001 1477 5344 2488 500 50001 1477 5344 2488 500 5001 1474 1296 2535 174 5240 2 42 52 2 3531 0.011588 0.032405 0.208663 0.02765 56 6/monthile Tarms, Inc. X 211N 308.0 1485 4556 1885 1698 45763 1901 110309 1528 10372 2768 1229 64837 438 1953 768 78 244 78 569 1682 1685 508 5114 1926 525 2 3531 0.011568 0.287	52	Hensel & Rodgers X Z1N-A	Hensel & Rodgers X Z1N	306.203		4392	18516	25579	1629	24587	4392	18516	25579	1629	24587	2152	13106	17914	951	20860	1268	3062	4339	383	2110	0.589366 0.233660 0.242185 0.402962 0.101149
54 04 <td< td=""><td>53 54</td><td>Robert Potter & Sons, Inc. X 21N-F</td><td>Grippell Ferme Inc. X 71</td><td>307,969</td><td></td><td>1761</td><td>12736</td><td>24883</td><td>3687</td><td>103045</td><td>1761</td><td>12736</td><td>24883</td><td>3687</td><td>103045</td><td>1435</td><td>8533</td><td>17600</td><td>2730</td><td>81424</td><td>178</td><td>2300</td><td>3985</td><td>524</td><td>11832</td><td>0.124248 0.269565 0.226431 0.191816 0.145313</td></td<>	53 54	Robert Potter & Sons, Inc. X 21N-F	Grippell Ferme Inc. X 71	307,969		1761	12736	24883	3687	103045	1761	12736	24883	3687	103045	1435	8533	17600	2730	81424	178	2300	3985	524	11832	0.124248 0.269565 0.226431 0.191816 0.145313
56 Grinnell Farms, Inc. X21S-E Hensel & Rodgers X21N 306.23 250 14856 4566 1509 46763 1901 1000 152 1426 104 1903 2 6037 60374 0.001100 0.002400 0.200903 0.011000 0.002400 0.200903 0.011000 0.002400 0.200903 0.011000 0.002400 0.200903 0.011000 0.002400 0.200903 0.011000 0.002400 0.200903 0.011000 0.002400 0.200903 0.011000 0.002400 0.200903 0.011000 0.002400 0.200903 0.010000 0.01000 0.01000 0.011000 0.002400 0.200903 0.010000 0.01000 0.01000 0.01000 0.002400 0.200903	55	Grinnell Farms, Inc. X Z1N-E	Grinnell Farms, Inc. X Z1	11.822		176	1338	24300	176	59091 8777	183	1487	4021	183	21305	1477	1206	24380	174	59091	2 2	A3	526	.	3534	
57 (3) Marsell X Z1N-E 13.332 2338 18506 50882 2305 25325 3447 23343 64878 3385 32512 1420 B476 25273 1425 1406 698 5114 13624 674 6345 0.49135 0.603346 0.603346 0.4913	56	Grinnell Farms, Inc. X Z1S-E	Hensel & Rodgers X Z1N	306.203		2550	14856	45565	1885	108647	2587	15098	46763	1901	110309	1526	10372	27658	1229	64837	438	-+- 1953	7894	∡ 278	18788	0.287028 0.188250 0.285421 0.226049 0.289776
56 Marsell X Z1S-E 21.502 76 78 234 78 3796 59 NAPA X Z1N-B 34.135 922 14446 19054 2740 21420 922 14446 19054 2740 21420 922 14446 19054 2740 21420 922 14446 19054 2740 21420 922 14446 19054 2740 21420 922 14446 19054 2740 21420 923 185 580 46523 347 4131 10880 440 32414 45 1082 2468 83 4854 0.130556 0.262008 0.226868 0.187892 0.149737 61 (4) Smith X none 188 352 730 189 9313 188 352 730 189 9313 188 352 730 189 9313 188 352 730 189 9313 188 352 730 189 9313 188 108 108	57 (3)	Marsell X Z1N-E	Marsell X Z1N-E	13.332		2338	18506	50682	2305	25325	3447	23343	64878	3385	32512	1420	8476	25273	1425	14065	698	5114	13624	674	6346	0.491355 0.603346 0.539086 0.473194 0.451175
59 NAPA X Z1N-B 34.135 922 14446 19054 2740 21420 60 Smith X ZNE-A Smith X ZNE-A 29.283 418 5529 13463 525 38703 479 7278 18055 680 46523 347 4131 10880 440 32414 45 1082 2468 83 4854 0.130556 0.28200B 0.228868 0.149737 61 (4) Smith X none 186 352 730 189 9313 186 352 730 189 9313	58	Marsell X Z1S-E	Marsell X Z1S-E	21.502		76	78	234	78	3796						76	78	234	78	3796						
60 Smith X ZNE-A 29.283 418 5529 13463 525 38703 479 7278 18055 680 48523 347 4131 10880 440 32414 45 1082 2468 83 4854 0.130556 0.282008 0.228868 0.149737 61 (4) Smith X none 186 352 730 189 9313 188 352 730 189 9313 61 (4) Smith X none 186 352 730 189 9313 189 9313	59	NAPA X Z1N-B	NAPA X Z1N-B	34.135		922	14446	19054	2740	21420						922	14446	19054	2740	21420						an an an tha tha tha tha tha tha tha tha an tha
	60 10.000	Smith X ZNE-A	Smith X ZNE-A	29.283		418	5529	13463	525	38703	479	7278	18055	680	46523	347	4131	10880	440	32414	45	10 82	2468	83	4854	0.130556 0.262008 0.226868 0.187892 0.149737
	61 (4)	Smith X none	en nen en statet i Sterner en service solet en s En solet en s			186	352	730	189	9313						186	352	730	189	9313						NELL NELL NEL 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - NELL NELL NELL - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 201 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017 - 2017
														×.												
		6.																								

	\$1	2 2 3 F F F F	21			· 3 · 1								g ·	1	1.5				
62	Shortz X Z1N-B1	Shortz X Z1N-B1	24.043	540	12468	24416	935	6234						540	12468	24416	935	6234		
63	Shortz X Z1N-B2	Shortz X Z1N-B2	15.771	1102	6061	15152	1102	8540						1102	6061	15152	1102	8540		
64	Rice X Z1N-D2	Rice X Z1N-D2	13.644	73	455	648	73	3636						73	455	648	73	3636		
65	Rice X Z1N-D1	Rice X Z1N-D1	4.760	102	1445	2051	101	5124	226	2015	3019	222	10409	68	1285	1779	67	3634	35	161
66	Zellwood Drainage District X ZSV	N-C Zellwood Drainage Distric	9.589	436	5396	7915	652	21782	522	14196	19636	1036	38484	411	2916	4611	544	17074	24	2480
67	General Impex X Z1N-G	General Impex X Z1N-G	24.466	94	6288	8652	91	7576						94	6288	8652	91	7576		
68	Shaffer X Z1S-E	Shaffer X Z1S-E	11.916	126	125	374	125	6324						126	125	374	125	6324		
69	Progressive Growers (Rice) X Z1	N-E Progressive Growers (Ric	1.278	860	843	2529	843	42975						860	843	2529	843	42975		
70	Bates X Z1N-E	Bates X Z1N-E	6.352	32	1451	3611	33	3095						32	1451	3611	33	3095		
71 (5) Mulford Hickerson c/o Peat Humr	mus Corp X ZNE-F		227	1686	2279	227	11373						227	1686	2279	227	11373		

Indicates only one sample in block

(1) There are two different values for this plot, used the summation of the two as the value

(2) There is not acreage value for this owner x alum block

(3) There are two different values for this plot, used the summation of the two as the value

(4) There is no acreage value for this combination of owner x block

(5) There is no acreage value for this owner x alum block

172.964

0.516939	0.125041	0.153356	0.510956	0.409913	
0.059467	0.850602	0.716550	0.198966	0.275720	
0	0	٥	0	0	

0.205557 0.206165 0.222414 0.188817 0.192464

34 1490

4708

Owner X Alum

.

		Flood	lina Block	Critical	% Reduction Needed			Portion Block	of F Exco riter	looding eding ia
OWNER X ALUM	Acres	FB	Depth	Contaminant	Low		High	Low		High
Stroup Farms X ZSC-B	79	FB1	3	Dieldrin	0%	-	40%			
Lust Farms X ZSC-C	242	FB1	- 3	Toxaphene	0%	-	31%			
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZSW-B	95	FB1	3	DDE	0%	-	12%			
Zellwin Farms X ZSW-A	113	FB1	3							
Stroup Farms X ZSW-C	81	FB1	3							
Clarence Beall X ZSC-A	62	FB1	3							
Zellwood Drainage District X ZSW-C	10	FB1	3							
Flooding Block Total	680					<	415		<	61%
Grinnell Farms, Inc. X Z1S-E	41	FB10	1	DDTx	18%	-	75%			
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-E	214	FB10	1	DDTx	0%	-	65%			
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-D	308	FB10	1	Toxaphene	3%	-	61%			
Long Farms, Inc. X Z1S-E	45	FB10	1							
Marsell X Z1S-E	22	FB10	1							
Shaffer X Z1S-E	12	FB10	1							
Flooding Block Total	907				614	-	828	68%	-	91%
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-C	314	FB11	2	Toxaphene	13%	-	62%			
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-A	329	FB11	2	Toxaphene	0%		58%			
Zellwin Farms X Z1S-B	308	FB11	2	Toxaphene	0%	-	57%			
Flooding Block Total	952				314	-	952	33%		100%
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·										
Hensel & Rodgers X Z1N-A	306	FB12	0.5	DDE	0%		64%			
Flooding Block Total	306								<	100%
Robert Potter & Sons, Inc. X Z1N-F	308	FB13	0.5	Toxaphene	22%	-	69%	~~~		
Long Farms, Inc. X Z1N-C	159	FB13	0.5	DDTx	9%	-	69%			
Zellwin Farms X Z1N-D	75	FB13	0.5	DDTx	9%		69%			
Grinnell Farms, Inc. X Z1N-D	57	FB13	0.5	DDTx	7%	-	54%			
Rice X Z1N-D2		FB13	0.5							
Rice X Z1N-D1	5	FB13	0.5							
Flooding Block Total	618			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	599		599	97%	-	97%
	00	r DAA	0.5	DDT.	E70/		050/			
	96	FB14	0.5		5/%	-	85%			
	13	FB14	0.5		11%	-	18%			
Zeilwin Farms X ZIN-G	198	FB14	0.5	roxapnene	4%		04%			
Ginnell Farms, Inc. X Z1N-E	12	FD14	0.5		· · · · ·					
General Impex A ZIN-G		FB14	0.5	·						
	0	rb14	0.0		200		200	000/		000/
FIOODING BIOCK I OTAL	300				308		<u> 308</u>	00%	-	00%
	75		°.		<u>^0/</u>		670/			
UIATETICE DEAL A ZIVW-B	10	r dz	<u> </u>		U 70	L	U170	00000011111111111111111111111111111111		

		Flood	ling Block		% R N	eduo eedo	ction	Portion Block	n of F Exco Criter	looding eeding ia
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	322	FB2	3	Toxaphene	0%	-	10%			
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-B	211	FB2	3	Toxaphene	0%	-	4%			
Zellwin Farms X ZNW-C	250	FB2	3	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •						
Flooding Block Total	859						609		<	71%
Zellwin Farms X ZNC-A	333	FB3	2	Toxaphene	0%	-	5%			
Flooding Block Total										
Clarence Beall X ZNC-B	151	FB4	2	Dieldrin	0%	-	28%			
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNC-B	156	FB4	2	Toxaphene	0%	<u> -</u>	18%	54 W.A.	ļ	
Flooding Block Total	307				r				ļ	
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-A2	77	FB5	1.5 TO 2	DDTx	68%	-	91%			
Lust Farms X ZNE-C	75	FB5	1.5 TO 2	Toxaphene	0%	-	63%			
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A1	19	FB5	1.5 TO 2	DDTx	0%	-	62%		<u> </u>	
Lust Farms X ZNE-A	40	FB5	1.5 TO 2	Toxaphene	0%	-	47%		<u> </u>	
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-A1	20	FB5	1.5 TO 2	DDTx	0%	-	36%			
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-C	74	FB5	1.5 TO 2	DDTx	0%	-	33%			
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2	357	FB5	1.5 TO 2	Toxaphene	0%	-	31%			
Stroup Farms X ZNE-A	76	FB5	1.5 TO 2	Toxaphene	0%	-	29%			
Lust Farms X ZNE-B	264	FB5	1.5 TO 2			ļ				
Smith X ZNE-A	29	FB5	1.5 TO 2							
Smith X none		FB5	1.5 TO 2							
Flooding Block Total	1030				77	-	737	7%	-	72%
Lust Farms X ZSE-A	157	FB6	2	Toxaphene	14%	-	74%			
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-I	247	FB6	2	Toxaphene	20%	-	73%			
Zellwin Farms X ZSE-J	143	FB6	2	Toxaphene	0%	-	56%			
Long Farms, Inc. X ZSE-A	182	FB6	2	Toxaphene	0%	-	8%		<u> </u>	
Clonts Farm X ZSE-B	299	FB6	2	-					ļ	
Clonts Farm X ZSE-C	100	FB6	2							
Clonts Farm X ZSE-G	152	FB6	2			ļ				
Clonts Farm X ZSE-H	29	FB6	2			ļ			ļ	
Flooding Block Total	1309				404		729	31%	-	56%
Lust Farms X ZSE-F	223	FB7	2	Toxaphene	0%	-	44%			
Lust Farms X ZSE-D	316	FB7	2	Toxaphene	0%	-	42%			
Stroup Farms X ZSE-E	148	FB7	2	Toxaphene	0%	-	22%			
Flooding Block Total	687				0		687		<	100%
Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-D	59	FB8	2	DDTx	34%	-	78%			
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-F	40	FB8	2	Toxaphene	7%	-	74%		ļ	
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-D2	47	FB8	2	Toxaphene	0%	-	55%			
Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-E	73	FB8	2	Toxaphene	0%	-	54%			

		Flood	ina Block		· % R	eduo eedo	tion d	Block	Exce Exce Criter	eding
_ong Farms, Inc. X ZNE-D1	65	FB8	2	Toxaphene	0%	-	48%		T	
_ust & Long Precooler X ZNE-F	68	FB8	2	Toxaphene	0%	-	28%			
Lust Farms X ZNE-D	51	FB8	2						1	
Mulford Hickerson c/o Peat Hummus Corp X ZNE-F	120	FB8	2							
Flooding Block Total	454				99	-	284	22%	-	62%
Shortz X Z1N-B1	24	NFB		DDTx	7%	-	54%			
NAPA X Z1N-B	34	NFB		DDE	7%	-	54%			
Progressive Growers (Rice) X Z1N- 3	1	NFB		Toxaphene	0%	-	26%			
Shortz X Z1N-B2	16	NFB		DDTx	0%	-	25%			

Appendix B Costing

Soil Density Variability

Appendix B - Al	POPKA NSKA SOIL DE	NSITY VAP	CIATION	TONS/C	rance	2031	ALCONG AND AND A MARK AND A				-terrent de la companya de la compa						ALLODE						
10000	and the second			ION/A	ACRE					1							SACKE						
	1			2000						ł				1 C									
ESTIMATED 0-	-1 FT DEPTH 0.4 0.5	0.55 0.6	0.7 0).8 0.9	1	1.1 1	.2 1.3	3 1.4	1.5 1.6	6 0.4	0.5	0.55	0.6	0.7	0.8	0.9	1	. 1.1	1.2	1.3	1.4	1.5	1.6
\$/TON	CY/ACRE																	•					
	·				14076					2													
\$5	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1613	1775 19	36 2097	7 2259	2420 258	\$3.227	\$4.033	\$4,437	\$4,840	\$5,647	\$6,453	\$7,260	\$8.067	\$8,873	\$9,680	\$10,487	\$11,293	\$12,100	\$12,907
\$6	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1613	1775 19	36 209	7 2259	2420 258	\$3 872	\$4 840	\$5 324	\$5 808	\$6 776	\$7 744	\$8 712	\$9 680	\$10 648	\$11,616	\$12,584	\$13,552	\$14,520	\$15,488
\$7	1613 645 807	887 968	120 12	91 1452	1613	1775 19	36 209	7 2259	2420 258	\$4 517	\$5 647	\$6 211	\$6,776	\$7 905	\$9.035	\$10 164	\$11 293	\$12 423	\$13 552	\$14 681	\$15,811	\$16.940	\$18.069
ea.	1010 040 007	997 069	120 12	01 1462	4642	1775 10	36 2007	7 2250	2420 258	\$5 163	CE 453	\$7 000	\$7 744	\$0,000	\$10 305	\$11 616	\$12 007	\$14 107	\$15 499	\$16,770	\$18.060	\$10 360	\$20,651
40 *0	1013 045 807	007 000	1120 12	01 14J2	1010	4775 40	00 2081 00 2081	7 0050	2420 200	\$5,100 CE 000	67 000	07,000 07,000	\$0.740	\$40.40A	\$10,020 \$44,040	\$11,010	#12,001	\$14,137	\$13,408 \$47,404	\$10,778	\$10,000	\$10,000	\$20,001
22	1013 045 007	001 900	129 12	91 1432	1010	1775 19.	30 209	2209	2420 256	40,000	\$1,200	\$7,900 \$7,900	φ0,/ 1∡ ¢0 000	a 10, 104	\$11,010	313,000	- 14,520	310,8/Z	a:/,424	\$10,070	\$20,526	\$21,700	323,232
\$10	1613 645 80/	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1613	1775 19.	36 209	2209	2420 258	\$0,453	\$8,067	\$8,8/3	\$9,580	\$11,293	\$12,907	\$14,520	310,133	\$17,747	\$18,350	\$20,973	\$22,587	\$24,200	325,813
\$11	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1613	1775 193	36 209,	2259	2420 258	\$7,099	\$8,873	\$9,761	\$10,648	\$12,423	\$14,197	\$15,972	\$17,747	\$19,521	\$21,296	\$23,071	\$24,845	\$26,620	\$28,395
\$12	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1613	1775 193	36 209	2259	2420 258	\$7,744	\$9,680	\$10,648	\$11,616	\$13,552	\$15,488	\$17,424	\$19,360	\$21,296	\$23,232	\$25,168	\$27,104	\$29,040	\$30,976
\$13	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1613	775 191	36 2097	7 2259	2420 258	\$8,389	\$10,487	\$11,535	\$12,584	\$14,681	\$16,779	\$18,876	\$20,973	\$23,071	\$25,168	\$27,265	\$29,363	\$31,460	\$33,557
\$14	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1613	1775 193	36 2097	2259	2420 258	\$9,035	\$11,293	\$12,423	\$13,552	\$15,811	\$18,069	\$20,328	\$22,587	\$24,845	\$27,104	\$29,363	\$31,621	\$33,880	\$36,139
\$15	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1613	1775 19	36 2097	2259	2420 258	\$9,680	\$12,100	\$13,310	\$14,520	\$16,940	\$19,360	\$21,780	\$24,200	\$26,620	\$29,040	\$31,460	\$33,880	\$36,300	\$38,720
\$16	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1613	1775 19:	36 2097	2259	2420 258	\$10,325	\$12,907	\$14,197	\$15,488	\$18,069	\$20,651	\$23,232	\$25,813	\$28,395	\$30,976	\$33,557	\$36,139	\$38,720	\$41,301
\$17	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1613 1	1775 192	36 2097	2259	2420 258	\$10,971	\$13,713	\$15,085	\$16,456	\$19,199	\$21,941	\$24,684	\$27,427	\$30,169	\$32,912	\$35,655	\$38,397	\$41,140	\$43,883
\$18	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1613	1775 191	36 2097	2259	2420 258	\$11,616	\$14,520	\$15,972	\$17,424	\$20,328	\$23,232	\$26,136	\$29,040	\$31,944	\$34,848	\$37,752	\$40,656	\$43,560	\$46,464
\$19	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1613	1775 19:	36 2097	2259	2420 258	\$12,261	\$15,327	\$16,859	\$18,392	\$21,457	\$24,523	\$27,588	\$30.653	\$33,719	\$36,784	\$39,849	\$42,915	\$45,980	\$49,045
\$20	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1613 -	1775 19	36 2097	2259	2420 258	\$12,907	\$16,133	\$17,747	\$19,360	\$22.587	\$25,813	\$29,040	\$32,267	\$35,493	\$38,720	\$41,947	\$45,173	\$48,400	\$51,627
\$21	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1613	1775 19:	36 2097	2259	2420 258	\$13.552	\$16.940	\$18,634	\$20.328	\$23,716	\$27,104	\$30,492	\$33.880	\$37.268	\$40.656	\$44,044	\$47,432	\$50,820	\$54,208
\$22	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1613 -	1775 19:	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$14 197	\$17.747	\$19,521	\$21,296	\$24,845	\$28,395	\$31 944	\$35 493	\$39.043	\$42,592	\$46,141	\$49,691	\$53,240	\$56,789
\$23	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1613	1775 19	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$14 843	\$18.553	\$20,409	\$22,264	\$25,975	\$29,685	\$33,396	\$37,107	\$40.817	\$44.528	\$48.239	\$51.949	\$55.660	\$59.371
\$24	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1613	1775 19	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$15 488	\$19 360	\$21,296	\$23,232	\$27,104	\$30,976	\$34 848	\$38 720	\$42 592	\$46 464	\$50 336	\$54 208	\$58 080	\$61.952
\$25	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1613 .	1775 10	36 2007	2250	2420 2581	\$16 133	\$20 167	\$22 183	\$24 200	\$28 233	\$32 267	\$36 300	\$40 333	\$44 367	\$48 400	\$52 433	\$56 467	\$60,500	\$64 533
\$26	1613 645 807	887 968	120 120	01 1/52	1612 -	1775 10	36 2007	7 2250	2420 200	\$16.770	\$20,073	\$23.071	\$25 168	\$20,200	\$33 557	\$37 752	\$41 047	\$46 141	\$50 336	\$54 531	\$58 725	\$62,000	\$67.115
φ <u>2</u> 0 ¢07	1010 040 007	887 069 4	120 120	01 1452	1619	1775 10	36 2007	7 2250	2420 200	\$17 10,17	\$21 790	\$23,071	\$26 126	\$20,000	\$34 949	\$30 204	\$43 560	\$47 016	\$52 272	\$56.622	\$60.024	\$65 3/0	\$60 606
φ <u>2</u> /	1013 043 007	007 000	120 120	01 1452	4645 /	1775 100	20 2007	2200	2420 200	610,424	021,700 000 E07	\$20,000 \$24,045	\$20,100 \$27,404	000,402 004 004	COC 400	\$10,204	#40,000	\$40,004	¢54,272	\$50,020 \$50,725	\$00,304 \$600,304	\$03,340	\$72,020
\$20	1013 043 007	007 000	128 12	01 1402 01 1462	1010	1775 100	20 208/	7 2255	2420 200	\$10,008	#22,007 \$22,007	#24,040 ¢05 700	\$20,104 \$10,070	431,021 ¢30.754	\$30,138 \$27.400	\$40,030	# AD 707	\$54 465	¢56 114	\$20,720 \$20,000	400,240 ¢65 504	\$70 190	\$74 950
\$29	1013 045 007	007 000	128 128	81 1402 04 4450	1010	1775 190 4775 40'	208/	2208	2420 206	10,710	⊕∠ 3,393	\$20,733 \$26,600	\$20,U/Z	\$32,701 \$32,000	437,428	942,100	\$40,101	\$01,400 ¢52,040	\$00,144 \$50,090	\$00,023 ¢eo.020	\$05,501 \$67,760	\$70,100	\$77 440
\$30	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1013	1775 193	36 2097	2259	2420 258	\$19,300	\$24,200	\$26,620	\$29,040	\$33,880 \$25,880	\$38,720	\$43,550	348,400	\$03, ∠4 0	308,080	\$02,92U	\$07,760	\$72,600	\$ <u>//</u> ,440
\$31	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1613	17/5 19:	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$20,005	\$25,007	\$27,507	\$30,008	\$35,009	\$40,011	\$45,012	\$50,013	\$55,015	\$60,016	\$65,017	\$70,019	\$75,020	\$80,021
\$32	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1013	1775 193	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$20,651	\$25,813	\$28,395	\$30,976	\$36,139	\$41,301	\$46,464	\$51,627	\$56,789	\$61,952	\$67,115	\$12,211	\$77,440	\$52,603
\$33	1613 645 807	887 968	129 129	91 1452	1613	1775 193	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$21,296	\$26,620	\$29,282	\$31,944	\$37,268	\$42,592	\$47,916	\$53,240	\$58,564	\$63,888	\$69,212	\$74,536	\$79,860	\$85,184
\$34	1613 645 807	887 968	129, 129	91 1452	1613 1	1775 193	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$21,941	\$27,427	\$30,169	\$32,912	\$38,397	\$43,883	\$49,368	\$54,853	\$60,339	\$65,824	\$71,309	\$76,795	\$82,280	\$87,765
\$35	1613 645 807	887 968 '	129 129	91 1452	1613 1	1775 193	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$22,587	\$28,233	\$31,057	\$33,880	\$39,527	\$45,173	\$50,820	\$56,467	\$62,113	\$67,760	\$73,407	\$79,053	\$84,700	\$90,347
\$36	1613 645 807	887 968 1	129 129	91 1452	1613 1	1775 193	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$23,232	\$29,040	\$31,944	\$34,848	\$40,656	\$46,464	\$52,272	\$58,080	\$63,888	\$69,696	\$75,504	\$81,312	\$87,120	\$92,928
\$37	1613 645 807	887 968 1	129 129	91 1452	1613 1	1775 193	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$23,877	\$29,847	\$32,831	\$35,816	\$41,785	\$47,755	\$53,724	\$59,693	\$65,663	\$71,632	\$77,601	\$83,571	\$89,540	\$95,509
\$38	1613 645 807	887 968 1	129 129	91 1452	1613 1	775 193	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$24,523	\$30,653	\$33,719	\$36,784	\$42,915	\$49,045	\$55,176	\$61,307	\$67,437	\$73,568	\$79,699	\$85,829	\$91,960	\$98,091
\$39	1613 645 807	887 968 1	129 129	91 1452	1613 1	1775 193	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$25,168	\$31,460	\$34,606	\$37,752	\$44,044	\$50,336	\$56,628	\$62,920	\$69,212	\$75,504	\$81,796	\$88,088	\$94,380	\$100,672
\$40	1613 645 807	887 968 '	129 129	91 1452	1613 1	1775 193	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$25,813	\$32,267	\$35,493	\$38,720	\$45,173	\$51,627	\$58,080	\$64,533	\$70,987	\$77,440	\$83,893	\$90,347	\$96,800	\$103,253
\$41	1613 645 807	887 968 1	129 129	91 1452	1613 1	1775 193	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$26,459	\$33,073	\$36,381	\$39,688	\$46,303	\$52,917	\$59,532	\$66,147	\$72,761	\$79,376	\$85,991	\$92,605	\$99,220	\$105,835
\$42	1613 645 807	887 968 1	129 129	91 1452	1613 1	1775 19:	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$27,104	\$33,880	\$37,268	\$40,656	\$47,432	\$54,208	\$60,984	\$67,760	\$74,536	\$81,312	\$88,088	\$94,864	\$101,640	\$108,416
\$43	1613 645 807	887 968 '	129 129	91 1452	1613 1	1775 193	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$27,749	\$34,687	\$38,155	\$41,624	\$48,561	\$55,499	\$62,436	\$69,373	\$76,311	\$83,248	\$90,185	\$97,123	\$104,060	\$110,997
\$44	1613 645 807	887 968 1	129 129	91 1452	1613 1	1775 19:	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$28,395	\$35,493	\$39.043	\$42,592	\$49,691	\$56,789	\$63,888	\$70.987	\$78,085	\$85,184	\$92.283	\$99,381	\$106,480	\$113,579
\$45	1613 645 807	887 968	129 129	91 1452	1613	1775 19:	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$29,040	\$36,300	\$39,930	\$43,560	\$50,820	\$58,080	\$65,340	\$72.600	\$79,860	\$87,120	\$94,380	\$101,640	\$108,900	\$116,160
\$46	1613 645 807	887 968	129 129	91 1452	1613 1	1775 19:	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$29,685	\$37,107	\$40.817	\$44,528	\$51,949	\$59.371	\$66,792	\$74.213	\$81,635	\$89.056	\$96,477	\$103,899	\$111,320	\$118,741
\$47	1613 645 807	887 968	129 129	91 1452	1613 1	1775 19	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$30 331	\$37,913	\$41 705	\$45 496	\$53 079	\$60,661	\$68 244	\$75 827	\$83 409	\$90,992	\$98 575	\$106 157	\$113 740	\$121 323
\$48	1613 645 807	887 968	129 129	91 1452	1613 1	1775 19:	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$30,976	\$38,720	\$42 592	\$46,464	\$54 208	\$61,952	\$69 696	\$77 440	\$85 184	\$92,928	\$100.672	\$108,416	\$116 160	\$123,904
\$49	1613 645 807	887 968	129 120	91 1452	1613 1	1775 19	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$31 621	\$39.527	\$43.479	\$47 432	\$55 337	\$63.243	\$71 148	\$79.053	\$86 959	\$94 864	\$102 769	\$110,675	\$118 580	\$126,485
\$50	1613 645 807	887 968	129 120	91 1452	1613 1	1775 19	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$32 267	\$40,333	\$44 367	\$48 400	\$56 467	\$64 533	\$72,600	\$80.667	\$88 733	\$96,800	\$104 867	\$112,933	\$121,000	\$129.067
\$51	1613 645 807	887 968	120 120	01 1452	1612 1	1775 19	36 2007	7 2259	2420 2581	\$32 912	\$41 140	\$45 254	\$40,368	\$57 596	\$65 824	\$74.052	\$82 280	\$90,700	\$98,736	\$106.964	\$115 102	\$123 420	\$131 648
\$50	1613 645 807	887 068	129 120	91 1452	1613	1775 10	36 2007	2250	2420 2581	\$33 557	\$41 947	\$46 141	\$50,336	\$58 725	\$67 115	\$75 504	\$83 803	\$92 283	\$100.672	\$109.061	\$117 451	\$125 840	\$134 220
¢52	1613 6/6 807	887 068	120 120	91 1452	1612	1775 10	36 2007	7 2250	2420 2584	\$34:002	\$42 752	\$47 020	\$51 304	\$50 855	\$68 405	\$76.056	\$85 507	\$94 057	\$102 608	\$111 150	\$110 700	\$128 260	\$136 811
\$50	1613 6/6 807	887 068 4	120 120	91 1452	1612	1775 10	36 2007	2250	2420 258	\$34 9.49	\$43 560	\$47 016	\$52 272	\$60 984	\$69 606	\$78 408	\$87 120	\$95 822	\$104 544	\$113 256	\$121 068	\$130 680	\$130 202
\$04 \$EE	1613 646 207	887 069 /	120 120	01 1/50	1612	1775 10	38 2007	2250	2420 200	\$25 102	\$44 267	\$48 202	\$53.240	\$62 112	\$70 097	\$70 860	\$88 722	\$97 AN7	\$106 JPA	\$115 252	\$124 227	\$133 100	\$141 072
\$00 , \$50	1613 646 807	887 069 /	120 120	01 1/52	1612	1775 100	36 2007	7 2250	2420 200	\$26 120	\$45 172	\$40,003	\$54 209	\$63 2/2	\$72.077	\$81 212	\$90 247	\$00,007	\$108 /16	\$117 /61	\$126 / 85	\$135,100 -	\$144 555
\$00 657	1013 043 007	987 069	120 120	01 1402	1612 -	1775 100	28 2007	2208	2420 200	\$26 704	\$45 0PD	\$50 57P	\$55 17P	\$61 270	\$73 FRP	\$82 764	\$01.080	\$101 150	\$110 252	\$110 F401	\$120,400 \$128 7//	\$137 040	\$1/7 120
10¢ ¢50	1010 040 00/	887 049 -	120 404	01 1402 01 1850	1610 -	1775 10	28 200-	7 2250	2420 200	\$27 400	970,000 \$16 707	400,0/0 \$51 /0F	\$56 144	407,012 \$65 504	\$71 0500 \$71 050	\$81 710	\$02 E75	\$100,100 \$100,091	\$110,00Z	4110,040 \$121 615	ψ1£0,/44 \$131 D09	9107,940 \$140 260	\$1/0 717
\$00 \$60	1013 043 607	00/ 000	120 12	01 1402	1010	1170 190 1776 404	30 ZU8/	2209	2420 200	\$20 A75	940,/0/	401,400 \$50.950	¢00,144	000,001	\$76 4 AC	004,∠10	490,013	\$102,331 \$101 705	¢112,200	¢121,040	0101,000 -	0140,000 0140 700	9149,717
\$59	1613 645 807	867 966	129 12	91 1452	1013	1775 190	36 <u>209</u> 7	2209	2420 258	\$38,075	\$47,593	\$52,353 \$50,070	\$57,11Z	300,031	\$70,149	360,006	\$95,167	\$104,705 \$400,400	\$114,224 \$440,400	\$123,743 \$405.040	\$133,201 \$405,500	\$142,780	\$152,299
\$60	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1013	1775 193	2097	2209	2420 256	\$38,720	\$48,400	⊅ ⊃3,∠40	\$00,000	307,700 COD 000	\$77,440 \$70,704	\$87,120	290,000	\$105,450 \$400.055	\$110,100	\$125,640 \$407,007	\$135,520	\$145,200	\$154,66U
\$61	1613 645 807	007 000	129 12	91 1452	1013	1775 193	30 2097	2209	2420 2581	\$39,365	349,207 eco.c.t.c	φ04,12/	409,U48	400,009	9/0,/31 000 001	308,5/2	990,413 1400,000	φ108,255	9118,096 6400.000	φ1∠/,93/ #400.005	913/,//9	9147,620 -	910/,461
\$62	1613 645 807	88/ 968 /	129 12	91 1452	1013	11/5 193	30 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$40,011	\$50,013	300,015	30U,U16	a/U,U19	⊅ 80,021	390,024	0100,027	ф110,029 0111,029	a120,032	a130,035	\$14U,U37	a150,040	a160,043
\$63	1613 645 807	88/ 968 /	129 12	91 1452	1013	1775 193	35 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$40,656	\$50,820	\$55,902	360,984	av1,148	381,312	\$91,476	0101,640	\$111,804	\$121,968	\$132,132	\$142,296	\$152,460	\$162,624
\$64	1613 645 807	887 968 '	129 12	91 1452	1613	1775 193	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$41,301	\$51,627	\$56,789	\$61,952	\$72,277	\$82,603	\$92,928	103,253	\$113,579	\$123,904	\$134,229	\$144,555	\$154,880	\$165,205
\$65	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1613	1775 193	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$41,947	\$52,433	\$57,677	\$62,920	\$73,407	\$83,893	\$94,380	\$104,867	\$115,353	\$125,840	\$136,327	\$146,813	\$157,300	\$167,787
\$66	1613 645 807	887 968 1	129 12	91 1452	1613 1	1775 193	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$42,592	\$53,240	\$58,564	\$63,888	\$74,536	\$85,184	\$95,832	\$106,480	\$117,128	\$127,776	\$138,424	\$149,072	\$159,720	\$170,368
\$67	1613 645 807	887 968 1	129 12	91 1452	1613 -	1775 193	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$43,237	\$54,047	\$59,451	\$64,856	\$75,665	\$86,475	\$97,284	\$108,093	\$118,903	\$129,712	\$140,521	\$151,331	\$162,140	\$172,949
\$68	1613 645 807	887 968 '	129 12	91 1452	1613 ⁻	1775 193	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$43,883	\$54,853	\$60,339	\$65,824	\$76,795	\$87,765	\$98,736	\$109,707	\$120,677	\$131,648	\$142,619	\$153,589	\$164,560	\$175,531
\$69	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1613 1	1775 193	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$44,528	\$55,660	\$61,226	\$66,792	\$77,924	\$89,056	\$100,188	\$111,320	\$122,452	\$133,584	\$144,716	\$155,848	\$166,980	\$178,112
\$70	1613 645 807	887 968 '	129 12	91 1452	1613	1775 193	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$45,173	\$56,467	\$62,113	\$67,760	\$79,053	\$90,347	\$101,640	\$112,933	\$124,227	\$135,520	\$146,813	\$158,107	\$169,400	\$180,693
\$71	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1613 ·	1775 19:	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$45,819	\$57,273	\$63,001	\$68,728	\$80,183	\$91,637	\$103,092	\$114,547	\$126,001	\$137,456	\$148,911	\$160,365	\$171,820	\$183,275
\$72	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1613 ·	1775 19:	36 2097	2259	2420 2581	\$46.464	\$58.080	\$63,888	\$69,696	\$81,312	\$92,928	\$104,544	\$116,160	\$127,776	\$139,392	\$151,008	\$162,624	\$174,240	\$185,856
\$73	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1613	1775 19:	36 2097	2259	2420 258	\$47.109	\$58.887	\$64,775	\$70,664	\$82,441	\$94,219	\$105.996	\$117,773	\$129.551	\$141.328	\$153.105	\$164.883	\$176.660	\$188,437
\$74	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1613	1775 19	36 2097	2259	2420 258	\$47.755	\$59.693	\$65.663	\$71.632	\$83.571	\$95.509	\$107.448	\$119.387	\$131.325	\$143.264	\$155.203	\$167.141	\$179.080	\$191.019
\$75	1613 645 807	887 968	129 12	91 1452	1613 ·	1775 19	36 2097	2259	2420 258	\$48.400	\$60.500	\$66,550	\$72,600	\$84,700	\$96,800	\$108.900	\$121.000	\$133,100	\$145.200	\$157.300	\$169.400	\$181.500	\$193,600
La series and s					10.000 A.S.S.												THE STATE STORE STORE STORE						

Source: MACTEC, 2004.



Costs of Fields and Treatments

soil required to make the following leaves

all	1:1	side	slopes	
-----	-----	------	--------	--

hight of levee	(fi road width on top (ft)	volume of soil required per linear foot of levee (ft ³)	volume of soil required per linear foot of levee (yd ³)	volume to build perimeter per acre (yd ³)
⁻ 3	10	39	1.44	1205.91
4	0	16	0.59	494.73
5	0	25	0.93	773.02
6	0	36	1.33	1113.15
7	0	49	1.81	1515.12
8	0	64	2.37	1978.93
9	0	81	3.00	2504.58
10	0	100	3.70	3092.07
3	15	54	2.00	1569.72
4	10	56	2.07	1731.56
5	10	75	2.78	2319.06
6	10	96	3.56	2968.39
7	10	119	4.41	3679.57
8	10	144	5.33	4452.59
9	10	171	6.33	5287.45
10	10	200	7.41	6184.15
3	20	69	2.56	2133.53
4	10	56	2.07	1731.56
5	10	75	2.78	2319.06
6	10	96	3.56	2968.39
7	10	119	4.41	3679.57
8	10	144	5.33	4452.59
9	10	171	6.33	5287.45
10	10	200	7.41	6184.15

Dike Cost Basis vs Size

A 1-ft dike is estimated to be half the cost of the 3 foot dike (my data has 3, 4, 5, and 6). The costs a

The dikes should be proposed to be built from the clean material and will most likely need to be a mi

1 foot 3 ft³ of soil per foot of dike or 2,502 ft³ of soil per acre or 92.67 yd³ per acre 2 foot 10 ft³ of soil per foot of dike or 8,340 ft³ of soil per acre or 308.89 yd³ per acre 3 foot 21 ft³ of soil per foot of dike or 17,514 ft³ of soil per acre or 648.67 yd³ per acre 4 foot 36 ft³ of soil per foot of dike or 30,024 ft³ of soil per acre or 1,112 yd³ per acre

Also these may need filter cloth @ 2.75 per yd² so:

1 foot 8 ft² per foot of dike or 741 yd² of filter cloth per acre 2 foot 9 ft² per foot of dike or 834 yd² of filter cloth per acre 3 foot 11.5 ft² per foot of dike or 1,066 yd² of filter cloth per acre 4 foot 14.5 ft² per foot of dike or 1,344 yd² of filter cloth per acre

SOIL INVERSION COST BASIS

RATE	1	20	2	125	AC/DAY	DAYS	2206 6915	HTL LTL		HALF PROD. 2	0.25	
CAPITAL EQUIPMENT	NOB/DEMOB	LABOR	FUEL	PER DIEM	PRODUCTIVITY	DAYS	ACRES	TOTAL	\$/AC AVG	X 2	+ CONTINGENCY	TOTAL \$
810800	70000	176480	441200	27575	10	221	2206	\$1,526,055	\$692	\$1,383.55	\$1,729	\$3,815,138
810800	70000	345750	864375	54023	16	432	6915	\$2,144,948	\$310	\$620.38	\$775	\$5,362,371
810800	70000	352960	882400	55150	5	441	2206	\$2,171,310	\$984	\$1,968.55	\$2,461	\$5,428,275
810800	70000	691500	1728750	108047	8	864	6915	\$3,409,097	\$493	\$986.00	\$1,233	\$8,522,742

4 semi-loads EQUIPMENT FOR MOB/DEMOB

emk 7-29-04 Based on communications with J. Allen, Allen Machine & Equipment Contractor multi-step process assumed to be 95-98 percent effective for flipping.

•

PILOT PROGRAM ESTI		3.	-4 weeks 75-	100 ac 16-18HR	DAYS WITH 5 MAN	CREW		
187500	70000	24000	60000	3750	10	30	75	5 \$345,250
250000	70000	24000	60000	3750	. 16	30	100	0 \$407,750
187500	70000	24000	60000	3750	5	30	75	5 \$346,250
250000	70000	24000	60000	3750	8	30	100	D \$407,750

Bio and Soilsavers \$/acre

	\$	/ton																					
ton/ac	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30
800	6400	7200	8000	8800	9600	10400	11200	12000	12800	13600	14400	15200	16000	16800	17600	18400	19200	20000	20800	21600	22400	23200	24000
900	7200	8100	9000	9900	10800	11700	12600	13500	14400	15300	16200	17100	18000	18900	19800	20700	21600	22500	23400	24300	25200	26100	27000
1000	8000	9000	10000	11000	12000	13000	14000	15000	16000	17000	18000	19000	20000	21000	22000	23000	24000	25000	26000	27000	28000	29000	30000
1100	8800	9900	11000	12100	13200	14300	15400	16500	17600	18700	19800	20900	22000	23100	24200	25300	26400	27500	28600	29700	30800	31900	33000
1200	9600	10800	12000	13200	14400	15600	16800	18000	19200	20400	21600	22800	24000	25200	26400	27600	28800	30000	31200	32400	33600	34800	36000
1300	10400	11700	13000	14300	15600	16900	18200	19500	20800	22100	23400	24700	26000	27300	28600	29900	31200	32500	33800	35100	36400	37700	39000
1400	11200	12600	14000	15400	16800	18200	19600	21000	22400	23800	25200	26600	28000	29400	30800	32200	33600	35000	36400	37800	39200	40600	42000
1500	12000	13500	15000	16500	18000	19500	21000	22500	24000	25500	27000	28500	30000	31500	33000	34500	36000	37500	39000	40500	42000	43500	45000
1600	12800	14400	16000	17600	19200	20800	22400	24000	25600	27200	28800	30400	32000	33600	35200	36800	38400	40000	41600	43200	44800	46400	48000
1700	13600	15300	17000	18700	20400	22100	23800	25500	27200	28900	30600	32300	34000	35700	37400	39100	40800	42500	44200	45900	47600	49300	51000
1800	14400	16200	18000	19800	21600	23400	25200	27000	28800	30600	32400	34200	36000	37800	39600	41400	43200	45000	46800	48600	50400	52200	54000
1900	15200	17100	19000	20900	22800	24700	26600	28500	30400	32300	34200	36100	38000	39900	41800	43700	45600	47500	49400	51300	53200	55100	57000
2000	16000	18000	20000	22000	24000	26000	28000	30000	32000	34000	36000	38000	40000	42000	44000	46000	48000	50000	52000	54000	56000	58000	60000

Lake Apopka Earthmoving - Construction Unit Cost Cost

Cost			С	D	E	F ·	G	Н	I	J	к		L
Element	Activity	Unit	Unit Cost	Unit Cost	Unit Cost	Unit Cost	Unit Cost	Unit Cost	Unit Cost	Unit Cost	Unit Cost	Unit Cost	Unit Cost
1	Drum Chopping-Marsh Dozer	ac	29.98	29.98	29.98	29.98	29.98	29.98	29.98	29.98	29.98	29.98	29.98
2	Marsh and Upland -Tractor/Skidder	ac	46	46	46	46	46	46	46	46	46	46	46
3	Medium Site Clearing	ac	619	619	619	619	619	619	619	619	619	619	619
4	Mowing-batwing	ac	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10
5	Mowing - service	ac	30	30	30	30	30	30	30	30	30	30	30
6	Mowing - slope	ac	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40	40
7	Clear light brush no grubbing	ac	281	281	281	281	281	281	281	281	281	281	281
8	Clear and Grub Light trees	ac	1,790	1,790	1,790	1,790	1,790	1,790	1,790	1,790	1,790	1,790	1,790
9	Stack light brush and Chip	ac	896	896	896	896	896	896	896	896	896	896	896
10	Presribed Burn	ac	18	18	18	18	18	18	18	18	18	18	18
11	Silt Fence 36 inch	ac	2,502	2,502	2,502	2,502	2,502	2,502	2,502	2,502	2,502	2,502	2,502
12	Dike construction 2 ft high	ac	3,336	3,336	3,336	3,336	3,336	3,336	3,336	3,336	3,336	3,336	3,336
13	Dike construction 4 ft high	ac	5,004	5,004	5,004	5,004	5,004	5,004	5,004	5,004	5,004	5,004	5,004
14	Rotoclear scarification	ac	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600	600
15	Soil Flipping / Plowing	ac	350	350	350	2,500	2,500	350	350	350	350	350	2,500
16	Deep Tilling (2 ft)	ac	600	600	600	1,700	1,700	600	600	600	600	600	1,700
17	Shallow Tilling (1 ft)	ac	350	350	350	350	350	350	350	350	350	350	350
18	Rough Grade w/ D-7 Dozer	ac	11,036	11,036	11,036	11,036	11,036	11,036	11,036	11,036	11,036	11,036	11,036
19	Rock/Soil Screening Plant	hr	229	229	229	229	229	229	229	229	229	229	229
20	Amendment spreading	ac	72	72	72	72	72	72	72	72	72	72	72
21	Routine Upland surface 1-ft excavation	cu yd	4,800	4,800	4,800	4,800	4,800	4,800	4,800	4,800	4,800	4,800	4,800
22	D-9N Dozer excavation	ac	6,970	6,970	6,970	6,970	6,970	6,970	6,970	6,970	6,970	6,970	6,970
23	Scraper Excavation	ac	4,776	4,776	4,776	4,776	4,776	4,776	4,776	4,776	4,776	4,776	4,776
24	Load soil and Haul	ac	12,907	12,907	12,907	12,907	12,907	12,907	12,907	12,907	12,907	12,907	111,958
25	spread dumped fill w/ compaction	ac	1,902	1,902	1,902	1,902	1,902	1,902	1,902	1,902	1,902	1,902	1.902
26	spread dumped fill w/o compaction	ac	1,162	1,162	1,162	1,162	1,162	1,162	1,162	1,162	1,162	1.162	1,162
27	5 ton static roller	ac	5,550	5,550	5,550	5,550	5,550	5,550	5,550	5,550	5,550	5,550	5,550
28	7 ton vibratory roller	ac	3,872	3,872	3,872	3,872	3,872	3,872	3,872	3,872	3,872	3,872	3,872
29	25.5 ton vib sheepsfoot roller	ac	951	951	951	951	951	951	951	951	951	951	951
30	w/ crushed rock	су	11	11	11	11	11	11	11	11	11	. 11	11
31	w/ lime slurry	ac	39,464	39,464	39,464	39,464	39,464	39,464	39,464	39,464	39,464	39,464	39,464
32	w/ cement	ton	20	20	20	20	20	20	20	20	20	20	20
33	40 mil PVC	ac	18,732	18,732	18,732	18,732	18,732	18,732	18,732	18,732	18,732	18,732	18,732
34	1 foot bentonite cap	ac	80,154	80,154	80,154	80,154	80,154	80,154	80,154	80,154	80,154	80,154	80,154
35	Hydroseeding	ac	2,250	2,250	2,250	2,250	2,250	2,250	2,250	2,250	2,250	2,250	2,250
	Process Subs							-	15,000	20,000	12,800	80,000	
	BETL Potential Total Field Area	ac	244	173	542	1975	2034	752	1024	289	248	173	248
	Total Prep & Process Subs Lookup	\$/acre	\$9,381	\$24,370	\$7,294	\$2,612	\$2,710	\$6,112	\$17,982	\$22,982	\$34,719	\$101,919	\$118,578
		101 11 AT 11 1 154 11			The second s								Summer in the second se

= included in \$ / acre composite unit cost.

Table 6-1 Alternatives Relative Comparison Summary

Evaluation Factors and Criteria	No Action	Limited Action	Island Coustruction	Soil Cover	Berms Only	Soil Layer Inversion	Vertical Blending	Horizontal Blending	In Situ Landfarming	Bioremediation	Ex Situ Chemical Treatment	Excavation/ Landfill Disposal
	A	В	С	Ð	E	F	G	н	I	J	к	L
AVIAN POPULATION PROTECTION					·							
Risk Eliminated	11	1	1	1	1	1	2	2	2	2	11	1
Risk Reduced or controlled	11	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Short-term Effects		1	1	1	2	1	11	1	1	1	1	1
COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS												
Compliance with chemical-specific requirements	1	1	1	1	. 1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Compliance with location -specific requirements	NO	NO	NO	NO	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1 Î
Compliance with action -specific requirements	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
LONG-TERM EFFECTIVENESS-PERMANENCE					·							
Magnitude of Residual Risk	6	6	5	5	5	3	4	4	2	2	1	
Adequacy of Controls	5	5	4	4	4	1	2	3	2	2	1	1
Reliability of Controls	2	2	1	3	3	1	2	2	2	2	1	1
SHORT-TERM EFFECTIVENESS												
Protection of Avian Pop. During Rstoration	NA	NA	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Protection of Community During Restoration	NA	NA	NA	1	1	1	1	1	î	1	1	
Protection of Workers During Remedial Action	NA	1	<u>1</u> .	1	1	1	1	- 1	i	Î	i i	1
IMPLEMENTABILITY												
Ability to Apply Technology	1	NA	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
Reliability of Technology	1	1-Monitor	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	<u>}</u> }
Ease of undertaking additonal Remedial Action if Needed	1	1	1	1	1	1	i	1	1	1	1	
Coordination with Other Agencies	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	11
COST												
Capital	2	2	3	4	3	1	t	2	3	4	5	6
0&M	3	3	1	2	1	NA	NA	NA	1	NA	NA	NA NA
							110			<u></u>	INA	INA
UVERALL ALTERNATIVE RANKING	26	26	25	30	30	19	23	25	24	24	21	22
	5	5	4	6	6	1	2	4	3	3	MA	NA
		*	LIMITED	×	Ť				t		LIMITED	
			ACREAGE								ACREAGE	ACREAGE

Source: MACTEC, 2004.

									1													
1		Acres	•							Total Field Area	ac	244	173	542	1975	2034	752	1024	289	248	173	248
L		Est. S/Acro Basis							1	Prep Activites & Process Subs Lookup	\$/acre	\$9,381	\$24,370	\$7,294	\$2,612	\$2,710	\$8,112	\$17,982	\$22,982	\$34,719	\$101,919	\$118,578
OCOT COT			AOTION						T	ALTERNATIVE		c	D	E	F	G	H.	· · ·	J	<u> </u>		L
DC91 C91		KUEI LEVEL - MINIMUM REMELAAI	AGRONIC	10313									isolation/Contain	ment Technologia	H¥.			in site Treatment		Ex Situ Treatment		.
																		, E	1	300		1 ·
												1						- E	1	at (1 _	
									1					Ē				dior		a the second sec	i ag	4 -
														aad							1080	1 8
													鸟	de fi				Ê			al d	i ŝ
												5	₽	200	5		2	, P	4	5	Ę	1
												uct	a a	a a	, ž	5 III	la l	븉		井	t en	
												E ST	Ū a	eue	rlav	Oferic	2 1	Ę.	1	ي. 1	tera t	1
												e P	Cov	8 52	laye	5	Zomt	E E		enci	L L L	1 1
			·····						L			5 la.)	2	La D	Boil			Lano			No.	
Order of	Block		ļ				Critical	% Rec	duction	Av. Conc.												
Treatment	#	OWNERXALUM	ACRES	FB	Depth	GN mg/kg	Contaminant	Low	Hägh	Critical Contaminant	K TOC											
1	41	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-A2	77	FB5	1.5 TO 2	10.7035	5 DDTx	68%	- 91%	36375	47,74	719363	1668653					1378984	178241	26/12/494	7815661	9093415
2	63	Zelwin Farms X Z1N-E	96	FB14	1	6.8365	DDTx	57%	85%	12030	27.08		2346259	702243				1731251	221283	\$342839	8812454	11416364
44	24	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-D	59	FB8	2	4.6136	BDDTx		- 78%	16450	48.43		1420560			158870		1054178	1347296	6267509	· ·	
8	56	Robert Potter & Sons, Inc. X Z1N-F	308	FB13	11	3.2609	Toxaphene	22%	69%	26573	31.19				804409	834690		6637892	707773			
1.	2	Zellwin Ferms X ZSE-I	247	FB6	2	3.7122	2 Toxephene	20%	- 73%	22939	31.99				645055	009257	1509375	4440830	5015438			
7	53	Grinnell Ferms, Inc. X Z1S-E	41	FB10	1	4.0323	3 DDTx	18%	- 75%	9600	31.03				108023	110001	248085	729957	93288	1409278		4913212
2	10	Lust Farms X ZSE-A	157	FB6	2	3.8798	3 Toxapivene	14%	- 74%	29790	39,88	-			409373	424732	957899	2818298	20126			ļ
	48	Zeliwin Farms X 21S-C	314	F811	2	2.6329	Toxaphene	13% -	· 62%	25333	33.23				821220	852031	CONTRACTOR CONTRACTOR	505,5924	722564	l		
14	64 (3)	Marsel X Z1N-E	13	F814	1	4.4651	I DOTX	11% -	- 78%	8207	30.43	1225061		97243	34823	36129	81403	230736	306396			
12	62	Zelwin Ferme X Z1N-D	75	FB13		3.2440	NODIX	9%	- 69%	8813	35.57				196084	203441	458820	1348928	172528	ļ		_
10	58	Cong Farme, Inc. X 21N-C	159	F813	1	3.2290	XIDDIX		- 69%	665	13,55	170539041 (2.1512) / (2			416237	431854	973901	2865584	36733	l		
15	42 (4)	I Shore X 21N-B1	24	NPB De	108	2.160/			46%	2400	19.25	225536			62800	65156		432341	862556		ļ	
	13. (1)	Colorado Facilitada Ind A 2016-P	40 E7	EDAS	·····	3.7909	1 I DOTE	178 -		23250	35.88				104772	108703	245157	721293	92188.			<u> </u>
11	- 50	NADA V 76M E	3/	- PDIG		2.136		(?e	2476	10/30	44.00				148180	183740		1020136	1303791			17/12/2 10/10/10/10/10/10/10/10/10/10/10/10/10/1
13	69	Talkin Farma V 74bi O	400	ED44	04	2.1301	Truck		- 04%	580	4.02	349494			89160	8258		613616	78449	1185132		4047671
	- 30	Zoludo Forme X 218 10	303	EP10	1	2.7920	Tevenhone		- 04% 	25224	32.41				517697	537121		3564046	455505			4
		Semal WINASIO-D	1 300	1 1010		2.0093	1110SHRNWOW	1	01%	25892	37.91				503709	833964		(#333073)	707457	<u> </u>		
		Total Assoc	0007																			1
		I DISK ALTER	2297							Acres		148	232	11D	1975	2034	732	2207	2207	248	173	248
										Anemative Cost		\$1,390,163	\$5,643,/72	\$799,488	\$5,159,541	\$5,511,994	\$4,474,781	\$39,684,881	\$50,719,506	\$8,599,544	\$17,628,314	\$29,370,662

	Acre	**						Process Subs								15000		12800	
L	Est	SActe Basis						Pren Activities & Process Subs Lookup	\$/acre	\$9,361	\$24.370	\$7.294	\$2.612	\$2.710	\$6,112	\$17,982	\$22,982	\$34.719	\$118,578
								ALTERNATIVE >>>		¢	D	E	F	g	. Н			. К	
E			-							inclution/Containment Te	chaelaules.					In site Treetment		Ex ally Treatment	
		nine lavagi level inen men	- maanina in		•					tion		Bullaci) e				a bio and/or chemical	an estoblo dechlorinat	loui treatment (ISCO)	d++orption
										Barmed baiand constru	Soil Cover Capped eci	Sama alone to perclur	beil layer filipping	ratical bianding	iorizontal bioneling	andfeming diling	lloremediation-eerobic	oll réector in aitu chao	ow lengerature therm
E	lock			Floodin	a Bieck	Critical	% Reduction	Av. Conc.											
	L	OWNER X ALUM	ACRES	FB	Depth	Contensinent	Low High	Crit. Cont %	TOC										
-1	. 41	Crekes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-A2	76.687	FB5	1.5 TO 2	DOTx	63% - 91%	36375	47.74	\$719,363	\$1,868,893					\$1.378.994	\$1.702.419	\$2,882,494	19.093.415
-2	63	Zeilein Farme X Z1N-E	96.277	FB14	<u> </u>	DDTx	57% - 85%	12030	27.08		\$2.346.259	\$702,243				\$1.731.251	\$2,212,630	\$3,342,639	\$11418.384
		Crakes & Son, Ino. X ZNE-D	58,524	P88	2	DOTX	34% - 74%	16450	48,43	\$549,923	\$1.428.060		<u> </u>			\$1.054.178	B1 347 244	\$2,036,368	30.981.635
-	64 (4)	Manual A 210-E	13,332	FEIA	1 1 0000		11% - 78%	82071	30.43		\$324.899	\$97 243	1					\$462,873	
-	53	Grinnet Ferme, Inc. X 218-E	40.691	PB10	1	TODIX	18% - 75%	9600	31.03	\$380,764	\$989.198					3729.007	\$932,162	\$1,409,278	B4.813.212
7	13 (1)	LODE Forme Ing Y 7NE E	40.412	500	2	Townshana	19% - 14%	29790	39.88				+		\$957.899	\$2,518,298	\$3.682.963	35.411.471	\$18,654,650
	2 10	Zalkuin Farme ¥ 7°F I	746 860	F00		Townshing	0.75 - / 475	23250	35.58						\$245,157	172120	1021.053	11 392.048	34.766.413
<u>,</u>	56	Pohert Dotter & Cong. bra Y 7514.5	210.000	5043	1	Townshame	2078 - 7979	22938	31.99						\$1,509,375	34.440.830	\$6,675,430	38.574.192	323.284.099
10	62	Zellein Forme X 71MJ	75 071	FE13	1	DDT	01. 001	20073	31.19				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		\$5.537.892	\$7.077.737	110.602.170	538.518.444
11	58	Long Forme Inc X 710LC	159 357	FB13		DDTy	0% 60%		35.87							\$1,349,925	\$1.728.280	\$2,608,399	\$8,001.792
12	33	Cistance Seeil X ZNW-B	75.371	FB2		DDF	0% . 87%	2879	28.08							\$2,865,584	\$3,662,339	\$5.532,712	318.898.254
13	46	Zeliwin Farms X Z1S-E	214.079	FB10	1	DDTx	0% - 65%	6910	41 25						1400,004	A1.389.320	11.732.178	\$2,810,804	\$8.937.366
14	55	Zelwin Ferme X Z1N-G	198,201	FB14	1	Toxaphene	4% - 64%	25724	32.41					·	** *** ***	\$3,549,564	14.019.959	\$7,432,609	<u>623,345,126</u>
15	57	Hensel & Rodgers X Z1N-A	306,203	FB12	1	DDE	0% - 84%	260	2.09					1	ALX11.098		14 (20) (20)	40231307	\$23,502,340
16	17	Lust Farms X ZNE-C	75.425	F85	1.5 TO 2	Texaphene	0% - 63%	18900	38 84							35.000.130	Sr.087.161	\$10,031,058	138,309,034
17	43	Long Farme, Inc. X ZNE-A1	19.117	FB5	1.5 TO 2	DDTx	0% - 62%	5738	39.58							41.000441	No Adame		33.943.754
18	48	Zeliwin Farma X Z1G-C	314.405	FB11	2	Texastrene	13% 62%	25333	33 23				1			4494-(94		3666.123	
19	47	Zoliwin Farms X Z1S-D	307.701	FB10	1	Texephone	3% - 61%	25892	37,91						A 1 PA 2 PAY	\$5 533 073	87 874 878	110,810,821	
20	50	Zelwin Ferme X Z1S-A	329.036	FB11	2	Texaphene	0% - 57%	13708	25.80							15 016 T18		111 400 TO	
21	49	Zeliwin Ferma X Z1S-B	308.098	FB11	2	Texaphene	0% - 57%	15842	29.88							85 540 212	57 (192) 707	510 000 000	514 633 740
22	1	Zellwin Ferme X ZSE-J	143,455	FB6	2	Texaphene	0% - 56%	19353	40.23							\$2,579,805	\$3298.800	54 CRD 511	\$13 DIO 851
23	16	Long Farme, inc. X ZNE-D2	47.085	F88	2	Toxephene	0% - 65%	26167	43.49							\$840,682	81.982.107	\$1,836,743	58 643 260
24	23	Long Ferme, Inc. X ZNE-E	73,439	FB8	2	Texaphone	0% - 54%	24250	44,25						\$443,849	31 320 579	31.057.774	32 549 727	36 308 273
25	59	Qtinnell Ferres, inc. XZ1N-D	56,731	FB13	1	DDTx	7% - 54%	10730	44.00							\$1,020,136	61.303.781	\$1,000 843	16,727,066
_26	.69	NAPA XZIN-B	34.135	NF8	1	DDE	7% 64%		4.02						\$208.627	3414.416	10724 690	\$1.185.132	14.047.871
27	14	Long Forms, inc. X ZNE-D1	64,537	FB8	2	Toxaphana	0% - 48%	14786	30,84				ļ			\$1,169,693	\$1,483,188		17.652.663
28	20	Lust Ferme X ZNE-A	39,893	FB5	1.5 TO 2	Toxephene	0% - 68%	31667	52.58							\$717.355	3916.830		14.730.445
29	68	Shortz X Z1N-81	24,043	NFB		DIDE	0% - 46%	2400	19.25							\$432,341	3162,568		\$2.850.976
30	6	Luet Leme X ZSE-F	222,706	FB7	2	Toxephene	0% • 44%	15286	35,68					\$603.526		H.004.877	\$5.118.202		\$28,407,863
20	30	Num Free X 700 D	316,043	FB/	2	I CXEDNARE	0% 42%	<u>. 17922</u>	37.95					\$356.170		\$5,883,079	\$7.283.294		\$27.676.845
32	44	Craker & Sen Jan X 7NE-61	10.090	FB1	16 70 2	DDT-	40%	798	39.73					\$212.994	1480.205	11 473.312	21.654.292		19.310.781
24	25	Crokes & Son Jac X ZNE-C	73 037	FB5	15 TO 2		V/V - 2027a	5820	38.15					\$53,124		6282.801	\$459,816		\$2.324.491
35	26	Lond Farme Inc. X 7NE-42	356 644	FB5	16 TO 2	Townshame	0% 2***	5061	39.33					\$200,354	E401.839	11329.444	\$1.099.104		AB.748.732
36	27	Lingt Farme X ZSC-C	242.009	FB1	3	Towenhene	0% 34*	18316	48.52				\$931.547	3956.496	22.179.744	16.413.164	SA 198,335		\$42.299.243
37	19	Stroup Ferme X ZNE-A	75.694	FBS	1.5 TO ?	Torraphene	0% . 29%	12945	44.35				\$107.74*	8002.840		14.301.001	56,581,848		528.007.01A
38	39	Clerence Bealt X ZNC-R	150.972	FB4	2	Diektria	D% 24%	14500	38.50				6304 375			A 30 1 1 1 2 2	EL (39 590		19.975.057
39	7	Stroup Ferme X ZSE-E	148.245	FB7	2	Toxephene	0% - 29%	1168	38.85				8187 141	6403 TA1	·	12/39.7/0	57 459 635		\$17.992.006
40	42	Smith X ZNE-A	29.283	FB5	1.5 TO 2	Toxephene	0% - 18%	11000	34.00				\$76.487	579 158	\$178.877	KARDINE CON		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
41	40	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNG-B	166.145	FB4	2	Toxaphene	0% - 18%	13103	39,90				\$407 848	5403 150		52 867 700	67 510 51-	···	
42	32	Crukes & Son, Inc. X ZSW-B	54.714	FB1	3	DDE	0% - 12%	1163	30.80				\$247.391	\$258 472	1678 675	\$1.703 Ld#	52 176 71-		
43	35	Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	321.842	FB2	3	Toxophene	0% - 10%	12783	37,95				\$840.645	3872 185	1000	65.787 354	17 104 64		
44	.11	Long Ferme, Inc. X ZSE-A	181.786	FB6	2	Toxephene	0% - 8%	13725	47.84				\$474.821	8492.635	\$1,117,042	13.204.472	AN 177 MOP	·····	571 KA5 177
45	38	Zellván Furms X ZNG-A	332,688	FB3	2	Towephene	0% - 5%	10461	36.36				\$868.974	\$101.579		15 847 589	\$7.645 \$79	_	\$13 648 581
46	36	Zeilván Ferms X ZNW-8	211,451	FB2	2	Toxephene	0%4%	9635	34.63				\$552.304	\$673.425	61 292 354	\$3,402,304	14.050 502		828 073 802
		Total Acres	4916					Potential Acres Alternative Cost		176 \$1,650,060	286 \$6,957,869	110 \$799,486	23D1 \$6,011,401	3012 \$8,163,414	2166 \$13,236,723	6915 \$124,345,661	6915 \$158,920,736	3774 \$131,036,027	6915 \$819,970,792

Table 6-2 NSRA Soil Restoration Overall Alternatives Cost Summary

Target Level Basis and Reduction Levels	Field Group Acreage	No. Fields	Minimum Cost \$	Average \$/Acre (Minimum)	Maximum Cost \$	Comments
BEST ESTIMATE			-		2	
Reduction >50%	173	2	\$1,421,606	\$8,219.08	\$20,509,779	Pilot Location to determine if lower cost options feasible
20% < Reduction < 50%	614	3	\$1,608,333	\$2,621.34	\$19,020,876	
Reduction <20%	1420	12	\$3,710,077	\$2,611.98	\$39,787,320	Soil Inversion Demonstration required
Total to Achieve Best Estimate Target Levels	2207	17	\$6,740,016	\$3,054.03	\$79,317,975	
CONSERVATIVE ESTIMATE						
Reduction >75%	245	4	\$2,068,772	\$8,446.73		Soil Inversion Demonstration required
75% < Reduction >50%	3529	22	\$49,589,830	\$14,051.02		
20% < Reduction < 50%	1813	13	\$6,779,596	\$3,739.61		Demonstrate Vertical Blending
Reduction <20%	1328	7	\$3,468,472	\$2,611.98		
Total to Achieve Conservative Estimate Target Levels	6915	46	\$61,906,670	\$8,952.50		

Source: MACTEC, 2004.

Flooding Block

Depth

1.5 TO 2

1.5 TO 2

1.5 TO 2

2

3

2

2

2

1

1

1.5 TO 2

1.5 TO 2

2

2

2

2

2

2

FB

FB5

FB5

FB5

FB8

FB1

F86

F87

FB7

FB13

FB10

FB5

FB5

FB8

FB8

F88

FB8

FB6

FB8

ACRES

39.893

263,618

75.425

50.787

242.009

156.729

316.043

222.705

159.357

45.278

19.117

356,644

64.537

47.085

73.439

40.112

181.786

Critical

Contaminant

Toxaphene

DDTx

DDTx

Block

#

OWNER X ALUM

1 Lust Farms X ZNE-A

2 Lust Farms X ZNE-B

3 Lust Farms X ZNE-C

4 Lust Farms X ZNE-D

5 Lust Farms X ZSC-C

6 Lust Farms X ZSE-A

7 Lust Farms X ZSE-D

8 Lust Farms X ZSE-F

9 Long Farms, Inc. X Z1N-C

10 Long Farms, Inc. X Z1S-E

11 Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A1

12 Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-A2

13 Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-D1

14 Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-D2

15 Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-E

16 Long Farms, Inc. X ZNE-F

17 Long Farms, Inc. X ZSE-A

18 Lust & Long Precooler X ZNE-F

					isolati	on/Cor	tainm	nt Tec	hnoiod	Jies					Fx site	. Treat	ment
					Bermed island construction	Capped soils	Surface sealing/compacting	Serms alone to perclude flooding	Soil layer flipping	Vertical blending	Honizontal blending	Soil removed used for berms or roads	Soll placed in exisisting canals and covered	Compositing-Xenorem -Aerobic/Anaerobic	Soil reactor in situ chemical treatment (ISCO)	.ow temperature thermal desorption	Excavate/Off-site Landfill Disposal
% R	educ	stion	Av. Conc.														
Low		High	Crit. Cont	% TOC													
0%	-	47%	60180	52.58													
			59183	45.47													
0%	-	63%	50763	38.84													
				41.81													
0%	-	31%	34331	44.33													
14%	-	74%	73874	39.88					2	1	3						
0%	-	42%	47115	37.95													
0%	-	44%	47650	35.58													-
9%	-	69%	24750	13.55					2	1							
				22,55													
0%	-	62%	20893	39.58													
0%	-	31%	38819	48.32													
0%	-	48%	45136	30.84													
0%	-	55%	59669	43.49													
0%		54%	55441	44.25													
7%	-	74%	68276	35.88					2	1	3						
0%	-	8%	28228	47.84													
0%	~	0%]														

IELD	ALTERNATIVE TREATMENT MATR				isolați	on/Con	tainme	nt Teci	nolog	ies _				E	ix situ 1	Freatm	ent					
	•				• • •					3ermed island construction	Capped soils	Surface sealing/compacting	Serms alone to perclude flooding	soil layer flipping	/ertical blending	fortzontai biending	soil removed used for berms or roads	soll placed in exisisting canals and covered	composting-Xenorem -Aerobic/Anacrobic	ioil reactor in situ chemical treatment (ISCO)	ow temperature thermal desorption	Excavate/Off-site Landfill Disposal
liock			Floodin	g Block	Critical	% Re	duction	Av. Conc.								-						
	OWNER X ALUM	ACRES	FB	Depth	Contaminant	Low	High	Crit. Cont	% TOC													
19	Zellwin Farms X				Toxaphene	0%	- 37%	19	16.01													
20	Zellwin Farms X Z1N-D	75.071	FB13	1	DDTx	9%	- 69%	24820	35.57					2	1							
21	Zellwin Farms X Z1N-E	96.277	FB14	11	DDTx	57%	- 85%	158803	27.08	2	3		1						-+	4	5	6
22	Zellwin Farms X Z1N-G	198.201	FB14	1	Toxaphene	4%	- 64%	65527	32.41				3	2	1							
23	Zellwin Farms X Z1S-A	329,036	FB11	2	Toxaphene	0%	- 58%	56961	25.80													
24	Zeliwin Farms X Z1S-B	308.098	FB11	2	Toxaphene	0%	- 57%	56572	29.88													
25	Zellwin Farms X Z1S-C	314,405	FB11	2	Toxaphene	13%	- 62%	72987	33.23					1	2					\rightarrow		_
26	Zeliwin Farms X Z1S-D	307.701	FB10	1	Toxaphene	3%	- 61%	6917	37.91					1	2					\rightarrow		
27	Zellwin Farms X Z1S-E	214.079	FB10	· 1	DDTx	0%	- 65%	23156	41.25											\rightarrow	_	
28	Zeliwin Farms X ZNC-A	332.688	FB3	2	Toxaphene	0%	- 5%	28939	36.36												\rightarrow	
29	Zellwin Farms X ZNW-A	321.842	FB2	3	Toxaphene	0%	- 10%	31701	37.95					-+						_	+	
30	Zellwin Farms X ZNW-B	211.451	FB2	2	Toxaphene	0%	- 4%		34.63													
31	Zellwin Farms X ZNW-C	250,462	FB2	22				17809	25.03				-								\rightarrow	
32	Zeliwin Farms X ZSE-I	246,960	FB6	2	Toxaphene	20%	- 73%	79048	31.99					2	1	3						_
33	Zellwin Farms X ZSE-J	143.455	FB6	2	Toxaphene	0%	- 56%		40.28						·					\rightarrow	\rightarrow	
34	Zeliwin Farms X ZSW-A	112.876	FB1	3					29.73													-
35	Cionts Farm X ZSE-B	298,606	FB6	2					38.63										<u> </u>		\rightarrow	-
36	Cionts Farm X ZSE-C	100,413	FB6	2					33.56									<u>~</u>		\rightarrow		
37	Clonts Farm X ZSE-G	152,052	FB6	22					31.76													_
38	Cionts Farm X ZSE-H	28.542	FB6	2		·		8368	6.17											\rightarrow		
39	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNC-B	156,145	FB4	2	Toxaphene	0%	- 18%	6404	39.90				-+							\rightarrow	\rightarrow	
40	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-A1	19.603	FB5	1.5 TO 2	DDTx	0%	- 36%	14750	38.15										\rightarrow		\rightarrow	
41	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-A2	76.687	FB5	<u>1.5 TO 2</u>	DDTx	68%	- 91%	71114	47.74	2	3		1							_4		6
42	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-C	73.932	FB5	1.5 TO 2	DDTx	0%	- 33%	13810	39.33										-+	+	<u> </u>	-
43	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZNE-D	58.624	FB8	2	DDTx	34%	- 78%	10210	48.43				3		1					\rightarrow		
44	Crakes & Son, Inc. X ZSVV-B	94,714	FB1	3	DDE	0%	- 12%	15835	30.80										-+			
45	Stroup Farms X ZNE-A	/5.694	FB5	1.5 10 2	Ioxaphene	0%	- 29%	1199	44.71									-+		-+-	+	-+
46	Stroup Farms X ZSC-8	/8.596	FB1	3	Dieldrin	0%	- 40%	14567	39.73		$\left \right $							-+	+	+	+	
4/	Stroup Farms X ZSE-E	145.245	FB/	2	roxaphene	Ų%	- 22%		36.85		$\left \right $									+	+	
48	Stroup Farms X 2SW-C	80.696	- FB1	3	Dioldric	0%	200/	5000	38.10					-+						+	+	
49	Clarence Beall X ZNU-B	150.972	F84	2	Dielann	U%	- 28%	5023	38.59		$\left - \right $											
<u>50</u>	Clarence Beall X ZSC A	10.3/1	<u>F62</u> EP1	^		U%	- 0/%	4004	20.98												+	-
51	Userand & Dodgors V 71N A	906 203	EP12		DDE		E 49/	4091	40.55												-+	
02 50	Pohert Datter & Sana Ing. V 7411	307.040	EP12	4	Toyanhana	220/	- 04%	17800	2.09					_				+-			+	{
03	Crippell Forms Inc. X 71N D	56 731	EP13	4		79/	- 09%		44.00							3		-+				
- 4		00.101	1010	JJ.		1.70		J 11 1	44,00	L	i i	1		2	!!							